
    

          
 
 
 

Gloucester Road    Tewkesbury   Glos   GL20 5TT   Member Services Tel: (01684) 272021  Fax: (01684) 272040 
Email: democraticservices@tewkesbury.gov.uk    Website: www.tewkesbury.gov.uk 

 
 
18 September 2018 
 

Committee Council 

Date Wednesday, 26 September 2018 

Time of Meeting 6:00 pm 

Venue Severn 

 

 

ALL MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL ARE REQUESTED 
TO ATTEND 

 
 
 
 

Agenda 

 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
   
2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
   
 Pursuant to the adoption by the Council on 26 June 2012 of the 

Tewkesbury Borough Council Code of Conduct, effective from 1 July 
2012, as set out in Minute No. CL.34, Members are invited to declare any 
interest they may have in the business set out on the Agenda to which the 
approved Code applies. 

 

   
3.   MINUTES 1 - 8 
   
 To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 24 July 2018.   
   

mailto:memberservices@tewkesburybc.gov.uk


 Item Page(s) 

 

 2 

 
4.   ANNOUNCEMENTS  
   
 1. When the continuous alarm sounds you must evacuate the building by 

the nearest available fire exit. Members and visitors should proceed to 
the visitors’ car park at the front of the building and await further 
instructions (during office hours staff should proceed to their usual 
assembly point; outside of office hours proceed to the visitors’ car 
park). Please do not re-enter the building unless instructed to do so.  

 
 In the event of a fire any person with a disability should be assisted in 

leaving the building.   
 
2.  To receive any announcements from the Chair of the Meeting and/or 

the Chief Executive. 

 

   
5.   ITEMS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
   
 a)  To receive any questions, deputations or petitions submitted under 

Council Rule of Procedure.12.  
 
(The deadline for public participation submissions for this meeting is 
20 September 2018). 

 
b)  To receive any petitions submitted under the Council’s Petitions 

Scheme. 

 

   
6.   MEMBER QUESTIONS PROPERLY SUBMITTED IN ACCORDANCE 

WITH COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
 

   
 To receive any questions submitted under Rule of Procedure 13. Any 

items received will be circulated on 26 September 2018.  
 
(Any questions must be submitted in writing to Democratic Services by, 
not later than, 10.00am on the working day immediately preceding the 
date of the meeting). 

 

   
7.   LEAD MEMBER PRESENTATION  
   
 To receive a presentation from the Lead Member for Finance and Asset 

Management – Councillor Ron Furolo.  
 

   
8.   AUDIT COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18 9 - 18 
   
 The Council is asked to approve the Audit Committee Annual Report 

2017/18. 
 

   



 Item Page(s) 

 

 3 

 
9.   OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY REVIEW OF WATER OUTAGE 19 - 64 
   
 At its meeting on 4 September 2018, the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee recommended that the Council adopt the Scrutiny Review of 
Water Supply Outage report. The Committee also agreed that the actions 
would be reviewed in February with partners to be invited to see how they 
were progressing.  
 
(Since the Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting, the action sheet 
has been further updated and that revised copy is attached for the 
Council’s information).  

 

   
10.   PREFERRED OPTIONS TEWKESBURY BOROUGH PLAN 

CONSULTATION 
65 - 283 

   
 To approve the preferred options Tewkesbury Borough Plan for 

consultation purposes. 
 

   
11.   SEPARATE BUSINESS  
   
 

The Chairman will move the adoption of the following resolution: 

That under Section 100(A)(4) Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded for the following items on the grounds that they involve the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of 
the Act. 

 

   
12.   SEPARATE MINUTES 284 - 285 
   
 To approve the separate Minutes of the meeting of the meeting held on     

24 July 2018.  
 

   
 
 
Recording of Meetings  
 
In accordance with the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, please be 
aware that the proceedings of this meeting may be recorded and this may include recording of 
persons seated in the public gallery or speaking at the meeting. Please notify the Democratic 
Services Officer if you have any objections to this practice and the Mayor will take reasonable 
steps to ensure that any request not to be recorded is complied with.  
 
Any recording must take place in such a way as to ensure that the view of Councillors, Officers, 
the public and press is not obstructed. The use of flash photography and/or additional lighting 
will not be allowed unless this has been discussed and agreed in advance of the meeting.  
 
 
 
 
 

Head of Democratic Services  

for Borough Solicitor  



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
Minutes of a Meeting of the Council held at the Council Offices, Gloucester 

Road, Tewkesbury on Tuesday, 24 July 2018 commencing at 6:00 pm 
 

 
Present: 

 
The Worshipful the Mayor Councillor R M Hatton 

 
and Councillors: 

 
R E Allen, P W Awford, K J Berry, R Bishop, G J Bocking, K J Cromwell, D M M Davies,                         
J E Day, M Dean, R D East, D T Foyle, R Furolo, R E Garnham, P A Godwin, M A Gore,                    

J Greening, B C J Hesketh, A Hollaway, E J MacTiernan, J R Mason, H C McLain, A S Reece, 
P E Stokes, P D Surman, M G Sztymiak, H A E Turbyfield, D J Waters, M J Williams and                        

P N Workman  
 

CL.21 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

21.1 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors R A Bird, G F Blackwell 
(Deputy Mayor), S E Hillier-Richardson, V D Smith, T A Spencer and R J E Vines.   

CL.22 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

22.1 The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Tewkesbury Borough Council Code of 
Conduct which was adopted by the Council on 26 June 2012 and took effect from                
1 July 2012.  

22.2 There were no declarations of interest made on this occasion.  

CL.23 MINUTES  

23.1 The Minutes of the meeting held on 8 and 15 May 2018, copies of which had been 
circulated, were approved as a correct record and signed by the Mayor.   

CL.24 ANNOUNCEMENTS  

24.1 The evacuation procedure, as set out on the Agenda, was advised to those present. 
  

24.2 The Mayor welcomed the Director of Public Health from Gloucestershire County 
Council to the meeting and indicated that she was in attendance for Item 7, Public 
Health Annual Report 2016/17.  

CL.25 ITEMS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  

25.1 There were no items from members of the public on this occasion.   

1

Agenda Item 3



CL.24.07.18 

 

CL.26 MEMBER QUESTIONS PROPERLY SUBMITTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES  

26.1 There were no Member questions on this occasion.   

CL.27 PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17  

27.1 The Director of Public Health from Gloucestershire County Council was invited to 
make her presentation:  

 The Public Health Annual Report 2016/17 covered: why childhood matters; 
key issues affecting Gloucestershire’s children, young people and families; 
and focussed on inequalities – ensuring every child fulfilled their potential.  

 The report sought to present the data in a user-friendly way. The report 
looked at ‘if Gloucestershire were a town of 100 children what that would 
mean’: nine would have been born to mothers who smoked in pregnancy; 
77 would have been breastfed at birth; 14 would live in poverty; 67 would 
have the basic skills needed to start school at age 5, meaning 33 would not; 
seven would have reported that they had self-harmed at age 15; 66 pupils 
would have achieved A*-C in English and Maths GCSE, meaning 34 would 
not; three pupils from Years 8 and 10 would have reported they used illegal 
drugs regularly; only 87 of five year olds were fully vaccinated against 
Mumps, Measles and Rubella (MMR), meaning the population was not 
protected; eight pupils from years 8 and 10 would have reported that they 
smoked tobacco regularly; and, of Year 6 pupils, one would be 
underweight, 67 would be a normal weight, 14 would be overweight and 18 
would be obese. Children would make up 20% of the population of 
Gloucestershire: 14 in the Forest of Dean; 19 in Stroud; 21 in Gloucester; 
19 in Cheltenham; 14 in Tewkesbury and 14 in Cotswold. Based on life 
expectancy at birth for a child born in 2016 the richest boy in the town 
would live until 83 years and the richest girl until they were 85 and a half; 
the poorest boy would live until 74 years and the poorest girl until they were 
79.  

 Adverse childhood experiences were traumatic events occurring before the 
age of 18. If experienced they were associated with negative impacts on a 
child’s future. Adverse childhood experiences did not define people; they 
were simply a tool to understand the potential risks an individual or 
population may face, and it was possible to interrupt the cycle of adversity. 
Adverse experiences could include maltreatment i.e. verbal, physical and 
sexual abuse; or household issues such as parental separation, domestic 
violence, mental illness, alcohol abuse, drug use or incarceration.  

 It was easy to have negative discussions over adverse childhood 
experiences but there were things that could be done to overcome them 
such as: reduce the sources of stress; support responsive relationships; 
and strengthen core life skills. Those principles could be applied at every 
level from policy proposals to individual practice and across multiple 
sectors. The model provided a simple, practical tool to drive unified, 
system-wide change that improved outcomes for all children, young people 
and families.  

 

 

 

2



CL.24.07.18 

 Smoking in pregnancy was a huge inequality issue. Almost one in 10 
babies born in Gloucestershire had an increased risk of still or premature 
death, low birth weight, sudden unexpected death in infancy and increased 
risk of childhood respiratory illness due to smoking in pregnancy. There was 
a focus in equalities – whilst smoking in pregnancy occurred in all socio-
economic groups rates were higher amongst the poorest meaning the 
disadvantages of smoking in pregnancy disproportionately impacted the 
less well off, who were also exposed to the other pressures imposed by 
poverty. However, good progress was being made and, over five years, the 
number of women smoking in pregnancy had reduced by 357 although 630 
Gloucestershire women were still smoking at the time their baby was born 
in 2015/16.  

 Childhood vaccinations were a key area of the report as infectious diseases 
could have serious health consequences such as disability and death. They 
could also result in hospital admissions, school absences and parental 
absence from work; however, many were preventable with vaccinations. 
While the County generally had good vaccination rates, there were some 
vaccinations which had dropped below the level to be confident the 
community was protected. In 2017 there had been a large outbreak of 
measles in Gloucestershire with more than 10% of cases being 
hospitalised. There was currently a campaign running with primary schools 
to encourage vaccinations.  

 In terms of school readiness, achieving a good level of development at the 
end of Reception was a strong indicator of future educational attainment 
and life chances, with many who started badly never able to catch up. 
There was a focus on inequalities where it was identified that boys were 
underperforming and children from more deprived backgrounds (those 
eligible for free school meals) were much less likely to be school ready – 
unfortunately that performance gap was widening. It was felt important to 
invest in school readiness: every £1 invested in quality early care and 
education saved taxpayers up to £13 in future costs; for every £1 spent on 
early years education £7 had to be spent to have the same impact in 
adolescence; and targeted parenting programmes paid back just over six 
years for every £1 invested. There was a focus on getting a discussion 
going to try and resolve the issues of school readiness but a solution had 
not been identified at this stage.  

 Public health nursing could help all families and their children from 0-19 
years: the evidence showed that the first few years of a child’s life were 
crucial if they were to go on and lead happy lives e.g. antenatal contact was 
made after 28 weeks of pregnancy; new birth visits were made along with a 
6-8 week visit; a 12 month health and development review had been 
implemented along with a 2-2.5 year health and development review; and 
currently the introduction of a three year school readiness contact was 
under discussion. 4-11 years was the age it was important to support young 
people to be ready to start school and be in the best health to get the most 
from their learning e.g. reception height and weight checks had been 
implemented; introduction of vision and hearing checks when starting 
school were being discussed; consideration was being given to working 
with primary school staff and children to promote health such as healthy 
eating; Year 6 height and weight checks had been implemented; and 
consideration was being given to support in getting ready for senior school. 
The ages of 12-19 years were key in supporting the transition to secondary 
school and help with issues such as mental health was essential for the 
wellbeing of young people - consideration was therefore being given to 
working with school staff to promote good health and wellbeing; and 

3



CL.24.07.18 

listening to, and offering advice on, issues affecting young people whether 
that be skin problems, relationships and sex, stress at home or school and 
mental health.  A website had been set up called ‘Respect Yourself 
Gloucestershire’ which offered advice and information for young people on 
issues such as relationships, sex, bodies, contraception, STIs etc. A self-
harm helpline had been established which young people could call or text to 
talk about their concerns. There was also a helpline for 11-16 year olds to 
text the school nursing service for advice about problems with friends or 
family, puberty, emotional health, self-harm, drugs, alcohol and smoking 
and relationships. Children and young people were at the centre of the work 
and the first step was to have open conversations and think about the 
resources and support available to provide the right help at the right time to 
meet the needs of the child. The next step was to provide the child with a 
plan and assessment. Children with no additional needs had a ‘universal 
plan’; children with additional needs identified and met through a graduated 
response, with either single or multi-agency help would have an ‘additional 
plan’; a multi-agency approach using ‘My Assessment’ and ‘My Plan+’ with 
a whole family assessment and lead professional response would have an 
‘intensive’ approach; and specialist and high level interventions involving a 
statutory assessment would have a ‘specialist’ approach. Consent to share 
information was required unless there were concerns that the child would 
be placed at greater risk of harm.  

 Looking forward, public health would work with communities and partners to 
bring a ‘whole systems’ approach to life; it would combine delivery of 
universal services with services that targeted those most in need; and was 
currently undertaking a comprehensive needs assessment for children, 
young people and families in Gloucestershire so it could better understand 
the local situation and current evidence around what worked. A needs 
assessment would be used to inform a new Children and Families’ Strategy 
which would be developed in consultation with partners, providers, service 
users and the population.   

 The future of the County’s children depended on ensuring every child in 
every family was supported to live a happy, healthy life that enabled them to 
go on to contribute positively to their communities. A system was required 
that supported everyone with targeted help where needed, broke negative 
cycles and built strong futures.  

27.2 The Mayor thanked the Director of Public Health for her informative presentation 
and invited questions from Members.  

27.3 During the ensuing discussion, a Member questioned whether there was a reason 
for the dip in numbers of vaccinations. In response, the Director for Public Health 
explained that there was usually a good uptake at 12-13 months but there was a 
booster needed at 3½ years and this was not as well attended. It was not clear 
why there had been a particular dip in diphtheria, tetanus and polio vaccinations. 
Information packs had been introduced to reception classes in the County which 
tried to stop the misconception that, once a booster was missed, it could not be 
given at a later date and it was hoped this would mean parents would be more 
inclined to ‘catch up’ on their children’s vaccinations. A Member questioned 
whether the County would meet the government’s timescales that all boys and girls 
would receive the Human Papilloma Virus (HPV) vaccine starting in September. In 
response, the Director advised that her colleagues in the NHS were adept at 
meeting timescales so she had no reason to believe the new regulations would not 
be implemented in accordance with the timescales set down. In response to a 
query about the success of the self-harm phone line, the Director explained that 
the number of calls and the types of discussion, and advice given, could be 
measured so that would help understand the success of the project. Unfortunately 

4



CL.24.07.18 

the service was receiving more and more calls which was the reason for the ‘text’ 
element of the service being added. She felt the increase in contacts had a lot to 
do with young people having to cope with much wider demands on them and, in 
response, the public health teams would be going into secondary schools to 
support children and try to understand where the issues lay.  

27.4 A Member noted that, given the statistics within the presentation, by 2024 obesity 
in adults would reach 70% which she felt was a horrifying statistic. The Director of 
Public Health agreed with that view; however, she felt it was good news that, 
according to the surveys undertaken in Gloucestershire, less young people were 
now adopting risky behaviours i.e. smoking, drug taking and alcohol abuse - this 
needed to be compared nationally to understand if it was a Gloucestershire factor 
or a national trend. A Member felt that the cut back in youth provision in the County 
could be a problem for the future. In terms of mental health issues and suicide 
rates, the Director of Public Health expressed the view that society in general had 
changed and was now much more open to talking about mental health and mental 
ill-health. Gloucestershire had seen an increase in deaths by suicide but the main 
area of concern was Gloucester City rather than Tewkesbury Borough; currently it 
was unclear what was causing the rise but it was considered that social media 
could be one cause as it added a lot of pressure to young people. The Director had 
met with a research group earlier that day and one it its priorities was self-harm 
and suicide - it was currently considering what research questions to ask 
participants to best enable it to get to the core of the issues. In response to an 
observation that many young people did not seem to leave the house very often, 
the Director of Public Health indicated that research had shown children were more 
sedentary than they used to be and there was a Countywide project running called 
Gloucestershire Moves which looked at how to get the inactive active – a lot of the 
project was about how professionals worked with schools and parents to help them 
understand the impacts of children that were not active.  

27.5 Referring to risky behaviours, and the online survey which young people 
completed, a Member questioned how many students it covered, whether it was 
anonymous and whether the answers received were valid. In response, the 
Director of Public Health advised that approximately 33,000 had completed the 
online survey which covered two year groups (one in primary and one in secondary 
school). The survey had a good take-up and it was considered that, as it was 
anonymous and online, there would be no reason for the students completing it not 
to be truthful, although there was obviously no guarantee that this was the case. 
The new survey questions were just being signed off and it was felt they were a 
great improvement to it. The survey sought to cover a range of questions about 
lifestyle, crime, sleep habits etc. The Chief Executive advised that the survey 
results were very interesting as the information could be broken down into Wards 
etc. and he undertook to ensure the link was provided to all Members.  

27.6 Accordingly, it was  

 RESOLVED That the presentation on the Public Health Annual Report  
   2016/17 be NOTED.  

CL.28 VISION 2050 - THE BIG CONVERSATION - TEWKESBURY BOROUGH 
COUNCIL RESPONSE  

28.1 The report of the Chief Executive, circulated at Pages No. 42-70, and separately at 
Page No. 1, sought approval of the Council’s formal response to the Vision 2050 Big 
Conversation.  

 

 

5



CL.24.07.18 

28.2 In proposing the draft response, a Member indicated that it had been drafted on the 
basis of Member workshops and a seminar. The additional paper included a number 
of proposed amendments which had taken into account the recent seminar, along 
with suggestions from the Lead Member for Health and Wellbeing in terms of the 
‘healthy and happy’ ambition. Members had welcomed the opportunity to comment 
and had worked through the vision and outcomes carefully to ensure a full 
response. Upon being seconded and voted upon, it was  

 RESOLVED That the draft response, attached at Appendix 2 to the report, 
   along with the suggested amendments, circulated separately, 
   be submitted to the Vision 2050 Big Conversation consultation.  

CL.29 ALDERTON NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN  

29.1 The report of the Planning Policy Manager, circulated at Pages No. 71-171, advised 
Members of the result of the referendum on the Alderton Neighbourhood 
Development Plan and asked the Council to resolve that the Plan be made part of 
the Development Plan for Tewkesbury Borough as well as to delegate to the Head 
of Development Services, in agreement with the Parish Council acting as the 
Qualifying Body, the correction of any minor errors such as spelling, grammar, 
typographical or formatting errors that did not affect the substantive content of the 
Plan.  

29.2 In proposing the recommendation, the Lead Member explained that the Alderton 
Neighbourhood Plan had been subject to independent examination from January to 
March 2018 and the examiner’s report had recommended a number of modifications 
to be made before it could procced to referendum. The referendum had taken place 
with a turnout of just under 60% and just over 90% of those voting in favour.  

29.3 Upon being seconded, and voted upon, it was  

 RESOLVED 1.  That the Alderton Neighbourhood Development Plan be 
        made part of the Development Plan for Tewkesbury  
        Borough.  

    2.  That authority be delegated to the Head of Development 
        Services, in agreement with the Parish Council acting as the 
        Qualifying Body, to correct any minor errors such as  
        spelling, grammar and typographical or formatting errors 
        that do not affect the substantive content of the Plan. 

CL.30 NOTICE OF MOTION - SINGLE USE PLASTICS  

30.1 The Mayor referred to the Notice of Motion set out on the Agenda and indicated 
that, in accordance with the Rules of Procedure, it was necessary for the Council 
firstly to decide whether it wished to debate and determine the Motion at the 
evening’s meeting, or whether it wished to refer the Motion, without debate, to a 
Committee for consideration with authority either to make a decision on the matter 
or to bring a recommendation back to Council. Upon being put to the vote, it was 
agreed that the Motion would be determined at the current meeting.  

30.2 In proposing the Motion, Councillor Cromwell explained that he was extremely 
concerned about the effect of single-use plastics on the planet; in fact he had just 
heard in the press that authorities were not always sure that plastics which went 
abroad for processing were actually recycled. The Member felt that the statistics 
set out within the Motion were frightening and showed how imperative it was that 
something was done about the problem of pollution from single-use plastics. The 
Member considered that there may be a need to change the way recycling was 
measured in future as the move to lessen the use of plastics would mean a drop in 
recycling rates; however, in his view this would be a small price to pay. The Motion 

6



CL.24.07.18 

included a timescale to 2020 for the elimination of single-use plastics within 
buildings and facilities owned by the Council which he felt was enough time for 
Officers and Councillors to change their habits so the Motion was achievable. He 
was of the view that, if plastics were not used so much, manufacturers would not 
need to produce them and largely this would be a good thing. The Member hoped 
the Council would be able to support the Motion.  

30.3 In seconding the Motion, Councillor Greening indicated that momentum was 
growing for the elimination of single-use plastics so she felt the Motion was timely 
and, by supporting it, the Council was acknowledging that it had an important part 
to play. She understood that change was needed across the whole of society but 
felt that small everyday acts would collectively achieve the result of there being no 
plastics in the oceans etc. She was of the view that practical alternatives needed to 
be provided wherever possible and she hoped the Council would support the 
important Motion.  

30.4 During the ensuing debate, Members generally felt the Motion was absolutely 
correct and that it should be supported. One Member, whilst fully endorsing the 
Motion, questioned whether it could go further in ensuring the recyclate that was 
sent abroad from the County was actually recycled and not sent to landfill. In 
response, the Head of Community Services indicated that, whilst this would be 
admirable, once the recylate material had gone to the recycling plant it was out of 
the control of the Borough Council and he could not therefore guarantee where it 
would end up. In addition, the Chief Executive explained that the Borough Council 
was the waste collection authority not the waste disposal authority so it was 
outside of the Council’s remit to gain any assurances about the destination of the 
recyclate once it left the Borough Council’s lorries. He indicated that Tewkesbury 
Borough was a member of the Joint Waste Partnership so could relay the 
Member’s comments and make investigations but he felt the Council should not 
put itself into an unsustainable position. The Chief Executive, along with the Lead 
Member for Clean and Green Environment, undertook to raise the matter with the 
Joint Waste Partnership and report back to Members accordingly.  

30.5 The Motion was not amended but it was accepted that the Chief Executive and 
Lead Member would investigate where the recycling was taken, and what 
happened to it, and would report back to Members in due course.  

30.6 Upon being put to the vote, it was 

 RESOLVED That the following Motion be AGREED:   

1. That all single use plastics within buildings and facilities 
managed by the Council be eliminated by 2020 and efforts be 
made to encourage the elimination of single-use plastics 
within the Council’s supply chain by 2025.  

2. That the work of the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership 
in promoting the reduction of single-use plastics across the 
County be supported and any opportunities to lobby central 
government be taken through the Partnership.   

CL.31 SEPARATE BUSINESS  

31.1 The Mayor proposed, and it was  

RESOLVED  That, under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 
   1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the following 
   items on the grounds that they involve the likely discussion of 
   exempt information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
   Act.  

7



CL.24.07.18 

CL.32 SEPARATE RECOMMENDATIONS FROM EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE  

 Community Services Review  

(Exempt –Paragraph 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 
– Information relating to any individual)  

32.1 The Council considered the recommendations of the Executive Committee made at 
its meeting on 11 July 2018 and agreed the way forward in terms of the review of 
Community Services.    

 The meeting closed at 7:30 pm 

 
 
 

8



Audit Committee
annual report

July 2018

Appendix 1

9

Agenda Item 8



Tewkesbury Borough Council

Audit Committee annual report

Message from the chair 1

The role of Audit Committee 1

Work undertaken by the Audit Committee 1

Audit Committee effectiveness 3

Audit Committee training 3

Internal audit peer review 4

Annual summary 4

External audit assurance 5

County fraud update 5

Health and safety and safeguarding updates 6

Looking forward 6

contents

10



1

Message from the Chair of 2017/18

Audit Committee

Welcome to the first
Audit Committee
annual report. This
was the first year I
have been involved
with an Audit
Committee and as
Chair it has been an
eye opener as to the
breadth of work the
committee gets
involved with. I
believe there is often
a misperception that

Audit Committees only get to deal with financial
matters. I would encourage all members to read the
reports presented at committee as they provide an
excellent overview of the council’s control
environment. For example, the committee has
received individual reports on the council’s
safeguarding arrangements, health and safety
framework, Ubico client monitoring and has received
reports from the Internal Audit team on how well we
manage activities such as cemeteries, absence
management, licensing and project management of
the Public Services Centre refurbishment. This is
only a small snapshot but demonstrates the
coverage across all council services. 

We have a small but effective Internal Audit team
who provide assurance to the committee as to what
is working well or not. Likewise we receive similar
assurance from our external auditors, Grant
Thornton. Between the two, they identify where
improvements are required in relation to the various
systems, processes and procedures operating
across the council.  With regards to financial
matters, it is comforting to report that the committee

always receives positive reports on the quality of
financial reporting and that the financial systems
supporting these reports are managed effectively.
This can be directly credited to the council’s Finance
team. 

One of my key aims during the year was to raise the
profile of the committee and this annual report is
one of the first steps. Although I have now stepped
down from the Chair’s role I will give my full support
to the new Chair, Councillor Heather McClain to carry
on the good work of the committee. I thank all of the
committee for the support they provided me during
the year.

Best wishes,
Councillor Vernon Smith 

The role of Audit Committee

The role of the committee is an important one. It’s
key role is that of assurance. The committee needs
to be assured that the council’s risk, governance and
internal control environment is operating effectively.
Given the council’s complexity of services,
processes, procedures and policies there will always
be occasions where improvements are required.
Where these are identified, the committee seeks
assurance the necessary improvements are
monitored and implemented. The assurance
provided to the committee comes from a number of
sources but mainly internal audit, external audit and
the finance team.  

Work undertaken by the Audit
Committee

Annual Governance Statement (AGS)
It is a statutory requirement that the council

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Audit Committee annual report

Councillor Vernon Smith

11



2

publishes an AGS. In layman’s terms, the document reflects the state of play in relation to the council’s overall
governance arrangements. A review of these arrangements is undertaken by the internal Corporate Governance
Group and any areas for improvement are reported within the AGS. The AGS is approved by Audit Committee
who then receive a report on the progress made to resolve the issues identified. The areas identified for
improvement for 2018/19 are summarised in the table below.

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Audit Committee annual report

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Risk Management

Constitution 

Business Continuity

Audit Committee
effectiveness

General Data Protection
Regulations 

Workforce development
strategy

Local Code of Corporate
Governance 

Licensing

• Develop and approve strategy
• Implement corporate risk register
• Member and senior officer session on

risk appetite

• Review and update the constitution

• Finalise and test draft corporate plan 

• ‘Role of the audit committee’  training to 
be programmed  

• Review terms of reference and name of 
committee

• Increase the profile of the audit 
committee eg production of annual 
report, six monthly newsletter

• Respond to and resolve promptly any 
breaches 

• Ongoing  compliance monitoring through 
reviewing GDPR process and 
procedures

• Monitor Privacy Impact Assessment
• Monitor Action Plan

• Develop and approve strategy

• Develop and approve a new code of 
governance 

• Deliver licensing action plan

December 2018

December 2018

September 2018

March 2019

March 2019

December 2018

March 2019

April 2019

Head of Corporate
Services

Head of
Democratic
Services 

Head of Corporate
Services

Head of Corporate
Services

Head of Corporate
Services

Human resources
Manager

Head of Corporate
Services

Head of Community

Governance issue Proposed action Timescale
Responsible
officer/group

12



3

Audit Committee effectiveness

It is important that the value of the committee is
maximised. As mentioned in the Chair’s introduction,
a desire to improve the committee’s effectiveness is
shared by all members who sit on the committee.
Supported by officers, ideas have started to emerge
on taking this forward. These include;

• Introduction of a six monthly Audit Committee 
newsletter that can be circulated to the wider 
membership.

• An escalation procedure whereby any concerns 
raised by the committee can result in the ‘call in’ 
of officers. For example, audit recommendations
that have not been implemented.

• Revisit the terms of reference and name of the 
committee to reflect the broad coverage of work
undertaken by the committee.

• Assess the committee’s effectiveness against a 
best practice template. 

• Build upon the excellent training undertaken to 
date to ensure members are fully up to speed on
committee related activity.

In terms of effectiveness, it was the Audit
Committee which provided the catalyst for some key
pieces of work. For example, the highly successful
garden waste project. This has currently raised
income in excess of £770,000 through the
subscription of over 17,000 sticker licences. The
inception of the project was a direct result of the
committee supporting improvements as
recommended by internal audit. Additionally, the
committee has sought continued assurance as to
improvements in relation to the council’s client
monitoring arrangements of the Ubico contract. As
members are aware, this is a significant contract
and the council’s monitoring of it is essential to gain
assurance that the performance measures within the
contract are being delivered. 

Audit Committee training

During the course of the year, training sessions have
been held to keep members abreast of key areas of
work. These were;

• Statement of accounts training – the accounts 
are approved by the committee and the Finance 
team do a sterling job to explain a complex 
subject in layman’s terms.

• Meet the internal audit team – this was an 
informal session to explain to members how 
audit assignments are actually undertaken. This 
included going through an audit from start to 
finish. Committee members learnt a lot about 
tree inspections that day!! They were 
appreciative of the session and acknowledged 
the amount of detailed work that supports the 
internal audit opinions presented at Audit 
Committee. 

• The role of the Audit Committee – this was a 
session facilitated by the council’s external 
auditors, Grant Thornton. This provided a useful 
overview as to the committee’s remit and 
responsibilities particularly focussed upon 
assurance, governance and risk.

• Internal audit peer review – the committee were
taken through the findings of the peer review 
and how the recommendations were to be 
implemented. This was an interactive session 
with good discussion around how the internal 
audit team could work in partnership with the 
committee to improve the audit process. This 
included agreement on categorisation of 
recommendations, wording of internal audit 
opinions, amendments to the internal audit 
charter and escalation of recommendations that 
had not been implemented. 

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Audit Committee annual report 13



Internal Audit peer review

The work of internal audit is pivotal to the committee
receiving independent assurance on how well the
council’s internal control environment is operating. It
is therefore important the internal audit activity is as
effective as possible. The work of internal audit is
governed by a set of standards – Public Sector
Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS). It is a requirement
of PSIAS that at least every five years internal audit
is subject to an independent assessment undertaken
by a suitably qualified person. 

This assessment took place in November 2017 and
was undertaken by Elizabeth Humphries. Elizabeth
has extensive audit experience both nationally and
internationally and is an accredited assessor. The
review was both challenging and positive and was
certainly thorough. Elizabeth interviewed a range of
senior officers, members, internal clients and the
internal audit team as well as reviewing completed
audit work and a plethora of other audit
documentation.

Following completion of 42 pages of working papers
it was pleasing that Elizabeth concluded there were
no areas of non-compliance with PSIAS that would
affect the overall scope or operation of the internal
audit activity. As with any review, a number of
recommendations were made to improve the audit
process further. The recommendations can
essentially be categorised as follows;

• Textual amendments to the internal audit charter
to define more clearly parts of the internal audit 
activity.

• Formal safeguards to maintain the 
independence of the Chief Audit Executive.

• Undertake audit planning by using a more 
strategic focus.

• Revision of audit documentation to improve the 
audit planning process. 

4

An action plan to implement the recommendations
was approved by Audit Committee and delivery of
this plan will be monitored during 2018/19. Overall, it
is comforting that the work of internal audit is
undertaken in an independent, professional and
objective manner. This provides assurance to the
committee as to the standard of work being
undertaken and they can place reliance upon it. A
workshop was held with the committee to take them
through the report in greater detail.

Annual summary of Internal Audit
work

At each Audit Committee, a monitoring report is
presented of the areas audited by the internal audit
team. For each area audited, an audit opinion is
given on how well it is controlled. It is encouraging
that of 39 opinions given, 37 are either of a ‘good’ or
‘satisfactory’ level of control. Two opinions were
given as ‘limited’. This means improvements need to
be made as the level of control is not as it should be.
The two opinions related to the Licensing function.
There has been a positive management response
with an improvement action plan implemented and
this has been reported to the licensing Committee
for monitoring purposes. Internal audit will also
follow up on the recommendations made to give the
Audit Committee independent assurance they have
been implemented. 

Other audits undertaken during the course of the
year include project management of the Public
Services Centre refurbishment, cemeteries, land
charges, leisure centre client monitoring, absence
management, budgetary control and members
allowances. Overall, of the areas audited, the control
environment can be considered effective. This is
exemplified by the low number of recommendations
made in total (27) of which only two were
categorised as medium and two categorised as high.

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Audit Committee annual report 14



5

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Audit Committee annual report

Ten audits had no recommendations at all. All
individual audit recommendations are followed up by
internal audit to determine if they have been
implemented and the findings reported to Audit
Committee. 

Two update reports on specific areas of previous
audit concern were also considered during the year.
These related to bulky waste and client monitoring of
the Ubico contract. In relation to bulky waste, the
update confirmed that a review of charges had been
undertaken and the wait times for collections had
improved, both being previous audit
recommendations.  In relation to monitoring of the
Ubico contract, improvements were reported around
the quality of financial reporting, development of new
performance indicators, regular contract meetings
and improved bin stock procedures. 

External Audit assurance

In addition to the work of internal audit, reliance on
how well the council is performing is given by the
council’s external auditors, Grant Thornton. A
summary of their findings during the year were as
follows;

• They concluded that the council’s financial 
statements were a true and accurate reflection 
and took the opportunity to thank the council’s 
finance team for their support and engagement 
during the review process. No amendments were
required to the accounts as a result of their 
accuracy. 

• They were satisfied that, in all significant 
aspects, the council had proper arrangements in 
place to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources. This 
included follow up work on the client monitoring 
of the Ubico contract which had been flagged by 

internal audit in 2016/17 as unsatisfactory. 
Based upon the processes that had been put in 
place by the council since the internal audit 
review, Grant Thornton were satisfied that risks 
had been sufficiently mitigated. 

• A review of the housing benefit subsidy claim 
led to a minor amendment of £1,421 against an 
overall claim of £19,130, 659. This is another 
endorsement regarding the accuracy of the 
council’s financial information. 

Gloucestershire County Fraud Unit
update

The committee receives a six month update on the
work of the Counter Fraud Unit (CFU). The CFU
works directly on behalf of all the Gloucestershire
authorities, West Oxfordshire District Council and
other public sector bodies such as Cheltenham
Borough Homes. Included within the report to Audit
Committee were examples of how the CFU has
supported the council. These include;

• The introduction of a new council tax, housing 
benefit and Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
(CTRS) Penalty and Prosecution Policy to assist 
with the investigation of alleged fraud and abuse
in relation to CTRS.

• Review of council tax properties listed as long 
term empty and the introduction of the empty 
homes premium policy.

• Processing of National Fraud Initiative referrals 
matching single person discount accounts 
against the electoral register. Nearly £50,000 in 
retrospective liability has been identified. 

• Training to both members and staff on general 
fraud awareness. 

• Development of a new corporate enforcement 
policy (currently at draft stage).

• Assisting with disciplinary investigations. 

15



6

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Audit Committee annual report

• Assisting the Environment Team with 
intelligence for alleged fly tipping offences. 

In response to committee questioning around if the
CFU had identified any areas of risk which needed to
be tightened up it was pleasing to be informed that
nothing significant had been identified. An emerging
risk facing councils is that of serious and organised
crime. Although this may not necessarily be relevant
to Tewkesbury Borough Council, it is important all
members and senior management are aware of this
risk and its impact. A session for Members is
programmed for 2 October 2018. 

Health and safety and
safeguarding annual updates

Audit Committee receive annually a report on two of
the council’s key governance frameworks. With
regards to Health and Safety the report confirms
Tewkesbury Borough Council is a safe and healthy
place to work. The key messages within the report
were;

• The council has a health, safety and welfare 
policy which is reviewed regularly and supported 
by a suite of other related policies e.g. managing
contractors safely policy, the control of 
substances hazardous to health, cemetery and 
memorial safety management, lone working etc.

• Regular reporting to corporate management 
team on both operational and strategic issues.

• The council being awarded the Workforce 
Wellbeing Charter.

• The Keep Safe, Stay Healthy group is a positive 
forum to oversee all operational aspects of the 
council’s health and safety responsibilities.

• The completion of risk assessments for all 
service areas aided by a new generic template.

• Related training is programmed e.g. resilience 
training, assertiveness and dealing with difficult 

people, managing contractors safely, asbestos 
training etc.

• Basic awareness training provided to volunteers.
• The number of reported accidents and incidents 

are very low.
• Robust reporting mechanisms in place for the 

key contracts e.g. leisure centre, Ubico. 

With regards to safeguarding, an annual report is
presented at Audit Committee to provide assurance
the council is fulfilling its responsibilities. The report
demonstrated that on the whole, the council is fully
meeting this requirement. As independent assurance,
internal audit had reviewed the council’s self-
assessment on its safeguarding arrangements. A
small number of recommendations had been made
around strengthening these arrangements, namely
through incorporating these into staff appraisals,
volunteer awareness and safeguarding awareness
training for hackney carriage and private hire drivers.
The latter recommendation has now been
implemented. 

Looking forward 

Councillor Heather McLain takes up the mantle of
Chair for 2018/19, supported by Councillor Vernon
Smith as Vice-Chair. The committee also welcomes a
new member in Councillor Gill Blackwell, who
replaces Councillor Alex Evans. There is also a new
Lead Member for Corporate Governance, Councillor
Elaine MacTiernan. One of Elaine’s key roles will be to
oversee the effectiveness of the committee and the
internal audit function. 

In terms of the workings of the committee, again it
will be business as usual to ensure the committee
continues to receive the assurance it needs. This will
be improved through the development of a new
corporate risk register and a new risk management

16



7

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Audit Committee annual report

strategy. With regards to the internal audit function, the implementation of recommendations made arising from
the peer review will only strengthen the existing  good quality and remit of its work.  In terms of the effectiveness
of the committee itself, then officers, working in partnership with committee members will ensure the value of the
committee itself is maximised during the year. 

2017/18 Audit Committee members

New members

Cllr Kevin Cromwell Cllr Pauline Godwin Cllr John Hesketh Cllr Sue Hillier-Richardson

Cllr Heather McLain Cllr Vernon Smith

Cllr Gill Blackwell, 2018/19

(replacing Alex Evans)
Cllr Elaine MacTiernan,

Lead Member - Corporate

Governance for 2018/19

Photos courtesy of ‘Posers Photographic’ 

Cllr Alex Evans

17



Produced by Tewkesbury Borough Council. 2018

Mike Dawson

Chief Executive

Tewkesbury Borough Council

18



Water supply 
outage

scrutiny review

April 2018
19

Agenda Item 9



Water supply outage Tewkesbury Borough Council

contents
Introduction and review purpose 1

Review methodology and meetings of the 

working group 2

Scrutiny review of the water outage 6

• Maintenance and infrastructure 7

• General 8

• Water distribution 9

• Communications 12

• Impact on businesses 13

• Conclusion 14

Acknowledgements 14

Appendices:

1 Terms of reference for the review

2 Approved minutes of the special Overview and Scrutiny

Committee held on 24 April 2018

3 Scrutiny review of water supply outage action plan

Scrutiny review
20



1

Introduction

On the weekend of Friday 15 December through
to Sunday 17 December 2017, a significant
water outage occurred in Tewkesbury Borough.

There had been two previous water outages
that had affected the borough in the preceding
months that had impacted the Mitton area of
Tewkesbury on 24 August 2017 and the
Churchdown area of the borough on 30 October
2017.

The outage in December affected over 10,000
properties in the borough, a significant number
of businesses – in what was a crucial trading
weekend in the run-up to Christmas -
agricultural farmers, the community hospital
and a number of nursing homes.  In addition, 17
schools had to be closed.

In light of the above, and the social and
economic impact on communities within
Tewkesbury Borough, the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee agreed, at its meeting on 6 February
2018, to undertake a scrutiny review of the
water supply outage that had occurred in
December 2017.  At that meeting the
Committee agreed Terms of Reference for the
review which are attached at Appendix 1.

Review purpose 

The purpose of the review was to more fully
appreciate the water outage incident, its
causes, and the lessons that could be learnt to
prevent or mitigate future water supply outages.

Specifically, the review sought to:

• understand the impact on the community 
and local businesses, including agriculture.

In order to achieve this, the intention was to:

• establish the cause of the incident and 
whether it could have been avoided;

• analyse relevant information from various 
partners involved in the incident, including
Tewkesbury Borough Council;

• consider how well the provision of 
alternative water supplies, including bottled 
water, was managed; and

• review the general responsiveness of the 
multi-agency approach.

In conclusion, the intended outcome of the
review was:

• to establish learning points and make 
recommendations to the Council and its 
partners that would mitigate the impact of 
any water outage recurrence.

Water supply outage scrutiny review

Tewkesbury Borough Council

21



2

Review methodology

It was agreed that the whole Overview and
Scrutiny Committee, as well as the relevant
Lead Members, would be involved in the review,
meeting in the first instance as a Working Group
to receive detailed briefings and prepare
questions.  

The Working Group considered how to receive
contributions from those affected by the water
outage, including the public, small businesses
and the farming community, as well as the role
of Town and Parish Councils.

Following the conclusion of the Working Group
meetings, a special meeting of the Overview
and Scrutiny Committee took place on 24 April
2018.  The meeting was held in public and
included representatives from:

• Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service
• Gloucestershire Local Resilience Forum
• Gloucestershire Police
• Severn Trent Water
• Tewkesbury Borough Council Response 

Team

Meetings of the working
group

The Working Group met on four occasions prior
to the special meeting of the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee to conduct the review.

Meeting 1 on 6 February 2018
Terms of Reference for the review were agreed
for recommendation to the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee which followed the Working
Group meeting.

Meeting 2 on 21 February 2018
At this meeting, consideration was given to a
review of the events that took place over the
weekend 15-17 December 2017 which, in
summary, included the following:

Friday, 15 December 2017

1000 hours

• Loss of water supply to 10,000 properties.
• Gloucestershire Local Resilience Forum

activation of Operation Link.
• District Emergency Planning Liaison Officer 

informed via email.
• Tactical Co-Ordinating Group activated

involving Severn Trent Water, 
Gloucestershire County Council, 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service, 
ambulance service, health partners, 
Environment Agency.  Group operating a 
silver level command and chaired by the 
police.

• Head of Community Services briefed on the 
telephone by Tactical Co-Ordinating Group.

Water supply outage scrutiny review

Tewkesbury Borough Council

a
e
ri
a
l 
v
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e
 w

a
te

r

22



Water supply outage scrutiny review 3

• Communications update from Severn Trent 
and media interviews undertaken.

• 36-inch water main had suffered a failure 
triggering the Water Treatment Works 
flow alarms leading to automatic shutdown.

• Water Treatment Works in the process of 
being brought back on-line.

• 17 schools closed.
• Bottled water distribution site set up at 

Morrison’s supermarket in Tewkesbury.
• Community hospital and nursing homes in 

the area without water.
• Major incident not declared.

1330 hours

• Burst location identified. Assessment in 
progress.

• Two bottled water sites in operation at 
Morrison’s and Tewkesbury School. Third 
site to be activated at Chaceley Village Hall.

• Hospital and nursing homes receiving 
supplies to meet needs.

• Traffic in Tewkesbury causing problems.
• Major incident not declared.
• Severn Trent Water Senior Manager 

interviewed by media and updates provided.

1630 hours

• Water Treatment Works on-line, valve 
opened and system refilling. Drop in 
pressure being investigated.

• Traffic issues currently alleviated but plan 
being prepared for Saturday 16 December 
2017.

• Tewkesbury Borough Public Services Centre
request for water.

• Flood maps assessed for main repair site.
• Major incident not declared.

1900 hours

• Water Treatment Works providing water 
supply but pressure variables believed 
to be caused by demand.

• Team working on burst main undertaking 
risk assessment in respect of flooding on the
Severn Ham.

• No change on distribution; three sites 
operating (Morrison’s, Tewkesbury School 
and Chaceley Village Hall) with resources in 
place for all three to operate from 0700 
hours the following day.

• Gloucestershire County Council re-tweeting 
all Severn Trent Water tweets and monitoring
social media.

• All vulnerable properties in receipt of water.
• Severn Trent Water arranging bottled water 

for Tewkesbury Borough Public Services 
Centre and liaising on provision of 
tanker/bowser.

• Major incident not declared.

Saturday, 16 December 2017

0830 hours

• Water Treatment Works shut down briefly
overnight, but up and running again. 

• Trying a different valving route. Cheltenham 
at risk and stress on bottled water sites.

• Water distribution sites at Morrison’s and 
Tewkesbury School in operation. Severn 
Trent Water took decision not to continue to 
operate Chaceley site but set-up at 
Gloucester Road car park instead; the latter 
was shut down due to traffic concerns.

• 8,000 properties still without water.

Tewkesbury Borough Council

23



Water supply outage scrutiny review 4

• Public Services Centre running low on 
water.

• Major incident not declared.

1200 hours

• Water Treatment Works running well.
• Different valving route being tried to restore 

supply.
• Public Services Centre running very low on 

water.
• Concerns over communication of health 

information.
• Vulnerable people, nursing homes, hospital 

etc. in receipt of water.
• Farmers and animal welfare details being 

shared by Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue 
Service with Severn Trent Water.

• Tipping point identified as 1500 hours on 
Saturday 16 December 2017 when decision 
to be made to implement contingency plans
for dealing with the event as an ongoing
issue over the weekend and how to 
maintain supply to the storage reservoirs to 
ensure Cheltenham supply not lost.

1500 hours

• New valving plan implemented having 
positive impact with pressure in 
Tewkesbury rising as well as storage 
increasing in the reservoir serving the 
Cheltenham area.

• Contingency plans being put in place if 
event ran into Monday.

• Communications via Severn Trent Water 
website and social media, including health 
information and handwashing etc.  Advice 
and visits to businesses being undertaken.

• Severn Trent Water updating website and 
briefing TV and radio.

• No major incident declared.

1630 hours

• Valving work complete. Repair of main now 
being progressed.

• 8,000 customers back on main supply; 2,000
served by reservoirs waiting for reservoirs to
refill.

• Storage reservoir levels being monitored 
with worst case contingency planning being 
undertaken.

• Public Services Centre very low on water 
supply.

• No major incident declared.

1900 hours

• Water supply restored at Public Services 
Centre at 1700 hours.

• Bowser containing 900 litres of water 
reached Public Services Centre at 1800 
hours. Public Services Centre has 6,000 litre 
tank and bowser did not have sufficient 
pressure to reach the tank.

• 2,000 properties in rural areas still without 
water.

• Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service 
dealing with vulnerable people not on Severn
Trent Water lists.

• Situation improving but water distribution 
points still operating.

• Gloucestershire County Council leading on 
communications.

• Tewkesbury Borough Council team stood 
down.

Tewkesbury Borough Council

24



Water supply outage scrutiny review 5

Sunday 17 December 2018

1300 hours

• Water supply restored.
• Tactical Co-Ordinating Group formally stood

down.

2100 hours

• Majority of properties now back on supply.
• Move to ‘business as usual’ and recovery.

The Working Group also considered
contributions from external partners and agreed
that a series of questions be compiled for
Tewkesbury Borough Council’s Citizens’ Panel,
the Chamber of Commerce and the Federation
of Small Businesses, and the National Farmers’
Union to obtain feedback from the community
and businesses as to how they were impacted.
It was further agreed to produce a short
questionnaire for circulation to Town and
Parish Councils with responses collated for the
next meeting of the Working Group

Meeting 3 on 22 March 2018

Following the review of the event that took
place at the last meeting, a number of
questions had been prepared under the
following headings:

• Maintenance and infrastructure
• Water distribution
• Communications
• Community and vulnerability

The Working Group considered these carefully,
adding to, expanding upon and amending the

draft questions in preparation for the review in
public.

The consultation responses from the Town and
Parish Councils, businesses and the Citizens’
Panel were also considered and resulted in
further amendment to the questions, including
compensation for businesses, the role of
Waterplus, infrastructure investment, network
mapping and communication handovers.

It was also agreed that the final meeting of the
Working Group before the review in public
would include representations from Tewkesbury
Town Council and a local farmer.  Following
this, the questions for the review would be
finalised.

Meeting 4 on 9 April 2018

The Working Group received information on
Waterplus entitled ‘Buyer’s guide to water
procurement’ outlining business water market
changes from April 2017.  From this
information it appeared that business
customers had been transferred to Waterplus
but information on this transfer was lacking and
warranted questions of Severn Trent Water to
explain the situation.

Tewkesbury Town Council attended the
meeting and spoke about the water network on
the Severn Ham, the number of leaks that had
occurred on this site, the access problems
caused by flooding and the options identified to
address the issues which it was hoped could be
completed within the next 18-24 months.
Reference was also made to whether the Town
Council had a plan for emergency water
distribution and the Borough Council’s intention

Tewkesbury Borough Council

25



Water supply outage scrutiny review 6

to prepare a plan for water distribution.

A local farmer also spoke to the Working Group
about the impact of the water supply outage on
his livelihood. He had not received any
notification that there was a problem with the
water supply but there was a legal requirement
for his poultry farm to have enough water to
cover a 24-hour period. His tanks had not
refilled overnight due to the water outage, so it
had been necessary for him to find an
alternative supply. A water tanker did arrive at
2000 hours on Sunday 17 December 2017 by
which time the event was over and the water
back on.  Communication with Severn Trent
Water had been a real issue and, despite being
told he would receive a call back, this had not
happened. The farmer was a Waterplus
customer but had not been advised to contact
Waterplus by Severn Trent Water.  It was his
view that his poultry would not survive without
water beyond a 24-hour period.

Using all the information that had been provided
at the Working Group meetings, the initial
questions to be asked at the scrutiny review
hearing were agreed. Follow-up questions would
be asked depending on the responses received.

Scrutiny review of the
water outage

A special meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee took place on 24 April 2018 to
conduct the review of the water supply outage
which occurred over the weekend of 15-17
December 2017.

The following were present as witnesses:

Gloucestershire Police 
-     Assistant Chief Constable
- Acting Superintendent (and Tactical Co-

Ordinating Group Chair)

Severn Trent Water
-     Head of Asset Management
- Head of Customer Strategy and Experience
- Deputy Chief Engineer

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service 
-    Assistant Chief Fire Officer

Gloucestershire Local Resilience Forum
-    Gloucestershire Local Resilience Forum 

Secretariat Manager

Tewkesbury Borough Council
-    Head of Community Services

The meeting opened with a short presentation
from Severn Trent Water giving a brief overview
of the water network relating to the incident and
the impact of the recent deregulation of the

Tewkesbury Borough Council

S
c
ru

ti
n

y
 r

e
v
ie

w
 m

e
e

ti
n

g

26



Water supply outage scrutiny review 7

supply of water, including Severn Trent Water’s
relationship with Waterplus.

This was followed by Members of the Overview
and Scrutiny Committee questioning the
witnesses. These questions had been divided
into the following sections:

• Maintenance and infrastructure
• General
• Water distribution
• Communications
• Impact on businesses
• Conclusion

The meeting lasted in excess of three hours and
provided a thorough examination of the event,
with recommendations aimed at building on the
learning points arising from the incident. 

Maintenance and infrastructure

The root cause of the incident had been a burst
in one of the three pipes which fed into
Tewkesbury and initial attempts to redirect
water had been unsuccessful due to an
unknown cross-connection. The network of

pipes were located on the Severn Ham.

There had been problems with leaks on the
Severn Ham previously - this was a complex
location with significant environmental
considerations; it was a Site of Special
Scientific Interest (SSSI), which was home to
rare plant and bird species, as well as being
used for grazing.  

There were a number of factors to take into
account before machinery could be taken onto
the Severn Ham to start excavations and there
were many times during the year when it was
not physically possible to access the site due to
flooding.

Investigations had shown that two of the three
pipes running across the Severn Ham required
replacement/re-lining. Discussions were
ongoing as to the preferred approach, but it was
hoped the work would be completed within the
next two years, or sooner if possible. In the
meantime, any leaks reported were being
repaired, albeit not always as quickly as would
be liked due to the complexities of the site.

Recommendation 1
That Severn Trent Water proceed as quickly as
possible with the replacement or re-lining of
two of the three pipes running across the
Severn Ham.

In response to questions about why it had taken
so long to locate the leak and restore the water
supply, explanations were provided on the
complexity of this section of the network.
Locating the leak had taken some time -

Tewkesbury Borough Council

W
o
rk

 i
n
 p

ro
g
re

s
s

27



Water supply outage scrutiny review 8

particularly as the burst had happened
overnight, therefore it had been dark - and it was
difficult to pin down the exact location within
the large area that had lost water pressure. 

Once the location had been established, the
valving sequence commenced but, whilst this
would normally require the turning of one or two
valves for a street burst, the valves in this area
were huge and needed to be turned 200 times
by two people using a valve handle which it was
calculated could take three to four hours to
complete.  

This did not resolve the problem and the water
pressure had started to drop away on the
afternoon of Friday 15 December 2017 which
indicated either a secondary burst or that the
first burst had not been isolated effectively.
This had led to the discovery of an unknown
cross-section and required a new valving
sequence to be worked out.  In terms of why
there was no record of this cross-section, an
error had been made when transposing historic
drawings to electronic records due to the
number of valves within this complex network.
Records had been updated following this
incident.

Recommendation 2
That Severn Trent Water check electronic and
paper network records to ensure that they are
accurate and up-to-date.

General

A brief overview of how emergency planning
worked in Tewkesbury Borough was given with
the Gloucestershire Local Resilience Forum
Secretariat Manager advising that the
government had introduced the Civil
Contingencies Act 2004 in response to the
outbreaks of foot and mouth and widespread
flooding that had been experienced in 2000-
2001.  This set out a framework for emergency
planning, including roles and responsibilities.
Tewkesbury Borough Council was a Category 1
responder along with the emergency services,
health services and Environment Agency.  Each
Police force had a Local Resilience Forum
which brought agencies together.  A cascade
system was used to notify partner agencies of
an incident and put them on alert that they may
need to step-up to a command and control
structure.  An explanation of the
communications in relation to the water outage
event was given, from which it transpired that it
would have been helpful to have real-time
communications which could be logged so that
all partners could see the communications at
the same time.

Recommendation 3
That consideration be given by the
Gloucestershire Local Resilience Forum to
introducing a real-time communication system
for emergency incidents.

Tewkesbury Borough Council

W
o
rk

 i
n

 p
ro

g
re

s
s

28



Water supply outage scrutiny review 9

Water distribution

A water distribution plan had been developed by
the Gloucestershire Local Resilience Forum
based on lessons learnt from the floods in
2007.  The plan had been aligned to Severn
Trent Water’s water distribution plan but, as
time had gone on, it had become clear that this
needed to be revised; for example, the water
industry now relied increasingly on bottled
water, whereas in 2007 there had been more
use of bowsers.  Reference was made to the
farmer who had attended a meeting of the
Working Group and advised that he had been
offered bottled water as a solution to meeting
the needs of his livestock and that the needs of
the farming community should be considered as
part of this review, along with other practical
issues such as mutually agreed sites, access,
vehicle size, traffic impact etc.

Recommendation 4
That the Gloucestershire Local Resilience
Forum review of its water distribution plan
include the needs of agriculture, distribution
sites, vehicle access, traffic impact etc.

It was also clear that, as this plan was only
brought into operation during a major incident,
there was a need for a local water distribution
plan for smaller scale incidents before a major
incident was enacted.  There had been
problems around the use of Chaceley Village
Hall as a third water distribution point, and the
opening and closing of the Gloucester Road car
park as a distribution point, that warranted the
production of a local plan.

Recommendation 5
That Tewkesbury Borough Council produce a
local water distribution plan for events not
classed as major incidents.

An explanation was given as to why the event
had not been classed as a major incident and
assurance provided that this had been kept
under review at each Tactical Co-Ordinating
Group meeting.

Reference was made to the significant traffic
congestion around Morrison’s supermarket
arising from the establishment of the water
distribution point and the efforts that had been
made to alleviate this.  Attempts had been
made to contact Gloucestershire Highways with
a view to diversions being put in place but no
contact could be made and this was a matter
that needed to be addressed.

Recommendation 6
That the Gloucestershire Local Resilience
Forum and Gloucestershire County Council
work together to ensure that Gloucestershire
Highways is included as a Category 1
responder in respect of emergency events.

It was explained why a water distribution point
at Gloucester Road was undesirable – although
it had a separate entrance and exit, and there
were no traffic lights to interrupt traffic flow, it
could cause traffic congestion which would not
be helpful if there was already congestion at the
other end of the town as this could be a
problem for emergency services. The fact that it
had been set-up regardless of these problems

Tewkesbury Borough Council

29



and communicated to the public had been an
error. In addition, it had taken some time to shut
it down despite a directive from the Tactical Co-
ordinating Group.  Some of the delay had been
caused by a change of teams and the need to
have robust handover procedures in place was
reiterated.

Recommendation 7
That the Gloucestershire Local Resilience
Forum reiterate to all partners involved the
need for directives from the Tactical Co-
Ordinating Group to be responded to in a timely
manner.

Recommendation 8
That Severn Trent Water ensure that robust
handover procedures are in place during
incidents.

A discussion on the choice of Chaceley Village
Hall as a water distribution point took place. It
was explained that, in view of the very clear
message that a water distribution point was not
wanted at Gloucester Road car park, and the
traffic congestion at Morrison’s, an alternative
out of town site was needed. Consideration had
been given to Apperley or Tirley but there were
concerns that this may lead to the main road in
that area becoming blocked and the parishes
being completely sealed off. In selecting
Chaceley it had not been known that an
articulated lorry would be used to deliver the
water, which clearly was an issue due to the
very narrow lanes that had to be travelled to
access Chaceley. The original intention had
been to use the Village Hall but the delivery of
nine pallets was too much for the small hall and

was ultimately dropped off at the small parking
area at the access to the hall leaving little to no
room for parking. An additional factor was that
the village was on flood alert and, had the river
flooded, the nine pallets of water would have
had to be removed as a matter of urgency.
Subsequently, Chaceley Parish Council had
written to Tewkesbury Borough Council and
Severn Trent Water to indicate that, should this
situation occur again, Chaceley Parish should
not be used as a water distribution centre.
Another issue which had arisen was the fact
that the Chaceley water distribution point
required volunteers to man it and, although a
team of volunteers had been assembled and
sent out to Chaceley by Tewkesbury Borough
Council, as the water had not arrived for some
time, the team had been stood down by the time
it had arrived.

Recommendation 9 
That the water distribution plans used by
Tewkesbury Borough Council, Severn Trent
Water and the Gloucestershire Local Resilience
Forum include consideration of the type of
vehicles used to deliver water to distribution
sites, access routes to those sites and how
those sites are to be manned.

Reference was also made to the fact that some
people did not have access to cars and small
communities in particular tended to band
together and support each other.  Dropping off
pallets of water in rural locations to enable
communities to support themselves was also
an important consideration when drawing up
water distribution plans.  Communities were
often very resilient with volunteering and self-
help coming to the fore and it was important

Water supply outage scrutiny review 10

Tewkesbury Borough Council

30



Water supply outage scrutiny review 11

that this resource was maximised to its fullest
potential in future.

Recommendation 10
That water distribution plans include
consideration of how to help communities self-
serve.

The Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service
role in the incident was explained, particularly in
terms of contacting, and distributing water to,
vulnerable people.  It was suggested that
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service could
play a role in assisting farms; whilst there was
no capacity to supply water suitable for human
consumption, these restrictions may not be
applicable to farms.

Recommendation 11
That Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service
explore the potential of supplying water to
farms in an emergency.

The Tewkesbury Borough Public Services
Centre, where Gloucestershire Police were
based, had run low on water and consideration
was given to the impact the closure of the
building would have had on policing in the
borough.  Whilst Gloucestershire Police were of
the view that service levels could be maintained
by linking with other stations such as
Bamfurlong, should this be necessary, obviously
it was not the preferred option.  It had taken
more than 24 hours to get water to the Public
Services Centre and then a very small bowser
with an inadequate pumping mechanism had

arrived.  A breakdown in communications had
meant that it had been prioritised wrongly and it
had not been understood that the water needed
to be pumped to the top of the building.  The
Public Services Centre had not been classified
as a sensitive building and therefore did not
have a site-specific contingency plan, as was in
place for buildings such as hospitals and
prisons. 

Recommendation 12
That Tewkesbury Borough Council, together
with Severn Trent Water, consider whether the
Public Services Centre should be classed as a
sensitive building with Severn Trent Water.  If
so, a contingency plan should be put in place
for the future.

Consideration was given to how vulnerable
members of the community were identified and
water delivered promptly to those in need. It
was explained that there was a protocol in place
and information had been gathered in
accordance with the vulnerable people plan.  It
was not possible to hold a master list because
of data protection issues and the information
would be constantly changing and could be out
of date at any one time.  In an emergency,
postcodes of the affected areas were passed to
social care teams to check against their
databases and Severn Trent Water also had its
own priority services register.  Severn Trent
Water was undertaking further work to improve
the accuracy and adequacy of the list and
initiatives such as ‘check on your neighbour’
were promoted on its website.  The role of
Town and Parish Councils in providing
information on vulnerable people was
considered in terms of their local knowledge

Tewkesbury Borough Council

31



Water supply outage scrutiny review 12

about their communities.

Recommendation 13
That Gloucestershire County Council and
Tewkesbury Borough Council review how data
on vulnerable people is shared between
agencies and that consideration be given to the
role that Town and Parish Councils could play
in identifying vulnerable people.

Reference was made to the impact on the
business community, including farmers and the
risk to livestock. It was advised that Severn
Trent Water’s first priority had to be its
vulnerable customers, followed by other
domestic customers. There was a statutory
requirement to provide water to sensitive
buildings such as prisons, hospitals and nursing
homes. Any additional capacity in terms of
tankers/bowsers could then be used to support
business customers. Prior to market opening,
Severn Trent Water had local arrangements in
place with individual businesses but the need to
be fair and equitable meant that there was now
a hierarchy in terms of the type of business and
the order of assistance provided. A meeting
with the National Farmers’ Union was planned in
order to better understand the needs of farmers
and how joint working could be improved.

Recommendation 14
That Severn Trent Water meet with the National 
Farmers’ Union to gain a better understanding 
of the needs of farmers and to consider what, if 
any, arrangements could be put in place to 
improve joint working in the future.

Some water retailers were looking at offering
additional services to the business community,
potentially at a cost.  In addition, it was
important for businesses to have in place
contingency plans and an example was given
where a farmer had no water tanks and
therefore any assistance that could be given
was limited.

Recommendation 15
That the Gloucestershire Local Resilience
Forum and Tewkesbury Borough Council
encourage and assist businesses to put
contingency plans in place for emergencies.

It was also noted that very few of the parishes
within the borough had an emergency plan in
place and the importance of having such plans
was stressed.

Recommendation 16
That Tewkesbury Borough Council work with
Town and Parish Councils to develop
emergency plans.

Communications

Concerns were expressed about the fact that
there had been some mixed messages released
during the incident, for example, the water
distribution point at Gloucester Road car park.
A communications lead had been nominated by
each agency with Severn Trent Water taking on
the co-ordination role and reporting to the
Tactical Co-Ordinating Group.  There had been
some problems with co-ordinated messages,

Tewkesbury Borough Council

32



Water supply outage scrutiny review 13

dissemination of health advice, delays in
updates etc.  In future, the thinking was that a
Category 1 responder should take the lead on
the management of communications,
particularly to ensure the right balance between
the Category 1 responders and any
considerations of other organisations involved
in the emergency.

Recommendation 17
That the Gloucestershire Local Resilience
Forum consider and establish a clear
communication procedure addressing the need
for a joint communication cell led by a
Category 1 responder and seamless handovers
between teams.

Impact on businesses

The impact of this outage on the business
community was raised, particularly in light of
the fact that the outage had taken place during
the holiday period on one of the busiest
weekends in the run-up to Christmas. The
adequacy of the compensation amount of £50
offered to businesses was discussed, as well as
the problems of businesses being passed
between Severn Trent Water and retailers (such
as Waterplus) and the mixed messages that
were given out.

It was explained that there was a standard level
of compensation for each type of incident, and
this varied according to duration. This was
agreed with the regulators and publicised on
Severn Trent Water’s website. The standard
amount of compensation for businesses was a
starting amount of £50 and it depended on the
length of time specific businesses had been

without water as to whether that amount
increased. The compensation was for the
interruption to the water supply and not loss of
business. The question of whether insurance
was available for loss of business due to a
water outage was raised which it was felt
should be discussed further with the business
community.

In respect of the communication problems
between Severn Trent Water, Waterplus and the
business community, it was acknowledged that
there was room for improvement and
discussions were ongoing to improve upon this.
Businesses were the responsibility of retailers,
but obviously the water outage rested with
Severn Trent Water and it was Severn Trent
Water which was responsible for the messages
being communicated on the outage. Additional
training was being provided to both
organisations and consideration was being
given to amending Severn Trent Water’s website
to cover the business community in the event of
a water outage.

Recommendation 18
That Severn Trent Water consider how to
improve communications with business
customers, including clarification of the
relationship between the retailer and the
wholesaler as well as reviewing information on
its website to cover the business community in
the event of a water outage.

Recommendation 19
That Tewkesbury Borough Council work with
businesses to ensure they are aware of how to
protect against loss of business e.g. insurance.

Tewkesbury Borough Council

33



Water supply outage scrutiny review 14

Conclusion

Severn Trent Water explained the review
mechanisms it had in place following a major
incident.  A record of events was given by the
people involved highlighting what had been
done well and areas of improvement.  This
informed the updating of processes and
procedures.  It was also intended to look at
other water outage events that had taken place
to assess the cumulative impact and ensure
there was sufficient resilience.

Recommendation 20
That Severn Trent Water undertake a review of
all the water outages in the area in 2017 to
assess the cumulative impact to ensure that
sufficient resilience arrangements are in place.

In terms of the Tactical Co-Ordinating
Group/Gloucestershire Local Resilience Forum
there had been a multi-agency debrief following
the event where learning was documented and
would be shared with all agencies.  Overall the
Tactical Co-Ordinating Group had worked well,
and the experience had been positive with the
right people around the table working as a team.

A full copy of the approved Minutes of the
special Overview and Scrutiny Committee
meeting is attached at Appendix 2.

The action plan arising from the review - setting
out the recommendations, responsibility for
implementation, target dates etc. - is attached
at Appendix 3.

Acknowledgements

The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee expressed the view that the review
of the water supply outage had been useful and
productive, resulting in an action plan that
would inform any future event.  He wished to
acknowledge the hard work undertaken by
Members and Officers and particularly thanked
the representatives of Severn Trent Water,
Gloucestershire Police, Gloucestershire Fire and
Rescue and the Gloucestershire Local
Resilience Forum for their participation, and the
open and transparent manner in which they had
responded to the questions.

Tewkesbury Borough Council

34



Water supply outage scrutiny review

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Appendices

1 Terms of reference for the review

2 Approved minutes of the special Overview and Scrutiny

Committee held on 24 April 2018

3 Scrutiny review of water supply outage action plan

35



Water supply outage scrutiny review

Tewkesbury Borough CouncilAppendix one

Scrutiny review of water supply outage terms of reference

Purpose of review:
On the weekend of Friday 15 December through to Sunday 17 December, 10,000 households within
Tewkesbury Borough suffered a significant water outage.  In light of this, and two previous water
outages in Tewkesbury and Churchdown, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has expressed a wish
to carry out a review of this significant event in order to more fully appreciate the incident, its causes
and what lessons can be learnt to prevent or mitigate future water supply outages.  

Method of review:
The whole Committee will be involved, and the relevant Lead Member(s) of the Executive Committee
will be invited to participate. 

The following partners will be invited to participate:

• Severn Trent Water
• Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service
• Gloucestershire Constabulary
• Gloucestershire County Council Emergency Planning
• Town and Parish Councils

The Committee will meet as a Working Group on up to four occasions to consider the Terms of
Reference, receive detailed briefings and prepare questions. 

The Scrutiny Hearing will take place at a Special Meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
which will be open to the public.

Scope of review:

• To understand the impact on the community and local businesses, including agriculture, during
one of the busiest weekends of the trading year.

• To collate and review relevant information from various partners, including the Council, relating
to the incident.

• To establish the cause of the incident.
• To establish how well the response to the incident was managed, including internal

communications between agencies and communications with the community.
• To consider how well the provision of alternative water supplies, including bottled water, was

managed.
• To establish whether the incident could have been avoided.
• To establish lessons (if any) that can be learned from the incident and communicate these via

the Gloucestershire Local Resilience Forum to the other agencies across Gloucestershire for
consideration.

36



Water supply outage scrutiny review

Tewkesbury Borough CouncilAppendix one

Internal Resources:

• Chief Executive
• Deputy Chief Executive
• Head of Community Services / Community Services Team
• Head of Corporate Services / Corporate Services Team
• Democratic Services

Evidence Sources:  

• Emergency events logs and associated records.
• Local Resilience Forum Review report and findings.

Desired Outcome:

To establish learning points for the Council and make recommendations to partners that would
mitigate the impact of any reoccurrence. 

Scrutiny Period Ending:
April 2018

37



Appendix 2 

TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
Minutes of a Meeting of the Special Overview and Scrutiny Committee held at the 

Council Offices, Gloucester Road, Tewkesbury on Tuesday, 24 April 2018 
commencing at 4:30 pm 

 
 

Present: 
 

Chair Councillor P W Awford 
Vice Chair Councillor R E Allen 

 
and Councillors: 

 
G J Bocking, K J Cromwell, J E Day, D T Foyle, P A Godwin, R M Hatton, H C McLain,                        

P E Stokes, M G Sztymiak, H A E Turbyfield and M J Williams 
 

also present: 
 

Councillors K J Berry, R A Bird, G F Blackwell and J Greening 
 

OS.87 ANNOUNCEMENTS  

87.1  The evacuation procedure, as noted on the Agenda, was advised to those present. 
87.2  The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting and introduced the representatives 

from Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service, Gloucestershire Local Resilience 
Forum, Gloucestershire Police and Severn Trent Water.   

OS.88 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  

88.1  Apologies for absence were received from Councillors T A Spencer and                        
P D Surman.  There were no substitutions for the meeting. 

88.2  The Chair advised that Councillor K J Berry was not a Member of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee but she was a Member of the Scrutiny Review of Water Supply 
Outage Working Group in her capacity as Lead Member for Community, which 
included emergency planning, and would participate in the hearing on that basis.  It 
was noted that Councillors G F Blackwell and J Greening had indicated that they 
would be observing the meeting. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

38



(Sp).OS.24.04.18 

OS.89 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

89.1  The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Tewkesbury Borough Council Code of 
Conduct which was adopted by the Council on 26 June 2012 and took effect from 1 
July 2012. 

89.2  The following declarations were made: 

Councillor Application 
No./Item 

Nature of Interest 
(where disclosed) 

Declared 
Action in 
respect of 
Disclosure 

M G Sztymiak Item 4 – Scrutiny 
Review of Water 
Supply Outage. 

Is a Member of 
Tewkesbury Town 
Council which own 
and manage 
Tewkesbury Ham. 

Would speak 
and vote. 

89.3  No further declarations were made on this occasion. 

OS.90 SCRUTINY REVIEW OF WATER SUPPLY OUTAGE  

90.1  Attention was drawn to the report of the Scrutiny Review of Water Supply Outage 
Working Group, circulated at Pages No. 1-5, which provided background 
information in relation to the review.  Members were asked to note the information 
provided and to conduct the Scrutiny Hearing. 

90.2  Tewkesbury Borough Council’s Chief Executive explained that the purpose of the 
Hearing was to investigate the issues surrounding a significant water outage which 
had affected over 10,000 homes in Tewkesbury Borough in December 2017.  
Given the seriousness of the event, and considering there had been previous 
outages, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee had felt that it was appropriate to 
undertake a review on behalf of the Council in order to understand more about the 
incident and the lessons which could be learnt to prevent or mitigate future impact.  
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee had met as a Working Group on four 
occasions and had contacted Parish and Town Councils and the local community – 
via the Citizens’ Panel – in order to develop the hearing process.  The aim of the 
hearing was to have a discussion based on a series of questions grouped into 
sections which would bring forward information and actions in order to produce a 
report which would be useful to all agencies in the future.  He stressed that whilst 
there may be challenging questions, it was very much about working in partnership 
to learn lessons and improve the service received by residents in future.   

90.3  It was subsequently 
RESOLVED That the background information to the Scrutiny Review of 

Water Supply Outage be NOTED and the Scrutiny Hearing be 
conducted. 

90.4  In outlining how the hearing would run, the Chair explained that there would be a 
short presentation from Severn Trent Water giving a brief overview of the water 
network relating to the incident and the impacts of the recent deregulation of the 
supply of water including Severn Trent’s relationship with Waterplus.  A series of 
questions had been prepared in advance and these would be put to the various 
witnesses in order.  After each question had been asked, there would be an 
opportunity for Members to ask follow-up questions.  He indicated that learning 
points would be flagged up throughout the hearing. 

39



(Sp).OS.24.04.18 

 
90.5  The Severn Trent Water Head of Asset Management apologised to those who had 

been impacted by the outage and acknowledged how difficult it was to be without 
water.  He stressed that this sort of incident was rare and he extended his thanks 
to all of the partner organisations that had helped with the response.  As a 
company, Severn Trent Water welcomed sessions such as this to look at lessons 
which could be learnt in order to make improvements for the future.  He drew 
attention to a simplified diagram of the network surrounding Tewkesbury and 
explained that a number of works had been carried out over the years including a 
fluvial wall to protect the treatment works if river levels started to rise.  If there was 
a problem with the treatment works, there were arrangements in place to ensure 
that water could be brought to the area from other sites.  The network itself 
contained treated water storage which allowed time to respond to events and the 
pipes which came through the storage and supplied water to Tewkesbury used a 
twin system which built resilience into the network.  Notwithstanding this, there 
were a lot of connections and valves between the pipes and this was a very 
complicated part of the network with difficult locations to access – there were three 
pipes running across the Ham and he would explain why this was a key aspect of 
the water outage as the meeting progressed. 

90.6  The Severn Trent Water Head of Customer Strategy and Experience explained 
that the business market had opened for competition one year ago which had 
given all businesses the ability to choose a water retailer who would be responsible 
for billing, reading metres etc.  Whilst Severn Trent remained the wholesaler i.e. it 
was Severn Trent’s network, pipes etc. the customer’s contractable relationship 
was with a retailer.  In the lead up to market opening, Severn Trent had taken the 
decision that it did not wish to be in the retail market and had founded Waterplus - 
a joint venture with United Utilities. On 1 April 2017, all Severn Trent business 
customers had been transferred to Waterplus; however, all businesses had the 
freedom to choose a different retailer if they so wished and 25 different retailers 
had signed a contract with Severn Trent.  She explained that there were separate 
teams to manage relationships and, whilst customers would go through their 
retailer for most things, this did not prevent them contacting Severn Trent if there 
was a network issue.  If customers did contact Severn Trent they would also let the 
retailer know they had been in contact and what the issue was.  There was a set 
process for when the retailer wanted to contact Severn Trent and she confirmed 
that Waterplus followed the same process as the other retailers. 

90.7  The Chair thanked the representatives from Severn Trent for their presentation and 
indicated that questions would now be taken around maintenance and 
infrastructure.  A Member sought clarification as to the root cause of the incident.  
In response, the Severn Trent Water Head of Asset Management explained that 
there was a burst in one of the three pipes which fed into Tewkesbury and initial 
attempts to re-direct water had been unsuccessful due to an unknown cross-
connection.  The Member questioned whether Severn Trent ran any contingency 
training sessions in order to help anticipate incidents such as this and was 
informed that Severn Trent ran models of its assets to help predict any failures – 
this was done across all infrastructure.  Some were used routinely, and therefore 
examined frequently, whereas others were checked periodically.  A Member 
indicated that the issue of leaks in the area around the Ham had been reported 
previously and he questioned why action had not been taken before.  The Severn 
Trent Water Head of Asset Management reiterated that this was a complex 
location - the Ham had significant environment considerations, it was a Site of 
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and was home to rare plant and bird species as 
well as being used for grazing.  As such, there were a number of factors to take 
into account before machinery could be taken onto the land to start excavations 
and there were many times during the year when it was not physically possible to 
access the site.  In addition, the pipe itself was large; it supplied a lot of properties 

40



(Sp).OS.24.04.18 

and was a very important asset which had its own risks.  Technically the pipe could 
be stable for some time so Severn Trent had to weigh up the need to do work 
against the difficulties of intervention.  The team was aware of leaks on the Ham 
and a different pipe had been repaired prior to the incident at the end of December 
2017; this had taken a year to fix due to issues around access and environmental 
concerns.  Severn Trent had become aware of another issue during discussions 
with the Tewkesbury Town Council Ham Committee in September/October 2017 
and had started the investigation process; however, the complexity of the site had 
meant this was still being investigated at the time of the burst in December. 

90.8  A Member queried what the maintenance plan was for this part of the network and 
was advised that there were different regimes for different assets.  In terms of this 
particular site, there was a planned maintenance programme within the treatment 
works and ongoing routine inspections - in 2017 this had included replacing all of 
the filters at a cost of more than £15M.  In response to a question around whether 
plants had to be shut down, the Severn Trent Water Head of Asset Management 
advised that a lot of maintenance was done with sites running and this would be 
the first choice.  It was possible to take some out without impacting production and 
other mains could be used to bring water into the area if necessary.  A Member 
noted that improvements had been made to the pipe system in this area as a result 
of the 2007 floods and he questioned whether any had failed during this event.  
The Severn Trent Water Head of Asset Management clarified that none of those 
improvements had failed and they had been useful during the event.  In response 
to a question about how much investment had been put into this specific part of the 
infrastructure in recent years, and whether that was enough, Members were 
advised that the replacement of the filters was just one example and a lot of other 
work was being progressed - an investment of over £3M had just been signed off 
for works to mains across the Ham which, on face value, was quite a resilient area 
given the dual pipes and would not normally be a priority; however, Severn Trent 
had learnt from the latest incident that it was not just about the risk to the pipe but 
also the ability to access the site.  It had been established that one of the three 
pipes was fine but the other two were worthy of investment, given the challenge of 
getting to the location, and there was a choice of relining or replacing the twin 
mains which needed to be discussed with the owners of the land.  Relining 
required one of the mains to be taken out of use which meant there was more 
operational risk whilst the work was being done but could cause less 
environmental impact.  He went on to indicate that more technology was becoming 
available which Severn Trent was able to take advantage of such as noise 
correlation – this could be used over long distances to check for leaks and acoustic 
monitors could then pin point any identified.  A number of leaks had been reported 
since the incident in December 2017 and were currently under repair, although 
there had been delays due to flooding on the Ham.  He provided assurance that 
any known leaks would be fixed now and relining/replacing the pipes would be 
done as quickly as possible.  The Member questioned whether there was a 
timescale for these works to be completed.  The Severn Trent Water Head of Asset 
Management explained that he wanted to satisfy himself that there was nothing 
else in the water network that Severn Trent needed to be aware of but, aside from 
that, the timing would be dependent on the technique being used; getting 
agreement with the other land users; and physically being able to access the site 
e.g. avoiding bird nesting season.  He hoped that the works would be completed 
within two years - sooner if possible.  A Member noted that Severn Trent 
recognised the Ham as a vulnerable site in terms of the environmental 
considerations and the fact that it frequently experienced leaks and she questioned 
whether there was a different plan for the site for emergencies.  In her view, it 
seemed to warrant special maintenance and should be a priority.  The Severn 
Trent Water Head of Asset Management confirmed that his team had been 
meeting with Tewkesbury Town Council’s Severn Ham Committee and an 
environmental expert had been working closely with them and the person who ran 

41



(Sp).OS.24.04.18 

the control room to ensure everyone was clear about what needed to be done if 
access to the site was needed.  This had been drawn up and shared as part of the 
discussions and was currently being tested.  In response to a question as to 
whether there were provisions to re-route water if the Ham flooded, the Severn 
Trent Water Head of Asset Management explained that, since the event, the 
records had all been checked to ensure they were accurate based on what had 
been learnt about the cross-connections.  The key thing was to isolate the valve 
and keep customers on supply until the repair could be carried out - in terms of the 
incident in December, the valve had been isolated on the Saturday and repaired 
over the following two to three days.  The Member sought assurance that water 
could be re-routed if necessary and the Severn Trent Water Head of Asset 
Management confirmed that, with greater knowledge about cross-connections and 
the fact that the valves could be accessed, it should be possible to re-route the 
water.  Another Member queried whether there was any conflict between 
investment in resilience/maintenance and investment in growth and demand for the 
future.  The Severn Trent Water Head of Asset Management provided assurance 
that there was no conflict and investment was not being constrained.  

90.9  A Member questioned how the incident had finally been resolved and why it had 
taken so long to locate the leak and restore the water supply.  The Severn Trent 
Water Head of Asset Management advised that the burst had occurred in the 
largest pipe and the broken section in the middle had been cut out and replaced.  
Severn Trent had believed that the water supply had been restored on the Friday 
as they had seen the water pressure rise but, when it had dropped again, Severn 
Trent had changed its approach and the supply had been restored on Saturday 
afternoon.  He explained that when water pressure had dropped at approximately 
00:30 hours on the Friday, Severn Trent had mobilised a full response team within 
the hour and ensured that staff were available 24/7 in the control room.  The 
Severn Trent Water Head of Asset Management and the Deputy Chief Engineer 
were both on hand, as they would be for any incidents of this nature.  Whilst 
models of the network were being run in the incident room, the team was on site 
looking for the burst.  Triggering the bottled water supplies was one of the first 
things that had happened as well as activating vulnerable customer lists and 
putting other contingency arrangements in place.  Locating the leak had taken 
some time - particularly as it had happened overnight therefore it had been dark -
and it was difficult to pin down the exact location within the large area that had lost 
water pressure.  The in-house drone team had proven to be successful in that 
respect and Members were shown some images of the burst that had been taken 
by the drone when it had been dispatched at first light on the Friday.  Once the 
location had been identified, the teams had already established the valving 
sequence and knew what to do.  Unfortunately, it was in a highly complex section 
of the network; whereas one or two valves normally required turning to isolate an 
average burst on the street, the valves in this area were huge and needed to be 
turned 200 times by two people using a valve handle – it had been calculated that 
it would take three to four hours to complete the sequence.  The proposal was to 
bring back water to the network gradually and, having confirmed this with 
customers, that was what had happened in the Tewkesbury area.  On the Friday 
afternoon, the pressure had started to drop away which either indicated another 
burst – it was not uncommon to have a secondary burst – or that the first burst had 
not been isolated effectively.  The team had worked through Friday night and 
Saturday morning and had discovered additional records showing a cross-
connection that they had not previously been aware of.  From this, they had been 
able to work out a new valving sequence and had started that process on the 
Saturday morning; it had taken until early on Saturday afternoon for supply to start 
to return to the network in the area.  In response to a query, the Severn Trent 
Water Head of Asset Management reiterated that there was a cross-connection 
that Severn Trent had not known about.  Following the incident, Severn Trent had 
looked carefully at that part of the network and had updated its records and 

42



(Sp).OS.24.04.18 

contingency plans with this information.  If faced with a similar incident, Severn 
Trent would now have the benefit of this knowledge.  In terms of why Severn Trent 
had no record of the cross-connection, Members were advised that an error had 
been made when transposing from historic drawings to electronic records due to 
the sheer number of valves within the complex network.  A Member questioned 
what had happened to the cathodic mapping information that he understood had 
been available at one time.  The Severn Trent Water Deputy Chief Engineer 
explained that there was always a small risk that something would be transposed 
incorrectly when upgrading to the Geographic Information System (GIS) platform 
that Severn Trent now used but this was outweighed by the benefits of using GIS.  
A significant learning point was the need for Severn Trent to check both its 
electronic and paper network plans to ensure records were accurate and up-to-
date.  In response to a query as to whether Severn Trent now had a complete map 
of the network, and whether any other valves may have been lost, the Severn 
Trent Water Head of Asset Management clarified that it was the cross-connection 
which was the issue rather than the valve itself and a programme of trunk main 
walking would ensure that the records were an accurate reflection of what was on 
the ground – it was noted that trunk main walking included cracking the valves and 
ensuring they were operable. 

90.10  A Member noted that the Tactical Co-Ordinating Group (TCG) had been stood 
down at the end of the incident; however, a small number of properties had 
remained without a supply of water and she questioned why the emergency 
response had been stood down before all properties were confirmed to be back 
on-line.  The Severn Trent Water Head of Asset Management confirmed that 
Severn Trent’s incident team had not been stood down until the last property was 
back on supply and normal business was resumed; this had run into the following 
week.  The Gloucestershire Police Acting Superintendent advised that there were 
two TCG meetings on the Sunday with the first at 0900 hours.  At that point several 
houses in Snowshill were still off-line due to an air block and their supplies were in 
the process of being reinstated.  All of the relevant agencies had been around the 
table for the next TCG at 1300 hours and, when the TCG had been stood down, 
there had only been two homes without water– this was considered to be 
“business as usual” and had been transferred to the Severn Trent incident team. 

90.11  A Member questioned whether the pipeline to Strensham had been used during 
the incident and the Severn Trent Water Head of Asset Management confirmed 
that it had helped to support the wider area during the event.  He clarified that 
there were two mains which supported the area, both with different characteristics 
and value for Severn Trent – the other one had not been used and the outcome 
would not have changed had it been used. 

90.12 The Chair indicated that general questions would now be put to the various bodies.  
A Member requested a brief overview of how emergency planning worked in 
Tewkesbury.  The Gloucestershire Local Resilience Forum (LRF) Secretariat 
Manager advised that the Government had introduced the Civil Contingencies Act 
2004 in response to the outbreaks of foot and mouth and widespread flooding that 
had been experienced in 2000/01.  This set out a framework for emergency 
planning and response from a local to national level and outlined certain roles and 
responsibilities.  As a local authority, Tewkesbury Borough Council was a category 
one responder along with the emergency services, health services and the 
Environment Agency which came together to carry out detailed tasks e.g. joint risk 
assessments.  Each Police Force had an LRF – this was a statutory requirement 
not a statutory body i.e. the LRF was not a separate organisation but it brought all 
agencies together.  Tewkesbury Borough Council participated in the district level 
meetings which were held several times a year and chaired by the Chief 
Constable.  The Tewkesbury Borough Council Head of Community Services 
indicated that this was reflected at Tewkesbury Borough Council which had an 
emergency planning structure involving the management team and other members 

43



(Sp).OS.24.04.18 

of staff who were put into action as and when events happened.  The team 
responded very well as had been proven during the 2007 floods.  He pointed out 
that it was slightly different for Tewkesbury Borough Council when the event 
happened on a weekday, as in the case of the water outage, as it was necessary 
to manage the response alongside the Council’s day-to-day business to keep 
services operating for members of the public.  A Member questioned how it was 
communicated and was advised that a cascade system was used to notify partner 
agencies of an incident and put them on alert that they may need to step up to a 
command and control structure.  There would be several questions around 
communications later in the discussion but he explained that Tewkesbury Borough 
Council had received notification of this incident at around 0800 hours on the 
Friday - as soon as Officers had arrived at work they were aware of what needed 
to be done and were ready to participate in the first TCG.  As an incident grew 
communications were key and he confirmed there had been regular 
communication with Tewkesbury Borough Council’s Chief Executive and the 
Deputy Chief Executive.  In his view the response had been appropriate and at the 
right level.  The Tewkesbury Borough Council Chief Executive explained that he 
had been quite heavily involved in the Council’s response and felt that 
communication had been effective between all agencies in terms of the LRF 
framework, particularly around the TCGs; notwithstanding this, there had been a 
number of telephone calls and emails between those meetings and he felt it would 
have been helpful to have real-time communications which could be logged so that 
all partners could see the communications at the same time.  The Assistant Chief 
Fire Officer advised that making communications more effective had been added 
to the Agenda for the next strategic LRF meeting. 

90.13  A Member sought clarification as to what constituted a ‘major’ incident and queried 
whether there was a plan for bottle water distribution in those circumstances.  The 
Gloucestershire LRF Secretariat Manager explained that, until fairly recently, there 
was no national definition of a major incident and each of the different agencies 
had their own versions.  In 2016, the Cabinet Office had defined a major incident 
as: “An event or situation, with a range of serious consequences, which requires 
special arrangements to be implemented by one or more emergency responder 
agencies”.  This was supported by five notes, three of which were pertinent in this 
case: a major incident is beyond the scope of business-as-usual operations, and is 
likely to involve serious harm, damage, disruption or risk to human life or welfare, 
essential services, the environment or national security; the severity of 
consequences associated with a major incident are likely to constrain or 
complicate the ability of responders to resource and manage the incident, although 
a major incident is unlikely to affect all responders equally; and, the decision to 
declare a major incident will always be a judgment made in a specific local and 
operational context, and there are no precise and universal thresholds or triggers.  
With regard to a water distribution plan, after the floods in 2007, the 
Gloucestershire LRF had developed a plan based on lessons learnt; this was the 
first of its kind and had been replicated around the country.  The plan had been 
aligned to Severn Trent’s water distribution plan but, as time had gone on, it had 
become clear that this needed to be revised, for example, the water industry now 
relied increasingly on bottled water whereas in 2007 there had been more use of 
bowsers.  This was something which needed to be addressed and a full review 
was on the LRF work programme.  A Member pointed out that the Working Group 
had heard from a farmer who had been offered bottled water which was clearly not 
viable and the Gloucestershire LRF Secretariat Manager provided assurance that 
all scenarios would be considered as part of the review.  Another Member 
indicated that she understood the water distribution plan had not been 
implemented in relation to the water outage as it had not been classified as a major 
incident; in her view the list would have been helpful and should have been used 
irrespective of the official classification.  The Tewkesbury Borough Council Head of 
Community Services explained that there was a plan for bottled water distribution 

44



(Sp).OS.24.04.18 

as part of a major incident.  One of the learning points arising from the water 
outage was the need for the plan to come into play at an earlier stage so that 
everyone was clear on the type of vehicles that needed to be used and the suitable 
locations for distribution etc.  It was his intention to design something locally - in 
consultation with Severn Trent - which would be shared with the LRF as best 
practice.  The Severn Trent Water Deputy Chief Engineer indicated that Severn 
Trent had been working through its water distribution plan and there was no logical 
reason why the same list could not be enacted for smaller scale events.  In 
response to a query regarding the timescale for the water distribution plans to be 
revised and updated, the Tewkesbury Borough Council Head of Community 
Services indicated that there was no reason why this could not be completed within 
the next three months. 

90.14  A Member noted that Gloucestershire Police had chaired the TCGs and run the 
emergency planning process and she questioned whether consideration had been 
given to declaring the outage a major incident at any point.  The Gloucestershire 
Police Assistant Chief Constable explained that he had not been involved in the 
response and the Acting Superintendent was the tactical lead as the most 
experienced officer available at the time.  There were no hard and fast rules about 
who chaired the TCGs or the Strategic Co-Ordinating Groups (SCGs) but the 
default was normally someone from Gloucestershire Police.  The Gloucestershire 
Police Acting Superintendent confirmed that she had chaired the TCGs and 
specific consideration had been given to the definition of a major incident at the 
first meeting, as well as setting out the working strategy for the TCG going forward.  
The decision not to declare the water outage as a major incident had been made 
by the TCG as a whole following discussion.  This had been revisited at every 
subsequent TCG – four on the Friday and one on the Saturday morning where it 
had been decided to hold an SCG at which the same decision was made.  The 
Gloucestershire Police Assistant Chief Constable advised that, in his view, there 
was no right or wrong answer in terms of whether the event should have been 
categorised as major.  He did not think there would have been significant value in 
declaring a major incident; however, he considered there should have been a 
better water distribution plan and the plans that were available should have been 
used without triggering a major incident.  A Member recognised that Severn Trent 
had initially thought that the water supply had been restored on the Friday but had 
then seen another drop in pressure and he questioned whether a major incident 
would have been declared had the information about the problem been accurate 
from the outset.  The Gloucestershire Police Acting Superintendent advised that 
the conclusion on the Saturday in terms of whether a major incident would be 
declared was that, if there was additional disruption to water supplies in 
Cheltenham and Gloucester – which was a risk – there would have been serious 
consequences and it should be escalated at that point.  She confirmed that she 
had been happy that the right level of resource was around the table and that 
nobody else had needed to be involved.  The Severn Trent Water Deputy Chief 
Engineer indicated that Severn Trent had also been operating at the right level and 
no other personnel would have been involved had it been declared a major 
incident.  In terms of the information about the cause of the outage and when it 
would be resolved, the Gloucestershire Police Acting Superintendent advised that 
the TCG had acted on the information available at the time and she was happy that 
was accurate.  In response to a query as to whether there were any disadvantages 
associated with declaring a major incident, the Gloucestershire Police Acting 
Superintendent confirmed that there were no additional consequences either way.  
She reiterated that the relevant authorities had been available to make decisions, 
the situation had been reassessed at every stage and further discussion had taken 
place with the SCG which had all resulted in the decision not to declare a major 
incident at any point. 

 

45



(Sp).OS.24.04.18 

90.15  A Member pointed out that the water distribution associated with the 2007 floods 
had required significant manpower and he questioned whether the military had 
been contacted in respect of the water outage.  The Gloucestershire Police Acting 
Superintendent clarified that there was a formal procedure which needed to be 
followed if military aid was required and there was additional criteria which needed 
to be met over and above that of a major incident.  The Gloucestershire Police 
Assistant Chief Constable advised that the LRF had a good relationship with the 
military and it had access to a contact who could give advice and support about 
what could be done informally; however, if resources were required, this had to be 
requested through the appropriate channels.  The Gloucestershire LRF Secretariat 
Manager advised that the regional liaison officer had been aware of the incident 
and had dialled in.   

90.16  Tewkesbury Borough Council’s Chief Executive felt that an important point had 
been made about the changing nature of the incident and the timescales 
associated with it; there was a potential for an incident to grow, either in terms of 
geography or intensity.  Tewkesbury Borough Council had been capable of 
operating from the Public Service Centre building, which also housed a police 
station and a number of other agencies, until the Saturday afternoon but beyond 
that the water supply would have run out completely and Tewkesbury Borough 
Council would have been severely restricted in terms of its duty to respond to the 
incident – he would have regarded the water outage as a major incident in that 
event.  The Gloucestershire Police Acting Superintendent echoed these 
sentiments.  The Gloucestershire Police Assistant Chief Constable advised that the 
technical term was a ‘rising tide’ incident but it was only possible to act on the 
information that was available at the time.  In response to a query as to whether 
Tewkesbury Borough Council would have been required to take control had a 
major incident been declared, Members were advised that the chair of the TCG 
had already been established and this would remain the same for continuity 
purposes.  For many major incidents it was typical for the Police to chair the 
response phase and the local authority to chair the recovery phase.  Tewkesbury 
Borough Council’s Chief Executive clarified that, from the local authority’s 
perspective, at no point during the incident did the Police act in any way other than 
to fully support and respond to the incident.  There was a good relationship 
between the LRF partners and this had been reflected throughout the incident. 
The meeting adjourned at 5:55pm and reconvened at 6:15pm. 

90.17  The Chair indicated that he would now be taking questions in relation to water 
distribution.  A Member pointed out that there had been reports of significant traffic 
congestion around Morrison’s in Tewkesbury and queried what had been done to 
manage this.  The Gloucestershire Police Acting Superintendent explained that the 
outage had occurred in the week before Christmas and therefore the situation was 
very different given the traffic on the roads.  Congestion had been managed as 
best it could, for example, using ambulance service motorcycles to navigate the 
traffic and report back.  Attempts had been made to contact Gloucestershire 
Highways with a view to putting diversions in place but they could not be engaged 
on the Friday afternoon and this was something which had been picked up in the 
debrief.  It was not an easy situation and everyone had done the best they could; 
whilst it was slow moving, traffic had been able to move freely.  In response to a 
query as to whether Morrison’s would be used as a water distribution site in future, 
the Gloucestershire Police Acting Superintendent indicated that Morrison’s had 
been used several times in 2007, 2016 and 2017 and she felt it was a good site - 
as was Tewkesbury School - given its central location and easy accessibility so 
she would be happy to use it again.  A Member questioned why the TCG did not 
want a water distribution point at Gloucester Road car park as he felt it was a good 
location in that it had a separate entrance and exit and there were no traffic lights 
to interrupt traffic flow.  The Tewkesbury Borough Council Head of Community 
Services explained that, from his point of view, it would not have been helpful to 

46



(Sp).OS.24.04.18 

have traffic congestion at both ends of the town as this could have been a problem 
for the emergency services.  Gloucester Road car park was not considered to be 
the most appropriate place for a water distribution point but it had been set up 
regardless and this had been communicated to the public which was a problem.  In 
addition, it had taken some time for the water distribution point to close when this 
had been directed on the Saturday morning which should not have been the case 
and was a significant learning point.  The Member asked why the water distribution 
point had been set-up in the first place if this had not been identified as an 
appropriate location and why those commands had been over-ruled.  The Severn 
Trent Water Deputy Chief Engineer indicated that this was an error on Severn 
Trent’s part and had been picked up in its own debrief as a learning point.    

90.18  In response to a question about the logic behind choosing Chaceley Village Hall as 
a water distribution point, the Tewkesbury Borough Council Head of Community 
Services reiterated that there had been traffic congestion at Morrison’s, and a very 
clear message that a water distribution point was not wanted at Gloucester Road 
car park, so an alternative out of town site was needed.  Consideration had been 
given to Apperley or Tirley but there were concerns that this may lead to the main 
road in that area becoming blocked and the town being completely sealed off.  He 
had a list of possible sites and had opted for Chaceley which, in hindsight, had not 
been the best place, particularly as an artic lorry had been used to deliver the 
water.  Had he known the type of vehicle that would be used, he would not have 
chosen Chaceley, however, the route around the village was circular and it may 
have been appropriate had a palette of water been dropped off for people to help 
themselves.  He provided assurance that the importance of understanding the 
water distribution locations and the type of vehicles that would be used to deliver 
water had been recognised.  In response to a query, he advised that Tewkesbury 
Borough Council did not have a plan in place setting out which routes and vehicles 
should be used for particular water distribution locations but this would be 
considered and included in the water distribution plan which he had committed to 
delivering within the next three months.  It would also be necessary to incorporate 
how the water distribution points would be manned; Tewkesbury Borough Council 
had assembled a team of volunteers during the water outage and they had been 
deployed to Chaceley, however, the water had not arrived for some time and the 
volunteers had been stood down by the time Severn Trent had arrived with the 
vehicle.   A Member indicated that Chaceley Village Hall was used by local 
residents at times of flood, which had been a concern during this particular 
incident, and he expressed the view that Tirley Village Hall – which had been used 
during the 2007 floods – would be a better option for the future.  The 
Gloucestershire Police Acting Superintendent felt that there was also a key 
learning point around rural locations and being able to drop off palettes of water to 
enable communities to support and help themselves.  In her experience, 
communities were very resilient and there was a lot of volunteering which could be 
drawn upon in future.  A Member felt it was important to note that some people did 
not have access to a car and their needs must also be considered in the water 
distribution plans.  The Gloucestershire Police Acting Superintendent provided 
assurance that this was taken into account - a number of water distribution tactics 
were used during the incident and tankers had been provided for hospitals, care 
homes etc.    

90.19  A Member questioned what role Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service had 
played in managing the incident.  The Assistant Chief Fire Officer advised that he 
was the strategic officer in relation to the incident and the Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service had provided logistical support at the TCGs.  The TCGs were a 
high challenge environment and the chair’s job was to manage the discussion and 
ensure that every agency had an opportunity to feed into that.  Gloucestershire 
Fire and Rescue Service sat within Gloucestershire County Council and acted as a 
conduit for information which was disseminated across the county.  The County 

47



(Sp).OS.24.04.18 

Council also hosted the Civil Protection Team and Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service supported that team to deliver what was needed.  On an 
operational level, direct support was offered to over 500 vulnerable people in the 
community; this meant that staff were on the ground making contact with the most 
vulnerable and ensuring their health and safety was maintained.  A Member 
queried whether Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service could take water to 
hospitals and farms.  The Assistant Chief Fire Officer advised that there was no 
capacity to supply potable water suitable for human consumption therefore it was 
not possible to assist hospitals; however, supplying water to farms was something 
which could be explored.  A Member went on to question how an incident of this 
nature affected Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue’s capacity for dealing with a 
major incident.  The Assistant Chief Fire Officer explained that the Fire and Rescue 
Services Act 2004 set out a responsibility to provide water for firefighting purposes.  
During “business as usual” the majority of water was taken from fire hydrants 
connected to mains water, although there were contingency plans for dealing with 
a failure in the mains supply.  For incidents of a certain scale, i.e. requiring multiple 
fire appliances, there was a mutual agreement with surrounding Fire Services that 
extra support would be provided to enable firefighting to take place.  Whilst mains 
supply was the primary source of water, the Fire Service had means of drawing 
water from other sources e.g. rivers and swimming pools and it had the ability to 
pump water across long distances in a relatively short period of time.  Whilst there 
may be an impact in terms of speed of response, there would be no significant 
overall impact in terms of being able to respond to a fire during a water outage. 

90.20  A Member noted that reference had already been made to the fact that the Public 
Service Centre had run very low on water and she questioned what impact the 
closure of the building would have had in terms of policing in the borough.  The 
Gloucestershire Police Acting Superintendent indicated that she was happy that 
links could have been made with other stations and community facilities just 
outside the affected area, e.g. Churchdown and Bamfurlong, and that the Police 
response could be maintained and supplemented to ensure compliance with rest 
breaks etc.  The Member understood that it had taken more than 24 hours to get 
water to the Public Services Centre and she sought an explanation as to why it had 
taken so long and why a small bowser with an inadequate pumping mechanism 
had been sent to fill a 6,000 gallon tank.  The Severn Trent Water Deputy Chief 
Engineer advised that the Public Service Centre was not currently classified as 
sensitive and therefore did not have a site-specific contingency plan in the same 
way as hospitals and prisons.  A breakdown in communications had meant that it 
had been prioritised wrongly and it had not been understood that the water needed 
to be pumped to the top of the building.  Severn Trent Water accepted that the 
response was not what had been expected and there was a need to look at 
whether the building could be classed as sensitive.  A Member pointed out that the 
building had been used as a rest centre during the floods in 2007 so there was an 
expectation that a provision would be in place to identify it as a priority for 
resources.  The Tewkesbury Borough Council Head of Community Services felt 
that the Council could have been clearer about its requirements and this would be 
discussed with Severn Trent to ensure both parties were fully aware of what was 
needed going forward. 

90.21   In response to a query around how vulnerable members of the community were 
effectively identified and water promptly delivered, the Gloucestershire LRF 
Secretariat Manager explained that there was a protocol in place and information 
had been gathered in accordance with the vulnerable people plan.  The LRF was 
not able to hold a master list – sensitive data could not be retained “just in case”, 
furthermore, the list would be constantly changing and was likely to be out of date 
at any one point in time.  In an emergency situation, the LRF requested postcodes 
of affected areas and asked the social care teams to check these against their 
databases; this information was then passed on to Severn Trent in order for bottled 

48



(Sp).OS.24.04.18 

water to be delivered.  The Severn Trent Water Head of Customer Strategy and 
Experience clarified that Severn Trent had its own priority services register and, in 
the event of a major incident, these customers would be contacted to establish 
their needs. This list was cross-referenced with the information from the LRF to 
ensure it was as accurate as possible and any vulnerable person contacted 
throughout the event would be asked if they wanted to be added to Severn Trent’s 
register.  A Member raised concern that there could potentially be a number of 
gaps, particularly as the criteria for vulnerability could change over the course of an 
event.  The Severn Trent Water Head of Customer Strategy and Experience 
advised that transient vulnerability was recognised, for instance, someone who had 
just come out of hospital or someone with a young baby, and every attempt was 
made to acquire as much information as possible in this regard.  Severn Trent was 
working with energy providers and other partners around sharing data and the 
website was used to promote other initiatives, such as checking on a neighbour; 
however, there would never be a definitive list.  The Gloucestershire Police Acting 
Superintendent indicated that people tended to self-refer as an incident went on 
therefore it was crucial for lists to be checked and updated as things progressed, 
particularly if the issue extended beyond a 24 hour period.  A Member questioned 
how databases and data sharing would be impacted by the General Data 
Protection Regulations (GDPR) being introduced in May 2018.  The Severn Trent 
Water Head of Customer Strategy and Experience clarified that GDPR did not 
change the ability for Severn Trent to hold lists provided that consent had been 
given by the customer and everyone currently on the system was being contacted.  
In response to a query, the Gloucestershire LRF Secretariat Manager indicated 
that it was not possible to contact everyone and there was reliance on feedback 
from community groups so it was very important that people came forward with 
information.  In terms of whether Flood Wardens and Parish Councils could have 
been used to give information on vulnerable people within the community, the 
Tewkesbury Borough Council Head of Community Services confirmed that Parish 
Councils could be a valuable source of information, particularly in terms of 
transient vulnerability where there was a reliance on local knowledge, and sharing 
data would be picked up as a key learning point.  Whilst it was important to comply 
with GDPR, agencies also had a responsibility to keep people safe and this 
process needed to be reviewed. A Member noted that vulnerability would depend 
on the situation - some people did not have access to a car and would not be able 
to carry several bottles of water – and he questioned whether information had been 
disseminated on local radio.  The Gloucestershire Police Acting Superintendent 
confirmed that Severn Trent had used the radio to communicate with residents; the 
TCG had discussed the need for neighbours to support each other and this was 
one of the key messages being reported on the Saturday of the incident.  In terms 
of communications, the Severn Trent Water Deputy Chief Engineer pointed out 
that its website had been updated 28 times throughout the incident and there had 
been 278 media posts and 100 radio pieces; whilst it may not have been perfect, a 
lot of good work had been done to get messages out. 

90.22  A Member explained that she had assisted with bottled water distribution during 
the 2007 floods and one of the difficulties had been the lack of hard and fast rules 
about how many bottles people were entitled to etc.  This had caused some 
arguments and confrontation.  The Gloucestershire Police Acting Superintendent 
indicated that, in reality, there was very little that could be done in this regard; 
Severn Trent was required to provide water and it was important to be flexible in 
terms of distribution.  Ultimately, if more bottled water was used than anticipated 
then this was not a particular problem and it was a matter for the conscience of 
anyone taking more than required, and potentially for the Police if a situation got 
out of hand.  

 

49



(Sp).OS.24.04.18 

 
90.23  As alluded to earlier in the debate, the Scrutiny Review Working Group had heard 

from famers that the incident had put livestock at risk and a Member questioned 
whether any consideration was given to water distribution for agricultural purposes.  
In response, the Severn Trent Water Head of Customer Strategy and Experience 
advised that Severn Trent’s first priority had to be its vulnerable customers followed 
by other domestic customers.  There was a statutory requirement to provide water 
to sensitive buildings such as prisons, hospitals and care homes.  Any additional 
capacity in terms of tankers/bowsers could then be used to support business 
customers.  Prior to market opening, Severn Trent had local arrangements in place 
with individual businesses and had been able to support them accordingly but this 
had not necessarily been fair to all businesses; market opening meant that it was 
necessary to be fair and equitable and there was now a hierarchy in terms of the 
type of business and the order assistance was provided e.g. a bookshop where 
water was not needed for its processes would be a low priority whereas farms 
would be higher up the list.  In any event, Severn Trent would look at what capacity 
was available and it had not been in a position to provide tankers to support farms 
at the start of this particular event.  She was meeting with the National Farmers 
Union (NFU) the following week to understand how they could better work 
together.  She pointed out that some water retailers were looking at offering 
additional services, potentially at a cost.  In addition, she felt that businesses 
needed to ensure they had contingency plans in place, particularly farms, and she 
gave an example in another area where a farmer had no tanks and therefore the 
help that could be offered was very limited.  A Member indicated that she had been 
concerned to hear that, when water had eventually been delivered to a farm in the 
area during the incident, the tanker had come from London.  The Severn Trent 
Water Head of Customer Strategy and Experience confirmed that Severn Trent 
had its own fleet available but, in a major incident, there were opportunities to ask 
other water companies to assist.  The Gloucestershire Police Assistant Chief 
Constable felt that it should be borne in mind that decisions were made by the 
various agencies according to a joint decision model which called upon legislation 
such as the Human Rights Act which stated that animals were not a priority in 
terms of the preservation of life; this was not to say that judgements would not be 
made according to the situation but the legislation was very clear.  In response to a 
query, the Tewkesbury Borough Council Head of Community Services advised that 
only a handful of the 50 Parishes within the borough had an emergency plan in 
place and he felt it was important for the Council to work with the remainder to 
develop their own plans. 

90.24  The Chair indicated that the next set of questions related to communications.  A 
Member raised concern that mixed messages had gone out during the incident, for 
example, the water distribution point at Gloucester Road car park, and he 
questioned if there as a communication strategy and who was in charge of it.  The 
Gloucestershire Police Acting Superintendent advised that a communication lead 
had been nominated for each agency; they had been able to have conversations 
outside of the TCGs and report back as a single voice, in this case Severn Trent 
had taken that role.  There was an issue on the Saturday when communications 
were not as co-ordinated as they could have been and it was now thought that a 
category one responder should have been responsible for leading that element of 
the response.  This had been identified in the debrief and the LRF would be 
implementing this going forward.  The Tewkesbury Borough Council Head of 
Community Services felt that there was general point around the management of 
communications, who was leading each agency and the main responder etc.  A 
Member noted there had been a delay in the uptake and dissemination of health 
advice and she questioned why this information had not been publicised sooner.  
The Severn Trent Water Deputy Chief Engineer explained that Severn Trent had a 
number of prepared messages in place and, whilst public health handwashing 

50



(Sp).OS.24.04.18 

advice had been provided, it was not a requirement.  When the TCG had indicated 
that this information needed to be communicated, Severn Trent had included this 
on its website.  A Member understood that the handover between Severn Trent 
Officers at the TCGs had been badly organised and led to a delay in updates.  She 
questioned whether there was a formal handover procedure and why it had not 
worked on this occasion.  The Severn Trent Water Head of Asset Management 
advised that shifts were overlapped to ensure a 30 minute handover.  The issue in 
this instance was with Severn Trent’s control room where there were multiple 
workstreams in operation; a single point of contact had been established on the 
Saturday and this had been extremely helpful in terms of consistency and the 
smooth running of the TCGs.  A Member questioned whether setting up a joint 
communication cell early in the incident would improve communication to the 
public and the Gloucestershire Police Acting Superintendent confirmed that there 
was a communication cell from the outset; the issue was the balance between the 
category one responders and the commercial entity and she confirmed that 
communications would be led by a category one responder going forward.  In 
response to a query as to what level of contact had been made with Parish 
Councils in the affected areas to keep them informed, the Severn Trent Water 
Head of Asset Management advised that there was direct engagement with 
affected Parish Councils; this was of key importance to him and he had met with 
some of them subsequently.  Emergency plans had already been discussed - self-
serving in an emergency would be extremely helpful and this was something 
Severn Trent could assist with.   

90.25  The Chair advised that questions would now be posed around the impacts on 
businesses.  A Member questioned whether Severn Trent recognised the cost of 
the outage to local businesses.  The Severn Trent Water Head of Customer 
Strategy and Experience was aware that the nature, duration and timing of the 
incident had been critical and she provided assurance that every effort had been 
made to restore the water and get everything working normally.  Another Member 
noted that businesses had been offered £50 compensation and he queried how 
that figure had been derived and whether it was sufficient for the loss of business 
experienced.  The Severn Trent Water Head of Customer Strategy and Experience 
advised that there was a standard level of compensation for each type of incident 
and this varied according to duration.  This information was agreed with regulators 
and publicised on Severn Trent’s website.  The standard amount of compensation 
for businesses was a starting amount of £50 and it depended on the length of time 
specific businesses had been without water as to whether that amount increased.  
It was important to recognise that Severn Trent was compensating for the 
interruption to the water supply and not for loss of business.  In response to a 
further question about the process for paying compensation, Members were 
informed that Severn Trent wrote to each individual business to advise them of the 
compensation, this was then given to the retailers for distribution to businesses in 
accordance with the prescribed timescales.  A Member raised concern that 
businesses had been passed from pillar to post between Severn Trent and 
Waterplus and he sought clarification as to who businesses should contact if this 
incident happened again.  The Severn Trent Water Head of Customer Strategy 
and Experience agreed that this was unacceptable and she apologised for the 
situation.  Waterplus was the biggest retailer in the area and she had met with 
them following the event to discuss lessons learnt.  It was recognised that Severn 
Trent had caused some of the confusion and mandatory training had been re-rolled 
out to all staff that came into contact with customers.   As the supplier, it was 
important that Severn Trent owned the message in that sort of event, it was not 
something which should be passed on to the retailer; whilst retailers may offer 
added value, and therefore may be able to help, this was not their responsibility.  
She was conscious that the communications on the website currently had a 
domestic focus and consideration would be given as to how that could be made 
more specific for business customers.  She clarified that Severn Trent did not hold 

51



(Sp).OS.24.04.18 

business customer details but they could be invited to register a contact number if 
they wished to be kept informed during incidents.  A Member stressed the 
importance of Severn Trent having first responders who were properly trained for 
emergencies.  She made reference to a farmer who had been told by Waterplus 
that he could get bottled water from Morrison’s and pointed out that 
communications with Severn Trent had been repeatedly criticised by participants in 
the Scrutiny Review.  The Severn Trent Water Head of Customer Strategy and 
Experience agreed completely but pointed out that she had no control in respect of 
the staff at Waterplus.  She was aware of incidents of miscommunication, and this 
was part of the challenge of working with other organisations, but she provided 
assurance that these conversations were taking place.  In response to a query, the 
Tewkesbury Borough Council Chief Executive indicated that he was not sure what 
insurance was available for loss of business arising from water outages but this 
was something which could be discussed with businesses.   

90.26   In moving to the concluding questions, a Member asked what review mechanisms 
Severn Trent Water had in place following a major incident and whether there was 
a list of learning points following the water outage.  The Severn Trent Water Head 
of Asset Management explained that a “lessons learnt” review was undertaken 
following an incident; the extent of the review would depend on the scale of the 
incident.  A record of events was given by the people involved, highlighting what 
had been done well and areas for improvement, and processes and procedures 
would be updated accordingly.  In terms of this particular outage, the co-location of 
the LRF had been beneficial and the importance of a single point of contact in the 
control room had been recognised.  It was felt that good quality briefing notes had 
given clarity on what had been done and the next steps which helped in terms of 
building confidence.  The vulnerable persons list had been obtained quickly which 
had ensured those people received assistance straight away.  As for learning 
points, it was felt that emergency plans would help Parishes to self-serve and 
businesses would benefit from clarity of the relationship between the wholesaler 
and retailer.  It was clear that work needed to be done around farming and 
livestock and Severn Trent was keen to work with the NFU to establish what could 
be done to help one another.  It was also committed to a communication cell and 
taking a joint communication approach with the LRF.  As mentioned at the start of 
the meeting, Severn Trent’s asset records had been updated and plans were in 
place to ensure that bottled water distribution plans were developed in advance 
and that existing contingency plans contained detailed arrangements.  A Member 
indicated that, prior to this incident, there was a water outage in Churchdown and 
he questioned what lessons had been learned as a result of that and whether they 
had been put into practice.  The Severn Trent Water Head of Asset Management 
explained that the cumulative impact of the two incidents was something which 
needed to be considered and it was intended to look back at other events to 
ensure there was enough resilience.  The Gloucestershire Police Acting 
Superintendent advised that, from her perspective, the TCGs had been very 
positive – command and control had worked well and the right people were around 
the table working as a team.  It was noted that Worcestershire County Council had 
been involved in the initial TCG as there was a concern that water supplies in that 
area had been impacted so there had also been joint working across boundaries. 
She had been impressed at the speed of communications on the Friday morning 
and pointed out that she had heard the outage being reported on the radio on her 
way into work; significant information had therefore been available to enable the 
TCG to start a plan straight away.  Tewkesbury Borough Council’s Head of 
Community Services felt that the clarity of the TCGs had been excellent, 
particularly given the amount of voices in the room and on the telephone.  This was 
echoed by the Severn Trent Water Deputy Chief Engineer.  The Gloucestershire 
Police Acting Superintendent reiterated that there had been a multi-agency debrief 
following the event documenting the learning - as there would be for any incident - 
and this had been shared with all agencies.  There would be a number of 

52



(Sp).OS.24.04.18 

recommendations, both from that report and the Scrutiny Review, to be taken 
forward in order to help with the management of any incidents going forward.  A 
Member questioned whether there were any issues arising from the LRF review 
that had not been covered at the meeting today.  The Tewkesbury Borough 
Council Head of Community Services was pleased to report that the outcomes and 
key points had been very similar.   

90.27  The Chair thanked the witnesses for attending the meeting and for being open and 
transparent.  He felt it had been a very positive session and he thanked Members 
and Officers for their hard work throughout the review.  The next stage would be to 
produce a report and action plan which would be presented at the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee meeting in July.  

 The meeting closed at 7:50 pm 
 
 

53



Appendix 3 

SCRUTINY REVIEW OF WATER SUPPLY OUTAGE ACTION PLAN 
 

 Recommendation / Action  Responsible 
Authority 

Target Date Status  Progress to Date  

1 To proceed as quickly as possible with the 
replacement or re-lining of two of the three 
pipes running across the Severn Ham. 

Severn Trent 
Water 

08/2020  
Project promoted and 
feasibility work underway. 

2 Check electronic and paper network records to 
ensure they are accurate and up-to-date. 

Severn Trent 
Water 

01/2018  Action complete. 
Electronic records of the 
network in the area updated 
with information gathered 
during the incident. 

3 Consider introducing a real-time 
communication system for emergency 
incidents. 

Gloucestershire 
Local Resilience 
Forum  

   

4 Ensure that the needs of agriculture, 
distribution sites, vehicle access, traffic impact 
etc. are included in the Gloucestershire Local 
Resilience Forum’s review of its water 
distribution plan. 

Gloucestershire 
Local Resilience 
Forum  

   

5 Produce a local water distribution plan for 
events not classed as major incidents. 

Tewkesbury 
Borough 
Council 

10/2018   
 
 
 
 
 

54



Appendix 3 

 Recommendation / Action  Responsible 
Authority 

Target Date Status  Progress to Date  

6 Ensure that Gloucestershire Highways is 
included as a Category 1 responder in respect 
of emergency events.  

Gloucestershire 
Local Resilience 
Forum / 
Gloucestershire 
County Council 
 

  Action complete. 
Gloucestershire County 
Council Works Team Manager 
has confirmed that a 
Gloucestershire County 
Highways representative is 
involved in the response to 
future emergency events. 

7 Reiterate to all partners the need for directives 
from the Tactical Co-Ordinating Group to be 
responded to in a timely manner. 

Gloucestershire 
Local Resilience 
Forum  

   

8 Ensure that robust handover procedures are in 
place during incidents. 

Severn Trent 
Water 

01/2018  Action complete. 
Handover procedures are in 
place during incidents. The 
learning of having a dedicated 
person to interface between 
the control room and people 
located with the 
Gloucestershire Local 
Resilience Forum has been 
embedded. 
 
 
 
 
 

55



Appendix 3 

 Recommendation / Action  Responsible 
Authority 

Target Date Status  Progress to Date  

9 Ensure that water distribution plans include 
consideration of the type of vehicles used to 
deliver water to distribution sites, access 
routes to those sites and how those sites are 
to be manned. 

Tewkesbury 
Borough 
Council / Severn 
Trent Water / 
Gloucestershire 
Local Resilience 
Forum  

10/2018  
Severn Trent Water – Changes 
have been made to the 
process for manning sites and 
discussions held with our 
supplier to access alternative 
vehicle sizes. Suitable 
distribution sites identified in 
the area. Meeting to be held 
with Tewkesbury Borough 
Council and Gloucestershire 
Local Resilience Forum to get 
feedback and formalise the 
plans.  

10 Ensure that water distribution plans include 
consideration of how to help communities to 
self-serve. 

Tewkesbury 
Borough 
Council / Severn 
Trent Water / 
Gloucestershire 
Local Resilience 
Forum  

10/2018  
Severn Trent Water – 
Discussions held with our 
supplier to access alternative 
vehicle sizes to service more 
remote areas. Suitable 
distribution sites identified in 
the area. Meeting to be held 
with Tewkesbury Borough 
Council and the 
Gloucestershire Local 
Resilience Forum to get 
feedback and formalise the 
plans. 

11 Explore the potential for the Gloucestershire 
Fire and Rescue Service to supply water to 
farms in an emergency. 

Gloucestershire 
Fire and Rescue 
Service 

   

56



Appendix 3 

 Recommendation / Action  Responsible 
Authority 

Target Date Status  Progress to Date  

12 Consider whether the Tewkesbury Borough 
Public Services Centre should be classed as a 
sensitive building and, if so, put a contingency 
plan in place for the future. 

Tewkesbury 
Borough 
Council /Severn 
Trent Water 

10/2018  
Severn Trent Water – The 
Public Services Centre does 
not meet the criteria to be 
classed as sensitive during 
normal operation. However, it 
would be prudent to put a 
contingency plan in place and 
Severn Trent Water can hold a 
copy of this so that in any 
future incident the needs are 
clear and the appropriate 
actions can be taken. 

13 Review how data on vulnerable people is 
shared between agencies and consider the 
role that Town and Parish Councils could play 
in identifying vulnerable people. 

Gloucestershire 
County Council / 
Tewkesbury 
Borough 
Council 

   

14 Severn Trent Water to meet with the National 
Farmers’ Union to gain a better understanding 
of the needs of farmers and consider what, if 
any, arrangements could be put in place to 
improve joint working in future. 

Severn Trent 
Water 

05/2018  Meeting held with the National 
Farmers’ Union on 4 May.  
Guidelines being developed 
which the National Farmers’ 
Union can use with their 
members to ensure they are 
prepared for events such as 
this. 
 
 

57



Appendix 3 

 Recommendation / Action  Responsible 
Authority 

Target Date Status  Progress to Date  

15 Encourage and assist businesses to put 
contingency plans in place for emergencies. 

Gloucestershire 
Local Resilience 
Forum / 
Tewkesbury 
Borough 
Council 

   

16 Work with Town and Parish Councils to 
develop emergency plans. 

Tewkesbury 
Borough 
Council 

04/2019   

17 Consider and establish a clear communication 
procedure addressing the need for a joint 
communication cell led by a Category 1 
responder and seamless handovers between 
teams. 
 

Gloucestershire 
Local Resilience 
Forum  

   

18 Consider how to improve communications with 
business customers, including clarification of 
the relationship between the retailer and the 
wholesaler, and review information on the 
website to cover the business community in 
the event of a water outage. 
 

Severn Trent 
Water 

05/2018  Action complete. 
Review of communications 
with retailers and business 
customers has been 
undertaken.  For large scale 
incidents Severn Trent Water 
will now have a dedicated team 
supporting retailers and 
business customers. 
 

58



Appendix 3 

 Recommendation / Action  Responsible 
Authority 

Target Date Status  Progress to Date  

19 Work with businesses to ensure they are 
aware of how to protect against loss of 
business e.g. insurance. 

Tewkesbury 
Borough 
Council 

09/2019   

20 Review the water outages in the area in 2017 
to assess the cumulative impact to ensure that 
sufficient resilience arrangements are in place. 

Severn Trent 
Water 

05/2018  Action complete. 
Outages reviewed and actions 
taken where appropriate. 

 
 
STATUS KEY 
 
 Action is progressing well and on target to achieve completion date/within agreed budget (if applicable) etc. 

 Action has some issues or delays but is likely to achieve completion date/within agreed budget (if applicable) etc.  

 Significant risk to not achieving the action or there has been significant slippage in the timetable. 

 Action is complete. 

 Action not yet commenced. (may not yet be programmed for action) 

 

59



Produced by Tewkesbury Borough Council.  August 201860



 

SCRUTINY REVIEW OF WATER SUPPLY OUTAGE ACTION PLAN 
 

 Recommendation / Action  Responsible 
Authority 

Target Date Status  Progress to Date  

1 To proceed as quickly as possible with the 
replacement or re-lining of two of the three 
pipes running across the Severn Ham. 

Severn Trent 
Water 

08/2020   

2 Check electronic and paper network records to 
ensure they are accurate and up-to-date. 

Severn Trent 
Water 

   

3 Consider introducing a real-time 
communication system for emergency 
incidents. 

Gloucestershire 
Local Resilience 
Forum  

04/2019  Options paper to be taken to 
Strategic meeting in 
December. 

4 Ensure that the needs of agriculture, 
distribution sites, vehicle access, traffic impact 
etc. are included in the Gloucestershire Local 
Resilience Forum’s review of its water 
distribution plan. 

Gloucestershire 
Local Resilience 
Forum  

02/2019  Joint review is taking place. 

5 Produce a local water distribution plan for 
events not classed as major incidents. 

Tewkesbury 
Borough 
Council 

09/2018   

6 Ensure that Gloucestershire Highways is 
included as a Category 1 responder in respect 
of emergency events.  

Gloucestershire 
Local Resilience 
Forum / 
Gloucestershire 
County Council 

 

Complete  Already in place. 

61



 

 Recommendation / Action  Responsible 
Authority 

Target Date Status  Progress to Date  

7 Reiterate to all partners the need for directives 
from the Tactical Co-Ordinating Group to be 
responded to in a timely manner. 

Gloucestershire 
Local Resilience 
Forum  

Complete  In place. Part of the Tactical 
training package. 

8 Ensure that robust handover procedures are in 
place during incidents. 

Severn Trent 
Water 

   

9 Ensure that water distribution plans include 
consideration of the type of vehicles used to 
deliver water to distribution sites, access 
routes to those sites and how those sites are 
to be manned. 

Tewkesbury 
Borough 
Council / Severn 
Trent Water / 
Gloucestershire 
Local Resilience 
Forum  

09/2018   

10 Ensure that water distribution plans include 
consideration of how to help communities to 
self-serve. 

Tewkesbury 
Borough 
Council / Severn 
Trent Water / 
Gloucestershire 
Local Resilience 
Forum  

   

11 Explore the potential for the Gloucestershire 
Fire and Rescue Service to supply water to 
farms in an emergency. 

Gloucestershire 
Fire and Rescue 
Service 

  Will consider any request for 
humanitarian aid including 
livestock. 

12 Consider whether the Tewkesbury Borough 
Public Services Centre should be classed as a 
sensitive building and, if so, put a contingency 
plan in place for the future. 

Tewkesbury 
Borough 
Council /Severn 
Trent Water 

   

62



 

 Recommendation / Action  Responsible 
Authority 

Target Date Status  Progress to Date  

13 Review how data on vulnerable people is 
shared between agencies and consider the 
role that Town and Parish Councils could play 
in identifying vulnerable people. 

Gloucestershire 
County Council / 
Tewkesbury 
Borough 
Council 

   

14 Support the planned meeting between Severn 
Trent Water and the National Farmers’ Union 
to enable a better understanding of the needs 
of farmers and consider what, if any, 
arrangements could be put in place to improve 
joint working in future. 

Severn Trent 
Water 

   

15 Encourage and assist businesses to put 
contingency plans in place for emergencies. 

Gloucestershire 
Local Resilience 
Forum / 
Tewkesbury 
Borough 
Council 

  Promotion of Business 
Continuity is a requirement of 
Local Authorities under the 
Civil Contingencies Act. 

16 Work with Town and Parish Councils to 
develop emergency plans. 

Tewkesbury 
Borough 
Council 

04/2019   

17 Consider and establish a clear communication 
procedure addressing the need for a joint 
communication cell led by a Category 1 
responder and seamless handovers between 
teams. 

 

Gloucestershire 
Local Resilience 
Forum  

Complete  Incorporated into multi-agency 
contact cascade. 

63



 

 Recommendation / Action  Responsible 
Authority 

Target Date Status  Progress to Date  

18 Consider how to improve communications with 
business customers, including clarification of 
the relationship between the retailer and the 
wholesaler, and review information on the 
website to cover the business community in 
the event of a water outage. 

 

Severn Trent 
Water 

   

19 Work with businesses to ensure they are 
aware of how to protect against loss of 
business e.g. insurance. 

Tewkesbury 
Borough 
Council 

09/2019   

20 Review the water outages in 2017 to assess 
the cumulative impact to ensure that sufficient 
resilience arrangements are in place. 

Severn Trent 
Water 

   

 
 
STATUS KEY 
 

 Action is progressing well and on target to achieve completion date/within agreed budget (if applicable) etc. 

 Action has some issues or delays but is likely to achieve completion date/within agreed budget (if applicable) etc.  

 Significant risk to not achieving the action or there has been significant slippage in the timetable. 

 Action is complete. 

 Action not yet commenced. (may not yet be programmed for action) 

 

64



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             

Report to: Council 

Date of Meeting: 26 September 2018 

Subject: Preferred Options Tewkesbury Borough Plan 

Report of: Head of Development Services 

Corporate Lead: Deputy Chief Executive 

Lead Member: Lead Member for Built Environment  

Number of Appendices: One 

 

Executive Summary: 

The Tewkesbury Borough Plan (TBP), as the second-tier plan, is being prepared to 
complement the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) to provide a framework for development in 
Tewkesbury Borough to 2031.  

This report seeks Council approval to publish the Preferred Options version of the TBP for 
public consultation under Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012. 

This ‘draft’ consultation document identifies development site options and a suite of draft 
policies. 

Recommendation: 

1. To approve the Preferred Options Tewkesbury Borough Plan, set out in Appendix 1, 
for public consultation under Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 

2. To delegate to the Head of Development Services, in consultation with Lead 
Member for the Built Environment, the correction of any minor errors such as 
spelling, grammar, typographical and formatting changes that do not affect the 
substantive content of the plan. 

Reasons for Recommendation: 

To agree the Preferred Options TBP for public consultation and to enable the Council to 
progress the preparation of the TBP to help meet its identified growth needs. 

 

Resource Implications: 

The preparation of the Preferred Options Tewkesbury Borough Plan has already involved a 
significant amount of officer resource from within the Planning Policy team as well as support 
from the wider Council.   

Approval of the document for consultation will mean additional officer time in undertaking the 
consultation, organising and advertising the plan, attending consultation events, and analysing 
responses.  

 

65

Agenda Item 10



Legal Implications: 

The Council is required to have an up to date local plan (development plan documents) for its 
area and must prepare it in accordance with legislative requirements, including ensuring the 
compliance with the Statement of Community Involvement, and must contain a reasoned 
justification for the policies contained in it.   

The development plan for Tewkesbury Borough is made up of the development plan 
documents which have been adopted or approved in relation to its area and the 
neighbourhood development plans which have been made in relation to that area. 

If to any extent a policy contained in a development plan for an area conflicts with another 
policy in the development plan the conflict must be resolved in favour of the policy which is 
contained in the last document to be adopted or made (as the case may be). 

Legislation requires that, where a development plan document contains a policy that is 
intended to supersede another policy in the adopted development plan, it must state that fact 
and identify the superseded policy. 

The Preferred Options Tewkesbury Borough Plan has been produced for public consultation 
under Regulation 18 of the Town and County Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 
2012 as a key document in the Council’s development plan.  The consultation will inform the 
drafting of a version of the Tewkesbury Borough Plan for submission to the Secretary of State 
(which itself will then be subject to a period of publication for representations before it is 
submitted). 

Risk Management Implications: 

Failure to progress the Tewkesbury Borough Plan will have an adverse impact on the 
Borough’s ability to provide sufficient sites for housing and employment growth to meet the 
requirements set out within the adopted Joint Core Strategy. 

While the JCS sets out strategic policies, the Borough Plan is required to provide the locally 
specific policies and guidance that will help guide and determine proposals for new 
development in the area. Without these policies the Borough Council is in a weaker position in 
ensuring that new development is of a high quality, is sustainable and meets our objectives for 
growth in the Borough, in support of the rural area and in implementing the housing and 
economic objectives of the Council  

The Borough Plan is also critical to identify the smaller-scale site allocations for housing and 
employment, particularly in the Borough’s rural settlements. In regard to housing sites, this is 
vital to ensure that the Council can maintain a five-year supply of land. If the Council cannot 
demonstrate a five-year supply then then its local plan policies may be considered out of date.  
This could result in a more unplanned approach to development, leading to inappropriate and 
incremental development being allowed on appeal that does not take account of requirements 
for supporting infrastructure, with the potential for adverse environmental impacts. 

Performance Management Follow-up: 

Subject to the approval of the TBP for public consultation, the responses to the consultation 
and the implications on the plan will be reported back to Council prior to the consideration of 
the Pre-Submission of the Tewkesbury Borough Plan and its formal submission to the 
Secretary of State and an examination in public. Examination of the plan will be independently 
overseen by the Planning Inspectorate. 

66



 

Environmental Implications:  

The Tewkesbury Borough Plan must go through a sustainability appraisal process and 
Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) which consider the environmental, social and 
economic outputs of the Plan and ensures that development meets the needs of both present 
and future generations.  The Sustainability Appraisal supporting the Preferred Options TBP 
encompasses Strategic Environmental Assessment as required by EU Directive (2001/42/EC). 
In addition, the Habitats Regulations Assessment has been undertaken as required under the 
European Directive 92/43/EEC on the "conservation of natural habitats and wild fauna and 
flora for plans" that may have an impact on European (Natura 2000) Sites. The TBP also 
contains policies to protect and enhance the environment of the Borough. 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND 

1.1 All local authorities are under a statutory obligation to prepare a development plan.  
Tewkesbury Borough Council has chosen to do this through the preparation of two key 
documents; the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (JCS) and 
the Tewkesbury Borough Plan (TBP). Together the two plans will provide the planning 
framework for the Borough until 2031. 

1.2 The JCS was adopted in December 2017 and sets out the vision and objectives for the 
area together with strategic policies for shaping new development up to 2031. The JCS 
sets out the overall need for housing and employment growth in the area, the spatial 
strategy for meeting these needs, and allocates a number of larger strategic sites for 
development. 

1.3 Whilst the JCS provides the higher level strategic part of the development plan, more 
detailed, locally specific planning policies and smaller-scale site allocations are to be 
progressed through individual district-level (second tier) plans. For Tewkesbury this is the 
TBP. A key role for the TBP is to help to deliver the development requirements and 
growth and spatial strategy of the JCS, the TBP therefore needs to be consistent and in 
conformity with it. 

1.4 The TBP has now been progressed to a ‘Preferred Options’ version of the plan. This is 
still a draft stage of plan making which is to be subject to further public consultation. 
However, it marks a more advanced step in the development of the plan following the 
previous consultation as it moves towards its submission to the Secretary of State for its 
examination in public. 

2.0 PREVIOUS STAGES OF THE TBP 

2.1 The first stage of the TBP was an initial ‘scoping’ consultation that took place in 
October/November 2013. This scoping document posed questions on what the key 
planning issues are in the Borough, what the plan’s vision should be and what the 
policies of the plan should cover.  

2.2 Following the scoping stage, the Council subsequently consulted on a ‘Draft policies and 
site options’ TBP during February and March 2015. The Draft TBP present a series of 
housing site options at the Rural Service Centres and Service Villages. In addition, the 
Draft TBP sought comment on a series of detail planning policies to help guide new 
development.  

 

67



2.3 During the Draft TBP stage the JCS was submitted for its examination in public. The 
examination process took place from its submission in November 2014 until the 
authorities received the Inspector’s Final Report in October 2017.  During this time the 
uncertainty over the outcome of the examination meant that progress on the TBP had to 
be halted until this was resolved so that any subsequent version of TBP fully reflected the 
final JCS plan. However, since adoption of the JCS in December 2017 work has 
continued on the TBP in order to reach this Preferred Options stage. 

3.0 DEVELOPMENT OF THE PREFERRED OPTIONS – Member Working Group 

3.1 A Member Working Group was established for the development of the TBP and officers 
and Members of the Group have been meeting since October 2017 to develop both the 
policies and the site allocations included in the Preferred Options. This process has 
involved detailed discussions on the proposed policies, on their wording, implementation 
and likely outcomes, to ensure that they will deliver the Council’s objectives for growth. 
Similarly, the site options for housing and employment development have been reviewed 
and assessed in detail with the working group, including site visits, to find the most 
appropriate options for inclusion in this Preferred Options plan.  

3.2 As a result of this work, the Preferred Options TBP presented with this report is 
supported and recommended by the Member Working Group. 

3.3 The development of the plan has also involved cross-working amongst the Development 
Services team, including development management and communities and economic 
development teams. Specific input on the site assessment process has also come from 
the Council’s urban design and landscape officers as well as liaison with County Council 
highways and education teams. 

4.0 PREFERRED OPTIONS TBP – KEY TOPICS 

4.1 The Preferred Options TBP is split into a number of key topic areas under which a series 
of related planning policies and/or land allocations are presented. These topic areas are: 

 Housing. 

 Economy and Tourism. 

 Green Belt. 

 Town Centres and Retail. 

 Environmental Factors (Urban and Natural). 

 Communities, Health and Recreation. 

 Transport and Accessibility. 

The JCS provides overarching policies which presents strategic guidance on all of these 
topic areas. However, the Borough Plan is to provide the more detailed and locally 
specific policies on these issues, adding to the existing JCS policy.  

68



 

 Housing (Allocations) 

4.2 JCS Policy SP1: The Need for New Development sets out that there is a housing 
requirement of at least 9,899 new homes for Tewkesbury Borough. Policy SP2: 
Distribution of New Development provides the overall growth strategy for meet this 
requirement and sets the context for planning new development through the TBP. Policy 
SP2 states that: 

To meet the needs of Tewkesbury Borough, none of which is being met by the urban 
extensions to Gloucester and Cheltenham, the JCS will make provision for at least 
9,899 new homes. At least 7,445 dwellings will be provided through existing 
commitments, development at Tewkesbury town in line with its role as a market 
town, smaller-scale development meeting local needs at Rural Service Centres and 
Service Villages, and sites covered by any Memoranda of Agreement. 

Rural service centres and service villages as identified in Table SP2c below will 
accommodate lower levels of development to be allocated through the Tewkesbury 
Borough Plan and Neighbourhood Plans, proportional to their size and function, and 
also reflecting their proximity and accessibility to Cheltenham and Gloucester and 
taking into account the environmental, economic and social impacts including 
existing levels of growth over the plan period. 

Over the plan period to 2031: 

 i. The rural service centres will accommodate in the order of 1860 new homes, and; 

ii. The service villages will accommodate in the order of 880 new homes; 

 
The focus for the TBP regarding site allocations, therefore, is the growth potential at 
Tewkesbury Town, Rural Service Centres and Service Villages. 

4.3 In order to identify all reasonable sites which could come forward to meet the 
requirements of Policy SP2 all available land adjacent to Tewkesbury town, Rural Service 
Centres and Service Villages was initially considered and detailed assessments were 
undertaken to judge their potential suitability for development. Sites were judged against 
national and local policy constraints as well as key environmental factors. Each site was 
given a score (from A – D) based on the assessment, with those rated A and B 
considered to be potentially suitable for development. The proposed housing allocations 
at the rural service centres and service villages have then been determined by 
considering which sites are suitable and then by having regard to the JCS Policy SP2 
requirement for allocations to be proportional to their size and function, and also 
reflecting their proximity and accessibility to Cheltenham and Gloucester and taking into 
account the environmental, economic and social impacts including existing levels of 
growth over the plan period. A similar process was followed for allocations at Tewkesbury 
town although with less emphasis on the proportionality of growth to the size and function 
of the settlement on the basis that Tewkesbury is the Borough’s principal settlement.                                                           
The detailed explanation of the assessment process is provided in the TBP Housing 
Background Paper (September 2018).  

4.4 Policy RES1 Housing Site Allocations is the culmination of this site assessment process 
and presents those sites considered to be preferred options for housing development. 
They include a variety of different sites across the Borough’s settlements which can 
contribute towards meeting our identified housing needs. For each site the site area is 
presented as well as the potential site capacity. Also accompanying the policy, are site 
specific development principles for each site which sets out the key considerations for 
any new development.  

69



 

4.5 In total the site allocations presented could deliver up to 170 homes at Tewkesbury 
Town, 181 homes at the Rural Service Centres, and 347 homes at the Service Villages. 
These figures do not include the amount of new housing that has already been 
committed at these locations due to existing planning permissions. When added to 
existing commitments these allocations would cumulatively provide 2027 homes at the 
Rural Service Centres and 1138 at the Service Villages. This amount of growth would 
exceed the minimum requirement of 1860 and 880 homes respectively for these locations 
though JCS Policy SP2. This additional supply will contribute to the Government’s aim to 
boost the supply of housing and provide a sufficient, robust and flexible range of sites to 
ensure that the Borough can maintain a five-year housing land supply as required 
through the NPPF. 

4.6 Settlement boundaries have also been updated for each of the Rural Service Centres 
and Service Villages (including the provision of new boundaries at Coombe Hill, 
Minsterworth, Norton, Stoke Orchard and Toddington) as well as at Tewkesbury Town 
and the ‘Urban fringe settlements’ adjacent to Cheltenham and Gloucester (e.g. 
Churchdown, Brockworth etc). The settlement boundaries are based on the existing ones 
identified in the Tewkesbury Borough Plan to 2011 and any respective Neighbourhood 
Plans, and expanded to include any new housing commitments and proposed site 
allocations where applicable.  

 Housing (Policy) 

4.7 The TBP provides a series of policies to provide guidance on future housing development 
in the Borough. This includes the approach to development within and outside of 
identified settlement boundaries (Policy RES2, RES3) as well as more general guidance 
applicable to any new housing development (Policy RES5) including issues such as 
affordable housing (Policy RES12), housing mix (Policy RES13) and self and custom 
build housing (Policy RES16). There are also detailed policies dealing with the reuse of 
rural buildings for residential development (Policy RES7), replacement dwellings (Policy 
RES9) and the extension of dwellings (Policy RES10). 

4.8 Policy RES4 sets out an approach to housing at other rural settlements (those not 
identified within the settlement hierarchy, i.e. those without settlement boundaries) to 
allow for a more flexible approach to housing growth to in order to maintain the vitality of 
settlements within the rural area. Policy RES4 allows for very small-scale residential 
development within and adjacent to the built-up area of the settlement.  However, this 
must be of a size and scale that is proportionate to the size and function of the settlement 
and complements its form, character and landscape setting.  

 Economy and Tourism 

4.9 Policies EMP1 and EMP2 identify the Borough’s Major Employment Sites and Rural 
Business Centres where there is general support for the principle of B-class employment 
development. The policy also allows for the expansion of these sites where appropriate. 

4.10 Similar to the housing allocations through Policy RES1, a detailed site assessment 
process has been undertaken to look at the potential for new employment allocations 
and/or expansions of existing Major Employment Sites and Rural Business Centres. The 
detailed explanation of the assessment process is provided in the TBP Employment Sites 
Background Paper (September 2018). This has resulted in new sites being identified 
which would provide for a total of up 45ha of new employment land. 

70



 

4.11 In addition to these identified, and new employment sites, the Borough Plan provides 
policies for employment uses within existing settlement boundaries (Policy EMP3) and 
sets out the approach to development with the wider rural area (Policy EMP4). The plan 
also sets out general principles that should be considered for any new employment 
development proposal (EMP5).   

4.12 Policies are provided that cover issues around agricultural development (Policies AGR1 
to AGR4) and to cover tourism related development (Policies TOR1 to TOR5) 

 Green Belt 

4.13 In order to accommodate the allocation of new housing and employment land it has been 
necessary in some locations to propose the removal of the land from the Green Belt. This 
largely relates to residential development at Shurdington and employment development 
at business parks around Staverton. Policy GBR1 sets out where this Green Belt removal 
would occur. It is considered that there are exceptional circumstances present (as 
required by the National Planning Policy Framework) to justify these changes to the 
Green Belt to ensure that the Borough can meets its development needs in most 
sustainable way. 

4.14 An approach to development at Gloucestershire Airport is presented (Policy GRB2) which 
provides for a more flexible approach to airport related employment development within 
an identified ‘non-essential operational area’. This maintains the airport within the Green 
Belt but provides an approach to help with the growth of this important employment area. 

4.15 A particular policy area (Policy GRB3) has also been identified around the existing 
Bamfurlong Operational Policing site, which is within the Green Belt, to provide support 
for development that relates to proposals for the redevelopment and intensification of the 
site for operational policy and partnering uses.  

 Town Centres and Retail 

4.16 Policy RET1 identifies the hierarchy of designated retail centres in the Borough, including 
Tewkesbury as the market town, Bishops Cleeve and Winchcombe as service centres, 
and 5 local centres. This policy sets out the general policy in regard to the development 
of main town centre uses in the centres. There is specific policy guidance for Tewkesbury 
town centre through Policy RET2 and for the other designated retail centres through 
Policy RET3. These policies are generally supportive of retail development but provide 
flexibility on the range of other town centre uses that may be considered acceptable to 
support their vitality and viability. Further policies deal with retail development in ‘out of 
centre locations (Policy RET4) and single or small groups of shops within residential 
areas (Policy RET5).   

4.17 Policies that deal with specific types of retail uses are also provided, including on hot food 
takeaways (Policy RET6), public houses and local shops (Policy RET7) and 
agricultural/horticultural retail (Policy RET8). 

4.18 A specific policy dealing with Tewkesbury Town regeneration programme and the 
emerging Tewkesbury Masterplan is presented at Policy RET9. This policy also highlights 
the key regeneration sites of Healings Mill and Spring Gardens. 

71



 

 Environmental Factors (Quality Places) 

4.19 This section of the TBP provides a suite of policies which seeks to ensure that new 
development is of a high quality and that enhances the built environment. Policy DES1 
looks to adopt the Governments ‘nationally described space standards’ which provides a 
standardised approach to the size of dwellings (internal floorspace). Policy DES2 and 
DES3 deal with street furniture, signs advertisements while Policy DES4 specifically 
deals with the design of shopfronts.  

4.20 A number of policies in the plan concern the protection and enhancement of the 
Boroughs historic environment, including conservation areas (Policy HER1), Listed 
Buildings (Policy HER2) and locally important heritage assets (Policy HER5). There is 
also a specific policy dealing with the Tewkesbury 1471 battlefield (Policy HER6). 

 Environmental Factors (Natural Environment) 

4.21 Protection is given to the Borough’s local landscape designations of the Special 
Landscape Areas (Policy LAN1) and the Landscape Protection Zones (Policy LAN2). 

4.22 The TBP introduces a Strategic Gap policy (LAN3) which seeks to designated gaps 
between certain settlements in order to protect their separate identity, character, 
landscaping setting and prevent their coalescence. These strategic gaps are proposed 
for the areas between Bishop’s Cleeve and Gotherington, Winchcombe and Greet, and 
Twyning and Church End. 

4.23 The plan provides a policy for the protection of the Borough’s biodiversity, geodiversity 
and important natural features (Policy NAT1), protection for the water environment 
(Policy NAT2) and seeks for new development to be designed to contribute and enhance 
the area’s green infrastructure network (Policy NAT3).    

 Communities, Health and Recreation  

4.24 Policy HEA1 looks for new development to promote healthy and active communities 
through their design and consider the impacts of development on health. Policies RCN1 
and RCN2 deal with the provision of public outdoor space, sport pitches and sports 
facilities and the contribution that new development should make in providing them to 
meet the needs of communities. There is a specific policy provide on the protection of 
allotments and community gardens (Policy RCN3) and of community assets (Policy 
COM1), including shops, community centres, pubs, libraries etc.  

4.25 Policy COM2 requires new residential and commercial development to be provided with 
the infrastructure necessary to enable access to high quality broadband, while Policy 
COM3 provides guidance for proposals for telecommunications development.  

 Transport and Accessibility 

4.26 The TBP provides specific polices on pedestrian, cycle and public transport accessibility 
through Policies TRAC1 and TRAC2 and requires movement by foot, bike and bus to be 
fundamental considerations in the design on new major developments. A policy on 
parking provision for new development is present at Policy TRAC9. 

72



 

4.27 Policy TRAC6 deals with the M5 Junction 9/A46 Corridor at Ashchurch to support the 
implementation of highway infrastructure improvements and states that new development 
along the corridor must not prejudice their delivery. In addition, a policy supporting the 
enhancement of the Ashchurch for Tewkesbury rail station is included (Policy TRAC5) 
which seeks to increase the frequency of train services and enhancements to the station 
facilities.  

5.0 NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANNING 

5.1 The Borough currently has five ‘made’ neighbourhood development plans (NDP) and a 
number of others currently in progress. Where a NDP has been brought into force, the 
policies it contains takes precedence over the existing non-strategic policies in a local 
plan (such as the in the TBP) that cover that neighbourhood area. However, where they 
are in conflict they may be superseded by strategic or non-strategic policies (in the JCS 
or TBP) that are adopted subsequent to the NDP.  

5.2 The TBP has been developed to, where possible, reflect the policies and allocations of 
existing and emerging NDPs. Therefore, in the main, there should be no conflict issues 
for existing NDPs with contents of the TBP. However, where there are any conflicts, the 
TBP as the latest plan, would take precedent.  

6.0 CONSULTATION AND NEXT STEPS 

6.1 If approved by the Council, the Preferred Options TBP will be published for a minimum 
six-week public consultation. This consultation will be undertaken in accordance with the 
Council’s adopted Statement of Community Involvement. Dates and details of this 
consultation are to be confirmed, but it is likely to take place between mid-October and 
the end of November 2018.  

6.2 The consultation period will be widely publicised, directly to those signed up to the 
planning policy consultation database, but also using the paper and social media and 
through promotion to Town and Parish Councils. 

6.3 Following this consultation, officers will consider all representations received during this 
time and where appropriate make amendments to the TBP. A summary of the 
consultation responses received will be produced and provided to Council alongside a 
later iteration of the Tewkesbury Borough Plan. 

6.4 The next step for the plan will be the Pre-submission TBP which will be again subject to 
public consultation. This will be final stage of plan making before the plan is formally 
submitted to the Secretary of State for its examination in public. This Pre-Submission 
consultation is anticipated to take place in Spring 2019.  

7.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES 

7.1 Tewkesbury Borough Council Plan (2016-2020). 

Adopted Joint Core Strategy (December 2017). 

Adopted Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011 (March 2006). 

Economic Development and Tourism Strategy (2017-2021). 

Housing Strategy (2017-2021). 

73



 

8.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES  

8.1 The National Planning Policy Framework. 

9.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property) 

9.1 None. 

10.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment) 

10.1 The Tewkesbury Borough Plan must go through a Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic 
Environmental Assessment process and Habitats Regulation Assessment, which 
considers the environmental, social and economic outputs of the Plan and ensures that 
development meets the needs of both present and future generations.  

The Sustainability Appraisal (integrating Strategic Environmental Assessment; Health 
Impact Assessment; and Equality Impact Assessment) (August 2018) can be viewed 
here: https://drive.google.com/open?id=1jYQ3x76Vr1iMRsv1rkVqROWkvO7W7OwI  

The Habitats Regulations Assessment (August 2018) can be viewed here: 
https://drive.google.com/open?id=1G0CgTr6OeeaCpwdF3nOofmU7qGeAs2MX    

11.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health 
And Safety) 

11.1 Each version of the Tewkesbury Borough Plan will be accompanied by a full range of 
assessments which will address equalities and other issues. 

12.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS  

12.1 October 2017 – approval by Executive Committee of the updated Local Development 
Scheme for Tewkesbury Borough. 

February 2015 – approval by Council of Draft Policies and Sites Options Tewkesbury 
Borough Plan. 

July 2014 – approval by Council of Tewkesbury Borough Plan Regulation 18 Scoping 
Summary Response Report. 

October 2013 – November 2013 Tewkesbury Borough Plan public scoping consultation. 

May 2013 - approval by Council of the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI).  

April 2013 - approval by Council of the Local Development Scheme for Tewkesbury 
Borough.  

 

Background Papers:  

National Planning Policy Framework (July 2018) and National Planning Practice Guidance. 

Adopted Joint Core Strategy (December 2017). 

Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan (adopted 2006). 

Local Development Scheme for Tewkesbury Borough (October 2017). 

Tewkesbury Borough Council Statement of Community Involvement (May 2013). 

The Tewkesbury Borough Plan Regulation 18 Scoping Summary Response Report (August 
2014). 

74

https://drive.google.com/open?id=1jYQ3x76Vr1iMRsv1rkVqROWkvO7W7OwI
https://drive.google.com/open?id=1G0CgTr6OeeaCpwdF3nOofmU7qGeAs2MX


The Tewkesbury Borough Plan Regulation 18 Draft Policies and Site Options Summary 
Response Report (July 2015). 

Tewkesbury Borough Plan Housing Background Paper - Approach to Sites (September 2018). 

Tewkesbury Borough Plan Employment Sites Background Paper (September 2018). 

Sustainability Appraisal (integrating Strategic Environmental Assessment; Health Impact 
Assessment; and Equality Impact Assessment) (August 2018). 

Habitats Regulations Assessment (August 2018). 

 

Contact Officer:   Planning Policy Manager, Tel: 01684 272089 

  Email: matthew.barker@tewkesbury.gov.uk 

Appendices:    1. Preferred Options Tewkesbury Borough Plan. 

75

mailto:matthew.barker@tewkesbury.gov.uk


Tewkesbury Borough Plan

Preferred Options
consultation

2011-2031

Tewkesbury
Borough Council

October 201876



 
1 

 

Contents 
1. Executive Summary ................................................................................................... 5 

2. Introduction .............................................................................................................. 8 

3. Housing ................................................................................................................... 18 

Policy RES1 Housing Site Allocations.................................................................................... 21 

Policy RES2 Settlement Boundaries ..................................................................................... 30 

Policy RES3 New Housing Outside Settlement Boundaries ................................................. 31 

Policy RES4 New housing at other rural settlements........................................................... 32 

Policy RES5 New Housing Development .............................................................................. 34 

Policy RES6 Rural Exception Sites ......................................................................................... 35 

Policy RES7 - Re-use of rural buildings for residential use ................................................... 37 

Policy RES8 Sub division of existing dwellings ..................................................................... 38 

Policy RES9 Replacement dwellings ..................................................................................... 40 

Policy RES10 Alteration and extension of existing dwellings ............................................... 41 

Policy RES11 Change of use of agricultural land to domestic garden.................................. 43 

Policy RES12 Affordable housing.......................................................................................... 44 

Policy RES13 Housing Mix .................................................................................................... 46 

Policy RES14 Specialist accommodation for older people ................................................... 47 

Policy RES15 Accessible and Adaptable Homes ................................................................... 49 

Policy RES16 Self and Custom Build ..................................................................................... 51 

Policy GTTS1: Site allocations for Gypsies and Travellers .................................................... 52 

4. Economy and Tourism ..................................................................................................... 55 

Policy EMP1 Major Employment Sites ................................................................................. 56 

Policy EMP2 Rural Business Centres .................................................................................... 58 

Policy EMP3 Employment sites within settlement boundaries ........................................... 59 

Policy EMP4 Rural Employment Development .................................................................... 60 

Policy EMP5 New Employment Development (General) ..................................................... 61 

Policy EMP6 Safeguarding of Employment Sites ................................................................. 63 

77



 
2 

 

Policy AGR1 Agricultural Development ................................................................................ 64 

Policy AGR2 – Agricultural Diversification............................................................................ 65 

Policy AGR3 – Agricultural and other rural workers dwellings ............................................ 65 

Policy AGR4 – Removal of occupancy conditions ................................................................ 67 

Policy TOR1 - Tourism Related Development ...................................................................... 68 

Policy TOR2 Serviced/self catering accommodation ........................................................... 69 

Policy TOR3 Caravan and camping sites............................................................................... 70 

Policy TOR4 Herefordshire and Gloucestershire Canal Restoration .................................... 71 

Policy TOR5 Gloucestershire Warwickshire Railway ............................................................ 72 

5. Green Belt......................................................................................................................... 73 

Policy GRB1 – Green Belt Review ......................................................................................... 74 

Policy GRB2 – Gloucestershire Airport ................................................................................. 77 

Policy GRB3 - Bamfurlong Operational Policing site ............................................................ 78 

6. Town centres and retail ................................................................................................... 79 

Policy RET1 Maintaining the vitality and viability of the town, borough and local centres .... 79 

Policy RET2 Tewkesbury Town Centre and Primary Frontages ........................................... 81 

Policy RET3 Retail Centres .................................................................................................... 82 

Policy RET4 Out of Centre Development ............................................................................. 83 

Policy RET5 Single or Small groups of shops in residential areas ........................................ 84 

Policy RET6 Hot Food Takeaways ......................................................................................... 85 

Policy RET7 Local Shops and Public Houses ......................................................................... 86 

Policy RET8 Agricultural/Horticultural Retail in the countryside ......................................... 87 

Policy RET9 - Tewkesbury Town Regeneration .................................................................... 88 

7. Quality Places ................................................................................................................... 90 

Policy DES1 Housing Space Standards ................................................................................. 90 

Policy DES2 Street Signage & Furniture ............................................................................... 91 

Policy DES3 Advertisements, Signs & Notice Boards ........................................................... 92 

Policy DES4 Shopfronts ........................................................................................................ 93 

Policy HER1 Conservation Areas .......................................................................................... 93 

78



 
3 

 

Policy HER2 Listed Buildings ................................................................................................. 95 

Policy HER3 Historic Parks and Gardens .............................................................................. 96 

Policy HER4 Archaeological Sites and Scheduled Ancient Monuments .............................. 96 

Policy HER5 Locally Important Heritage Assets ................................................................... 97 

Policy HER6 Tewkesbury (1471) Historic Battlefield ............................................................ 98 

8. The Natural Environment ................................................................................................ 99 

Policy LAN1 Special Landscape Areas .................................................................................. 99 

Policy LAN2 Landscape Protection Zone ............................................................................ 100 

Policy LAN3 Strategic Gaps ................................................................................................. 101 

Policy LAN4 Locally Important Open Spaces ...................................................................... 103 

Policy LAN5 Local Green Spaces ......................................................................................... 104 

Policy NAT1 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Important Natural Features .......................... 104 

Policy NAT2 The Water Environment ................................................................................. 108 

Policy NAT3 – Green Infrastructure: Building with Nature ................................................ 108 

Policy NAT4 – Tewkesbury Nature Reserve ....................................................................... 109 

Policy ENV1 Development near sewage treatment works ................................................ 110 

Policy ENV2 Flood Risk and Water Management .............................................................. 111 

Policy ENV3 Solar Farms ..................................................................................................... 111 

9. Communities, Health & Recreation ............................................................................... 114 

Policy HEA1 Healthy & Active Communities ...................................................................... 114 

Policy RCN1 Public Outdoor Space, Sports Pitch and Sports Facility Provision ................. 115 

Policy RCN2 New Sports and Recreational Facilities .......................................................... 117 

Policy RCN3 Allotments & Community Gardens ................................................................ 118 

Policy RCN4 Horse Riding Facilities .................................................................................... 119 

Policy COM1 Protecting Community Assets ...................................................................... 120 

Policy COM2 Broadband Provision .................................................................................... 121 

Policy COM3 Telecommunications .................................................................................... 122 

Policy COM4 Neighbourhood Development Plans ............................................................ 123 

10. Transport & Accessibility ............................................................................................... 125 

79



 
4 

 

Policy TRAC1 – Pedestrian Accessibility ............................................................................. 125 

Policy TRAC2 – Cycle Network & Infrastructure ................................................................ 126 

Policy TRAC3 Bus Infrastructure ......................................................................................... 128 

Policy TRAC4 High Frequency Bus Routes .......................................................................... 130 

Policy TRAC 5 Ashchurch for Tewkesbury Rail Station ....................................................... 130 

Policy TRAC6 M5 Junction 9/A46 Corridor ......................................................................... 131 

Policy TRAC7 Tewkesbury Northern Bypass Corridor ........................................................ 132 

Policy TRAC8 Old Railway Line Tewkesbury ....................................................................... 132 

Policy TRAC9 Parking Provision .......................................................................................... 132 
 

  

80



 
5 

 

1. Executive Summary 
 

1.1. Tewkesbury Borough Council is preparing a new plan that will guide where and how development 
will take place in our borough. It is called the Tewkesbury Borough Plan. It will provide an 
appropriate planning policy framework to ensure that Council policy on development is effectively 
implemented, that reasonable development aspirations for all are achieved, whilst giving essential 
protection for our communities and our built and natural environment against harmful 
development.  It will be used to guide planning decisions and include land which will be developed 
for housing, employment and provide the necessary infrastructure to support this. 

 
1.2. The new Tewkesbury Borough Plan will be a single document covering the whole of Tewkesbury 

Borough. It will set out the vision for the borough up to 2031, and provide a strategy for achieving 
it in line with the overarching direction provided by the Tewkesbury, Cheltenham and Gloucester 
Joint Core Strategy. It is a particularly important document if you live or work in Tewkesbury 
borough because it will be used to help guide local development issues up to 2031.  

 
What is the Tewkesbury Borough Plan? 
 
1.3. The Tewkesbury Borough Plan will form part of the statutory local development plan, referred to 

as the Local Plan. For Tewkesbury borough, the Local Plan also includes the Joint Core Strategy as 
well as any Neighbourhood Development Plans that have been prepared. 

 
1.4. Whilst the Joint Core Strategy identifies larger sites for housing and employment, and deals with 

strategic issues such as Green Belt, flooding and transport, the Tewkesbury Borough Plan will 
identify the additional specific locations for smaller-scale growth and set out detailed policies for 
development and how we will protect our key assets, such as our valuable countryside, our historic 
heritage and our open spaces. 

 
1.5. The Tewkesbury Borough Plan does not seek to cover strategic issues that are addressed by the 

Joint Core Strategy or any subsequent review of the Joint Core Strategy. 
 
Why do we need a plan? 
 
1.6. Policies need to be up to date to be useful in guiding planning decisions. The current adopted 

Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan covered the period 1991-2011. While many of these policies were 
‘saved’ (i.e. they are still legally capable of being used in decision making until a new plan is 
adopted) they need to be replaced by a plan that takes into account changes in local and national 
circumstances.  

 
1.7. Tewkesbury Borough Council wants to ensure that Tewkesbury borough has a development plan 

in place to guide decision taking in a planned manner.   
 

 
 

81



 
6 

 

Neighbourhood Development Plans 
 

1.8. Neighbourhood Planning was first introduced in the Localism Act 2011 and Tewkesbury Borough 
Council has a duty to support communities in making their Neighbourhood Development Plan, 
commonly referred to as a Neighbourhood Plan. 

  
1.9. At the time of writing Tewkesbury Borough has five Neighbourhood Development plans that have 

been ‘made’ (formally adopted), as well as a number of other parish and town councils who have 
registered a plan area and are at various stages of plan preparation. Where a Neighbourhood 
Plan is made by Tewkesbury Borough Council, the plan will become part of the Development Plan 
(together with the Borough Plan and Joint Core Strategy) and will be used to guide development 
and determine applications in the town or parish’s designated neighbourhood planning area. 

 
What happened to my feedback from the last consultation? 

 
1.10. In October/November 2013 we consulted on the key issues affecting Tewkesbury borough. A wide 

range of issues were raised and can be seen in the ‘Regulation 18 Scoping Summary Response 
Report’ August 2014 report which is available on Tewkesbury Borough Council’s website 
at https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/emerging-planning-policies. These responses were then used 
to help prepare the Draft Policies and Site Options Consultation Document.  

 
1.11. Consultation on the Draft Policies and Site Options Consultation Document took place from 

February to April 2015 and the comments received can be seen in the Regulation 18 Summary 
Response Report (July 2015) which is available on Tewkesbury Borough Council’s website 
at https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/emerging-planning-policies. These comments were then used 
to help prepare the Preferred Options Consultation Document, which we are currently consulting 
upon. 

 
What happens next? 

 
1.12. This ‘draft’ consultation document identifies preferred sites for development and supporting 

policies. We want to hear from you about whether you believe they meet our requirements for 
both the need for development and also the protection of our borough’s most valued assets. The 
sites and policies have all been subject to a ‘sustainability appraisal’ which has been published for 
comment alongside this draft plan. 

 
How to respond 

 
1.13. Tewkesbury Borough Council would like to invite you to comment on the Preferred Options 

Tewkesbury Borough Plan consultation document for a period of approximately seven weeks 
between XX October 2018 and XX November 2018. 

 
1.14. Copies of this document are available at locations across Tewkesbury borough including libraries, 

community/resource centres and in the reception area of Tewkesbury Borough Council offices.  
Specific public consultation events are also being held across the Tewkesbury borough area. 

82

https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/emerging-planning-policies
https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/emerging-planning-policies


 
7 

 

 
1.15. Comments on the Preferred Options Tewkesbury Borough Plan are encouraged to be made online 

via the Tewkesbury Borough Council website at www.tewkesbury.gov.uk. Alternatively comments 
can be submitted by email to localplanconsultation@tewkesbury.gov.uk, or in writing to: Planning 
Policy, Tewkesbury Borough Council, Gloucester Road, Tewkesbury, Gloucestershire, GL20 5TT. 

 
1.16. Comments may be submitted on any part of this consultation document and the supporting 

evidence base.  
  

83

http://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/
mailto:localplanconsultation@tewkesbury.gov.uk


 
8 

 

2.  Introduction 
 
2.1. Tewkesbury Borough Council, as Local Planning Authority, has the key tasks of promoting and 

managing growth and development in the borough. The plan that we are preparing will provide a 
framework of planning policies specifically for Tewkesbury borough for the period to 2031. This 
new plan is called the ‘Tewkesbury Borough Plan’ and will form part of the statutory local 
development plan, usually referred to as the Local Plan, for our area together with the Joint Core 
Strategy which has been developed jointly by Gloucester City, Cheltenham Borough and 
Tewkesbury Borough Councils to provide strategic level guidance for all three areas working 
together.  

 
2.2. It is forecast that over the next 14 years Tewkesbury borough will experience significant growth, 

alongside the growth that has already occurred, and while the Joint Core Strategy identifies where 
large strategic development will take place to accommodate some of this growth, it is the role of 
the Tewkesbury Borough Plan to identify where additional smaller-scale development should take 
place. In order to do this we need to decide the best way to accommodate the new housing and 
jobs necessary to meet our needs, while at the same time considering how to protect key assets – 
like our valuable countryside, our historic environment and our open spaces. This draft plan 
identifies preferred sites, known as ‘allocations’, to accommodate development and sets out 
policies to manage development and protect our key assets.  

 
2.3. The following table sets out the current timetable for the preparation of the Tewkesbury Borough 

Plan. 
 

Issues & Options ‘Scoping’ 
Consultation 

Autumn 2013 

Draft Policies and Site Options 
Consultation 

Spring 2015 

Preferred Options Consultation Autumn 2018 

Pre-Submission Consultation Spring 2019 

Submission for Examination Spring/Summer 2019 

 
 

The Development Plan for Tewkesbury Borough 
 

2.4. The development  plan are the key documents through which Local Planning Authorities set out a 
vision and framework for the future development of their area, engaging with their communities 
in doing so. For Tewkesbury, the Local Plan comprises of several different documents which include 
the Joint Core Strategy, the Tewkesbury Borough Plan and any Neighbourhood Development Plans. 
However, it also includes the Waste Core Strategy and Minerals Local Plans prepared on a 
Gloucestershire-wide basis by Gloucestershire County Council. 

 

84



 
9 

 

2.5. In addition, all plans need to be prepared in line with the Government’s National Planning Policy 
Framework and Practice Guidance. 

 
 

 
 
 
 

2.6. The Joint Core Strategy has been developed by Gloucester City Council, Cheltenham Borough 
Council and Tewkesbury Borough Council to provide strategic level guidance for all three areas 
working together. This document sits above the Tewkesbury Borough Plan and presents the 
overarching strategic plan for the area. The Joint Core Strategy was adopted by each Council in 
December 2017. As well as identifying where the larger ‘strategic allocation’ sites for development, 
it also deals with important issues such as Green Belt, flooding and transport. More details on the 
Joint Core strategy can be found on the website www.gct-jcs.org/    

 
2.7. The administrative boundaries of Cheltenham and Gloucester are drawn fairly tightly around their 

built-up areas. There is consequently limited potential for these districts to find land within their 
administrative areas to accommodate the necessary housing growth. Consequently, part of that 
development will need to be accommodated outside of their administrative areas. The Joint Core 
Strategy allocates a number of urban extensions to Cheltenham borough and Gloucester city, 
within Tewkesbury Borough, which will contribute to meeting the unmet needs of these districts. 

85

http://www.gct-jcs.org/


 
10 

 

 
2.8. For Tewkesbury Borough, its housing growth is to be focused at Tewkesbury town as well as 

smaller-scale growth at identified Rural Service Centres and Service Villages. The Tewkesbury 
Borough Plan will guide this development and will sit ‘underneath’ the higher level Joint Core 
Strategy and will include locally specific policies and sites for: 

 
• Housing in towns, villages and rural areas;  
• local employment, retailing and town centre boundaries;  
• places of local distinctiveness;  
• the countryside; and 
• those parts of the borough that will be subject to development restrictions,  

 
2.9. The Joint Core Strategy identifies a housing shortfall for Tewkesbury against its requirements. As 

such the Joint Core Strategy commits to an immediate review of Tewkesbury’s housing land supply 
to meet this. This review is to be focussed around the Tewkesbury town/Ashchurch area as the 
primary opportunity area for strategic scale growth. It is not the role of the Tewkesbury Borough 
Plan to meet the shortfall identified by the Joint Core Strategy, this is the subject to an immediate 
review of that plan to deal with this at a strategic scale. However, it is recognised that the Borough 
Plan could contribute towards meeting some of this housing need. 

 
2.10. The Borough Council have commissioned a consultant team to undertake masterplanning work for 

the Ashchurch area which will inform the immediate review and identify sites for further housing 
and employment growth. As this work is ongoing the Tewkesbury Borough Plan does not identify 
any allocations in the Ashchurch area so as to not prejudice the outcome of this masterplanning 
work.  

 
2.11. Since 2011 there have been some significant changes to the planning system: The upper, ‘regional’, 

tier of plan making (called Regional Spatial Strategies) was abolished and a new ‘neighbourhood’ 
level of planning was introduced, which provides parish and town councils with the opportunity to 
prepare a legally binding ‘Neighbourhood Development Plan’, commonly referred to as a 
‘Neighbourhood Plan’, for their area which, once in force, will form part of the (statutory) 
Development Plan.  

 
2.12. Neighbourhood Planning was first introduced in the Localism Act 2011 as one of a number of 

Community Rights, which include Neighbourhood Development Plans, Neighbourhood 
Development Orders and Community Right to Build Orders. Tewkesbury Borough Council has a 
duty to: Support communities in making their Neighbourhood Plan; approve the designation of a 
Neighbourhood Planning Area, organising the independent examination of the Neighbourhood 
Plan, Development Order or Community Right to Build Order, which checks that the plan or order 
meets certain basic conditions; and organise a referendum of those living within the designated 
Neighbourhood Planning Area, which ensures that the local community has the final say on 
whether the plan or order comes into force in their area. Tewkesbury Borough Council will then 
‘make’ a Neighbourhood Plan that has successfully been through examination and referendum. 
The Borough currently has five ‘made’ Neighbourhood Plans.  

 

86



 
11 

 

2.13. Where a Neighbourhood Plan is ‘made’ in Tewkesbury borough the provisions of that plan will 
become part of the Development Plan for the designated Neighbourhood Planning Area and will 
be used to guide development and determine planning applications in that area, insofar as they 
are relevant to the development being proposed. 

 
Why are we preparing a new plan? 

 
2.14. Policies need to be up-to-date to be effective in guiding planning decisions. The currently adopted 

Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan covered the period 1991-2011. While most of these policies have 
been ‘saved’ (i.e. they are still legally capable of being used in decision making) they need to be 
replaced by a new plan that takes into account changes in local and national circumstances. 
Tewkesbury Borough Council therefore wants to ensure that the borough is covered by a 
development plan so that local planning decisions can be based on a locally considered plan rather 
than solely on the application of national policy on an application by application basis. 

 
2.15. The Borough Plan also needs to allocate new sites for development around Tewkesbury town, Rural 

Service Centres and Service Villages to ensure that our growth requirements, as set out through 
the Joint Core Strategy, continue to be met.  

 
What is Tewkesbury borough like? 

 
2.16. This section outlines issues that are important for Tewkesbury borough and provides the 

background context for the policies presented in later sections of this plan.  
 

Tewkesbury borough and adjacent areas  
 

 
 

87



 
12 

 

 
Population 

 
2.17. Tewkesbury Borough is one of six districts in the county of Gloucestershire. It has 50 parishes 

covering an area of 160 square miles with a population of 86,900 (ONS, June 2015), which is an 
increase of around 14% since 2001. The borough has a predominately rural character with over 
50% of people living in rural settlements and large market towns. The plan’s base date is 2011, in 
that year there were 37,057 residential dwellings in the borough, which was an increase of 11% 
since 2001, by 2018 there were an additional 4,200 representing a further increase of around 11% 
bringing the total to 41,257. Compared with the rest of Gloucestershire Tewkesbury borough has 
a higher than average number of people aged 65 and over but fewer people under 18 and of 
working age. Approximately 2.5% of residents in the borough are from minority ethnic group 
backgrounds, which is lower than the countywide average of 4.6%.  

 
Economy 

 
2.18. The borough includes a wide range of economic activity, ranging from large multinationals to 

micro businesses. In terms of employment, manufacturing accounts for a quarter of all jobs. The 
other significant sectors are: distribution, hotels and restaurants, finance, IT and other business 
services and public administration, education and health. The tourism sector is also increasingly 
important, particularly for the rural economy. 

 
2.19. The economically active rate in the borough is 81.7%, compared to regional (81.4%) and national 

rates (78.4%) (ONS Annual Population Survey Jan 2017- Dec 2017). The unemployment rate at 
May 2018 was 1.1% (ONS). 

 
Environment 

 
2.20. Tewkesbury borough has a diverse landscape from the largely flat central Severn Vale to the 

wooded slopes bordering the Cotswolds. Although largely rural in character, with market towns, 
villages and agricultural land uses, there are significant areas of urban fringe around Cheltenham 
and Gloucester. Landscape is therefore not simply an issue associated with the rural areas where 
landform, woodland, mature trees, hedgerows, fields and other features contribute to the overall 
character, but also within urban areas and villages where at a smaller scale, landscape features 
such as parks, open areas, and street trees can be equally important. Approximately 36% of the 
borough’s landscape is recognised as being of national importance and is designated as part of the 
Cotswold Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). 

 
2.21. Tewkesbury borough contains a number of nationally important nature sites including: 

beechwoods; former Cotswold quarries of geological interest; and areas supporting rare plant 
species and wildlife. This includes 20 Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), two of which have 
also been recognised as Special Areas of Conservation (SAC) under the Natura 2000 Convention. 

 
 

88



 
13 

 

Shopping, heritage and tourism 
 

2.22. The historic market towns of Tewkesbury and Winchcombe are popular tourist destinations and 
offer many shopping opportunities. Elsewhere, the main retail centres are those of Bishop’s Cleeve, 
Brockworth and Churchdown. In addition there are numerous small local shopping areas and 
village shops, as well as other facilities such as garden centres, farm shops and shops attached to 
petrol stations. 

 
2.23. The borough contains many historic buildings and sites including the historic market towns of 

Tewkesbury and Winchcombe. There are over 1,800 listed buildings, 14 conservation areas, 54 
scheduled monuments and the registered site of the 1471 battle of Tewkesbury as well as many 
thousands of undesignated heritage assets, both buildings and archaeological sites, many of which 
are of equivalent significance to designated heritage sites. 

 
Flooding 

 
2.24. Flooding is a significant issue in the borough, both from rivers and watercourses overflowing their 

banks and also from surface water collecting following heavy rainfall. The Environment Agency’s 
(2012) Flood Map estimates that around 13% of land in Tewkesbury borough has a one in 100 (or 
greater) risk of flooding each year. This is predominantly, although not exclusively, in the western 
area of the borough, which comprises the Severn and Avon rivers as well as a large number of 
smaller watercourses. 

 
Transport 

 
2.25. Transport networks in Tewkesbury borough face increased pressure from new developments, 

demographic changes, such as an ageing population, and the general growth in travel and traffic. 
If left un-addressed this could hamper economic growth, lead to an increase in carbon emissions 
and harm the enjoyment and quality of life of those living, working and visiting the borough.  

 
2.26. The M5 motorway, which passes through the borough from north to south is a dominant feature 

of the strategic highway network and access to and from the four junctions within the borough can 
have knock on effect for other adjoining strategic routes, such as: The A46 from junction 9 to Aston 
Cross; the A4019 from junction 10 to Cheltenham and the A38; the A40 from junction 11 to 
Cheltenham and Gloucester; and the A417 from junction 11a at Brockworth to Gloucester and 
Birdlip. 

 
2.27. The Local Transport Plan for Gloucestershire recognises that “providing public transport in rural 

areas” such as Tewkesbury borough “is expensive and it is difficult to serve dispersed communities 
with conventional public transport services” and this is experienced in the borough with regular 
services between: Tewkesbury, Cheltenham and Gloucester; Cheltenham and Bishops Cleeve, 
Gotherington, Gretton, Southam and Winchcombe; and Gloucester and Churchdown, Brockworth 
and Cheltenham but there are fewer and less regular services to many of the more rural 
settlements within the borough. This is of particular concern as the impact of an ageing population 
generally increases the demand for public transport provision. 

89



 
14 

 

 
2.28. Tewkesbury itself is recognised in the Local Transport Plan as having a reasonable network of on 

and off road cycle routes and a number of routes of the National Cycle Network pass through the 
borough. 

 
2.29. Within the borough, Ashchurch for Tewkesbury Rail Station serves the Northway and Tewkesbury 

areas and beyond, and is served by trains to and from Birmingham, Worcester, Gloucester, Bristol 
and Cardiff though frequency is an issue that is raised later in the Tewkesbury Borough Plan. 

 
2.30. The borough also has areas of high heavy goods vehicle activity, which can cause problems on 

specific routes, for example: To and from the M5 motorway at junction 9 from Ashchurch Industrial 
Estate, Northway Trading Estate, Tewkesbury Business Park and Newtown Industrial Estate. 

 
A vision for our borough 

 
2.31. The first step in shaping Tewkesbury Borough Plan’s content is to set out our aspirations (or ‘vision’) 

for the future. We then need a clear set of short statements (or ‘objectives’) that provide the means 
of getting us to our desired end result.  

 
Creating the vision and objectives 

 
2.32. The plan aims to be aspirational but it also needs to be realistic. The National Planning Policy 

Framework requires a positive approach be taken in line with the requirements of sustainable 
development, which is based on three dimensions: environmental, economic and social. 
Additionally, the plan can only include policies that provide a clear indication of how a decision 
maker should react to a development proposal. When framing a vision for our borough we need 
to be mindful of these requirements.  

 
2.33. There was a suggestion, during the scoping stage consultation, that we should keep the vision 

simple and locally focussed. As a result, rather than setting out a statement that presents a long 
wish list of issues to address, we have focussed on what we want the borough to be like by 2031. 
The vision statement therefore focusses on the positive aspects of the borough and a sub-
paragraph identifies location specific objectives and other important factors. The vision is: 

 
“Tewkesbury borough, a place where a good quality of life is open to all, where our 
environment and heritage assets are cherished, and where a thriving economy supports 
healthy and happy communities.” 
 
This will be achieved by ensuring that development is directed away from land at risk of 
flooding and high quality landscapes/heritage assets and towards locations where the mix 
of land uses and proximity to existing facilities minimises travel distances and maximises 
transport choice. 
 

2.34. The vision statement incorporates the three dimensions of sustainable development as a whole 
through its use of the phrase ‘good quality of life open to all’, which can be broken down into: 

90



 
15 

 

 
The terms ‘environment and heritage assets’ encompass factors such as the countryside, 
climate change, rivers and also include things such as listed buildings, conservation areas, 
scheduled monuments, registered battlefields and historic parks and gardens. 

 
‘Thriving economy’ relates to industry/business, retail shopping, tourist activities and 
employment. 

 
‘Healthy and happy communities’ includes social interests such as health (physical and 
mental), homes, recreation, cultural and religious needs. 

 
2.35. We realise that certain specific issues are not explicitly mentioned in the vision statement, such as 

the provision of infrastructure, retailing, tourism, flooding, and education. Instead, the plan details 
these within the objectives for delivering the vision are the place where these matters will be 
addressed. 

 
Objectives and key principles 

 
2.36. A set of objectives have been developed that will enable us to meet the vision. These have been 

used to create policies and to help allocate land that will turn the vision into reality. The objectives 
below are based on those set out in the Joint Core Strategy, and takes into account the previous 
Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011, updated to reflect comments from the Regulation 18 
consultations. All of the objectives contribute to improving the quality of life for all and achieving 
sustainable growth and development. The notion of a ‘connected borough’ is referenced in relation 
to objective three but could be applied across multiple objectives. 

 
2.37. The objectives for the Tewkesbury Borough Plan relate to the following issues:  

 
1.  To implement the housing and economic development intentions of the Council Plan, and 

ensure a sufficient and wide choice of quality homes are available for all who choose to live in 
the Borough (including market housing, affordable housing, sheltered accommodation and 
Gypsy and Traveller community pitches/sites). This criterion incorporates flexibility in terms 
of the ‘choice’ it seeks to provide and also includes provision of the necessary infrastructure; 

 
2.  To facilitate the reasonable development aspirations of residents and businesses in the 

borough, including providing opportunities for small and medium sized builders and those 
wishing to build their own homes, and supporting appropriate windfall sites through policies 
and decisions, whilst ensuring essential protection against harmful development;  

 
3.  Promoting sustainable transport (including public transport, cycling, walking, issues around 

freight transport and use of the private motor vehicle). This also includes the provision of 
infrastructure and issues of connectivity within and between modes of transport; 

 

91



 
16 

 

4.  Promoting healthy connected communities (including recreation, culture and religious needs 
[and closely linked to active modes of transport]). This also includes the provision of 
infrastructure; 

5.  Supporting a prosperous and competitive urban and rural economy (including employment 
and businesses in both existing settlements and rural areas). This also includes the provision 
of infrastructure; 

 
6.  Sustaining rural settlements and enhancing the vitality of rural communities, recognising that 

housing is essential to ensure the retention and development of local services and community 
facilities; 

 
7.  Conserving and enhancing the built and natural environment (including heritage assets, urban 

and architectural design, landscapes and biodiversity), steering development away from 
protected areas and towards those identified as being suitable for growth, making the most 
effective use of land by giving priority to brownfield sites where available and appropriate, 
and developing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future 
pressures; and 

 
8.  Meeting the challenges of climate change and resource conservation (including managing 

flood risk, energy efficiency, renewable energy and waste minimisation).  
 

The National Planning Policy Framework 
 

2.38. Each of the ‘themes’ set out in the National Planning Policy Framework will need to be covered in 
the plan. We also need to consider if there are any matters that are not covered here that should 
be included as well. The National Planning Policy Framework covers the following ‘themes’: 

 
• Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
• Building a strong, competitive economy. 
• Ensuring the vitality of town centres. 
• Promoting healthy and safe communities. 
• Promoting sustainable transport. 
• Supporting high quality communications  
• Making effective use of land 
• Achieving well-designed places.  
• Protecting Green Belt land. 
• Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change. 
• Conserving and enhancing the natural environment. 
• Conserving and enhancing the historic environment. 
• Facilitating the sustainable use of minerals 

 
 

Assessing and delivering the plan 
 

2.39. The plan must be assessed using a range of methods, including: 

92



 
17 

 

• Sustainability Appraisal (to ensure the plan’s policies and proposals are in line with economic, 
social and environmental objectives); 

• Appropriate Assessment (for particularly important designated wildlife habitats); 
• Strategic flood risk assessment (to ensure that proposed development will not increase flood 

risk on its own or cumulatively with existing development either on the site or elsewhere); 
• Heritage assets (to consider the protection and conservation of buildings, their settings and 

wider areas) Audit; 
• Landscape Assessment; 
• Biodiversity Assessment; 
• Viability (economic delivery) Appraisal; and 
• Examination in Public (by an independent planning inspector). 

 
Monitoring and appraisal 

 
2.40. Our objectives will need to be specific and measurable so that we can monitor our progress 

towards achieving them. Consequently, specific criteria will need to be attributed to each objective. 
These will be developed as the plan progresses and will be linked to the sustainability appraisal 
work. 

 
We will assess the plan using the following tools: 
 

• Sustainability appraisal. 
• Appropriate assessment (habitats). 
• Historic and natural environment (assets, buildings, landscape, biodiversity, flooding). 
• Viability, including infrastructure provision. 
• Public examination by an independent planning inspector. 

 

  

93



 
18 

 

3. Housing 
 

Introduction 

3.1. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) supported by National Planning Practice Guidance 

(PPG) sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how they are expected to be 

applied. The National Planning Policy Framework requires us, as Local Planning Authority, to assess 

the need for housing in our area, plan to meet that need and identify a supply of land to meet that 

need over 5, 10 and 15 year periods.  

 

3.2. The Joint Core Strategy (JCS) sets out the over-arching strategy for growth throughout Cheltenham, 

Gloucester and Tewkesbury up until 2031. It has identified the objectively assessed need for 

Tewkesbury borough and the spatial strategy to accommodate that level of development. The JCS 

identifies key locations for growth and sets out strategic policies to guide future development.  

 

3.3. The JCS identifies a settlement hierarchy as the basis for the strategy for delivering growth targets, 

derived from the objectively assessed need for housing, in the most sustainable manner possible.  

The JCS settlement hierarchy for Tewkesbury Borough includes Tewkesbury Town as the top tiered 

settlement followed by the two Rural Service Centres and then the 12 Service Villages.  The Rural 

Service Centre and Service Village classification was informed by the JCS Settlement Audit (2017).  

These are the locations at which housing land allocations will be made through the Tewkesbury 

Borough Plan.  

  

3.4. Further to the planned growth at Tewkesbury town, the Rural Service Centres and Service Villages, 

the Council also recognises that some opportunities for small scale new housing will be necessary 

in order to support the vitality of communities at other rural settlements across the Borough, in 

accordance with the NPPF, and meet individual development aspirations.  Housing supply and 

affordability can often be a problem in the rural areas to the extent where new generations are 

forced to move away from the communities in which they grew up and have family ties.  This can 

cause communities to stagnate.  Furthermore, the PPG recognises that a thriving rural community 

in a living, working countryside depends, in part, on retaining local services and community 

facilities such as schools, local shops, cultural venues, public houses and places of worship.  The 

closure of essential services and facilities in the rural areas is becoming a problem within 

Tewkesbury Borough and the Council recognises that some rural housing is essential to ensure 

94



 
19 

 

their viability. As such, the NPPF states that planning policies should identify opportunities for 

villages to grow and thrive to support local services and recognises that where there are groups of 

smaller settlements, development in one village may support the services in a village nearby.  At 

the same time however it is essential that the levels of rural housing growth are manageable and 

sustainable in order to protect existing communities and the rural landscape and avoid harmful 

over development. 

 

3.5. To achieve these objectives this plan sets out the Council’s preferred policy approach for enabling 

appropriate small scale housing development at those settlements not defined within the 

settlement hierarchy.  A specific site allocation is also made at Forthampton to meet community 

aspirations to enable a small amount of new housing within the settlement to support its vitality.   

 

3.6. The following list sets out the settlement hierarchy for Tewkesbury Borough.  

 

Settlement tier Settlements 

Market town Tewkesbury town area1 

Rural Service Centres Bishop’s Cleeve 

Winchcombe 

Service Villages Alderton 

Coombe Hill 

Gotherington 

Highnam 

Maisemore 

Minsterworth 

Norton 

Shurdington 

Stoke Orchard 

Toddington (inc. New Town) 

Twyning 

Woodmancote 

 

                                                           
1 The Tewkesbury Town area is defined as the wider built up area of Tewkesbury including Wheatpieces, 
Newtown, Northway and Ashchurch 

95



 
20 

 

3.7. In addition to the settlement hierarchy there are a number of settlements within the Borough that 

are closely associated with Gloucester or Cheltenham.  These settlements do not fit into the 

Borough’s settlement hierarchy as in strategic planning terms they are considered to form part of 

the urban fringe of Gloucester and Cheltenham.  They do however represent sustainable 

settlements possessing a good range of services and good accessibility to Gloucester and 

Cheltenham.  A settlement boundary is defined for these urban fringe settlements but the plan 

does not propose to allocate land for housing development further to the Strategic Allocations 

within the Joint Core Strategy.  

 

Urban fringe settlements 

Glouceser Brockworth 

Churchdown 

Hucclecote 

Innsworth 

Longford 

 

Cheltenham Uckington 

 

 

3.8. The housing policies within the Tewkesbury Borough Plan aim to respond to these identified issues 

where appropriate to do so. 

 

Policy Framework 

3.9. The NPPF states that, to support the Government’s objective of significantly boosting the supply of 

homes, it is important that a sufficient amount and variety of land can come forward where it is 

needed, that the needs of groups with specific housing requirements are addressed and that land 

with permission is developed without unnecessary delay. 

 

3.10. The Joint Core Strategy provides strategic level guidance for Gloucester City Council, Cheltenham 

Borough Council and Tewkesbury Borough Council. Policy SA1 identifies where the larger housing 

and employment development will be and Policy SD10 directs development according to the 

settlement hierarchy established in Policy SP2. Policy SD11 covers the mix of housing, space and 

accessibility standards and requirements of specialist accommodation and Policy SD12 sets 

96



 
21 

 

requirements for Affordable Housing expected of developers.  Policy SP1 establishes the 

objectively assessed need for development, in this case housing and Policy SP2 Identifies the 

settlement hierarchy that puts the Key Urban Areas of Cheltenham and Gloucester at the top, the 

Market Town of Tewkesbury next and then ‘Rural Service Centres’ and ‘Service Villages’ 

respectively.  In addition the following policies will be applied: 

 
Policy RES1 Housing Site Allocations 
 
New housing development will be provided at Tewkesbury Town, the Rural Service Centres and 

Service Villages in order to deliver the scale and distribution proposed in Policies SP1 and SP2 of the 

Joint Core Strategy insofar as they relate to the need for development in Tewkesbury Borough outside 

strategic allocations, proposed in the JCS. Some new housing development will also be provided at 

Forthampton in order to address a locally identified need and to support the vitality of the community. 

New development should make provision for all infrastructure required as a result of the 

development. Proposals on the Housing Site Allocations will be expected to address the Site Specific 

Development Principles set out at Table 1 where applicable. 

In all cases development must comply with the relevant criteria set out at Policy RES5.     

The following sites are proposed to be allocated for residential development within the Tewkesbury 

Borough Plan to 2031:  

Tewkesbury Town Preferred Site options Site area Site capacity* 

Tewkesbury A Land at Odessa Farm, Tewkesbury 12ha 100  

B Land adjacent to John Moore Primary 

School, Wheatpieces 

0.9ha 30 

C Former MAFF Site, Tewkesbury 0.5ha 40 

 

Rural Service Centre Preferred Site options Site area Site capacity 

Bishop’s 

Cleeve 

A Land adjacent Breaker’s Yard 1.4ha 26 

B Land at Homelands Farm 2.2ha 35 

Winchcombe A Land off Harvey’s Lane 3.5ha 45 

B Land off Delavale Road 5.8ha 75 

 

97



 
22 

 

Service Village Preferred Site options Site area Site capacity 

Coombe Hill A Land at junction of A38/A4019  4.9ha 50 

B Land adjacent to the Swan PH 0.9ha 26 

Gotherington A Land to the north of Malleson Road (GNDP 

2/1) 

0.86ha 6 

B Land to the south of Malleson Road (GNDP 

2/2) 

3.74ha 50 

C Land to the north of Gretton Road (GNDP 

2/3) 

1.25ha - 

Maisemore  A Land at Bell House Farm 0.7ha 15 

B Land to the south of Rectory Farm 3.43ha 28 

Norton A Land at Wainlode Lane 1.58ha 22 

Shurdington A Land at corner of Badgeworth Lane and A46  2.2ha 50 

B Land north of Leckhampton Lane 1.2 ha 20 

C Garage site at Harrison Road 0.57ha - 

D Land to south of Badgeworth Lane 5.9ha 110 

Toddington A Land at B4077  4.3ha 33 

B Land adjacent to Pheasant Public House 1.6ha 25 

Woodmancote A Land adjacent Oxbutts Caravan park 2.3ha 60* 

 

Other allocations Site area Site capacity 

A Land at corner of Bishops Walk and School Lane, Forthampton 1.55ha 10 

 

Notes 

*All site capacities are an approximate.  Detailed design proposals may indicate that greater or fewer 

dwellings can be accommodated on a site.  Appropriate site capacities have been determined as part 

of the site assessment process set out at the Tewkesbury Borough Plan Housing Background Paper.  

Capacities for sites already benefiting from planning permission are based on the permitted scheme.  

Capacities for sites allocated within a Neighbourhood Plan are based on the allocated number of 

dwellings.  An appropriate site capacity for Shurdington Site C must be determined through detailed 

site proposals given the constrained location of this site amidst a high density residential area.   

98



 
23 

 

*Woodmancote Site A is proposed to be allocated for a mobile homes development (permanent 

occupation) and thus its capacity is based on the number of mobile home units. 

 

Table 1 – Policy RES1 Site Specific Development Principles 

Tewkesbury A • All built development should be located to the north and north-west of 

the site in order to limit intrusion into open countryside.  

• Public open space should be provided to the south of the site; in order to 

provide a transition between built development and open countryside; 

and to the east of the site in order to avoid development in Flood Zones 

2 and 3.  All built development must be located in Flood Zone 1. 

• The proposal should respond to the landscape setting and incorporate 

connected green infrastructure. Development should front open space. 

The edge of the development should be loose and incorporate open 

space in order to aid the transition between countryside and built 

development. 

• The proposal must explore and implement opportunities to deliver flood 

alleviation measures on site with the aim of reducing the risk of flooding 

from the River Swilgate further downstream  

• The proposal should address the site specific FRA requirements set out 

within the Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (November 2017) 

B • Vehicular access to the site should be provided from the Wheatpieces 

link road (running to the south of the site) unless shown not to be feasible 

for highway/pedestrian safety reasons     

C • Development on this site should be for 100% affordable housing and/or 

a C2 care home for the elderly 

• Any proposal should make efficient use of the site by achieving a high 

density development  

• The proposal should seek to retain and enable the long term protection 

of the mature trees on the site subject to Tree Preservation Order (No. 

229).  If the loss of the trees cannot be avoided, suitable replacement 

planting will be required within the site.   

99



 
24 

 

• In accordance with Policy NAT1, proposals should provide measures to 

avoid, mitigate against or, as a last resort, compensate for any adverse 

effects on the adjacent Key Wildlife Site. 

• The proposal should address the site specific FRA requirements set out 

within the Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (November 2017) 

Bishops Cleeve B • Proposals on this site should be well integrated with the adjacent housing 

development to the south and west 

• A landscaped green edge should be provided to the north of the site; 

corresponding to, and providing visual and functional connectivity with, 

the green space in the adjacent development (Homelands 2) 

• Vehicular access should be from the adjacent development to the south 

unless shown not to be feasible for highway/pedestrian safety reasons 

• Pedestrian and cycle connectivity with Gotherington Lane and the 

adjacent development to the south and east should be achieved 

Winchcombe A 

+ 

B 

• These sites should be planned together to form a cohesive development.  

Proposals must explore and implement opportunities  for a vehicular and 

pedestrian access route to be provided between the two sites, unless this 

is demonstrated to be unacceptable for landscape, ecological and/or 

flood risk reasons  

• The development of these sites should be landscape led.  Suitable 

developable areas on site must be informed by a Landscape and Visual 

Impact Assessment.  Development on prominent slopes should be 

avoided and, in all cases, built development, supporting infrastructure, 

open space and community facilities should be located below the 115 

metre contour line as identified in the Winchcombe Town Landscape and 

Visual Sensitivity Study (Toby Jones Associates, November 2014).  The 

development should provide a low density loose edge which 

incorporates open space and landscaping to aid the transition between 

countryside and built development. Development should front open 

space in order to achieve a positive relationship between the town and 

the surrounding landscape    

• Proposals on these sites should address the site specific FRA 

requirements set out within the Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 

(November 2017) and its Addendum (2018).  

 

100



 
25 

 

 

Coombe Hill A 

+ 

B 

• The development of these sites presents a place making opportunity.  

The Council will expect the sites to provide well designed, active 

frontages along the A38 and A4019 so to enliven the street scene and 

create a sense of place.  Accessible public open space should be provided 

on Site A for use by the wider community. Enhanced pedestrian 

connectivity should be provided between the two sites and the services 

and public transport facilities within the village.  The Council will expect 

high quality landscaping throughout the sites.  The opportunity for a 

landmark feature on the prominent corner location at junction of A38 

and A4019 should be explored and implemented 

• The density of development on both sites should be relatively low, and 

the layouts should be landscape led, so to respect the rural nature of the 

location and aid assimilation within the wider landscape  

• The design and layout of development on Site A should address the 

relationship between the proposed dwellings and the adjacent petrol 

station and car wash facility, so to avoid adverse amenity impacts on 

future occupiers.  

Gotherington - The development of the site options at Gotherington should be in 

accordance with the policies and proposals within the Gotherington 

Neighbourhood Development Plan 2011-2031 

Shurdington A • As part of any access proposals from Badgeworth Lane, parking 

arrangements must be provided for Shurdington Primary School to 

ensure adequate and safe two-way traffic movements along Badgworth 

Lane, particularly during school drop off/pick up times. Proposals must 

consider the provision of new school parking spaces on site as part of the 

development in the first instance. The widening of Badgeworth Lane 

adjacent to the school, with formally marked parking spaces, could be 

considered as an alternative unless the ecological impacts on the existing 

established hedgerow boundary are deemed to be unacceptable 

• The site should be planned together with Site D to form a cohesive 

development.  Proposals must explore and implement opportunities  for 

101



 
26 

 

a vehicular and pedestrian access route to be provided between the two 

sites and connecting any separate access points to Badgeworth Lane  

• The proposal should address the relevant site specific Green Belt 

mitigation guidelines set out at Appendix 1 of the Part 2 (Partial) Green 

Belt Review (LUC, July 2017) 

B • The development of this site should address the site specific Green Belt 

mitigation guidelines set out at Appendix 1 of the Part 2 (Partial) Green 

Belt Review (LUC, July 2017) 

C • Development on this site should be for 100% affordable housing 

 D • This site should be planned together with Site A to form a cohesive 

development.  Proposals must explore and implement opportunities  for 

a vehicular and pedestrian access route to be provided between the two 

sites and connecting any separate access points to Badgeworth Lane  

• Public open space should form an integral part of the site layout across 

the site 

• The proposal should address the relevant site specific Green Belt 

mitigation guidelines set out at Appendix 1 of the Part 2 (Partial) Green 

Belt Review (LUC, July 2017) 

Toddington B • Proposals on this site should be landscape led in order to aid assimilation 

into the surrounding landscape and filter long distance views from the 

AONB.  Existing trees and hedges along the southern and eastern site 

boundaries should be retained and reinforced (where necessary), and 

comprehensive new tree and hedge planting should be provided 

throughout the interior of the site 

Woodmancote A • These sites (Site A1 and A2) represent an opportunity for the expansion 

of the adjacent mobile home park.  The sites should form an integral part 

of the mobile home park and should be accessed from within it   

• All existing trees (including those along the site boundaries) should be 

retained, and new planting should be provided, in order to screen the 

sites from views from within the AONB   

• These sites are not considered to be suitable for the development of 

conventional dwelling houses due to the identified access constraints and 

sensitivity of the landscape setting  

102



 
27 

 

  

Forthampton A • In assessing proposals on this site careful consideration will be given to 

the design and siting of the development and its effect on the character 

of the settlement, its historic environment and its rural landscape setting 

 

Reasoned Justification 

3.11. As proposed in Policy SP2 of the Joint Core Strategy, to meet the development needed in 

Tewkesbury borough for new homes during the plan period to 2031. The requirement is a minimum 

of 9,899 new homes between 2011-2031. 

 

3.12. At least 7,445 dwellings (as of April 2017) will be provided through existing commitments, 

development in Tewkesbury Town in line with its role as a market town, smaller scale development 

meeting local needs at Rural Service Centres and Service Villages, and sites covered by any 

Memoranda or Agreement.  

 
3.13. Policy SP2 does not identify a specific housing requirement for Tewkesbury Town.  It should be 

noted however that, as of June 2017, Tewkesbury Borough has an identified shortfall of 2,455 

dwellings against the total JCS housing requirement.  Whilst this is to be primarily addressed by 

strategic allocations at the Tewkesbury Town area through a JCS plan review, the smaller scale 

(non-strategic) sites identified within the Borough Plan will have a role to play in contributing 

towards addressing the shortfall.  Tewkesbury is the top tiered settlement within the Borough’s 

settlement hierarchy based on its high level of services, facilities, local employment opportunities 

and good transport links. The Tewkesbury Town area is therefore the main focus for significant 

new housing growth in the Borough.  

 
3.14. As such, this Preferred Options version of the Borough Plan includes all non-strategic scale sites 

within and adjacent to the Tewkesbury town area that are considered to be suitable options for 

allocation in accordance with the site selection criteria set out at the Housing Background Paper 

(HBP).  This plan does not however include housing site options located at Ashchurch and 

Northway. Housing and employment growth within this wider area is to be planned strategically 

as part of an immediate review of the Joint Core Strategy.  It is important that this plan does not 

prejudice the outcome of that strategic planning exercise which will allocate sites for housing and 

employment growth.   

  

103



 
28 

 

3.15. Policy SP2 apportions part of the Borough’s overall housing requirement to the Rural Service 

Centres and Service Villages.  The Rural Service Centres will accommodate 1,860 new homes and 

the Service Villages will accommodate 880 new homes to 2031.  Much of this development has 

already been committed. Based on the data as of June 2018, the balance to be found is 14 dwellings 

at the Rural Service Centres and 89 dwellings at the Service Villages.  

 

3.16. The level of development for the rural areas reflect the level of development over the previous 

plan period, while providing a boost to the overall supply of housing in line with the National 

Planning Policy Framework.  

 

3.17. The JCS does not disaggregate the housing requirement for the Rural Service Centres and Service 

Villages and apportion it to each settlement.  It does however provide a framework for this 

distribution process to be followed in the preparation of the Borough Plan, with Policy SP2 

requiring that the levels of development for the Rural Service Centres and Service Villages should 

be proportional to their:  

• Size (number of houses) 

• Function (availability of services) 

• Proximity and accessibility to Cheltenham and Gloucester (distance by road, public 

transport and bicycle)  

3.18. This distribution process must also take into account social, economic and environmental factors 

that may impact upon the ability of settlements to accommodate the amount of development that 

has been calculated.  The methodology for the distribution of housing development within 

Tewkesbury Borough is set out within the HBP. 

 

3.19. In addition to the allocations at Tewkesbury town, the Rural Service Centres and Service Villages in 

accordance with Policy SP2, one site allocation is proposed at Forthampton whereby there are 

community aspirations to enable a small amount of new housing within the settlement to support 

its vitality.  The site allocation featured at Policy RES1 has been put forward by a local landowner 

with the support of the Parish Council.  Whilst allocating land for housing at Forthampton does not 

feature as part of the JCS spatial strategy set out at Policy SP2, in accordance with Policy SP10 there 

can be other specific exceptions/circumstances in the district plans where housing will be 

permitted.  In this instance the site at Forthampton is a locally driven proposal which, in the spirit 

of the Localism Act, is considered to be appropriate in principle.  The site is however located within 

104



 
29 

 

a sensitive context within the setting of the Conservation Area and numerous Listed Buildings.  

Forthampton also has a strong rural character with a low density, sporadic development set within 

open countryside, part of which lies within the Landscape Protection Zone.  It is essential therefore 

that proposals on this site are sympathetic to the character of the settlement and its setting.  

Further information on the Council’s approach to this matter is set out within the Housing 

Background Paper.   

  

3.20. The site options listed above for which capacities can be identified would provide up to 856 

dwellings in total.  It should however be noted that 148 of these dwellings are on sites that already 

benefit from planning permission.  This leaves a remaining uncommitted supply (i.e. sites that don’t 

already have planning permission) of 708 dwellings.  Of these uncommitted sites, 181 dwellings 

would be located at the Rural Service Centres and 347 dwellings at the Service Villages.  This would 

produce a total supply (plan period commitments plus proposed allocations) of 2027 new dwellings 

at the Rural Service Centres and 1138 new dwellings at the Service Villages.  Further to this the 

proposed allocations would produce 170 (uncommitted) new dwellings at Tewkesbury Town and 

10 new dwellings at Forthampton. 

       

3.21. It is acknowledged that the preferred site options for the Rural Service Centres and Service Villages 

will collectively provide in excess of the remaining SP2 requirement.  This approach is however 

considered to be justified for the following reasons.  Firstly, it should be noted that the SP2 

requirement is not intended to represent a limit to housing development at the Rural Service 

Centres and Service Villages and indeed this is reflected in revised SP2 wording in the Adoption 

Version of the JCS.  Secondly, it is important to identify a sufficient range of small, readily 

developable sites so to enable the Council to provide a continuous supply of deliverable sites to 

maintain 5 year’s worth of housing land throughout the plan period.  Thirdly, it is important to 

provide flexibility within the plan so it can adapt to rapid change (for example non-forecasted 

demographic changes and consequent changes to housing requirements) and prevent it becoming 

out of date.  

 
3.22. At the same time however, it is important to ensure that the levels of housing growth identified 

for each settlement are balanced alongside the size, function and accessibility of the settlement, 

whilst avoiding adverse environmental and social impacts (for example landscape harm and harm 

to the social wellbeing of the community).  Careful consideration has been given to the levels of 

housing growth identified for each settlement within the HBP and the site options featured within 

105



 
30 

 

this document are considered to represent a balanced, sustainable approach to the Borough’s 

development. 

        

3.23. In order to address the constraints and issues identified in the HBP and associated evidence base 

documents, site specific development principles have been defined for those housing site 

allocations that do not already benefit from planning permission.  The site specific principles should 

be addressed in addition to the general development principles set out at Policy RES6 of this plan, 

the Design Requirements at Policy SD4 of the Joint Core Strategy and all other relevant policies 

within the Development Plan and its associated Supplementary Planning Guidance.    

     

Policy RES2 Settlement Boundaries 
 
Within the defined settlement boundaries of the Tewkesbury Town Area, the Rural Service Centres, 

the Service Villages and the Urban Fringe Settlements (which are shown on the policies map) the 

principle of residential development is acceptable subject to the application of all other policies in the 

Local Plan.   

In all cases development must comply with the relevant criteria set out at Policy RES5.     

Reasoned Justification 

3.24. The NPPF advises that, to promote the development of a good mix of sites, local planning 

authorities should (inter alia) support the development of windfall sites through their policies and 

decisions – giving great weight to the benefits of using suitable sites within existing settlements for 

homes. The NPPF goes on to advise at paragraph 78 that to promote sustainable development in 

rural areas, housing should be located where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural 

communities.  Planning policies and decisions should avoid the development of isolated homes in 

the countryside unless certain circumstances apply.  

 

3.25. This advice is reflected through the JCS approach to residential development (policies SP2 and 

SD10) which generally seeks to direct significant new development to the main urban centres and 

restrict new development in the open countryside.  Policy SD10 does however state that, outside 

of allocated sites, housing development will be permitted where it is infilling within the existing 

built up areas of Tewkesbury Borough’s towns and villages as well as any other specific exceptions 

or circumstances defined in district plans.  

106



 
31 

 

 

3.26. The settlements to which Policy RES2 relates vary in terms of their size, accessibility and service 

provision (as reflected by their rank in the settlement hierarchy) but are in all cases considered to 

be suitable location for new housing developments that are appropriate to their size and function 

and compatible with their character and amenity.   

 

3.27. Policies RES2 to RES4 set out the Borough Council’s approach to the location of new residential 

development and should be considered alongside Policy SD10 of the JCS and the advice within the 

NPPF.     

 

Policy RES3 New Housing Outside Settlement Boundaries 
 
Outside of the defined settlement boundaries (identified on the Policies Map) the principle of new 

residential development will be considered acceptable where development being proposed consists 

of: 

1. The reuse of a redundant or disused permanent building (subject to Policy RES7)  

2. The sub-division of an existing dwelling into two or more self-contained residential units 

(subject to Policy RES8) 

3. Very small scale development at rural settlements  in accordance with Policy RES4 

4. A replacement dwelling (subject to Policy RES9) 

5. A rural exception site for affordable housing (subject to Policy RES6) 

6. Dwellings essential for rural workers to live permanently at or near their place of work in 

the countryside (subject to Policy AGR3) 

7. A site that has been allocated through the Development Plan or involves development 

through local initiatives including Community Right to Build Orders and Neighbourhood 

Development Orders. 

 

Reasoned Justification 

3.28. Within the rural areas (i.e. those parts of the Borough located outside of defined settlement 

boundaries) a restrictive approach is required to new residential development consistent with the 

advice at paragraph 79 of the NPPF and Policy SD10 of the JCS.  Policy RES3 sets out the Council’s 

approach to new residential development within the rural areas and should be read alongside the 

advice within the NPPF.  Policy RES3 is however supplemented by a number of criteria based 

107



 
32 

 

policies (RES4-RES9) to ensure resulting developments are either not isolated or present special 

circumstances in accordance with the advice on rural housing within the NPPF.   

 
Policy RES4 New housing at other rural settlements  
 

To support the vitality of rural communities and the continued availability of services and facilities in 

the rural areas, very small-scale residential development will be acceptable in principle within and 

adjacent to the built up area of other rural settlements (i.e. those not featured within the settlement 

hierarchy), except for those located in the Green Belt,  providing: 

 

a) it is of a scale that is proportionate to the size and function of the settlement and maintains 

or enhances sustainable patterns of development;  

b) it does not have an adverse cumulative impact on the settlement having regard to other 

developments permitted during the plan period;  

c) it complements the form of the settlement and is well related to existing buildings within the 

settlement; 

d) the site of the proposed development is not of significant amenity value or makes a significant 

contribution to the character and setting of the settlement in its undeveloped state; 

e) the proposal would not result in the coalescence of settlements  

 

In all cases development must comply with the relevant criteria set out at Policy RES5. Particular 

attention will be given to the effect of the development on the form, character and landscape setting 

of the settlement. 

Reasoned Justification 

3.29. Due to the generally low levels of service provision, job opportunities and public transport 

availability beyond those settlements within the hierarchy, many of the Borough’s other rural 

settlements are only suitable for very small-scale residential development. Therefore, settlement 

boundaries have not been defined around the Borough’s other rural settlements and no land has 

been specifically allocated for residential development to help meet the Borough’s objectively 

assessed needs to 2031. Any development that accrues from this source will therefore be 

'windfalls'. 

 

108



 
33 

 

3.30. Some rural settlements, however, have greater sustainability credentials than others and may, for 

example, have ‘everyday’ facilities, such as a shop/ post office, a (non-fee paying) school, and/or 

good public transport access to neighbouring service / employment centres. Availability of 

everyday facilities is important in helping to reduce unnecessary traffic movements and 

engendering a sense of community, which helps to prevent 'social isolation'. The scale of 

development that will be acceptable under this policy will therefore be very small and will be 

commensurate with the size of the settlement, the level of service provision within the settlement 

and its accessibility to nearby employment/service centres.  Careful consideration will also be given 

to the cumulative effects of development over the plan period so to avoid levels of development 

that are disproportionate to the scale, function and accessibility of the settlement, and to prevent 

piecemeal encroachment into open countryside and the consequent erosion of the Borough’s rural 

character.   

 

3.31. Proposals under this policy must also comply with the relevant requirements of Policy RES5.   The 

impact of any development on the character of the settlement and its landscape setting will be 

extremely important considerations. Care should be taken that such development, which could 

include minor infilling, does not harm open spaces or gaps that make a positive contribution to the 

character of the settlement, including views and vistas.  

 

3.32. For the avoidance of doubt, Policy RES4 does not apply to Tewkesbury town, the Urban Fringe 

Settlements, the Rural Service Centres and the Service Villages.  These settlements are subject to 

housing land allocations in the JCS and/or are proposed to be subject to allocations within this plan. 

Settlement boundaries have been defined for these settlements so to prevent further unplanned 

growth beyond that within the Development Plan.   

 

3.33. For the purpose of Policy RES4 and the application of Policy SD10 of the JCS, the Council will 

consider the built up area of the settlement to be its continuous built form as it existed at the start 

of the plan period and excluding: 

a) individual buildings or groups of dispersed buildings which are clearly detached from the 

continuous built up area of the settlement; 

b) gardens, paddocks and other undeveloped land within the curtilage of buildings on the 

edge of the settlement where land relates more to the surrounding countryside than to 

the built up area of the settlement; 

c) agricultural buildings and associated land on the edge of the settlement; and 

109



 
34 

 

d) outdoor sports and recreation facilities and other formal open spaces on the edge of the 

settlement. 

3.34. Policy RES4 does not apply to rural settlements within the Green Belt.  Proposals at such 

settlements will instead be restricted to the exceptions set out at paragraphs 145 and 146 of the 

NPPF.  All other open market housing proposals will be regarded as inappropriate development in 

the Green Belt and will only be permitted in very special circumstances.    

 

Policy RES5 New Housing Development 
 
In considering proposals for new housing development regard will be had to the following principles, 

as appropriate.  Proposals should:   

• be of a design and layout that respects the character, appearance and amenity of the 

surrounding area and is capable of being well integrated within it; 

• be of an appropriate scale having regard to the size, function and accessibility of the 

settlement and its character and amenity, unless otherwise directed by policies within the 

Development Plan;  

• where an edge of settlement site is proposed, not appear as an unacceptable intrusion into 

the countryside and retain a sense of transition between the settlement and open 

countryside; 

• not cause the unacceptable reduction of any open space (including residential gardens) 

which is important to the character and amenity of the area; 

• provide an acceptable level of amenity for the future occupiers of the proposed dwelling(s) 

and cause no unacceptable harm to the amenity of existing dwellings;  

• make provision for appropriate parking and access arrangements and not result in the loss 

or reduction of existing parking areas to the detriment of highway safety;  

• incorporate into the development any natural or built features on the site that are worthy of 

retention; 

• address any other environmental or material planning constraints relating to the site. 

 

Reasoned Justification 

3.35. Policy RES5 is intended to set out the general design and Development Management 

considerations that will normally be applicable to residential development proposals.  It is not 

110



 
35 

 

intended as a substitute to the design requirements set out at Policy SD4 of the Joint Core Strategy 

to 2031 or to absolve housing proposals from the application of all other relevant policies within 

the Development Plan, but to act as a supplementary policy providing a condensed, simplified set 

of considerations for guiding such proposals.  

 

3.36. Policy RES5 applies to all housing proposals including changes of use, subdivisions, rural exception 

sites and replacement dwellings.  It is however recognised that in some cases not all of the 

principles will be relevant.  Consideration will be required in relation to the scale, nature and 

location of each individual development proposal to determine which principles are appropriate.  

Policy RES5 is applicable to housing proposals on sites allocated in the Development Plan although 

it should be considered in the context of the site’s allocation and applied alongside any local or site 

specific policies within the respective Development Plan Documents. 

 

3.37. Examples of situations where the scale of development is directed by other policies within the 

Development Plan include proposals on allocated sites (whereby the scale of development is 

subject to an allocations policy, for example RES1) and proposals on Rural Exception Sites (whereby 

the scale of development must be based on the evidenced needs of the locality in accordance with 

RES6). 

 
Policy RES6 Rural Exception Sites 
 
1. Proposals for affordable housing development on rural exception sites will be permitted provided 

that: 

a. there is a proven local housing need which cannot be met in any other way; 

b. the scale, type and tenure of development is based on the proven needs of the site 

locality;  

c. it does not form an isolated development, has access to local facilities and public 

transport, and can be integrated into the existing community;  

d. the development is of a scale that is proportionate to the settlement in question; and  

e. the design and layout of the proposal respects the rural character of the area and can 

be satisfactorily integrated into the surrounding landscape. 

 

2. All applications must be accompanied by an up to date housing needs survey for the locality which 

demonstrates there is an unmet need within that locality for accommodation by households 

111



 
36 

 

whose needs are not met by the local housing market due to affordability (local incomes or house 

prices) or specific housing requirements such as older age or disability.  A member of each 

household is required to have either: 

a. been ordinarily resident in the locality or previously lived in the locality for 6 of the last 

12 months or 3 of the last 5 years; or 

b. has a strong family connection who have been resident in the locality for at least 5 years; 

or 

c. a demonstrable need by virtue of their employment to live in the area; or 

d. any other demonstrable need to the satisfaction of the Council. 

 

3. In all cases affordable housing units will be restricted in perpetuity to occupation by households 

with a member in housing need as defined above.  

4. Under no circumstances will schemes be permitted where the number of affordable units exceeds 

the need identified in the Housing Needs Survey. 

5. An element of market housing may be included within a rural exception scheme, to provide 

sufficient cross-subsidy to facilitate the delivery of affordable homes where viability for 100% 

affordable housing cannot be achieved and/or when there is zero or limited government and/or 

Council housing grant available. 

 

Reasoned Justification 

3.38. In the interest of flexibility the term ‘small-scale’ is not defined within this policy.  All proposals 

under this policy must however be proportionate to the size of the settlement in question and 

must be of a scale commensurate with the rural character of the area. 

  

3.39. Exception sites must meet local needs and the term ‘locality’ within RES6 means the parish in 

which the site is located and adjoining parishes.  

 

3.40. All schemes involving an element of market housing must be robustly justified through a viability 

appraisal which should highlight that the amount of any market housing included is minimised so 

that only sufficient finance is raised to provide the required cross-subsidy without leaving a residual 

profit. 

 

112



 
37 

 

3.41. For clarity, Policy RES6 applies to all areas of the Borough including those within the Green Belt. 

 

Policy RES7 - Re-use of rural buildings for residential use 
 
The re-use and conversion of redundant buildings in the rural areas (the areas located outside of 

defined settlement boundaries) for residential use will be permitted provided that: 

1. the building is worthy of retention on the basis of it being of architectural or historic merit, 

or it making a positive contribution to the rural character of the area; 

2. the building is of a substantial construction, is structurally sound and is capable of 

conversion without the need for significant new building works and/or extension; 

3. new works are of a scale, form, type and materials sympathetic to the character and 

appearance of the original building; 

4. The proposal does not result in the requirement for another building to fulfil the function of 

the original building to be converted; 

5. The proposal respects the rural character of the area and, in the case of development in 

isolated locations, leads to an enhancement to the immediate setting  

 

Reasoned Justification 

3.42. The objective of Policy RES7 is to enable the re-use and conversion of rural buildings that are of 

intrinsic conservation value, for example traditional timber framed, brick and stone built barns, 

and other buildings that make a positive contribution to the rural character of the area.  More 

modern forms of agricultural development (i.e. Dutch barns and portal framed buildings), whilst 

appropriate for their originally intended purpose, are generally not considered to be of 

architectural merit to the extent where they justify retention after they become redundant.   

Moreover, more modern forms of agricultural building are often constructed from lightweight 

sheet materials and are incapable of conversion without substantial new building works that 

tantamount to the construction of an entirely new dwelling.  It is necessary to prevent such forms 

of development within the rural areas in order to preserve the rural character of the Borough and 

avoid the proliferation of new dwellings in unsustainable rural locations. 

    

3.43. In design terms, traditional rural buildings are often characterised by their simple utilitarian 

appearance and traditional materials.  Proposals will therefore be looked at more favourably where 

they involve minimal external alteration and loss of original fabric.  New doors and windows should 

113



 
38 

 

normally be based on existing openings.  Any new openings should be kept to a minimum and 

should reflect existing fenestration patterns. New windows and door openings should preferably 

be located on less conspicuous elevations away from public view.  Large unbroken roof slopes are 

often a characteristic feature of agricultural buildings and new roof openings should be avoided 

where possible.  Some alteration of roofs may be allowed, but only to a limited degree and on less 

important slopes. Flush fitting conservation roof lights that maintain the plane of roof will normally 

be required.  Where minor new building works are required (i.e. minor repairs to brickwork or 

roofing), existing materials should be reused.  Where this is not possible reclaimed materials should 

be used that match those of the existing building in form, colour and texture as far as reasonably 

possible. 

      

3.44. Harm to the character of the building and its rural setting can also result from new driveways, car 

parking areas, boundary treatments and domestic paraphernalia.  Care must be taken in the design 

and layout of such features.  Hard surfaces should have a naturalised appearance. Formal drives 

and tarmac surfaces should be avoided. Any enclosed private areas should be carefully sited and 

contained, particularly in relation to public views and the surrounding landscape. New walls or 

planting, which can be used to screen parking and garden areas, must follow the local vernacular.  

 

3.45. Extensions or new outbuildings will not normally be permitted, particularly where these would 

involve alien domestic features that would detract from the simple, utilitarian appearance of 

traditional buildings.    

 
Policy RES8 Sub division of existing dwellings 
 
Proposals for the sub-division of existing dwellings into two or more self-contained residential units 

will be permitted providing: 

1. Adequate internal accommodation is provided in accordance with the Council’s adopted 

housing space standards (Policy DES1)  

2. Where proposals relate to Listed Buildings, the character, appearance and significance of the 

designated heritage asset is sustained or enhanced in accordance with policy HER2 

3. Where proposals are located outside defined settlement boundaries, the proposal does not 

involve significant new extensions.  Minor extensions may be permitted only where essential 

in order for the new units to achieve the required internal space standards 

4. Any proposed extensions or alterations are acceptable in accordance with Policy RES10 

114



 
39 

 

5. The number of new residential units resulting from the proposal is commensurate with the 

sustainability of the site location having regard to its relationship with the Plan’s settlement 

hierarchy and its accessibility to shops, services and facilities, unless outweighed by wider 

sustainability objectives  

 

Reasoned justification 

3.46. The sub division and intensification of existing dwellings can provide an additional supply of new 

housing by making efficient use of the existing housing stock.  Sub division proposals can also 

provide for smaller units, including for single person households, for which a need is identified in 

the Strategic Housing Market Assessment.  At the same time however it is important to limit the 

creation of new residential units in unsustainable locations and avoid issues associated with the 

intensification of residential use including cramped, substandard living conditions.  It is considered 

necessary to restrict the scale of extensions proposed as part of subdivision proposals in the rural 

areas where this would create additional residential units over and above those utilising existing 

floor space, as this would act to circumvent the objective of Policy RES3 to restrict new housing 

development in the countryside.  Similarly, it is considered necessary to ensure that proposals 

under this policy do not result in unsustainable patterns of development that may result from large 

scale subdivision proposals in isolated locations (for example the subdivision of a large isolated 

country house to multiple flats).  It is accepted however that there may in some cases be wider 

sustainability objectives that justify a proposed quantum of development (for example viability 

considerations in relation to the restoration of historic buildings for residential use). 

 

3.47. Subdivision proposals involving internal alterations to Listed Buildings will normally require Listed 

Building Consent in addition to planning permission for the intensification of use.  Such proposals 

will be considered in relation to policy HER2.  Proposals involving alterations to Locally Important 

Heritage Assets will be considered on their merits in accordance with Policy HER5. 

  

3.48. In considering proposals involving the conversion of domestic outbuildings (including garages) to 

create new residential units regard will be had to whether the proposal is likely to necessitate 

subsequent proposals for new outbuildings to replace those converted and the implications of 

accommodating such buildings having regard to RES10 (Alteration and extension of existing 

dwellings). 

 

115



 
40 

 

Policy RES9 Replacement dwellings 
 
The rebuilding and replacement of existing dwellings in locations outside of the defined settlement 

boundaries (identified on the Policies Map) will be permitted providing that: 

1. The site contains a permanent dwelling with an extant, lawful residential use (i.e. it has not 

been abandoned)  

2. In cases where the existing dwelling is of architectural importance or makes an important 

contribution to the visual and intrinsic character of the area, the proposal demonstrates 

that accommodation needs cannot be met through the alteration, extension and / or 

refurbishment of the existing dwelling 

3. The proposed dwelling respects the size of the plot and the scale and character of existing 

characteristic property in the area 

4. It would not have an adverse impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties 

5. It would not result in inadequate parking and manoeuvring space to the detriment of 

highway safety 

6. It has no unacceptable adverse impact on the landscape  

 

Reasoned Justification 

3.49. Policy RES9 does not apply to Listed Buildings, or caravans, mobile homes or dwellings subject to a 

temporary planning permission. 

 

3.50. Renovating existing dwellings is often a more sustainable and environmentally friendly approach 

than replacing existing dwellings in their entirety.  Furthermore, the Council has a presumption 

against the demolition and replacement of buildings that are of architectural or local historic 

interest on the basis that these normally make an important contribution to the character of the 

area in which they’re located.  The Council’s Local List, when available, should be consulted to 

identify buildings considered by the Council to be of local historic/architectural interest, although 

it should not be assumed that the non-inclusion of a building on the list means that it is not of 

architectural or local historic interest.  Where the replacement of a non locally listed building is 

proposed consideration will be given to whether the building is worthy of inclusion on the Local 

List based on the Council’s defined selection criteria. Policy HER5 provides the Council’s policy in 

relation to Locally Important Heritage Assets. 

 

116



 
41 

 

3.51. Replacement dwellings should respect the scale of the existing dwelling and should not involve 

significant size increases.  Determining an acceptable size increase will be approached on a case by 

case basis having regard to the effect of any previous extensions to the property, the ability to carry 

our further extensions under permitted development and the scale of other existing dwellings 

within the immediate vicinity of the site.  Proposed size increases in relation to replacement 

dwellings in the Green Belt will not be permitted where the proposed dwelling would be 

disproportionately larger than the original dwelling taking into account the effect of any previous 

extensions. 

    

3.52. Proposals should not result in the introduction of large scale dwellings of alien design and 

inappropriate materials which may harm the local environment and form incongruous features in 

the wider landscape setting. 

 

3.53. The replacement of agricultural or other occupationally tied dwellings will be subject to the 

relevant provisions of Policy AGR3. 

 

3.54. All proposals under Policy RES9 must include the demolition of the dwelling to be replaced. 

 

3.55. The proposed dwelling will normally be expected to be positioned on the footprint of the existing 

dwelling, unless there are visual, landscape, highway safety or other environmental grounds to 

justify an alternative location within the existing curtilage.  Proposals for replacement dwellings in 

alternative locations (i.e. not within the curtilage of the existing dwelling) may also be considered 

if there are compelling reasons to justify not locating the dwelling on the existing site (i.e. for flood 

risk reasons).  In such circumstances the Local Planning Authority will require applicants to enter 

into a legal agreement requiring that the original dwelling is demolished.  

 

3.56. Policy RES9 does not apply to previous residential uses that have been subsequently abandoned.  

Such proposals will instead be considered as new dwellings under Policy RES3.  

 

Policy RES10 Alteration and extension of existing dwellings 
 

Proposals for the extension and alteration of existing dwellings, and the erection of domestic 

outbuildings and annexes, will be permitted providing that: 

117



 
42 

 

1. The detailed design reflects or complements the design and materials of the existing 

dwelling 

2. The scale of the proposal is appropriate to the character and appearance of the existing 

dwelling and its surrounding area  

3. The domestic curtilage of the existing property is capable of comfortably accommodating 

the extension or outbuilding without resulting in a cramped/overdeveloped site or creating 

a lack of suitable parking or manoeuvring space 

4. The proposal does not have an unacceptable impact on the amenity of neighbouring 

properties 

5. The proposal respects the character and appearance of surrounding development  

 

Where an extension or outbuilding/annexe is capable of being occupied as a separate self-contained 

residential unit, any planning permission will be subject to a condition restricting its occupation to 

being ancillary to the main dwelling.  

 

 

Reasoned justification 

3.57. Inappropriately scaled and designed extensions can detract from the appearance of the existing 

dwelling and cause harm the visual amenity of the area and the character and appearance of the 

street scene.  Poorly designed proposals can also reduce the amenity enjoyed by the occupiers of 

adjacent properties.  It is therefore important to ensure that proposals for the alteration and 

extension of existing dwellings are of a scale and design that respects the visual and residential 

amenity of the area. 

    

3.58. Applications to remove conditions imposed under RES10 limiting the occupation of 

extensions/outbuildings to being ancillary to the main dwelling will be considered against policies 

RES8 and RES5 in addition to any other relevant Development Plan policies. 

 

3.59. Proposals for the extension of dwellings in the Green Belt will also be considered in relation to the 

advice within the NPPF requiring that the extension does not result in disproportionate additions 

over and above the size of the original building.  The Council will treat the original building as either 

the dwelling as originally built, or the dwelling as it existed prior to 1st July 1948 (the date of the 

118



 
43 

 

first modern planning act), whichever date is the latest.  As a guide for determining an appropriate 

scale of extension in the Green Belt the Council will normally consider extensions of up to 50% of 

the floor area of the original dwelling to be proportionate.  This will take into account the effect of 

any previous additions to the original dwelling.       

 
3.60. Proposals for extensions to converted rural buildings will not normally be acceptable due to their 

effect on the simple form and utilitarian appearance of most traditional rural buildings.   However 

where such proposals are found to be acceptable in principle they will be considered in relation to 

RES7 and its requirement for new works to be of a scale, form, type and materials sympathetic to 

the character and appearance of the original building. 

 
Policy RES11 Change of use of agricultural land to domestic garden 
 

Planning permission will be granted for the change of use of agricultural land to domestic garden 

providing that: 

1. there is no adverse environmental or visual impact on the form, character or setting of the 

settlement 

2. there is no significant encroachment into the surrounding countryside, and 

3. the form of the extension is not incongruous with the characteristic pattern of surrounding 

gardens. 

 

Reasoned Justification 

3.61. Care must be taken when assessing proposals for the extension of residential gardens into 

agricultural land to ensure that this does not adversely affect the environment of the area through, 

for example, both the domestic landscaping of the garden, but also the future introduction of 

features such as sheds, areas of hardstanding, drying areas or garages. Within the Green Belt and 

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty such proposals will not normally be permitted given the 

objectives of these designations. Where permission is granted in accordance with this policy, this 

must not be taken to imply that the enlarged curtilage is automatically appropriate for the 

extension of the existing dwelling, or the construction of new buildings. Such proposals will be 

assessed in relation to the relevant policies of this Plan. 

 

 

119



 
44 

 

Policy RES12 Affordable housing 
 

Proposals for new residential development will be required to contribute to the provision of affordable 

housing in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy SD12 of the Joint Core 

Strategy to 2031.  The following additional thresholds and requirements will also apply: 

1. For residential developments in the Designated Rural Areas that provide a net increase of 6 

– 9 dwellings, a commuted payment towards off-site affordable housing provision will be 

required, equivalent to providing 20% on-site affordable housing, unless the application 

expressly proposes to accommodate some or all of the affordable dwellings on site to the 

Council’s satisfaction based on identified evidence of local need. The payment would be 

commuted until after the completion of the dwellings within the development. 

2. Developments of 10 or more dwellings or sites with an area of 0.5 hectares or more 

(Borough wide) should provide 40% affordable housing on site which will be rounded to the 

nearest whole unit with any remaining fractional requirement to be provided in the form of 

off-site contributions.  

3. The guideline affordable housing tenure split will be 75% social or affordable rented and 

25% intermediate. The local planning authority will negotiate the appropriate tenures and 

tenure split on a site by site basis based upon the latest evidence of needs in the site locality.  

 

Reasoned Justification 

3.62. The Gloucestershire Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 2014 and its 2015 update 

provide evidence relating to affordable housing needs in the JCS area.  The 2015 SHMA update 

determines a need for 638 affordable houses per year across the JCS area.  Policy SD12 of the JCS 

requires housing developments in Tewkesbury Borough comprising 11 or more dwellings or sites 

with a maximum combined gross floor space of greater than 1000sqm to provide 40% affordable 

housing in order to contribute towards meeting the identified need.  The thresholds within SD12 

were based on the relevant National Planning Practice Guidance at the time.  However, the revised 

National Planning Policy Framework (2018) advises that affordable housing should not be sought 

for residential developments that are not major developments (other than in designated rural 

areas). Major development is defined in the NPPF as (for housing development) where 10 or more 

homes will be provided, or the site has an area of 0.5 hectares or more.  The threshold for 

affordable housing at Policy SD12 is therefore inconsistent with the NPPF.  Policy RES13 of this plan 

will bring the threshold for affordable housing in Tewkesbury Borough in line with the NPPF whilst 

maintaining the evidence based requirements set out within Policy SD12 (for example the 

120



 
45 

 

requirement for 40% affordable housing to be provided).  Policy RES13 of this Plan should be read 

alongside the relevant parts of JCS Policy SD12 and provides further policy relating to the affordable 

housing in the Borough in order to reflect local circumstances and requirements. 

  

3.63. The NPPF sets out that, in Designated Rural Areas (which are defined as National Parks, Areas of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty and areas designated as ‘rural’ under section 157(1) of the Housing 

Act 1985), local planning authorities may choose to apply a lower threshold of 5 units or less. The 

Planning Practice Guidance states that, where a lower threshold is applied (in designated rural 

areas), developments of between 6 and 10 units would be subject to affordable housing 

contributions but in the form of commuted cash payments only.  This advice has however been 

applied within Policy RES12 within the context of the revised NPPF.  Cash payments will therefore 

be sought on schemes in the designated rural areas involving between 6 and 9 units.   

 

3.64. Within Tewkesbury Borough the areas within the AONB are a Designated Rural Area.  Applications 

for new housing within the AONB will therefore be subject to the lower threshold described above 

and will be required to provide 20% affordable housing on schemes of 6 – 9 dwellings in the form 

of commuted cash payments.  Schemes involving 10 or more units (or sites of 0.5ha or more) will 

be required to provide 40% affordable housing on site regardless of their location.     

 

3.65. The guideline tenure split is based on evidence within the SHMA and its update, and this represents 

the indicative starting point when considering details of affordable housing proposals.  Local 

circumstances and more up to date assessments of housing need may however determine that a 

different tenure split is required to meet the needs of that locality.  It is therefore recommended 

that developers seek the advice of the Council’s Housing Enabling Officer when preparing and 

submitting applications for planning permission.      

 

3.66. In exceptional circumstances the Council may be willing to accept a reduced percentage of 

affordable housing and/or off-site provision (full or partial), in situations where the development 

is meeting an identified specialist or local need for accommodation of a particular type that cannot 

be otherwise be met on the site.  The Council will expect applications for such non-policy compliant 

schemes to be accompanied by a viability assessment in accordance with Policy SD12 of the Joint 

Core Strategy or other evidence clearly demonstrating why policy requirements cannot be 

achieved.          

 

121



 
46 

 

3.67. Examples of situations where the Council may be willing to accept full or partial off-site provision 

for 10+ unit schemes include where it is not physically possible or feasible to provide affordable 

housing on the application site, or where there is evidence that a separate site would more 

satisfactorily meet local housing need and contribute to the creation of sustainable mixed 

communities. 

 

3.68. Situations where the Council may be willing to accept a reduced percentage of affordable housing 

are likely to apply where a development is meeting an identified specialist or local affordable 

housing need for accommodation of a particular type that cannot be otherwise be met on the site.  

Examples of such situations may include where the development proposes bespoke bungalows 

designed for disabled needs or large family homes (as affordable housing).  Other examples may 

include difficult site conditions where development costs are exceptionally high.  Such situations 

will however be exceptional and must be clearly evidenced to the satisfaction of the Council.  

 

 
Policy RES13 Housing Mix  
 
In accordance with Policy SD11 of the Joint Core Strategy to 2031 new housing developments, 

including affordable housing, will be expected to provide for an appropriate mix of dwelling sizes, 

types and tenures to meet the needs of the local area, including the needs of older people and 

vulnerable groups.  Housing mix should be based on the most up to date evidence of housing need, 

including the Strategic Housing Market Assessment, Parish Surveys and local evidence provided to 

support Neighbourhood Plans.  In addition new developments should, where appropriate, provide the 

following as part of the mix of housing on site:  

1. Accessible and adaptable dwellings to meet the changing needs of occupants over their 

lifetime in accordance with Policy RES15 

2. Self-Build Housing in accordance with Policy RES16 

 

The appropriate mix of house types and sizes for each site will depend upon the size and 

characteristics of the site and the viability of the scheme.  The local planning authority will negotiate 

an appropriate housing mix on a site by site basis based on the latest evidence needs of the site 

locality.  Generally, the larger the scale of development, the more opportunity exists for a wider range 

of dwelling types and sizes.   

122



 
47 

 

 

Reasoned Justification 

3.69. The NPPF advises that the size, type and tenure of housing needed for different groups of the 

community should be assessed and reflected in planning policies (including, but not limited to, 

those who require affordable housing, families with children, older people, students, people with 

disabilities, service families, travellers, people who rent their homes and people wishing to 

commission or build their own homes). 

 

3.70. Evidence on the Borough’s specific housing needs is primarily set out within the SHMA update 

which shows that some 42.7% of new market dwellings in the Borough should be three bedroom 

properties, with 26.9% having two bedrooms, 19.2% containing four or more bedrooms and 11.3% 

having one bedroom.  The largest net need for new affordable housing is for one bedroom 

accommodation, followed by three and four bedroom homes. Households in need requiring a two 

bedroom property are most likely to have their need met from the current supply.   

 

3.71. The SHMA update also identifies that, for the remainder of the plan period between 2015 and 2031 

there is a need for 944 additional specialist units within the Borough, of which 787 should be 

sheltered housing and 157 extra care housing.  This amounts to approximately 14% of the overall 

housing need for the remainder of the plan period (as referred to in the SHMA update) which 

demonstrates a requirement for specialist housing to meet the needs of older people and 

vulnerable groups to be provided on sites as part of the wider housing mix. 

 

3.72. Local surveys and assessments may however provide more specific and up to date evidence and 

should be consulted alongside the SHMA.  It is recommended that developers seek the advice of 

the Council’s Housing Enabling Officer when preparing and submitting applications for planning 

permission, in order to establish the most up to date and locally relevant position on housing 

needs.      

 

Policy RES14 Specialist accommodation for older people  
 
Proposals for specialist accommodation for older people to meet identified needs, including 

residential care homes and extra care housing, will be supported where the site is acceptable principle 

for new housing in accordance with Policy RES2.   

123



 
48 

 

Proposals in locations outside defined settlement boundaries will only be permitted where there is an 

evidenced need that cannot be appropriately met on allocated sites or sites within settlement 

boundaries.  In such cases the proposal must relate well to an existing settlement and provide easy 

access to services and facilities, including public transport, healthcare, shopping and other community 

facilities, thus enabling its residents’ to live independently as part of the community. 

The council will require affordable housing on all such developments that fall within Use Class C3 and 

for self-contained units within Use Class C2, in accordance with Policy SD12 of the Joint Core Strategy 

and Policy RES12 of this plan (Affordable Housing). 

 
Reasoned Justification 

3.73. Within the JCS area, Tewkesbury records the largest proportion of older person only households 

(households where all members are 65 or over) at 24.9% (SHMA update 2015).  This is compared 

to 21.3% in the JCS area and 20.5% nationally. 

   

3.74. The objectively assessed need projections within the SHMA update indicate that the population 

aged 65 or over within the JCS area is going to increase dramatically over the remainder of the plan 

period from 60,897 in 2015 to 87,745 in 2031, an increase of 26,848 people which equates to 47% 

of the overall expected growth during that period.         

 

3.75. The number of older household reference persons is also projected to grow quite notably; with the 

number of household reference persons aged 85 or over within the JCS area expected to increase 

by over 75% by 2031.   

 

3.76. Given the dramatic growth in the older population there is likely to be an increased requirement 

for specialist accommodation options moving forward.  The Council will therefore support in 

principle appropriate proposals for specialist accommodation. 

 

3.77. As well as the need for C3 specialist housing for older people as part of the OAN the SHMA update 

identifies an additional requirement for C2 Registered Care suggesting an additional 1,558 spaces 

will be required within the JCS area over the next 17 years.  Whilst this requirement is not 

disaggregated at a district level it does nonetheless highlight that there is likely to be a need for 

new registered care provision within the Borough during the plan period.  This additional 

124



 
49 

 

accommodation is required to meet the future institutional population and therefore does not 

form part of the new housing to meet the Objectively Assessed Need. 

 

3.78. Policy RES14 applies to specialist accommodation where the primary use of the site for a residential 

institution falling under Class C2 of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987.  The 

Council does however recognise that proposals may also involve a C3 element (for example extra 

care housing) to provide for older people who can no longer live on their own but do not need 24-

hour complex medical supervision.  Proposals solely for the provision of C3 specialist housing, 

including retirement housing and general market dwellings designed to accessible/adaptable or 

wheelchair accessible standard are not subject to the exceptions provided by Policy RES14 and will 

be treated in the same way as conventional housing proposals under policies RES2 and RES3.   

 

Policy RES15 Accessible and Adaptable Homes 
 
In order to ensure delivery of new homes that are readily accessible and adaptable to meet the 

changing needs of occupants, and to support independent living, the Council will require that: 

1. In all proposals a minimum of 50% of the dwellings should meet the Building Regulations 

Requirement M4(2): Category 2 – Accessible and Adaptable Dwellings; and 

2. where a local need has been identified based on the most up to date evidence of housing 

need, including the Strategic Housing Market Assessment, Parish Surveys and local evidence 

provided to support Neighbourhood Plans, a proportion of the dwellings on sites proposing 

10 or more gross additional dwellings will be expected to meet the Building Regulations 

Requirement M4(3): Category 3 – Wheelchair User Dwellings. 

 

Reasoned Justification 

3.79. The Council recognises that adaptable and wheelchair accessible homes are an important function 

of the housing market as they reduce the demand for specialist housing by allowing residents to 

remain in their own home for longer.  The national trend is for more and more elderly and disabled 

residents to stay in their own home, rather than live in a residential institution or retirement 

homes.  For many vulnerable older people, having the chance to avoid residential care and live in 

specially designed housing as tenants or owner-occupiers is an important element in retaining 

independence and dignity in older age. Many such individuals can be cared for in their own homes, 

particularly with the development of assistive technology (telecare and telemedicine), use of 

125



 
50 

 

appropriate aids or adaptations to the dwelling, and new models of housing related care and/or 

support services. 

  

3.80. It is considered that the provision of adaptable dwellings will make a valuable contribution towards 

meeting the future needs of the elderly or those with disabilities, enabling them to stay in their 

own home if desired. As a result, there needs to be an increase in the overall percentage of new 

homes built over the plan period that will be required to the meet adaptable and accessible 

standards.   

 

3.81. In 2015, the Government introduced new ‘optional’ Building Regulations standards relating to 

accessible and adaptable dwellings and wheelchair user or wheelchair adaptable dwellings 

(Requirement M4(2) (accessible and adaptable dwellings) and M4(3) (wheelchair user dwellings). 

These optional requirements can only be secured through planning policy, and the National 

Planning Practice Guidance states that local authorities should identify the proportion of dwellings 

in new developments that should comply with the requirement in their Local Plan. 

 

3.82. In this instance the Council’s evidence from the SHMA update shows that, based on the projected 

population growth of people in the 65 or over category being 47% of the overall growth, and given 

the strong correlation between age and long-term health problems or disability, it is necessary to 

require that developments provide a minimum of 50% of the dwellings to Building Regulations 

Requirement M4(2): Category 2 – Accessible and Adaptable Dwellings.        

 

3.83. The housing needs of wheelchair users in the JCS area over the remainder of the plan period are 

less clearly defined in the Council’s evidence base.  It is therefore recommended that developers 

seek the advice of the Council’s Housing Enabling Officer when preparing and submitting 

applications for planning permission, in order to establish the most up to date and locally relevant 

position on wheelchair user housing needs.  

 

3.84. Planning Practice Guidance states that a policy requiring wheelchair accessible dwellings should 

only be applied to those dwellings where the local authority is responsible for allocating or 

nominating a person to live in that dwelling. Therefore, the Council will only negotiate a proportion 

of wheelchair accessible dwellings on sites proposing 10 or more additional dwellings on the basis 

that such proposals are required to provide affordable housing.  

 

126



 
51 

 

3.85. The Tewkesbury Borough Plan - Housing Standards Background Paper provides further 

justification for the Council’s position on this matter. 

 

Policy RES16 Self and Custom Build 
 
At housing sites allocated within this plan, and for windfall developments comprising 20 or more 

dwellings, a minimum of 5% of the dwellings shall be set aside as serviced plots for sale to self and 

custom builders, subject to appropriate demand being identified on the Council’s Self and Custom 

Build Register. In all cases proposals should be individually designed, employing innovative approaches 

throughout that cater for changing lifetime needs, whilst respecting the character and appearance of 

the surrounding development.  

In order to ensure that serviced plots identified and granted consent for self-build and custom 

housebuilding are delivered, the Council will require applicants to enter into a legal agreement which 

guarantees that sites are developed as such. 

All self and custom build plots through this policy shall be made available and marketed appropriately 

for at least 12 months.  Marketing should be through an appropriate agent as well as to those on the 

Council’s Self and Custom Build Register.  If the plots have not been sold, they may either remain on 

the market as custom building or be built out by the developer or landowner as appropriate.  Evidence 

of the results of the sustained marketing strategy will need to be submitted.  

 

Reasoned justification 

3.86. Self-Build or Custom Build housing is housing built or commissioned by individuals (or groups of 

individuals) to be occupied by themselves as their sole or main residence. For the purposes of 

planning policy, self-build and custom build dwellings share the same definition and the terms are 

used interchangeably. Self-build is where a person is directly involved in organising and 

constructing their home, whereas custom build is where a person commissions a specialist 

developer to help to deliver their own home. Both routes require significant input from the home 

owner in the design process of the dwelling. 

 

3.87. The Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 places a duty on local authorities to keep and 

have regard to a register of people who are interested in self-build or custom build projects in their 

127



 
52 

 

area. In addition, local authorities are required to grant sufficient suitable development 

permissions on serviced plots of land to meet the demand, as evidenced by the number of people 

on the register, for self-build and custom build plots in their area. 

 

3.88. The Council considers that self-build and custom build housing can play an important part in 

contributing to the supply of housing, increasing the mix of housing types and tenures, and have 

the potential to increase the delivery of innovative and highly sustainable developments in a cost 

effective manner. 

 

3.89. Therefore, to support prospective self-builders, all developers of sites allocated within this plan 

and for windfall developments comprising 20 or more dwellings will be expected to supply a 

proportion of serviced dwelling plots for sale to self-builders. 

 

3.90. The required number of plots will be 5% which will be rounded to the nearest whole unit.  In order 

to ensure that serviced plots identified for self-build and custom housebuilding are delivered, the 

Council will require applicants to enter into a legal agreement. 

 

3.91. The Localism Act 2011 provides communities with the opportunity to encourage self-build and 

custom build housing by creating planning policies or allocating new development sites in their 

area. The Council will support locally proposed self-build projects identified within a 

Neighbourhood Plan wherever possible. 

 

3.92. Whilst proposals for self build housing should be individually designed so to promote variety in the 

built environment, it is still necessary for units to respect the character and appearance of 

surrounding development, including pre-existing development in the vicinity and other 

proposed/emerging dwellings on the site itself.   

 

Policy GTTS1: Site allocations for Gypsies and Travellers 
 
The sites listed below, and shown on the Policies Map, are proposed to be allocated as sites on 
which occupation will be limited to Gypsies and Travellers: 

Preferred Site Options Site area 

(hectares) 

Capacity 

(Pitches) 

Badgeworth A. Brookside Stables, Cold Pool Lane 0.29 7 

128



 
53 

 

Minsterworth B. Land adjacent to Hygrove Place, Hygrove 
Lane 

0.40 7 

Staverton A. Hillview, Bamfurlong Lane 0.89 15 
The Leigh A. Land adjacent to Fieldview, A38 0.37 8 

 
The allocation of these sites is solely for the residential use of Gypsies and Travellers and only 
development ancillary to their residential use will be permitted. 

Existing and future permanent Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople sites will be protected in 
line with JCS Policy SD13. 
 

 
Reasoned Justification 

3.93. National planning policy for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople sites is contained in both 
the NPPF and the ‘Planning Policy for Traveller Sites’ (PPTS) 2015.  

 
3.94. The Joint Core Strategy sets out the over-arching strategy for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling 

Showpeople for the Borough through Policy SD13, including the required number of pitches and 
plots to be delivered across the plan period. Policy SD13 provides protection for existing 
permanent and transit sites, safeguarding them from development to alternative uses. The policy 
also presents a criteria based policy for determining future proposals for Gypsies, Travellers and 
Travelling Showpeople. However, the Joint Core Strategy does not make any specific site 
allocations to meet these needs. 

 
Gypsy & Traveller Needs 

 
3.95. The Gloucestershire Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) 2017 identified a 

total need for 78 Pitches, in Tewkesbury Borough, from a baseline of March 2016 to the end of 
the plan period in 2031. The GTAA informed the pitch targets in JCS Policy SD13. For Tewkesbury 
Borough the targets, presented in five year periods according to their PPTS status in planning 
terms, are: 

Table 2 ‘Gypsy and Traveller Pitch Targets for Tewkesbury Borough 2016 to 2031’ 

  2016 - 2021 2021 - 2026 2026 - 31 Total 
Travelling households 4 0 1 5 
Non-travelling households 14 5 6 25 
Not Known 25 11 12 48 

Sub-Total 43 16 19 78 
 

3.96. The needs of those who meet the PPTS definition are described as ‘Travelling Households’, those 
that don’t as ‘Non-Travelling Households’ and those that could not be interviewed or surveyed 
for the GTAA are ‘Not Known’.  Although a significant proportion of needs in the Borough is made 
from households who are either defined as ‘Non-Travelling Households’ or whose status is not 

129



 
54 

 

known, the Borough Council has a duty to provide culturally specific accommodation to meet the 
needs of all groups as part of the overall housing mix. As such, the Borough Plan seeks to address 
the need for 78 pitches over the plan period. 
 

3.97. At the time of writing, there had been 20 pitches granted permission since April 2016. This leaves 
a requirement for a further 58 pitches. The allocations presented in this plan would provide for a 
further 37 pitches. This means that there would still be a shortfall of 21 pitches. However, no 
further site options were deemed to be available, suitable and achievable to deliver additional 
pitches. Nevertheless, existing commitments and the allocations would meet needs for 10 years 
up to 2026.  
 

3.98. JCS Policy SD13 provides a mechanism for the consideration of further sites through the planning 
application process where they meet the criteria specified. In that regard, the assessment of 
supply can also factor in a windfall allowance for sites that may come forward outside of 
allocations. The evidence presented2 as part of the JCS examination set out that it would be 
reasonable to expect at least 2 pitches per annum to come forward as windfall which would 
provide for an additional 30 pitches over the 2016-2031 period.   

Travelling Showpeople needs 

3.99. The GTAA 2017 identified a total need for 24 Plots, in Tewkesbury Borough, from the same 
baseline of March 2016 to the end of the plan period in 2031. 

 
3.100. The GTAA informed the Plot targets in JCS Policy SD13. For Tewkesbury Borough the targets, 

presented in five year periods according to their PPTS status in planning terms, are: 

Table 3 ‘Travelling Showpeople Plot Targets for Tewkesbury Borough 2016 to 2031’ 

 2016 - 2021 2021 - 2026 2026 - 31 Total 
Travelling households 18 2 2 22 
Non-travelling households 0 0 0 0 
Not Known 0 1 1 2 
Sub-Total 18 3 3 24 

 

3.101. As no suitable sites have been put forward to the Assessment of Land Availability for Travelling 
Showpeople’s Yards the targets set out in the JCS for Travelling Showpeople will be achieved 
using JCS Policy SD14: To safeguard existing Yards from changes to alternative uses; and to assess 
future proposals and applications against the criteria provided. 

  

                                                           
2 EXAM 187 - Note from the JCS on Gypsy, traveller & travelling people for the inspector (Feb 2016) 

130



 
55 

 

4.  Economy and Tourism 
 

Introduction 

4.1. Economic Development is one of the four priorities set out in the Tewkesbury Borough Council Plan 
2016-2020. To support this priority, four objectives have been identified to help achieve it: 

•   Be the primary growth engine of Gloucestershire’s economy 

• Identify and deliver employment land within the borough, in accordance with the Joint Core 
Strategy and the Tewkesbury Borough Plan 

• Maximise the growth potential of the M5 junctions within the borough 

• Deliver regeneration for Tewkesbury town. 

4.2. In 2016 the council commissioned Bruton Knowles to undertake an Employment Land and 
Economic Development Strategy Review (ELEDSR) to provide evidence to support the Council Plan 
objectives and provide evidence for the Tewkesbury Borough Plan and the Economic Development 
and Tourism Strategy.  The review provides a number of key recommendations that could be 
implemented to achieve economic growth in the borough. The need to bring employment land 
forward to provide for growth, flexibility and choice was a central conclusion to this work. 

4.3. In order to deliver economic growth, the council has agreed the Economic Development and 
Tourism Strategy 2017-21. The strategy outlines how the council will help promote a strong and 
diverse local economy, support business growth, inform spatial planning strategy, support 
regeneration, encourage inward investment and maximise visitor numbers to the area. One of the 
strategic priorities is Employment Land Planning, which sets out that the council’s development 
services function will support economic development objectives through: 

a. Practical solutions to facilitate business growth needs on existing and potential 
commercial sites. 

b. Delivering sufficient employment land to meet the needs of the strategic plan. 

c. Positive application of land use policy in delivery of achievable employment land sites. 

d. Supporting key business park areas. 

4.4. It is clear from both the Council Plan and the Economic Development and Tourism Strategy that 
planning, and specifically the Tewkesbury Borough Plan, has an important role to play in facilitating 
economic growth. It can achieve this by safeguarding existing employment assets, allocating 
sufficient land for new employment growth, and providing policies which support the employment 
needs of the area and delivering sustainable economic growth. 

4.5. A key part of the Economic Development and Tourism Strategy is centred around the M5 growth 
zone and the potential for employment growth around motorway junctions. These areas present 

131



 
56 

 

significant opportunities for economic growth and primary opportunities revolve around Junctions 
9 and 10. The Borough Council therefore supports these locations as key areas of employment 
growth. However, key to unlocking these sites is investment to improve the highway infrastructure 
to enable growth. At Junction 9 this includes looking at opportunities to increase capacity of the 
A46 and improving access to the motorway network, as well as the wider masterplanning of growth 
in this area; and at Junction 10 work is ongoing to seek to upgrade to an ‘all-ways’ movement 
junction, led by the County Council. As such, the Borough Plan does not allocate sites in these areas 
so as to not prejudice the outcome of this ongoing work. Further sites for development will be 
explored through the JCS review process. 

 
Policy EMP1 Major Employment Sites 
 
At Major Employment Sites, as defined on the Policies Map, the Borough Council will support in 
principle proposals for B-class employment development. It is expected that new development at 
these sites will normally be for B-class uses only.  

Proposals for the expansion of Major Employment Sites may be considered where they satisfy the 
criteria at Policy EMP5. 

Major Employment Sites 

Bishops Cleeve Cleeve Business Park 

Malvern View Business Park 

Brockworth Gloucester Business Park 

Churchdown/ 

Staverton 

Staverton Technology Park 

Meteor Business Park 

Ashville Business Park 

Bamfurlong Industrial Park 

Innsworth Innsworth Technology Park 

Tewkesbury Tewkesbury Business Park 

Ashchurch Business Park 

 

Reasoned Justification 

4.6. The major employment sites present some of the largest and most important employment areas 
in the borough. This policy seeks to encourage sustainable development of these sites and retain 
them as prime locations for economic growth. The primary scope of identifying these sites is to 

132



 
57 

 

encourage traditional B-class development for which there is a great demand for land. Therefore, 
the council will normally expect new development at these sites to be for B-class uses. 

4.7. Proposals for non-B-class uses will therefore not normally be supported at Major Employment 
Sites. Any applications for non-B-class uses may only be considered in exceptional circumstances. 
Such proposals would need to demonstrate that there would be a positive economic impact that 
outweighs the loss of land for B-class uses and that it would not be to the detriment of the wider 
economic growth of the site and the wider area. Proposals would be required to demonstrate that 
the proposed use would be job-generating and that the viability of the Major Employment Site for 
B-class uses would not be compromised. 

4.8. In this context, job generation should be the longer-term creation of employment opportunities 
associated with a proposal and not short-term employment resulting from the development of a 
site. For example, construction jobs created in the development of a housing proposal on an 
existing employment site would not be considered as an alternative job-generating use under this 
policy. 

4.9. The ELEDSR provides a review of both existing employment sites and vacant land in Tewkesbury 
Borough to establish the degree of occupancy/void space across the Borough, the scope for 
businesses to expand on their current sites and suitable and deliverable sites for new employment 
space.  The ELEDSR considers whether vacant/undeveloped land on existing allocated employment 
sites within the Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011 (TBLP) is realistically likely to be developed 
and whether it should be retained for employment generating uses.  The ELEDSR also considers 
the suitability and deliverability of land presenting an opportunity for new or expanded 
employment allocations. 
  

4.10. The Tewkesbury Borough Plan - Employment Land Background Paper (ELBP) provides a more 
detailed assessment of the existing undeveloped TBLP allocations and new employment land 
opportunities identified in the ELEDSR, and considers whether sites are suitable and achievable as 
new, retained or expanded employment allocations in the TBP.   The Major Employment Sites 
identified within the TBP are based on the evidence within the ELEDSR and the ELBP and are 
considered to represent viable employment land allocations for which it is important to safeguard 
for employment use in order to achieve the objectives of the Council’s Economic Development and 
Tourism Strategy and the Economic Development priority of the Tewkesbury Borough Council Plan.   

4.11. Proposals for the expansion of existing Major Employment Sites to provide additional B-class 
employment land may be considered in order to promote economic growth and the vitality and 
viability of the employment area. To ensure that proposals for expansion are sustainable the 
criteria set out at Policy EMP5 must be satisfied. In balancing the need to develop new employment 
land against the environment impacts, the Borough Council will also have regard to the availability 
and suitability of existing employment land in the locality as well as the economic benefits of the 
proposal. 

4.12. Further to the Major Employment sites referred to at EMP1, the ELEDSR identifies that some of the 
most important and deliverable sites in the Borough are adjacent to Gloucestershire Airport.  This 
area is however located within the Green Belt and the Tewkesbury Part 2 (Partial) Green Belt 

133



 
58 

 

Review (2017) identifies that the area serves a critical role as Green Belt.  Unlocking the 
employment development potential of the airport whilst working within Green Belt policy presents 
a key challenge for the TBP.  The Council’s preferred option for addressing this matter is set out 
within the Green Belt section of this plan.   

 
Policy EMP2 Rural Business Centres 
 
At Rural Business Centres, as defined on the Policies Map, the Borough Council will support in principle 
proposals for B-class employment development.  

New development proposals at Rural Business Centres, including redevelopment, intensification and 
extensions, will be supported providing that they are of an appropriate scale and design having regard 
to the character of existing buildings on the site and the rural landscape of the area.   

Proposals for the proportionate, small-scale expansion of Rural Business Centres may be considered 
where they satisfy the criteria at Policy EMP5. 

Rural Business Centres 

Ashchurch Rural Homedowns Achievement Park 

Bishops Cleeve  Homelands Farm 

Deerhurst Highfield Farm 

The Leigh Knightsbridge Business Centre 

Gretton Park Farm Industrial Estate 

Highnam Highnam Business Centre 

Maisemore The Steadings 

Toddington Orchard Industrial Estate 

Twigworth Twigworth Court 

Twyning Brockeridge Farm Business Centre 

Duddage Manor Business Park 

Winchcombe Isbourne Business Centre 

Withytrees Farm 

 

 

 

134



 
59 

 

Reasoned Justification 

4.13. The Borough’s Rural Business Centres are generally located within the countryside or adjacent to 
rural settlements and are characterised by the fact that they comprise a range of smaller-scale 
business units. These centres make an important contribution to the economy of Tewkesbury 
Borough and therefore their retention and growth will be supported. However, their rural location 
means that generally they will only be suitable for smaller-scale development that must not detract 
from the rural character of the surrounding area.  

4.14. Based on the evidence within the ELEDSR and the ELBP it is proposed to allocate new Rural Business 
Centres at Homelands Farm and Withytrees Farm.  The former of these sites relates to redundant 
farm buildings that are considered to be suitable for appropriate conversion and/or redevelopment 
in accordance with Policy EMP2.  The latter site involves a group of former chicken sheds that have 
been converted to business use. Policy EMP2 seeks to formalise this site as a Rural Business Centre 
and enable appropriate future redevelopment proposals.  It is also proposed to allocate land for 
the expansion of the following Rural Business Centres: Highfield Farm, Knightsbridge Business 
Centre, Park Farm Industrial Estate, Highnam Business Centre, Orchard Industrial Estate, 
Brockeridge Farm Business Centre, Duddage Manor Business Park and Isbourne Business Centre. 

4.15. Given the small scale and rural location of the Rural Business Centres, proposals for alternative 
non- B Class job generating or complementary uses are unlikely to be supported.   

4.16. Proposals for the expansion of existing Rural Business Centres to provide additional B-class 
employment land may be considered in order to promote economic growth and the vitality and 
viability of the employment area. To ensure that proposals for expansion are sustainable the 
criteria set out at Policy EMP5 must be satisfied. In balancing the need to develop new employment 
land against the environment impacts, the Borough Council will also have regard to the availability 
and suitability of existing employment land in the locality as well as the economic benefits of the 
proposal. 

4.17. Where the expansion of a Rural Business Centre is found to be acceptable in principle, any resulting 
new buildings will be subject to the requirement of EMP2 for their scale and design to respect the 
character of existing buildings on the site and the rural landscape of the area.  

 

Policy EMP3 Employment sites within settlement boundaries 
 
Development proposals for employment uses within settlement boundaries but not on allocated sites, 
including redevelopment, change of use, intensification and extensions, will be supported in principle.  
All proposals will be required to satisfy the criteria at Policy EMP5. 

In assessing proposals for the further development of an existing employment use or for the change 
of use to an alternative employment use, the Council will, where practical and reasonable, seek to 
reduce any existing significant adverse impacts on the local environment including the residential 
amenity of nearby properties. 

135



 
60 

 

 
Reasoned Justification 

4.18. There are a wide variety of existing and potential employment uses within settlement boundaries 
of the Borough’s towns and villages. These businesses add to the sustainability and vitality of 
settlements and will be safeguarded and supported.  However, areas within existing settlements 
have a more dense development pattern with a predominance of residential uses. It is therefore 
important that proposals are compatible with neighbouring uses so that there is not an 
unacceptable adverse impact on environmental quality, residential amenity or commercial 
viability.  Policy EMP5 is intended to prevent incompatible forms of employment development 
within settlements.   

 

Policy EMP4 Rural Employment Development 
 
Within the wider rural area, outside of allocated employment sites or settlement boundaries, 
proposals for new employment development will be supported in principle where they:  

1. involve appropriate agricultural development or diversification in accordance with Policies 
AGR1 and AGR2; or 

2. involve the appropriate conversion of a rural building; or 
3. involve the redevelopment or expansion of an established existing business occupying the 

site; or 
4. there are specific reasons why a rural location is necessary 

In all cases the scale and nature of the proposal should respect the rural character of the area and will 
be required to satisfy the criteria at Policy EMP5. 

 
Reasoned Justification 

4.19. The rural economy is important for Tewkesbury Borough and new employment development will 
be supported in principle where it involves the appropriate development which relates to 
traditionally rural bases uses, such as agriculture and forestry or the diversification of agricultural 
enterprises. Proposals for this type of development will be considered under policies AGR1 and 
ARG2. 
 

4.20. Furthermore the re-use of farm and other rural buildings provide opportunities to support new 
businesses in the countryside in a sympathetic manner.  The building to be converted should 
however be suitable for the proposed use and proposals will be required to demonstrate that the 
building is of a substantial construction, is structurally sound and is capable of conversion without 
the need for significant new building works and/or extension.  The building proposed to be 
converted should also have been in existence for at least ten years and the proposal should not 
result in the requirement for another building to fulfil the function of the building being converted.  
Proposals involving the conversion of traditional rural buildings that make a positive contribution 
to rural character of the area should preserve the simple utilitarian appearance of the buildings 

136



 
61 

 

and will looked at more favourably where they involve minimal external alteration and loss of 
original fabric.  The Reasoned Justification to Policy HOU7 of this plan provides further good 
practice guidance in respect of converting traditional buildings. 
 

4.21. In order to support the sustainable growth and expansion of established businesses in rural areas 
Policy EMP4 is also intended to enable proposals for their redevelopment and expansion, 
particularly where it would be unreasonable to expect the business to relocate in order to expand. 
However, any proposals must of a scale that is in keeping with the character of their rural settling 
and in accordance with Policy EMP5. 
  

4.22. It is also recognised that there may be a wide range of circumstances as to why a rural location is 
necessary for a new employment development proposal that is outside of agricultural uses. This 
may be due to the need to be in close proximity to a certain area, to access goods and materials, 
to be close to their workforce, or because there is no existing suitable employment land on which 
to locate. As such, the policy makes provision for new employment development where there are 
specific reasons why a rural location is necessary. Proposals for general employment development 
in these locations will be required to set out their justification as to why the rural location is 
necessary as opposed to existing employment sites or settlements. This should be undertaken to a 
level commensurate with scale of the proposal. Proposals are only likely to be supported under 
this part of the policy where they relate to the specific needs of an established business rather than 
speculative development proposals where no end user is identified. 

 
4.23. Proposals for retail development in the rural area will be judged against the retail policies of both 

the Borough Plan and the JCS. 

4.24. Proposals for new employment development in the Green Belt must be acceptable in terms of 
Green Belt policy set out within this plan, the JCS and the NPPF, in addition to being in accordance 
with the requirements of Policy EMP4. 

 

Policy EMP5 New Employment Development (General) 
 
Proposals for new employment development that are acceptable in principle in accordance with 
policies EMP1 – EMP4 will be permitted, subject to the application of other plan policies, where the 
following criteria are satisfied: 

1. Any increase in traffic can be accommodated by the existing transport network; 

2. There is provision for safe and convenient access by appropriate transport modes, 
commensurate with the scale and nature of the proposed development and the location of 
the site; 

3. Satisfactory vehicular access, parking sufficient to meet demand and manoeuvring space can 
be provided; 

137



 
62 

 

4. The proposal would not result in an unacceptable adverse impact on the amenity of 
neighbouring uses, particularly residential properties; 

5. The scale and design of the proposal is compatible with the character of the existing location 
and its setting paying particular regard to Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, Special 
Landscape Areas and the Landscape Protection Zone;  

6. The proposal would not result in an unacceptable adverse environmental impact, for example 
by causing unacceptable levels of noise, air, water, soil  or light pollution 

 
Reasoned Justification 

4.25. All new proposals for employment development require consideration of its impact and whether 
it can be delivered in a sustainable way.  Policy EMP5 applies to all forms of employment 
development including redevelopment, change of use, intensification and extensions, on both 
allocated and unallocated sites, and within settlements and in the rural area.  It provides a set of 
general Development Management Criteria that will apply to all development proposals in addition 
to any development/location specific considerations featured within policies EMP1 to EMP4.  

4.26. Important in this context is the impact of development on the highway network, the accessibility 
of development having regard to sustainable transport objectives, and the impact of development 
on its surrounding area, both environmentally and on neighbouring uses. 

4.27. Accessibility is a particularly important consideration when assessing proposals for rural 
employment development in locations outside of allocated employment sites or settlement 
boundaries.  Consideration will be given to the scale and nature of the proposed development in 
question, its likely trip generation and the opportunities for the use of sustainable transport modes 
in relation to the site.  In accordance with the NPPF, significant development should be focused on 
locations which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and offering a 
genuine choice of transport modes. The Council will not normally permit proposals for new 
employment development on isolated sites in the open countryside. 

4.28. Determining an appropriate scale and design of development should have regard to the context of 
the site.  For example, the Major Employment sites will generally be suitable for large scale office, 
industrial and warehousing uses with large car parking and servicing requirements, whereas the 
Rural Business Centres and proposals on unallocated rural sites are more suited to smaller scale, 
low profile units that can be easily assimilated into the rural landscape.     

4.29. Environmental and amenity impacts are an important consideration when assessing proposals for 
new employment development, particularly where proposals are located in close proximity to 
residential uses.  Harm to residential amenity and the local environment can result from noise, 
odour, vibration, air pollution and light pollution and careful consideration will be required in 
relation to such impacts. 

 

138



 
63 

 

Policy EMP6 Safeguarding of Employment Sites 
 
Employment sites will be safeguarded for B-class employment uses and the loss or change of use of a 
site to non B-class uses will generally be resisted.  

The loss of B-class employment land will only be acceptable in principle where it can be demonstrated 
that: 

1. The site is no longer fit for purpose or capable of meeting employment needs and the proposal 
would not adversely impact on the viability of adjacent employment uses; or 

2. The site is not appropriate for the continuation of its present, or any employment, use due to 
the detrimental impact on the environment or amenity of the surrounding area; or 

3. The proposal would provide significant benefits to either the local economy, the sustainability 
of the community and/or the rural environment that would outweigh the loss of employment 
land. 

 

Reasoned Justification 

4.30. Policy EMP6 applies to all employment land falling within Class B of the Town and Country Planning 
(Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) including Class B1 (a, b and c), B2 and B8 and any additional 
or amended categories featured within an equivalent use class in any new or revised version of the 
Order.  Policy EMP6 applies to all employment land in both allocated and unallocated sites.  

4.31. Due to the need for employment land in the Borough there will be a general resistance to any 
proposals that would result in the loss of employment land to non-job generating uses. This will 
only considered where there is compelling evidence that the land is no longer commercial viable 
for meeting employment needs.  

4.32. Proposals involving the loss or change of use of a site to non B-class uses where it is argued that 
the site is no longer fit for purpose or capable of meeting employment needs will need to be clearly 
justified and evidence provided to support loss of the employment land.  In order to show that 
there is no demand for an existing employment site, applicants will be expected to provide 
evidence to the Council’s satisfaction demonstrating that they have actively marketed the premises 
or site in question for a reasonable length of time as a going concern and at a realistic price with 
no success.  A marketing period of 18 months will normally be required for most proposals but the 
Council may agree a shorter period or require a longer period depending on the scale and nature 
of the site in question.  A feasibility study should be also be submitted to demonstrate to the 
Council’s satisfaction that redevelopment of the site for employment use is not viable. 

4.33. The only other circumstance that the Council will consider the loss of employment land will be 
where the benefits of the change of use or redevelopment would have considerable beneficial 
impacts upon the local economy, the local environment or the amenity of the neighbouring area, 
either through the discontinuation of a harmful employment use, or through benefits associated 

139

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1987/764/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1987/764/contents/made


 
64 

 

with the proposed development.  These benefits must significantly outweigh the benefits of the 
existing use to the local economy.  

 

Policy AGR1 Agricultural Development 
 
Proposals for new agricultural development, including intensive and industrial scale agricultural 
operations, to meet the needs of the agricultural business will be permitted provided that, where 
appropriate: 

1. The proposed development is reasonably necessary and designed for the purposes of 
agriculture. 

2. The proposed development is well sited in relation to existing buildings, access tracks, ancillary 
structures and works, and landscape features in order to minimise adverse impact on the 
visual amenity of the rural landscape paying particular regard to Areas of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty, Special Landscape Areas and the Landscape Protection Zone. 

3. The proposed development is sympathetically designed in terms of height, mass, materials, 
colour and landscaping where appropriate 

4. There is no unacceptable adverse impact on the amenity of residential properties or any other 
protected buildings, including affects from noise, light or odour pollution, including on human 
health. 

5. Arrangements for the storage and/or disposal of waste (including manure and slurry) are 
satisfactory and do not threaten the quality of ground or surface water 

6. The highway network (including site access and egress) is adequate to safely cater for the type 
and volume of traffic generated by the proposal. 

 

Reasoned Justification 

4.34. Development that supports agricultural uses in the borough will generally be supported. Where 
planning permission is required for an agricultural building, it is important where practicable to 
ensure that new buildings are located close to existing buildings or other structures and are 
designed in way that is sympathetic to the surrounding area. This will help minimise adverse 
impacts on the landscape and local environment.  

4.35. Developments associated with the intensive rearing and accommodation of poultry, pigs or other 
livestock often give rise to various problems. In particular, the type and scale of such proposals can 
be seriously harmful to the appearance of the landscape; they can generate significant traffic, 
including heavy goods vehicles, which can cause serious problems of highway safety when access 
involves the use of narrow country lanes; and the concentration of livestock in confined conditions 
can create problems of noise, dust and smell from effluent. Careful control over their location and 
siting is therefore necessary. 

4.36. Some types of development such as houses, schools and hospitals, are particularly sensitive to 
nuisance and disturbance, and are classified as a ‘protected building’ in the General Permitted 

140



 
65 

 

Development Order 2015.  In the interest of public health and amenity it is generally not considered 
appropriate to allow the development of intensive livestock within 400 metres of such buildings 
unless satisfactory mitigation measures can be implemented to reduce to an acceptable level, or 
negate, any nuisance or other impacts of the development. 

 

Policy AGR2 – Agricultural Diversification 
 
Proposals for farm diversification will be supported where they enhance the viability of, and do not 
prejudice, the continued operation of the existing agricultural business.  

Diversification proposals should maximise the use of redundant buildings or structures. Where new 
buildings or extensions are proposed it should be demonstrated that they are essential to the new use 
and must be closely related to an existing group of farm buildings. 

Any proposals must be of a scale and use appropriate to the rural setting and be in keeping with the 
character of its surroundings. 

 
Reasoned Justification 

4.37. The Borough Council recognises the value of farm diversification in supporting the viability of 
existing agricultural businesses and to the rural economy as a whole. However, it essential that 
diversification projects support the continued agricultural operations and do not dominate or 
prejudice this primary use.  

 

Policy AGR3 – Agricultural and other rural workers dwellings 
 
Proposals for new dwellings for persons employed full time in agriculture, forestry, horticulture or 
other businesses where a rural location is essential will be permitted provided that:  

1. There is an essential functional need for a new dwelling on the site based on evidenced needs 
of that business; 

2. Financial evidence has been submitted demonstrating that the business is viable and 
established and has a clear prospect of remaining so; 

3. The siting and landscaping of the new dwelling minimises the impact upon the visual amenity 
of the countryside and ensures no unacceptable adverse impact upon landscape character, 
particularly in the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, Special Landscape Areas and 
Landscape Protection Zone. 

4. There is no other suitable and available alternative existing accommodation within the area; 
and 

141



 
66 

 

5. The occupancy of the dwelling is restricted in perpetuity to those employed in the activity for 
which the dwelling was originally permitted 

Proposals for dwellings in relation to new agricultural, horticultural, forestry or other rural businesses 
may be granted a time-limited permission for temporary accommodation, such as a mobile home or 
caravan, to allow time to establish that the business is financially viable and there is a genuine 
functional need for a permanent dwelling.  Temporary accommodation will normally be permitted for 
a period of three years, subject to meeting relevant criteria set out above. Proposals in relation to new 
businesses must provide clear evidence in the form of a business plan that shows a firm intention and 
ability to develop the enterprise on a sound financial basis. 

Where permission is granted for an additional dwelling as part of an agricultural holding, and existing 
dwellings on the holding will be required to be retained in agricultural use; the applicant will be 
required to secure this through a Section 106 agreement. 

 
Reasoned Justification 

4.38. In the open countryside planning permission for a new dwelling is granted only in exceptional 
circumstances, if it is essential for a rural worker to live at or near to the work place, for example 
in the interests of good agricultural husbandry or forestry. It will be important to establish that 
stated intentions to engage in an appropriate rural business are genuine, are reasonably likely to 
materialise and are capable of being sustained for a reasonable period of time.  

4.39. A functional test will be necessary in all cases to establish whether it is essential for the proper 
functioning of the enterprise for one or more workers to be readily available at most times. A 
financial test will also be applied to all proposals for new permanent accommodation, as such 
proposals cannot be justified on agricultural grounds unless the farming enterprise is economically 
viable and is likely to remain so for the foreseeable future.   

4.40. It is important that, where permission is granted for a rural workers dwelling, it is conditional upon 
such a dwelling being kept available to meet the particular agricultural, forestry or other need for 
which it was originally intended. The occupation of the dwelling can be extended to a widow or 
widower of the intended occupant and to resident dependents. 

4.41. In assessing the need for a new agricultural or forestry dwelling, Tewkesbury Borough Council will 
take into consideration all dwellings on or associated with the holding. Where planning permission 
is given, Tewkesbury Borough Council may require applicants to enter into a Section 106 
Agreement to retain all dwellings on the holding for agricultural or forestry use. This will be the 
case where existing dwellings do not already have an occupancy condition attached to them. 

4.42. Farm buildings within the existing farm complex or on the farm holding may be suitable for 
conversion to residential use and should be given preference to the construction of new buildings.  
Applications for the conversion of farm or other rural buildings to residential use will be considered 
in relation to Policy HOU7. 

4.43. Where a dwelling is proposed in connection with a new business, or where a temporary venture is 
proposed, Tewkesbury Borough Council may consider granting a temporary permission for a 

142



 
67 

 

mobile home or caravan.   Whilst applications for temporary dwellings in connection with new 
business ventures will not be expected to demonstrate that the business is viable at the time of 
application, applicants will be expected to set out a business case demonstrating a genuine 
intention to develop a business that has a reasonable prospect of being viable within the near 
future.  Temporary permissions will normally be granted for up to 3 years.  Applications to renew 
temporary permissions will only be considered where there is clear evidence that the business is 
well on track towards becoming established, has a good prospect of being viable within the 
successive temporary permission period (i.e. within the 3 year period following renewal) and the 
temporary permission needs to be renewed in order to enable this.  If the unit is shown to be viable 
following the temporary permission then permission for a permanent dwelling will be considered. 

 

Policy AGR4 – Removal of occupancy conditions 
 
The removal of occupancy conditions on rural workers dwellings will only be permitted where: 

1. The occupational dwelling no longer serves a need in connection with the agricultural holding, 
forestry or rural enterprise site to which it relates and there is no agricultural, forestry or 
essential rural business need elsewhere that it could reasonably serve, nor is it likely that any 
such needs will arise in the foreseeable future. 
 

2. Satisfactory evidence has been provided that the dwelling has been marketed for sale or rent 
with its occupancy restriction, at a realistic price for a reasonable period of time (for at least 
18 months or an appropriate period as agreed with the Local Planning Authority), and no 
interest has been shown in its purchase or rent.  

 

Reasoned Justification 

4.44. Where a dwelling is permitted in a location where new residential development is not normally 
acceptable on the basis of a proven agricultural or other rural business justification, then a 
restrictive occupancy condition will be attached to ensure that the dwelling continues to meet 
agricultural/rural business needs in the future. As such dwellings are only permitted exceptionally, 
Tewkesbury Borough Council as Local Planning Authority will similarly only permit the removal of 
such conditions in exceptional circumstances. Such circumstances will only apply where 
Tewkesbury Borough Council as Local Planning Authority is satisfied that the retention of the 
restrictive occupancy serves no useful agricultural/rural business purpose either now or in the 
future. The main factors to be taken into account are the likely demand for the occupationally tied 
dwelling, the changes which have taken place in the agricultural community and rural economy, 
and the existing stock of agricultural/rural workers dwellings in the area (both built and with 
planning permission). It should be emphasised that occupationally tied dwellings do not necessarily 
need to be sited on the holding, and that such dwellings in nearby parishes will all contribute to 
the total stock. 

143



 
68 

 

4.45. Marketing will be expected for agricultural or rural workers dwellings at a price of around 30% 
below open market value for a period of at least 18 months. Marketing must be targeted towards 
the occupational sector and likely client group.  

 

Policy TOR1 - Tourism Related Development 
 
Tewkesbury Borough Council will support proposals for tourism related development and extensions 
to existing tourist development provided that: 

1. Where possible the proposal should involve the appropriate conversion and re-use of existing 
buildings; 

2. There is good inclusive access for all potential users;  

3. The proposal supports the plan’s wider objectives, particularly in relation to conservation, 
transport, health, heritage conservation, recreation, economic development, the environment 
and nature conservation; 

4. The siting, design and scale is in keeping with the built, natural and historic environment setting 
and wherever possible and practicable seeks to enhance it; 

5. There is no unacceptable impact on the safety or satisfactory operation of the highway network. 

6.  Where a proposal would attract substantial numbers of visitors it should be accessible by all 
modes of transport, including public transport as appropriate to scale of the proposal. 

 

Reasoned Justification 

4.46. Tourism is an important source of employment in the Borough. It is a positive activity with the 
potential to benefit the community and the place, as well as the visitor and supports the rural 
economy particularly through farm diversification. Tourism can also help to sustain old and historic 
buildings which can often be adapted to tourism needs at the same time as maintaining their 
original character and the character of the area while offering an opportunity for historic 
interpretation of such buildings. 

 
4.47. It is important that the positive economic and environmental benefits of tourism should be 

maximised while minimising any negative environmental impacts. To achieve the right balance 
between environmental safeguards and the management of visitors, adequate car and coach 
parking needs to be provided in the right locations with signing directs people to the facilities that 
they come to use and see.  

 
4.48. It is also important that any development does not detract from or adversely affect the quality of 

the landscape and its visual beauty. The overriding priority is protection of the character of the 
landscape particularly in the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and to a lesser degree in the 

144



 
69 

 

locally designated Special Landscape Area and Landscape Protection Zone. The popularity of an 
area with visitors is not in itself sufficient justification for the location of a new tourist attraction.  
  

Policy TOR2 Serviced/self catering accommodation 
 
The development of serviced and self-catering accommodation will be permitted on sites within 
existing defined settlement boundaries, as identified on the Policies Map, or where the proposal 
results in the appropriate re-use of existing buildings or involves a proportionate extension to existing 
accommodation.  In all cases the proposal, including provision of car parking, must respect the 
character of the area in which it’s located. 

Applications for new hotel development where an evidenced need exists will be considered on their 
merits having regard to the sustainability of the site location and the impact of the proposal on the 
character and amenity of the area.  

Applications for the removal of occupancy conditions on tourist accommodation that has been built 
specifically for that purpose, and is located outside of settlements, will not normally be permitted. On 
buildings converted for tourist accommodation purposes, the proposed removal of occupancy 
conditions will be considered in accordance with the appropriate provisions of Policy RES7 (Re-use of 
rural buildings for residential use). 

 
Reasoned Justification 

4.49. In the interest of promoting sustainable tourist development proposals involving new 
accommodation should be located where they will have access to basic services (i.e. shops, public 
houses, public transport facilities). Policy TOR2 therefore seeks to direct such proposals to those 
settlements included in the settlement hierarchy set out at the Housing Section of this plan.  

 
4.50. While new development will not normally be acceptable in the open countryside, it is recognised 

that some types of tourist accommodation are well suited to conversions of existing buildings. 
Within settlements there may be scope for development particularly on redundant sites or sites 
where a change of use would be acceptable. It is important that, where new development takes 
place, the amenity of adjoining residents or uses is not adversely affected. Scale, design and its 
effect on the existing building will be important factors in the consideration of proposals. 

 
4.51. Overriding importance is given to the protection of the open countryside particularly within the 

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, and there should be no conflict with Green Belt policies. 
Adequate car parking must be provided and that there is no adverse impact on the surrounding 
environment and special landscape designations.   

 
4.52. Where proposals under TOR1 and TOR2 involve the conversion and re-use of existing buildings, the 

building to be converted should be suitable for the proposed use and proposals will be required to 
demonstrate that the building is of a substantial construction, is structurally sound and is capable 
of conversion without the need for significant new building works and/or extension.  The building 

145



 
70 

 

proposed to be converted should also have been in existence for at least ten years and the proposal 
should not result in the requirement for another building to fulfil the function of the building being 
converted.  Proposals involving the conversion of traditional rural buildings should preserve the 
simple utilitarian appearance of the buildings and will looked at more favourably where they 
involve minimal external alteration and loss of original fabric.  The Reasoned Justification to Policy 
HOU7 of this plan provides further good practice guidance in respect of converting traditional 
buildings.   

 
4.53. Large or disproportionate extensions to existing serviced and self-catering accommodation will be 

treated as new proposals and will be subject to the same TOR2 policy requirement for proposals 
to be located within defined settlement boundaries or development site allocations. 

 
4.54. Proposals for new hotel development will only be permitted where there is evidenced need and 

the site location is considered to be acceptable from a sustainability perspective, paying particular 
regard to its accessibility and proximity to key services and facilities.   

 
4.55. Applications for the removal of occupancy conditions on purpose built tourist accommodation 

located outside of settlements will only be permitted in exceptional circumstances as this is likely 
to result in new housing in unsustainable locations. These circumstances are likely to be limited to 
where there is robust evidence demonstrating an oversupply of similar tourist accommodation in 
the area and that the existing use of the building for tourist accommodation is no longer viable. 
Buildings converted for tourist accommodation purposes will be considered in the same way as 
proposals for the re-use of rural buildings for residential use. 

 

Policy TOR3 Caravan and camping sites 
 
Proposals for new or extended caravan and camping sites for tourist accommodation should be 
located within or adjacent to defined settlements as identified on the Policies Map or existing sites of 
tourism or hospitality facilities and accommodation. Proposals for new sites within the open 
countryside will need to demonstrate why the proposed location is essential. 

In considering all proposals, overriding protection will be afforded to the landscape and character of 
the area, particularly with regard to siting, topography and landscape design, as well as to the amenity 
of any neighbouring uses.  The number and size of any associated new buildings (i.e. toilet and washing 
facilities) shall be kept to the minimum necessary and proposals make use of existing buildings for 
such purposes where possible. 

All proposals must be well related to the primary road network and any local roads involved in gaining 
access to the site should be capable of accommodating the extra traffic generated without undue 
hazard or inconvenience to local residents or other road users. 

 

 

146



 
71 

 

Reasoned justification 

4.56. Policy TOR3 applies to caravan, camping and chalet sites for tourism purposes and includes static 
caravan and log cabin sites. 

  
4.57. Proposals for new or extended caravan and camping sites under this policy will only be permitted 

for tourist accommodation.  The Council will impose conditions on permissions for sites located 
outside of defined settlements to secure tourist only occupation.  Proposals for permanent 
residential occupation will be considered in accordance with the relevant housing policies within 
this plan. 

 
4.58. When considering the impact of proposals on the landscape, special attention will be given to 

topography.  Proposals located on prominent and visible slopes will not normally be acceptable. 
 
4.59. Proposals for permanent occupation and sites for Gypsies, travellers and travelling show people 

will be considered in relation to Policy GTTS1.   

 

Policy TOR4 Herefordshire and Gloucestershire Canal Restoration 
 
Tewkesbury Borough Council supports in principle the restoration of the Herefordshire and 
Gloucestershire Canal. The line of the Herefordshire and Gloucestershire Canal is identified on the 
Policies Map. Tewkesbury Borough Council will safeguard the line of the Herefordshire and 
Gloucestershire Canal, including Maisemore Lock, from development which would prejudice its 
restoration to a fully navigable condition. 

 
Reasoned justification 

4.60. The route of the Herefordshire and Gloucestershire Canal runs from the Severn at Gloucester to 
Hereford via Newent and Ledbury. It was built between 1792 and 1845 and closed in 1881. The 
canal was built to take Welsh gauge narrow boats 72 feet in length with a beam of about 8’ 6”. 
Following its closure much of its cut was filled in and a railway was built upon it. This ironically, has 
probably helped to preserve the route of the canal, and it is understood that such obstructions 
which have occurred since the closure of the railway and canal can be circumvented. 
 

4.61. The design of the restoration scheme for the canal corridor should pay careful attention to the 
desirability of maintaining, and where practicable, enhancing the bio-diversity of the land in 
question. It is anticipated that the restoration of the canal corridor will bring significant 
opportunities to enhance biodiversity as has been demonstrated on sites such as that at Over near 
Gloucester. 

 
4.62. The benefits which may accrue from a properly managed canal corridor restoration project both 

during and following its implementation are potentially substantial and will increase as the 
restoration proceeds. These may be summarised as follows: 

147



 
72 

 

 
• The economic advantages to both the area surrounding the canal corridor and on the 

waterways route to it accruing from the tourists attracted to the canal by boat, road, 
cycle and foot. 

• The educational value of carefully restored and interpreted historic remains. 
• The recreational value of what has the potential to become a long distance footpath 

route in a road traffic free and highly attractive environment to the benefit of local 
people and tourists. 

• The nature conservation value of the restored canal corridor, (most of the channel is 
presently dry or filled in), carefully managed to create a rich series of new habitats. 

 
4.63. It is important to note that most of these benefits can be achieved before the canal is fully restored 

for navigation. 
4.64. The Herefordshire and Gloucestershire Canal Trust achieved charitable trust status in 1992 and are 

pursuing its aim of restoration to fully navigable standards. The Trust’s achievements to date and 
the progress of canal restoration projects elsewhere in England suggest that this is a project with 
a real prospect of achieving substantial benefits for the community and is worthy of the Borough 
Council’s support. 

 

Policy TOR5 Gloucestershire Warwickshire Railway 
 
Support in principle will be given to the restoration of the Cheltenham to Stratford-upon-Avon railway 
line as a heritage railway. The line of the Gloucestershire-Warwickshire railway, as identified on the 
Policies Map, will be safeguarded from development which would prejudice its operation as a railway.  

 
Reasoned justification 

4.65. The restoration of the heritage railway, known as the Honeybourne Line, between Cheltenham and 
Stratford-upon-Avon is a long term project being pursued by private groups of railway enthusiasts, 
using the name Gloucestershire Warwickshire Railway within Gloucestershire. The company’s 
headquarters and depot is at Toddington Station within Stanway Parish. The railway follows the 
foot of the Cotswold escarpment and is an increasingly important tourist attraction. Ultimately this 
could bring visitors to Cheltenham and Stratford-Upon-Avon as well as to other attractions such as 
Sudeley Castle and Stanway House within the Borough.  

4.66. The Council will continue to support the potential to deliver National Cycle Network route 41 to 
the north of Cheltenham along the general route of the railway together with Sustrans, 
Gloucestershire County Council and the GWSR where appropriate. It would not be appropriate to 
show a specific route on the Policies Map as it is still under development by Sustrans. 

  

148



 
73 

 

5. Green Belt 
 
Introduction 

5.1. Green Belt is a national policy designation which primarily aims to prevent urban sprawl by 
keeping land permanently open.  The NPPF sets out five Green Belt purposes: 

• to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; 

• to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; 

• to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; 

• to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and 

• to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban 
land 

5.2. The Gloucester/Cheltenham Green Belt was designated in 1968 with the primary purpose of 
preventing Cheltenham and Gloucester from merging and to preserve the open character of the 
land between the towns. The first Gloucestershire County Structure Plan in 1981 extended the 
Green Belt to include an area north of Cheltenham in order to protect the gap between Cheltenham 
and Bishop’s Cleeve. 

   
5.3. To achieve the objectives of Green Belt designation, the NPPF advises that Local Planning 

Authorities should, subject to certain exceptions, regard the construction of new buildings in the 
Green Belt as inappropriate development.  It then goes to advise that inappropriate development 
is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special 
circumstances.  This policy principle prevents many forms of development from taking place in the 
Green Belt, including new housing and employment development. 

 
5.4. In Tewkesbury Borough, this has had the effect of constraining new housing opportunities at 

Shurdington which is one of the Borough’s largest and most sustainable Service Villages.  
Shurdington is entirely surrounded by Green Belt and, as of May 2017, there had only been 7 new 
dwellings committed at the village within the plan period.  The Green Belt is also a constraint to 
development at Woodmancote Service Village although, as identified in this plan, there are some 
opportunities for growth at the village on sites located outside of the Green Belt.  There are also 
significant housing commitments within the locality at Bishops Cleeve.  

 
5.5. Further to this, in exploring potential opportunities for new employment land in the Borough the 

ELEDSR has identified that some of the most important and deliverable sites are adjacent to 
Gloucestershire airport.  The Council recognises the strategic importance of the airport and 
supports the SEP for Gloucestershire which aims to optimise the contribution and benefit the 
airport and the land around it can make to local communities and the economy.  It is considered 
essential in the interest of the Council’s Economic Development and Tourism Strategy that that 
employment development potential of the airport is realised.  At the same time however, this area 

149



 
74 

 

serves a critical role as Green Belt being located in the narrow gap between Cheltenham and 
Churchdown.  Unlocking the employment development potential of the airport whilst working 
within Green Belt policy presents a key challenge for the TBP.     

 
5.6. The NPPF advises that, once established, Green Belt boundaries should only be altered where 

exceptional circumstances are fully evidenced and justified, through the preparation or updating 
of plans.  Thus, in order to investigate appropriate opportunities for growth at Shurdington and 
Woodmancote, and to further explore the employment development potential of Gloucestershire 
airport, in July 2017 the Council commissioned Land Use Consultants Ltd to undertake a Part 2 
(Partial) Green Belt Review to inform the preparation of the Tewkesbury Borough Plan.  

 
5.7. Having regard to the findings of the Part 2 (Partial) Green Belt Review (July 2017) and in accordance 

with the advice within the NPPF, it is proposed to remove land from the Green Belt in order to 
deliver appropriate housing growth at Shurdington, as well as land at Staverton/ Gloucestershire 
airport for employment growth.  These changes will also enable the creation of a new, robust and 
defensible Green Belt boundary.  For reasons set out in the Housing Background Paper and 
summarised in the reasoned justification below, no changes to the Green Belt boundary are 
proposed at Woodmancote.      

 
Policy GRB1 – Green Belt Review 
 
It is proposed to remove the following areas of land from the Green Belt:   

1. 8.3ha of land at Leckhampton Lane, Shurdington 

2. 7ha of land to the east of Shurdington Road, Shurdington 

3. 2.2ha of land at corner of Badgeworth Lane and A46, Shurdington 

4. 5.9ha of land to south of Badgeworth Lane, Shurdington 

5. 3.5ha of land adjacent to Ashville Business Park, Staverton   

6. 1.6ha of land adjacent to Meteor Business Park, Staverton 

7. 3.5ha of land adjacent to Bamfurlong Industrial Park, Staverton 

The boundary of the Green Belt is shown on the Policies Map. 

 
Reasoned justification 

5.8. The Part 2 (Partial) Green Belt Review (hereinafter referred to as ‘the Green Belt review’) appraises 
land at the three locations against the five nationally defined purposes of the Green Belt set out in 
the NPPF and draws conclusions on the potential degree of harm that may occur should land be 
considered for removal from the Green Belt.  

  

150



 
75 

 

5.9. In the case of Shurdington, both Housing Site A (land at Badgeworth Lane) and Housing Site B (land 
at Leckhampton Lane) are located within areas that are assessed in the Green Belt review as making 
a relatively weak contribution to Green Belt purposes.  Consequently, the Green Belt review finds 
that the removal of the sites from the Green Belt would result in a relatively low level of harm to 
the Green Belt.  It is found in the Green Belt review that the removal of Housing Site D from the 
Green Belt would result in a moderate level of harm, and that the tall hedgerows with hedgerow 
trees along the southern boundary would form a slightly stronger Green Belt boundary than the 
existing edge of the inset settlement of Shurdington.  The Green Belt review also identifies a 
number of existing built up areas adjacent to the north-east, east and south west of the village that 
perform weakly against Green Belt purposes as they are fully developed.  This plan proposes to 
remove these areas from the Green Belt in order to create a new, robust and defensible Green Belt 
boundary. 

   
5.10. The proposed removal of land from the Green Belt at Shurdington is considered to be essential in 

this instance in order to deliver housing development in accordance with the JCS strategy and 
enable growth at one of the Borough’s largest and most sustainable Service Villages.  There are no 
suitable and sufficient alternatives at Shurdington that involve land located outside of the Green 
Belt.  Thus, if land is not removed from the Green Belt at Shurdington there is likely to be a severe 
lack of available of housing land in the locality to meet the needs of existing residents and future 
generations.  

 
5.11. The Green Belt review sets out a number potential mitigation measures for each of these sites 

which are aimed at minimising any harm to the remainder of the Green Belt.  Policy RES1 of this 
plan makes these mitigation measures a policy requirement with reference to the Site Specific 
Development Principles set out at Table 1. 

 
5.12. The proposed changes to the Green Belt boundary at Shurdington are shown on the Policies Map.  
 
5.13. In the case of Woodmancote, there are other suitable options for providing housing at the 

settlement that aren’t located in the Green Belt.  Moreover, there is a good supply of new housing 
land elsewhere in the locality which would be suitable for meeting the needs of existing residents 
and future generations.  Changes to the Green Belt at Woodmancote are not therefore considered 
to be justified. 

 
5.14. Further evidence in relation to this matter is set out in the Housing Background Paper.  
 
5.15. In the case of the Gloucestershire Airport area, this performs a critical role as Green Belt as it serves 

to prevent Cheltenham and Churchdown merging into one another.  The area does however 
contain a number of significant developed areas; notably the business parks along the B4063 and 
the area within the airport known as the ‘South East Camp’ which contains the operational airport 
buildings (i.e. terminal buildings, hangars and storage buildings).  The former of these developed 
areas are inset within the Green Belt and are subject to Major Employment Site designation within 
the Tewkesbury Borough Plan to 2011.  The latter area is washed over by Green Belt but is 
designated within the JCS as the Non Essential Operational Area of the Airport.  Within this area 
Policy SD5 of the JCS only permits business uses which support the airport. 

151



 
76 

 

 
5.16. The Council’s preferred approach for realising the employment development potential of the 

airport is through the careful expansion of the Major Employment Sites along the B4063 to enable 
general business uses; and the expansion of the Non Essential Operational Area to the south east 
of the airport (the South East Camp) to provide increased opportunities for business uses which 
support the airport.  This is considered to be a more suitable approach than the creation of entirely 
new employment sites as there is already precedent for employment/airport related development 
within these areas and it would avoid the removal of isolated parcels of land surrounded by open 
Green Belt on all sides. 

       
5.17. The land adjacent to Ashville Business Park already benefits from planning permission for new 

employment development.  This site therefore lacks permanence as open Green Belt and is 
considered suitable for removal and allocation as an expansion to the adjacent Major Employment 
Site.  The land adjacent to Meteor Business Park and Bamfurlong Industrial Estate is assessed in 
the Green Belt review as part of a wider cumulative release scenario involving seven parcels of land 
located along the B4063.  The review identifies that the openness of the land within the parcels 
contributes to the perceived gap between Churchdown and Cheltenham while travelling along the 
B4063.  The release of the parcels would see additional development on either side of the road and 
a significant reduction in the gap between the two industrial areas.  Consequently the review finds 
that release of all of the parcels would result in ‘moderate high’ harm to the Green Belt.  It is 
however considered that the Council’s preferred approach would limit the extent of the identified 
harm as it would release just three of the seven parcels assessed.  

 
5.18. All of the parcels proposed to be removed are identified in the ELEDSR as having very good 

suitability for employment development.  The parcels are also considered to be deliverable; they 
are known to be available for development and are being actively promoted for business uses.  
Furthermore, the parcels are not subject to any other significant planning constraints and are 
considered to be developable.  The Council has considered alternative approaches to delivering 
employment development at the airport however these would either result in a higher level of 
harm to the Green Belt and/or are not considered to represent deliverable and developable 
options.  One exception to this is the land adjacent to the South East Camp.  Although the removal 
of this area would result in ‘moderate’ harm to the Green Belt, it relates to an isolated parcel 
surrounded by Green Belt on all sides.  Its removal would therefore affect the integrity of the 
surrounding Green Belt.  It is also considered to be important to safeguard this area exclusively for 
business uses which support the airport rather than allocate it for general business uses, so to 
promote rather than undermine the significance of the airport. In view of the strategic importance 
of the airport, the deliverability of the identified sites and the lack of suitable alternatives it is 
considered that there are exceptional circumstances for the removal of the identified parcels of 
land. 

   
5.19. Further to the Green Belt removal proposed by Policy GRB1, this plan proposes to expand the Non-

Essential Operational Area of the airport as defined in the JCS. Policy GRB2 provides the Council’s 
policy in this respect   

152



 
77 

 

 
Policy GRB2 – Gloucestershire Airport 
 
The extent of the Non-Essential Operational Area of Gloucestershire Airport is shown on the Policies 
Map.  

Within the Non-Essential Operational Area, commercial development that would directly support the 
economic and operational viability of the airport uses will be supported.  

In all cases, proposals within the Non-Essential Operational Area must incorporate appropriate 
measures designed to mitigate the impact of the development on the surrounding Green Belt.   

The Non-Essential Operational Area will be safeguarded for appropriate commercial uses or airport 
related development.  Proposals involving non-conforming development will be resisted in order to 
protect the strategic economic importance of the airport and in accordance with Green Belt policy 
guidance within the NPPF. 

 
Reasoned justification 

5.20. Policy SD6 of the JCS defines ‘Essential’ and ‘Non-Essential’ Operational Areas within 
Gloucestershire Airport.  Within the Essential Operational Area, Policy SD6 provides that new 
structures, buildings or extensions to buildings will only be permitted if they are essential to the 
operation of the airport and require an airport location.  Within the Non-Essential Operational 
Area, Policy SD6 provides that business uses which support the airport will be permitted. 
 

5.21. Policy GRB2 proposes to expand the Non Essential Operational Area featured within the JCS in 
order to provide greater opportunities for commercial uses which support the airport.  The Non-
Essential Operational Area will remain in Green Belt and any proposals for new development that 
do not involve commercial uses that directly support the economic and operational viability of the 
airport will be judged against full Green Belt policy guidance within the NPPF.   

5.22. Whilst proposals for commercial and business development under GRB2 will remain to be treated 
as inappropriate development in the Green Belt, due to the strategic importance of the airport, its 
uniqueness within the Borough and the supportive/complementary role of the specified 
development types, the Council considers that such proposals are capable of demonstrating the 
very special circumstances required to enable the grating of planning permission.  Policy GRB2 does 
not however absolve proposals from the application of Green Belt policy and applicants will still 
need to demonstrate how the proposal will support the economic and operational viability of the 
airport.  Examples of supportive proposals may include premises for businesses within the 
aerospace industry, and complementary uses such as hotels, childcare facilities and educational 
and training facilities.  Proposals will also be expected to minimise harm to the remainder of the 
Green Belt through appropriate design, layout and landscaping measures.  Examples of potential 
mitigation measures are set out at Section 6 of the Green Belt review report. 

 

153



 
78 

 

 

Policy GRB3 - Bamfurlong Operational Policing site 
 
Within the boundaries of the Bamfurlong Operational Policing site shown on the Policies Map, the 
Council will support proposals for the redevelopment and intensification of the site for operational 
policing and partner uses.  

All proposals on the site should incorporate appropriate measures designed to mitigate the impact of 
the development on the surrounding Green Belt.   

Any other development proposals that are not essential for operational policing and partner uses will 
be considered against full Green Belt policy in accordance within the JCS and NPPF.  

 
Reasoned justification 

5.23. The Council recognises the importance of the operational policing site at Bamfurlong. The site 
provides a hub for emergency response and specialist operational support for police activities 
undertaken throughout the County and south west region. The site’s central location within the 
Constabulary’s operational area together with its direct access to the motorway and major road 
systems are key factors in this regard and enable swift response times in emergencies.  However, 
the buildings on the site, which date from the late 1970’s, are becoming increasingly unfit for 
current purposes and are not suited to future operational policing requirements. 

5.24. There is also a desire to expand the range of operational policing functions at the site and co locate 
with partners in order to improve service delivery and make the most efficient use of public 
property assets. 

5.25. Whilst proposals for the redevelopment and intensification of the site for Police and emergency 
services purposes may represent inappropriate development in terms of Green Belt policy 
guidance within the NPPF, the Council recognises the importance of the site, its locational 
advantages and the need to modernise, upgrade and expand its facilities.  It is therefore considered 
that proposals for the redevelopment and intensification of the site for operational policing and 
partner uses are capable of demonstrating very special circumstances. 

5.26. Redevelopment proposals for police and partner uses will be expected to make effective use of the 
site as shown on the Policies Map, maximising built capacity whilst minimising harm to the 
remainder of the Green Belt through appropriate design, layout and landscaping measures.  
Examples of potential mitigation measures are set out within the Green Belt review report. 

5.27. The policy support provided by GRB3 only relates to development proposals for operational 
policing or partner uses. All other forms of development will be considered against full Green Belt 
policy in accordance within the JCS and NPPF. 

  

  

154



 
79 

 

6. Town centres and retail 
 

Introduction 

6.1. The National Planning Policy Framework requires the promotion competitive town centre 
environments, allocate a range of sites and apply tests to determine the location of new retail 
developments while considering the adverse impacts that may be caused. 
 

6.2. The Joint Core Strategy partly satisfies the national policy requirements setting out the retail floor 
space requirements for Tewkesbury, Bishop’s Cleeve and Winchcombe leaving the Borough Plan 
to encourage new retail development, providing it meets the National Planning Policy 
Framework’s sequential test and the Joint Core Strategy’s retail hierarchy. The retail hierarchy 
across Tewkesbury Borough is set out in Policy RET1 and is in conformity with the Joint Core 
Strategy. 
 

6.3. The role of the Borough Plan is provide more detailed policies relating to development within 
designated centres to promote their economic success, commercial viability and their general 
vitality as key service areas. However, the Borough Plan must also provide a strategy for 
approaching retail development outside of designated centres.  

Policy RET1 Maintaining the vitality and viability of the town, borough and local centres 
 
The Borough Council identifies the following hierarchy of designated retail centres 

Market Town            Service Centres               Local Centres 

Tewkesbury               Bishop’s Cleeve                Brockworth    

 Winchcombe                   Churchdown 

                                                                                             Coopers Edge 

          Innsworth 

   Northway 

The Tewkesbury Town Centre boundary, and its primary shopping frontages, and the boundaries of 
the designated retail centres are identified on the Policies Map.  

In all cases, proposals for main town centre uses, including retail and leisure development, must 
ensure that they: 

a. Are appropriate in location and scale, having regard to the hierarchy identified above; 
b. Support the viability and vitality of their respective retail area; 
c. Contribute to a safe, attractive and accessible environment; 
d. Are easily accessible by public transport, walking and cycling; 
e. Support any centre regeneration projects;  

155



 
80 

 

f. Do not adversely impact on the amenity of neighbouring uses; and 
g. In the case of proposals at Tewkesbury Town, do not conflict with the requirements 

for Primary Shopping Frontages at Policy RET2. 
h. In the case of proposals at Service Centres and Local Centres, do not conflict with the 

requirements at Policy RET3. 

Proposals for new main town centre uses on sites located outside of the designated retail centre 
boundaries will be considered against Policy RET4.  

 
Reasoned justification 

6.4. The Borough Council want to support the economic success of the designated town and retail 
centres to ensure their competiveness and enhance their vitality and vibrancy.  As such, there will 
be general support for main town centre uses within them that contribute towards this aim. 
  

6.5. These retailing areas provide the location for a variety of local shopping uses which make a 
valuable contribution to the vitality and viability of the centre as a whole. The priority is to 
maintain Class A uses in these locations.  Within these areas the change of use from retailing A 
Class uses at ground floor level will generally be resisted in order not to devalue the retail 
attractiveness of the shopping area as a whole.  However, other main town centre uses, such as 
leisure and community uses, can also have an important contribution towards the success of 
these local centres. Therefore, the Council will consider proposals for non-A class uses for ground 
floor units within designated centres where it is demonstrated that the alternative use is a main 
town centre uses and would have a positive impact of the vitality and viability of centre and 
support other A class retail units. 
 

6.6. The NPPF provides a definition of what constitutes ‘main town centre uses’ which includes retail, 
leisure, entertainment, cultural, office and tourism related development. The Tewkesbury 
Borough Plan follows this definition for the purposes of these policies. However, proposals for 
main town centre uses will still be expected to be of an appropriate scale relative to the position 
of the centre within the hierarchy set out in policy RET1.  
 

6.7. Tewkesbury town will be expected to be main focus for larger-scale uses in its role as a market 
town. Recognising its unique position in the Borough, Policy RET2 provides specific guidance on 
development within Tewkesbury town centre and its primary shopping frontage.  The identified 
services centres and local centres have an important role in meeting the retail needs of local 
communities; Policy RET3 provides specific guidance for these areas. 
 

6.8. Proposals for main town centre uses will be required to be located within an appropriate 
designated centre as a starting point. One exception to this is office development whereby 
proposals for Class B1(a) office development will also be acceptable in principle on allocated 
employment sites and within settlement boundaries in accordance with policies EMP1-3 of this 
plan.  Proposals for main town centre uses outside of designated centres will not usually be 
acceptable unless there are circumstances which justify their location having regard to policies 
RET4 and RET5. This follows the sequential test set out in the NPPF. 

156



 
81 

 

 
6.9. It will also be important that any proposals make a positive contribution to the centre in which 

they are to be located. This will include supporting any recognised regeneration projects that are 
being promoted by the Borough Council and its partners. Proposals which are likely to have a 
negative impact on the viability of the centre as whole, either through the use proposed or its 
location within the centre, will not be acceptable.  
 

6.10. The full use of upper floors is strongly encouraged particularly where they are disused or 
underused; this will help to support a mix of uses and thus enhancing viability, while also 
encouraging maintenance of the whole building. Proposals should ensure that where appropriate 
independent access is retained or provided to upper floors.  

 

Policy RET2 Tewkesbury Town Centre and Primary Frontages 
 
Within the Tewkesbury Town Centre Boundary, as defined on the Policies Map (excluding the Primary 
Shopping Frontages), proposals for main town centre uses and residential uses will be supported. 

Within the Tewkesbury Town Centre ground floor Primary Shopping Frontages, as defined on the 
Policies Map, proposals for Class A1 retail uses will be supported. The change of use from Class A1 
retail will be permitted provided that: 

1. A minimum of 60% of units within 100M of the centre point of the frontage of the application site 
(where this measurement is within the primary shopping frontage area) would be within Class A1; 
and 

2. The alternative use proposed is an appropriate main town centre use which contributes towards 
the vitality and viability of the primary frontage 

Proposals that do not meet the requirements of point 1 of this policy will only be accepted in 
exceptional circumstances where it can be demonstrated that an existing town centre unit is unviable 
and unsuitable for Class A1 use.   

Proposals involving the change of use from other main town centre uses within the Primary Shopping 
Frontages will be permitted where the alternative use proposed is also a main town centre use.  On 
upper floors within the Primary Shopping Frontages, proposals for residential use and main town 
centre uses will be supported.      

 

Reasoned justification 

6.11. Tewkesbury High Street is the main focus of retailing activity with the Borough. It provides a 
range of shopping facilities in an easily accessible and convenient location for many residents, as 
well as providing a wider role in supporting the local economy. As such retaining and enhancing 
its vitality and viability is a priority. Of particular importance is securing attractive continuous 
shopping frontages for pedestrians. The shopping focus of the High Street containing the main 
concentration of A1 retail outlets is defined on the Policies Map as the primary shopping 

157



 
82 

 

frontage. Tewkesbury Borough Council is concerned that a higher proportion of A2 –A5 uses 
within these prime areas could threaten the vitality and viability of the centre as a whole. 
However, the contribution of non-A1 town centre uses towards the success of the primary 
frontages should also be recognised. Therefore a flexible approach is taken where non-A1 
development may be permitted providing that the predominance of A1 units a ground floor level 
is maintained within these areas. 
 

6.12. Within Primary Frontages the Borough Council will seek to retain at least 60% of the primary 
shopping area within retail use (Class A1) at ground floor level.  100m will be measured using the 
centre point of the frontage of the application site (i.e. 50m in either direction).  Where this 
centre point is within 50m of the edge of the primary shopping frontage, then the measurement 
will be up to 50m in either direction, but will not continue beyond the primary shopping frontage 
designation. 
 

6.13. It is recognised that there may be exceptional circumstances where an existing shop unit does 
not meet the above criteria but is no longer viable for Class A1 uses. In these cases alternative 
proposals for main town centre uses may be considered where evidence is provided to the 
satisfaction of Council that there is no realistic prospect of an A1 use taking up the unit. This will 
be judged using the criteria set out within Policy RET7. 
 

6.14. Outside of the primary shopping frontages the approach taken in the remainder of town centre is 
for a wide range of uses that contribute towards the vitality and viability of the town. The 
proposal maps show the town centre boundary.  In addition to traditional retail, alternative uses 
such as tourism related development, community uses, employment uses and residential 
properties can all have a positive impact on the economic wellbeing of the town centre. 
 

6.15. The full use of upper floors across the town centre is strongly encouraged to both support a mix 
of uses and thus enhancing viability, while also encouraging maintenance of the whole building. 
All uses which contribute towards vitality of the town will be encouraged, including residential. 
Proposals should ensure that where appropriate independent access is retained or provided to 
upper floors. 
 

Policy RET3 Retail Centres 
 
Within the designated retail areas of Bishop’s Cleeve, Winchcombe, Brockworth, Churchdown, 
Innsworth, Coopers Edge and Northway, proposals for retail uses (A1-A5) at ground floor level will be 
supported.  

The change of use from retail will only be supported where the alternative proposal is a main town 
centre use, which supports vitality and viability of the retail area, and no less than 50% of the 
remaining units within the designated area would be within retail uses at ground floor level. Proposals 
that do not meet the requirements of this policy will only be accepted in exceptional circumstances 
where it can be demonstrated that an existing unit is unviable and unsuitable for Class A1-A5 use. 

158



 
83 

 

On upper floors within the Retail Centres, proposals for residential use and main town centre uses will 
be supported. 

 
Reasoned Justification 

 
6.16. These retailing areas provide the location for a variety of local shopping uses which make a 

valuable contribution to the vitality and viability of the centre as a whole. The priority is to 
maintain Class A uses in these locations.  Within these areas the change of use from retailing A 
Class uses at ground floor level will generally be resisted in order not to devalue the retail 
attractiveness of the shopping area as a whole.  However, other main town centre uses, such as 
leisure and community uses, can also have an important contribution towards the success of 
these local centres. Therefore, the Council will consider proposals for non-A class uses for ground 
floor units within designated centres where it is demonstrated that the alternative use is a main 
town centre uses and would have a positive impact of the vitality and viability of centre and 
support other A class retail units. However, to maintain the retail function of the centre, the 
Council will expect at least 50% of units within the designated centre to be maintained as Class 
A1-A5. 
 

6.17. It is recognised that there may be exceptional circumstances where an existing shop unit does 
not meet the above criteria but is no longer viable for Class A1 uses. In these cases alternative 
proposals for main town centre uses may be considered where evidence is provided to the 
satisfaction of Council that there is no realistic prospect of an A1 use taking up the unit. This will 
be judged using the criteria set out within Policy RET7. 
 

6.18. The full use of upper floors is strongly encouraged particularly where they are disused or 
underused; this will help to support a mix of uses and thus enhancing viability, while also 
encouraging maintenance of the whole building. Proposals should ensure that where appropriate 
independent access is retained or provided to upper floors.  

 
Policy RET4 Out of Centre Development 
 
Proposals for main town centre uses, on sites located outside of designated centres will only be 
permitted where a sequential approach has been followed and it is demonstrated that: 

i. If edge-of-centre, that there will be no significant adverse impact on the overall vitality and 
viability of an existing centre and that the proposals cannot be accommodated within a 
designated centre. 

ii. If out-of-centre, that there will be no significant adverse impact on the overall vitality and 
viability of an existing centre and that the development is not capable of being located in a 
sequentially preferable location. 

159



 
84 

 

All proposals for retail, office and leisure development above 280sq.m gross floorspace and not 
within a designated centre, an allocated site (in respect of office development), will be required to 
submit a full Impact Assessment. 

 
Reasoned justification 

6.19. Main town centre uses, including retail and leisure development, will be expected to be located 
within designated centres and in accordance with the settlement hierarchy set out in Policy RET1. 
This is in order to promote the comp0etiveness and vitality of existing centres and to promote 
sustainable patterns of travel. As such, proposals for development considered to be a main town 
centre uses located outside of designated centres will normally be resisted.  
 

6.20. In line with the NPPF, all proposals for retail or other main town centre uses that are not located 
within a designated centre will need to demonstrate that there is no other more sequentially 
preferable sites available. It will need to be evidenced that there are no suitable sites within a 
designated centre in the first instance. Only if this can be satisfied will edge of centre and then 
out of centre sites be considered. All proposals for retail, office and leisure development above 
280 square metres and not within a designated centre will also be required to submit an Impact 
Assessment that addresses the requirements for Impact Assessments set out in the NPPF and its 
PPG.  
 

6.21. Office development is considered to be a main town centre uses and will be subject to this policy. 
However, proposals for office development located within an identified employment area will be 
considered acceptable providing there would be no negative impacts on the viability of an 
existing centre.  
 

6.22. Proposals for retail uses that are outside of designated centres but relate to small shops or 
groups of shops in residential areas, or relate to agricultural/horticultural related retail, will be 
subject to policies RET5 and RET8 respectively.  

 

Policy RET5 Single or Small groups of shops in residential areas 
 
Schemes to establish small single shop units or small groups of shops, within Class A1-A5, within new 
residential areas or existing settlements will be permitted provided that such facilities: 

1. Primarily serve the needs of the local community, and are of an appropriate size and scale;  
2. Do not cause adverse impact by reason of traffic, parking, or disturbance to living conditions; 

and 
3. Do not adversely affect the vitality and viability of existing retail centres. 

The sequential approach will be applied to proposals involving units of over 280sq.m gross 
floorspace (either individually or cumulatively) in accordance with RET3, and a Retail Impact 
Assessment will be required 

160



 
85 

 

The change of use of existing single or small groups of shops will be resisted and only permitted in 
accordance with Policy RET7. 

 
Reasoned justification 

6.23. Local shopping facilities provide a valuable service to communities and settlements, particularly 
for people who are unable to visit larger retail centres. The Borough Council will encourage the 
introduction of new facilities within settlements, existing or new housing areas subject to criteria 
which ensure that the proposal is of an appropriate scale to serve the requirements of the 
immediate local community without adversely affecting other retail centres, and will not result in 
any adverse impact through, for example, increased traffic movements. Where new facilities are 
appropriate but no suitable sites exist within the communities which they are intended to serve, 
the Borough Council may be prepared to grant permission on sites adjacent to these areas on 
appropriate sites. 

 

Policy RET6 Hot Food Takeaways 
 
To avoid the over-concentration of hot food takeaways, the Borough Council will only grant 
permission for such proposals where they would not: 

1. Result in more than two hot food outlets (Use Class A5) adjacent to each other; and 
2. Lead to more than two hot food outlets (Use Class A5) in any continuous frontage of 10 

retail units or less 

If these thresholds are not breached, the Borough Council will consider proposals for Class A5 uses 
favourably, subject to all other retail policies, providing there would be no adverse impact on the 
amenity of neighbouring uses with regard to noise and odour pollution.  

All applications for A5 uses must be accompanied by full details of extraction and ventilation systems 
required.  
 

Reasoned Justification 

6.24. Hot food takeaways (Class A5) make a valuable contribution to the viability of retail centres. 
However, the Borough Council seeks to prevent the over-concentration of these uses. The 
primary reason being that these uses are often closed during the day and operate mainly in the 
evening. The Council want to avoid the proliferation of inactive frontages within existing centres 
during the day that could have a negative impact on viability and vitality. Therefore, while Class 
A5 units are acceptable in principle in designated centres, any clustering is to be controlled. This 
will help to ensure that takeaways are more evenly distributed throughout centres which will 
lessen the effect of any daytime inactivity.   

 

161



 
86 

 

Policy RET7 Local Shops and Public Houses 
 
The change of use of local shops and public houses will not be permitted unless: 

1. Evidence is provided that shows that the existing use is no longer financially viable and that 
it has been adequately marketed as a going concern at a realistic price for a period of 18 
months; and  

2. That efforts have been undertaken to secure the viability of the facility through applications 
for grant aid, business advice and discussions with community groups, parish councils, the 
Borough Council, the County Council, and other national or local bodies with a direct interest 
in rural service provision 

Where the loss of a local shop or public house is to occur, preference will first be given to proposals 
for a change of use to another business or community operation.  

The partial change of use of a shop or public house, in order to diversify the existing business and 
maintain its financial viability, will be encouraged. Proposals must maintain and not prejudice the 
continued operation of the existing business. 

 
Reasoned Justification 

6.25. The Borough Council recognises the role played by village stores, local shops and public houses 
within residential areas of the settlements which serve the day-to-day needs of local 
communities, particularly those people who would find it difficult to use town centres such as the 
elderly, those with young children or without access to a car. 
 

6.26. The closure of a public house particularly where it is the only one in the settlement, would cause 
harm to the economic and social life of that settlement. Public houses may also provide food, and 
accommodation as well as being a meeting place for local groups and a good place for local 
advertising of public meetings or events. In tourist destinations, or on long distance footpath 
routes, the public house may also have a seasonal caravan or camping site, such facilities 
particularly where they are the only ones in the settlement, are important to visitors to the area. 
 

6.27. To assess applications for the change of use or redevelopment of existing village shops and public 
houses, the Borough Council will require a thorough analysis of the existing operation and the 
attempts taken to secure the future and viability of the business. 
 

6.28. Although outside of the planning process, regard should also be had to the Assets of Community 
Value where applicable to pubs and shops. The Localism Act 2011 provided the requirement for 
district councils to maintain a list of assets of community value, which can either be land or 
buildings, nominated by local community groups or parish councils. When listed assets come up 
for sale or change of ownership, the Act gives local community groups the time to develop a bid 
and raise the money to bid to buy the asset when it comes on the open market. The scheme is 
also known as the community right to bid. 

 

162



 
87 

 

Policy RET8 Agricultural/Horticultural Retail in the countryside 
 
Proposals for new farm shops and garden centres in the countryside will be permitted where they are 
directly related and ancillary to an existing agricultural or horticultural business and the majority of 
the produce/products for sale are produced on the premises or holding. 

Proposals for new farm shops that are not in accordance with the first requirement of this policy may 
be considered favourably where the majority of products sold would be produced in the local area 
and relate to agriculture, horticulture and other rural industries; where it can be demonstrated that 
there are no suitable alternative premises/sites in nearby settlements, and where the Council is 
satisfied that the proposal would not adversely affect the viability or vitality of local shopping facilities. 
 
Proposals for new garden centres and farm shops that are not in accordance with this policy will be 
considered against Policy RET4 of this plan. 

In all cases the proposal: 

1. Must not result in an adverse landscape impact or harm to the rural character of the area  
2. Must be well located in relation to the primary road network, and do not result in any 

adverse traffic impact 
3. Should, where possible and where worthy of retention based on their contribution of the 

character and amenity of the area, involve the appropriate conversion and re-use of existing 
buildings 

Special attention will be given to the siting, design and layout of buildings, structures and parking 
areas. The extent of buildings/ancillary structures, outdoor sales/display areas, and the range of 
goods which can be sold will be controlled.  The scale and scope of any additional services will be 
restricted to ensure that they are ancillary to the main use.  
 
 

Reasoned Justification 

6.29. This policy applies to proposals for retail development in the countryside that are related to 
agriculture or horticulture, such as garden centres and farm shops. The countryside for the 
purposes of this policy is defined as those parts of the Borough located outside of defined 
settlement boundaries. Any wider retail proposals, both in terms of use and location, will be 
considered using the other relevant retail policies in this plan.  

 
6.30. The Borough Council is supportive of retail development that is related to agricultural and 

horticultural produce and recognises the important role that this can play in the rural economy.  At 
the same time however there is a tendency for such retail uses to diversify the range of goods sold 
to a point where they have no specific locational need to be in the countryside and compete with 
the range of goods sold in local shopping centres. This policy seeks to manage the nature of the 
retail activities to ensure that developments remain compatible with their rural location and would 
not harm the vitality and viability of the Borough’s retail centres.  Proposals for new farm shops 
and garden centres will therefore only be acceptable in principle where they are directly related 

163



 
88 

 

and ancillary to an existing agricultural or horticultural business, and the majority of goods for sale 
are produced on the premises or holding.  For the purpose of this policy a majority is defined as a 
minimum of 60%.  Although it is accepted that a proportion of products will be imported from 
elsewhere, these must still be agricultural or horticultural produce or items directly related to these 
activities.   

 
6.31. The Council will seek to restrict, through the use of conditions, the range of goods sold to ensure 

that they are compliant with this policy.  Furthermore, any additional services such as cafes will be 
strictly controlled and will only be permitted where they are ancillary to the sale of plants, 
horticultural goods or food products grown on the property. 

 
6.32. To support the wider rural economy and to provide some flexibility in situations where it is not 

possible to provide a majority of products from the farm itself, or where a farm shop would be an 
entirely new entity (i.e. it is not ancillary to a farm), the Council may look favourably upon proposals 
that would act as an outlet for local farms, nurseries and other rural industries (for example rural 
crafts).  Such proposals will however only be acceptable where the products sold would be 
produced in the local area which is defined as the area within a 20 mile radius of the site.  
Furthermore, priority will always be given to premises/sites within settlements (rather than open 
countryside) and to the protection of local shopping facilities in settlements and retail centres.  
Proposals will therefore only be acceptable where there would be no conflict with these priorities.   

 
6.33. Garden centres in particular can have a significant impact on the rural landscape given the type of 

goods sold, the number of buildings and structures on the site, parking areas and advertisements. 
This policy seeks to mitigate this impact by ensuring that new proposals are focused on an existing 
built or derelict site such as a redundant group of farm buildings, and sited in such a way as to 
minimise its visual impact. The popularity of such centres means that highway issues are often 
critical. The Borough Council will seek to ensure that there is no adverse impact on the local 
highway network.   Farm shops often appropriate uses for redundant or under-used traditional 
buildings, particularly where a parking area can be created within a farmyard. Where this is not 
practicable, any new structures or buildings necessary for sales and storage must be small scale, 
designed and sited so as to be generally unobtrusive in the landscape. 

 
6.34. Proposals for new garden centres and farm shops that are not in accordance with RET8 will be 

considered in relation to Policies RET4 of this plan. 

 

Policy RET9 - Tewkesbury Town Regeneration 
 
Tewkesbury Borough Council will support proposals that contribute towards the regeneration of 
Tewkesbury Town Centre.  

The following sites are identified on the Policies Map as key redevelopment opportunities: 

164



 
89 

 

a) Healings Mill – this site is suitable for a mixture of uses including offices, research and 
development, light industrial, retail, restaurants, cafes, tourist related development, 
galleries/arts, conference facilities and residential. 

 
b) Spring Gardens – this site is suitable for a complementary mix of uses that add to the life and 

vitality of the town centre. A mixed use scheme is essential including retail and residential 
uses 
 

In all cases proposals will be expected to be in conformity with the relevant development principles 
and parameters set out in the Tewkesbury Masterplan Strategic Framework Document and, where 
appropriate, contribute towards the objectives and projects set out therein. 

 
Reasoned Justification  

6.35. The Tewkesbury Town Centre Masterplan Strategic Framework Document was published in 2012 
to set out the regeneration programme for the town centre. The document contains the 
overarching vision and objectives for the town, key themes and development principles, and the 
key physical regeneration projects. The Borough Council are in the process of refreshing the 
masterplan and intended to adopt it as a Supplementary Planning Document in 2018. 

 
6.36. Any proposals within the town centre, or that would impact on the viability and vitality of the 

town centre, will be expected to be in conformity with the ambitions and principles of the 
masterplan. In particular, proposals should not prejudice the delivery of the regeneration 
projects that are identified which are critical to the success of the town. 

  

165



 
90 

 

7. Quality Places 
 

Introduction 

7.1. The quality of the both the urban and natural environment is a fundamental characteristic of the 
excellent quality of life that is offered in the Borough. Maintaining and building on the quality of 
the environment is a vital component of achieving sustainable growth and increasing the 
attractiveness of the Borough as place to live, work and invest. New development has an 
important role to play in meeting this objective and there will be an expectation that high 
standards of design should be incorporated into all proposals. 
 

7.2. Through the National Planning Policy Framework the Government has attached great importance 
to the design of the built environment as well as conserving and enhancing the natural and 
historic environment. It endorses the fact that good design is a key aspect of sustainable 
development as requires local plans to develop robust and comprehensive policies to set out the 
expectations for the quality of development that will be expected.  
 

7.3. The Joint Core Strategy provides the overarching policies in regard to design and quality of the 
urban environment. Policy SD5: Design Requirements provides the key strategic design policy, 
and overarching framework, to which all new development proposals in the Borough should 
adhere to. In addition, Policy SD9: Historic Environment presents the strategic guidance for 
development relating to heritage issues. 
 

7.4. The role of the Borough Plan is to provide more locally specific guidance on design considerations 
that are important for the Borough.  
 

Policy DES1 Housing Space Standards 
 
Tewkesbury Borough Council adopts the Government’s nationally described space standards. All 
new residential development will be expected to meet these standards as a minimum.  

New residential development will be expected to make adequate provision for private outdoor 
amenity space appropriate to the size and potential occupancy of the dwellings proposed.  

 
Reasoned justification 

7.5. The Government introduced its nationally described space standards in March 2015 to provide a 
standardised approach to requirements and provided greater certainty for developers. The 
standards are set out at Appendix 1 to the plan. These are optional standards and the Borough 
Council has considered that there is a need to apply them in the area and that doing so would not 
compromise the viability of development. Evidence to support this is provided in the Tewkesbury 
Borough Plan - Housing Standards Background Paper.  

166



 
91 

 

7.6. These space standards will be applied to all residential development, across all types and tenures, 
to ensure that high quality homes are delivered that provide a sufficient amount of internal space 
appropriate for occupancy of the dwelling. 
 

7.7. The Borough Council recognise, however, that there may be some exceptional circumstances 
where the minimum space standards will not be physically achievable due to other design 
considerations. Good examples of this may be in the conversion of particular buildings (for 
example Listed Buildings, non-designated heritage assets and traditional rural buildings) whose 
existing structure would not allow for these standards to be achieved but the Council recognises 
the importance of bringing the building back into viable use (subject to policies HER3, HER6 and 
RES6 as appropriate). In these cases the Council may consider a different approach providing that 
it is fully justified by the applicant and is not due to over-concentration of units within a 
development.  
 

7.8. New residential development will also be expected to make adequate provision for private 
amenity outdoor space suitable to meet the needs of the occupants of that dwelling. This 
includes provision for communal amenity space for flats. As such, the amount of outdoor space 
provided should of a scale that reflects the size of the dwelling and the potential number of 
occupants. Although specific standards are not provided, as a general guide, individual houses 
should provide a garden of a minimum depth of 10m from the rear of the property. However this 
should be seen as a minimum and the garden size should be based on the size of the dwelling.  

 

Policy DES2 Street Signage & Furniture 
  
Proposals for new signage and street furniture should demonstrate a clear and identified need and 
seek to protect and enhance the character of the environment. Proposals will be required to take 
into consideration existing signage and street furniture in the streetscape, and should be designed 
and sited to avoid forming an obstruction or causing visual clutter  

Where new signage or street furniture is required then all opportunities should be taken to utilise 
existing structures for mounting, amalgamate street furniture, and remove any redundant items. 

The use of pedestrian guard rails and bollards will generally not be supported unless there is an 
unavoidable safety requirement for their installation.  

The installation of signage or street furniture that would obstruct a pedestrian walkway or cycle 
route will not be supported. 

 

Reasoned Justification 

7.9. Street signage and street furniture have an important function within the Borough in enhancing 
the experience of the visitor by providing clear information and directions as well as providing 
other essential facilities such as seating and bins.  Therefore it is recognised that this 

167



 
92 

 

infrastructure is important to the success and operation of town and village centres. However, 
the provision of street furniture also has the potential to detract from the quality of the 
environment and impact on accessibility if it is not implemented appropriately. The Borough 
Council will therefore seek the provision of well designed, high quality street furniture where 
there is an essential requirement for it. 
 

7.10. In judging whether a proposal is appropriate the Council will consider how the development 
would impact on visual amenity, particularly with regard to existing street furniture in the 
vicinity, to avoid unnecessary clutter. The Council will also consider if the implementation of any 
street furniture would have a negative impact on accessibility and ease of movement for all 
users. Opportunities for betterment, where street furniture can be improved or consolidated, will 
be encouraged.  

 

Policy DES3 Advertisements, Signs & Notice Boards 
 
Advertisements, signs and notice boards will only be permitted where they are well sited, in scale 
and character with, and of a design appropriate to, the building and the locality.  

Directional signs for businesses, while not appropriate in a village or town street, may be acceptable 
in rural areas where there is no conflict with visual amenity and public safety provided that any such 
signs are kept to the minimum necessary (normally only one sign), and purely serve to inform 
customers as to the location of the business without containing additional extraneous information. 
Any illumination must be appropriate to its location. 

 
Reasoned Justification 

7.11. While signs and advertisements have an important role to play in benefiting both commerce and 
customers, and in many areas can provide life and interest to the street scene, at the same time 
Tewkesbury Borough Council is committed to ensuring that signage and advertising of an 
inappropriate design does not detract from the quality of either individual buildings, a shopping 
street, village centre or the surrounding area. 
 

7.12. Within rural areas off-site signs providing directions to businesses can quickly produce an 
unsightly impact within the countryside and are generally inappropriate. However, advance signs 
which direct customers to facilities within rural areas located away from main roads and which 
rely on casual visitors may be appropriate, provided that such signs simply sign the location of the 
business without any additional information or advertisements. 
 

7.13. The use of sensitive design in all areas need not compromise the purpose of the advertisement in 
attracting attention to a specific facility. In all cases Tewkesbury Borough Council will not grant 
consent for poorly sited or badly designed advertisements which can have an adverse impact 
over a wide area, and could also create an unfortunate precedent. 
 

168



 
93 

 

7.14. To be acceptable proposals must demonstrate that they are of high quality design, permanent 
appearance and of a size which does not detract from the visual amenity of either the building to 
which it is to be attached, or the immediate locality. Signs combining more than one 
advertisement are often preferable. It is very unlikely that signs extending above fascia level will 
be acceptable.  
 

7.15. Particular consideration will be given to the potential impact of illuminated signs. Where such 
illumination is acceptable, preference will be given to external as opposed to internal means of 
illumination. 
 

Policy DES4 Shopfronts 
 
Proposals for new shopfronts, or for alterations to existing shopfronts, including any signage, should 
be of a scale, style and use materials that are visually appropriate both to the buildings to which they 
relate and the character of the surrounding area.  

In conservation areas and on listed buildings historic shopfronts should be retained and restored 
where possible and new features should be in keeping with the traditional features of the building 
and/or area. 
 

Reasoned Justification 

7.16. The style of shopfronts plays an important role in the townscape. Where possible, improvements 
will be sought to remedy poor design in an existing shopfront. Particular attention will also be 
paid to the colour and finish as well as the lettering styles used in proposed designs. The 
increasing incidence of proposals for security grilles and shutters is a particular cause of concern 
because of their adverse visual impact upon the street scene. Blinds or canopies of inappropriate 
materials, colour or form can seriously damage the visual integrity of a building and/or 
streetscape to the detriment of the conservation area. 
 

7.17. The Borough Council will publish a Shop Front Design Guide that will be a Supplementary 
Planning Document. This will provide additional detail to this policy on how proposals affecting 
shop fronts can achieve high quality design standards. All proposals relating to shop fronts will be 
required to be consistent with this guidance.   
 

Policy HER1 Conservation Areas 
 
Proposals for development in or within the setting of conservation area will need to have particular 
regard to the potential impact on its character and setting. New development will be expected to 
preserve or enhance the character and appearance of conservation areas through high quality 
design and use of appropriate materials. 

Proposals will be required to demonstrate a thorough understanding of the significance, character 
and setting of conservation areas and how this has informed proposals, to achieve high quality new 

169



 
94 

 

design which is respectful of historic interest and local character. Proposals should reflect any 
conservation area appraisals and management plans. 

Special attention should be given to the protection and enhancement of historic features which 
contribute towards the area’s townscape and historic character. This includes the retention and use 
of traditional materials.  

Full details of design and materials to be used will normally be required for development in 
conservation areas. Therefore, outline planning applications will generally not be appropriate. 

 
Reasoned Justification 

7.18. Tewkesbury Borough contains a number of Conservation Areas that have been designated for 
their special architectural and historical important. It is critical that these areas are protected in 
order to safeguard the features that make them special. The Borough Council will therefore only 
grant permission for development which respects and maintains the integrated of Conservation 
Areas.  The following Conservation Areas are designated in the Borough: Ashleworth, Bishops 
Cleeve, Buckland, Church End, Dumbleton, Forthampton, Great Washbourne, Gretton, Laverton, 
Snowhill, Stanton, Tewkesbury, Winchcombe and Woodmancote.  The precise location and 
extent of the Conservation Areas will be shown on the Policies Map when published. 
 

7.19. The character of a Conservation Area is the sum of many factors, all of which need to be 
considered when establishing proposals for new development. Any relevant conservation areas 
appraisals and management plans should be consulted at an early stage to inform new proposals. 
 

7.20. In considering whether planning permission should be granted for a proposed development 
within a conservation area, design and siting detail will always be important factors. These should 
be appropriate to the character, scale, style and materials of the existing building(s) and its 
setting. New development of an inappropriate design or materials, or in an unsuitable location 
will not be supported by the Council. The use of appropriate traditional window and door designs 
which are sympathetic to the design of historic buildings is particularly important in maintaining 
the attractiveness of a conservation area. Additionally, the removal of established trees in 
conservation areas can harm the visual quality of the area being conserved. 
 

7.21. An assessment of the appropriateness of a proposal within the conservation area can only be 
properly considered in the context of a full planning application. Clear, accurate and detail 
drawings are essential which show the proposed development in its townscape context or 
setting. In the interests of ensuring that development contributes positively to preserving and 
enhancing the character and appearance of conservation areas, the availability of contextual 
information should provide a clearer view of the likely impact of development proposals for 
effective decision making.  
 

 

170



 
95 

 

Policy HER2 Listed Buildings 
 
Alterations, extensions or changes of use to Listed Buildings, or development within their setting, 
will be expected to have no adverse impact on those elements which contribute to their special 
architectural or historic interest, including their settings.  

Any proposals which adversely affect such elements or result in the significant loss of historic fabric 
will not be permitted. 

Any alterations, extensions or repairs to the Listed Buildings should normally be carried out using the 
traditional materials and building techniques of the existing building.  

 

Reasoned Justification 

7.22. Tewkesbury Borough Council has a statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving any listed building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses. The character of such buildings is easily damaged by inappropriate 
building work which pays no regard to the building’s materials. In particular, the appearance of 
historic buildings has in the past been adversely affected by the unsympathetic replacement of 
doors and windows. In determining planning applications that affect such buildings the Borough 
Council will have particular regard to the extent to which the proposal enhances the significance 
of the heritage asset. Care must also be taken in relation to respecting the setting of listed 
buildings. 
 

7.23. Maintenance and alteration work should where possible be carried out using appropriate 
materials for the building concerned. This includes the use of lime rather than cement mortars 
and the use of stone, slate, brick and clay tile rather than reconstituted products. Timber frames 
are particularly vulnerable to the damaging effect of repairs using unyielding modern structural 
members which can cause destructive stresses as the building “breathes” with changing 
temperature and humidity. Technical advice, or information on where to obtain it will be offered 
by the Council’s Conservation Officer and/or English Heritage. This policy will apply to both 
planning and listed building consent applications.  
 

7.24. Tewkesbury Borough Council will support the change of use of listed buildings and where the 
alternative use is compatible with and will preserve the character and appearance of the building 
and its setting. 
 

7.25. There are over 1800 Listed Buildings in the Borough.  The location and details of these can be 
found at https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/  
and http://www.natureonthemap.naturalengland.org.uk/MagicMap.aspx.    

 

 

171

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/
http://www.natureonthemap.naturalengland.org.uk/MagicMap.aspx


 
96 

 

Policy HER3 Historic Parks and Gardens 
 
Development proposals affecting historic parks and gardens, as identified on the Policies Map, will 
be considered against the following criteria: 

1. Development that would destroy, damage or otherwise adversely affect the character 
appearance or setting of historic parks and gardens (including those identified as being of 
special historic interest), or any of their features will not normally be permitted. 

2. Planting schemes which enhance, manage or re-create features of historic parkland and 
gardens and associated landscape will be encouraged. 

 

Reasoned Justification 

7.26. Historic parks and gardens should be safeguarded from development that would destroy them or 
adversely affect their character. English Heritage has published a Register of Parks and Gardens of 
Special Historic Interest. There are 6 such parks and gardens within Tewkesbury Borough and 
these are as follows: 

• Highnam Court 

• Snowshill Manor 

• Stanway House 

• Sudeley Castle 

• Toddington Manor 

• Tewkesbury Cemetery  

7.27. Management of historic landscapes is also needed including the re-establishment of traditional 
farming methods and the restoration of landscapes damaged by previous development or 
neglect. Regard should also be taken of the wildlife interest of parkland, and appropriate 
management undertaken of features important for nature conservation. 

 

Policy HER4 Archaeological Sites and Scheduled Ancient Monuments  
 
Scheduled Ancient Monuments and sites of national archaeological importance will be preserved in 
situ. Development which adversely affects these sites and their setting will not be permitted. 

Development proposals should seek to preserve any non-designated assets of archaeological 
interest. In those cases where this is not justifiable or feasible, provision should be made for 
excavation and recording with an appropriate assessment and evaluation. The appropriate 
publication/curation of findings will be expected. 

172



 
97 

 

 
Reasoned Justification 

7.28. Sites of national archaeological importance and scheduled ancient monuments within the 
Borough form an important part of the area’s character and heritage. These assets must be 
preserved in situ due to their historical significance.  There are 56 Scheduled Ancient Monuments 
in the Borough.  The location and details of these can be found 
at https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/ 
and http://www.natureonthemap.naturalengland.org.uk/MagicMap.aspx  
 

7.29. There are, however, many other sites of non-designated archaeological assets across the Borough 
that also make a valuable contribution to the area’s heritage. Proposals for new development 
should to preserve these where possible. However, if this is not feasible or justifiable then as a 
minimum the Borough Council will expect there to be a programme of archaeological 
investigation. Its scope will depend on the results of any assessment and may include survey, 
excavation, recording or a watching brief, and the analysis, archiving and publication as is 
appropriate. 
 

7.30. Non-designated archaeological assets that are demonstrably of equivalent significance to 
scheduled monuments will be subject to the first provision of Policy HE5 and any development 
which adversely affects such assets will not be permitted. 
 

7.31. The Gloucestershire County Council Historic Environment Record should be consulted in order to 
obtain an indication of the archaeological significance of potential development sites. The County 
Council should be consulted with at an early stage and will also be able to advise on whether any 
further investigation will be necessary. The results of this evaluation, together with proposals for 
the treatment of identified archaeological remains, should be submitted in support of a planning 
application. 

 

Policy HER5 Locally Important Heritage Assets 
 
Locally Important Heritage Assets will be conserved having regard to the significance of the asset 
and its contribution to the historic character of the area.  

Proposals affecting a Locally Important Heritage Asset and/or its setting will be expected to sustain 
or enhance the character, appearance and significance of the asset. 

Proposals that seek the preservation and/or enhancement of these assets will be encouraged.  

Historically important groups of farm buildings will be protected from proposals for destructive 
development or demolition.   

 
 

173

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/
http://www.natureonthemap.naturalengland.org.uk/MagicMap.aspx


 
98 

 

Reasoned Justification 

7.32. Across Tewkesbury Borough there are a wide range of locally important heritage assets that do 
not benefit from a national statutory designation such as Listed Building status. However, these 
assets still have an important contribution to the heritage of the area and the character of the 
environment. These non-designated assets will be identified on the Council’s ‘Local List’ which it 
intends to publish in due course. The retention and preservation of these heritage assets will be 
sought and proposals to conserve them will be supported. Any proposals to remove or alter these 
assets will be assessed against the significance of the asset, the impact on the features that make 
the asset important and impact that the proposal would have on wider the character of the area.  
 

Policy HER6 Tewkesbury (1471) Historic Battlefield 
 
Development will be expected to conserve, and where appropriate enhance, the significance of the 
registered site of the battle of Tewkesbury (1471) and its setting. 

The development of tourism infrastructure which is related to the battlefield will be supported in 
principle.  

Proposals that cause substantial harm or loss to the registered site should be wholly exceptional. In 
such cases development will not be supported unless it can be demonstrated that the harm or loss is 
necessary to achieve significant public benefits that outweigh its preservation. 

 
Reasoned Justification 

7.33. The site of the Battle of Tewkesbury (1471) is registered by Historic England. It is a nationally 
important historic asset and of huge significance to the both Tewkesbury Town and the wider 
Borough. The Borough Council will therefore not support any proposals that would cause 
substantial loss or harm of the site. As such, in general new development will not be appropriate. 
  

7.34. It is recognised, however, that some tourist-related development that supports the battlefield as 
a tourism and education attraction may be appropriate. The public benefits of this may outweigh 
the outright preservation of the registered site. However, any new development must be of a 
high quality design that is sympathetic to the historic nature of the battlefield and sensitively 
designed to reduce impact of the historic landscape.  

174



 
99 

 

8.  The Natural Environment    
 
Introduction 

8.1. The NPPF advises that planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural 
and local environment by (inter alia) protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of 
biodiversity or geological value and soils; recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the 
countryside, and the wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services; minimising 
impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity; 
preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk 
from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of pollution or land instability; and 
remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and unstable land, where 
appropriate. 
 

8.2. The JCS provides a set of overarching policies in respect of landscape protection (Policy SD6), the 
AONB (SD7), Biodiversity and Geodiversity (SD9), Health and Environmental Quality (SD14), Flood 
Risk Management (INF2), Green Infrastructure (INF3) and Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 
(INF5).  In most respects this policy framework is comprehensive enough to ensure the delivery of 
high quality, sustainable development within Tewkesbury Borough.  There are however a number 
of non-strategic, local level constraints and issues that require further detailed policies to be made 
within this plan.      

 
Policy LAN1 Special Landscape Areas 
 
Proposals for new development within Special Landscape Areas, as identified on the Policies Map, will 
be permitted providing:   

• The proposal would not cause harm to those features of the landscape character which are of 
significance; 

• The proposal maintains the quality of the natural and built environment and its visual 
attractiveness; 

• All reasonable opportunities for the enhancement of landscape character and the local 
environment are sought.  

Where a proposal would result in harm to the Special Landscape Area having regard to the above 
criteria, this harm should be weighed against the need for, and benefits from, the proposed 
development.  Proposals causing harm to the Special Landscape Area will only be permitted where 
the benefits from the development would clearly and demonstrably outweigh the identified harm. 

 

Reasoned justification 

8.3. Special Landscape Areas (SLA) are a local landscape designation originally introduced through the 
Gloucestershire Structure Plan in 1982.  They are defined as areas of high quality countryside of 

175



 
100 

 

local significance.  While SLAs are of a quality worthy of protection in their own right, they also 
play a role in protecting the foreground setting for the adjacent Cotswolds AONB.  The SLA is 
defined where the topography is a continuation of the adjacent AONB and/or where the 
vegetation and associated features are characteristic of the AONB. For the above reasons the 
Council considers the SLA to be a valued landscape having regard to paragraph 170 of the NPPF. 
 

8.4. The boundaries of the SLA are identified by breaks of slope, or the inclusion of the foreground 
setting to a change of slope and will follow identifiable physical features including ditches, rivers 
and streams, hedgerows and field boundaries, woodland edges, roads, public rights of way and 
tracks, railway lines and settlement edges.  The Tewkesbury Borough Plan does not intend to alter 
the extent of the SLA from that featured in the Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011. 
  

8.5. In assessing whether developments are appropriate it must be recognised that the Cotswold 
landscape is not uniform in character, and includes various forms of landscape type each with its 
own distinctive topography, vegetation and visual characteristics. Further information on the 
various landscape character types within the SLA can be found within the Gloucestershire 
Landscape Character Assessment and the Cotswolds AONB Landscape Character Assessment.   

8.6. Proposals within the SLA should be landscape led and must enable the protection of those 
features of the landscape character which are of significance.  Proposals should also seek 
appropriate opportunities to enhance the landscape character and the natural and built 
environment; for example through appropriate new planting that is compatible with the relevant 
landscape character type; and through the use of natural, vernacular materials for external 
building finishes and boundary treatments.   
 

8.7. In cases where the impact of a proposed development on the setting of the AONB is a potential 
issue regard must also be had to AONB Policy within the Joint Core Strategy, the policies set out 
Cotswolds AONB Management Plan and guidance within the Cotswolds AONB Landscape Character 
Assessment and the Cotswolds AONB Landscape Strategy and Guidelines.   

 

Policy LAN2 Landscape Protection Zone 
 
Within the Landscape Protection Zone, as identified on the Policies Map, special protection is given to 
the ecology and visual amenity of the river environment.  In considering proposals for new 
development within the Landscape Protection Zone regard will be had to the following, as 
appropriate: 

• The visual and ecological effect of the new development on the river banks or the associated 
landscape setting of the Severn Vale; 

• The impact of the development on the water environment; 
• Whether the proposal would enable the protection of important landscape and 

environmental features within the designated area; 
• Whether reasonable opportunities for the enhancement of the environment and landscape 

are sought, including appropriate provision for improved public access 

176



 
101 

 

Where a proposal would result in harm to the Landscape Protection Zone having regard to the above 
criteria, this harm should be weighed against the need for, and benefits from, the proposed 
development.  Proposals causing harm to the Landscape Protection Zone will only be permitted where 
the benefits from the development would clearly and demonstrably outweigh the identified harm. 

 
Reasoned Justification 

8.8. The local authority recognises the ecological and amenity importance of the river area around the 
Severn, at the confluence of the Severn and Avon and along the Chelt and Leadon valleys and as 
such considers the area worthy of designation as a Landscape Protection Zone. 
 

8.9. The Landscape Protection Zone seeks to protect, enhance and conserve the riparian landscape of 
the river valley including the floodplain, tributaries lined with trees, adjacent hills and areas of 
visual and ecological importance, such as woodland, orchards, copses, hedgerows, key wildlife 
sites, parkland areas and examples of traditional vernacular architecture, all of which contribute 
to the overall landscape quality and character of the area.  Many of the natural landscape features 
within the LPZ are identified as habitats of principal importance under Section 41 of the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act (priority habitats).  In particular the LPZ contains large 
areas of coastal and floodplain grazing marsh; a priority habitat forming part of the Strategic 
Nature Areas identified on the Gloucestershire Nature Map; in addition to numerous traditional 
orchards, lowland meadows and areas of deciduous woodland amongst other priority habitats.  
For the above reasons the Council considers the LPZ to be a valued landscape having regard to 
paragraph 170 of the NPPF.  The Tewkesbury Borough Plan does not intend to alter the extent of 
the LPZ from that featured in the Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011.  
 

8.10. Proposals within the LPZ should be landscape led and should enable the protection and, where 
appropriate, enhancement of those features which contribute to the landscape quality and 
ecological value of the area.  A particular focus for enhancements may be through the restoration 
and recreation of priority habitats within the LPZ in order to reverse habitat fragmentation, 
although smaller scale improvements can still make an important contribution to enhancing the 
overall quality of the Landscape Protection Area.  Further policy on priority habitats is provided at 
Policy NAT1.The local authority will also encourage improvements to public access within the LPZ 
providing there is no adverse impact on the environment and will encourage the retention and 
replacement of natural features. 
 

8.11. The identification of the LPZ aims to protect the distinct landscape associated with the rivers 
within the Borough.  The policy is specifically concerned with the protection of the ecology of the 
area, the appearance of the landscape and the safeguarding of the water environment.   

 

Policy LAN3 Strategic Gaps 
 
The council will protect the strategic gaps identified on the Policies Map to help retain the separate 
identity, character and/or landscape setting of settlements and prevent their coalescence. 

177



 
102 

 

Development within strategic gaps as shown on the Policies Map will only be permitted where:  

• the open or undeveloped character of the gap would not be significantly adversely affected;  

• the separate identity and character of the settlements would not be harmed; and  

• the landscape setting of the settlements would not be harmed.  

The likely impact of the proposal in conjunction with any other developments with extant planning 
permission will be taken into account. 

 

Reasoned Justification 

8.12. Strategic gaps are required in order to help to protect the separate identity, character and 
landscape setting of a number of settlements between which there is open land that may be 
subject to development pressures. 
 

8.13. The following strategic gaps are identified on the Policies Map: 
• Land between Bishops Cleeve and Gotherington 
• Land between Twyning and Church End 
• Land between Winchcombe and Greet  

 
8.14. With regard to land between Bishops Cleeve and Gotherington, the Landscape and Visual 

Sensitivity Study for the Rural Service Centres and Service Villages (LVSS) (Toby Jones Associates 
Ltd, November 2014) identifies that this area (parcels Bish-01 and Goth-01) is overlooked from 
elevated vantages including national trails, popular viewpoints and the heritage railway, and finds 
the parcel to be of high visual sensitivity due to its important role in separating Bishops Cleeve from 
Gotherington. 
 

8.15. With regard to land between Twyning and Church End, Policy ENV2 of the Twyning Neighbourhood 
Plan (2011-2031) requires that development proposals should ensure the retention of the open 
character of the countryside between Twyning Village and Church End and not detract from this 
open and undeveloped character.  Furthermore, it is considered that this area contributes to the 
open rural setting of Church End’s Conservation Area. 
 

8.16. With regard to land between Winchcombe and Greet, the LVSS finds the landscape character 
sensitivity of this area to be high as it provides a sense of openness between the two settlements.  
Further to this the Winchcombe Town Landscape Sensitivity Study (Toby Jones Associates Ltd, 
November 2014) finds that new development within this area would have an important adverse 
effect on local landscape character and an important adverse effect on visual receptors as it would 
reduce the sense of separation between Greet and Winchcombe.  
       

8.17. For the reasons stated above it is considered to be important to protect the identified gaps from 
development which would adversely affect their open, undeveloped character; reduce the 
separation between the named settlements; and harm their landscape setting.   

178



 
103 

 

8.18. Whilst the policies elsewhere in this plan provide some control of development in the countryside, 
they do allow for exceptions such as rural exception sites, certain forms of employment 
development and tourism related development to name a few. 
 

8.19. As such there is a risk that, without the added protection of strategic gaps, the separate identity 
and character of the settlements, and/or their landscape setting would be significantly adversely 
affected. There would particularly be a risk of gradual incremental development, and where the 
gap is narrow there would be a potential risk of coalescence of the settlements. 
 

8.20. Strategic gaps are not intended to prevent all forms of development and will inevitably include 
some development already. There may be opportunities, through appropriate location, siting and 
design, to accommodate some new development in a strategic gap without significantly adversely 
affecting the open or undeveloped character of the gap, or harming the separate identity and 
character of the settlements, or their landscape setting (i.e. by locating some limited development 
within an existing group of buildings or by re-using or redeveloping existing buildings). 

 

Policy LAN4 Locally Important Open Spaces 
 
Locally Important Open Spaces (as identified on the Policies Map) will be protected from new 
development that would adversely affect their open character and appearance.  

Development resulting in an adverse effect on the open character and appearance of a Locally 
Important Open Space will only be permitted where it would result in benefits to the community that 
would outweigh the importance of the open space.   

 

Reasoned justification   

8.21. The Borough Council considers that the reduction or loss of the defined Locally Important Open 
spaces may adversely affect the character and setting of the settlements in which they are 
located. These areas are considered to be of amenity value to the public, clearly visible and 
important to the character of the settlement and the street scene. Appendix 2 lists the Important 
Open Spaces together with a summary of their reason for designation. 
 

8.22. Examples of areas identified as important open spaces are where the land is a focal point in the 
street scene, provides the setting for a landmark building, such as a church, or forms a landscaped 
edge to the built up area of a settlement. 
 

8.23. It should be noted that a number of the Locally Important Open spaces are subject to other 
planning policy or environmental constraints which may act to preclude them from development 
(i.e. playing pitches, heritage assets and land at high risk of flooding).  Policy LAN4 must therefore 
be applied in the context of these other policies and constraints. 
 

179



 
104 

 

8.24. Where a proposal includes the loss of Locally Important Open Spaces opportunities will be sought 
for compensatory provision where possible. The replacement should be of similar type and use of 
the space being loss and should be provided as close to the original space as possible. The ability 
for a development to provide satisfactory compensation may be a factor in weighing the harm of 
the development against the loss of the open space.  
 

8.25. Proposals involving the loss of Locally Important Open Spaces should also have regard to Policy 
RCN1 of this plan where the open space also performs a role as outdoor play space.  
 

Policy LAN5 Local Green Spaces 
 
Local Green Spaces will be protected from development unless the development proposed would 
clearly enhance the area for the purpose it was designated and is demonstrably supported by the local 
community. All other forms of development will not be permitted unless there are very special 
circumstances where the public benefits of the development proposed would outweigh the harm that 
would be caused to the Local Green Space. 

 

Reasoned justification 

8.26. The following sites, as identified on the Policies Map, are designated as Local Green Space in their 
respective Neighbourhood Plans: 
 

• Freeman Field, Gotherington (Gotherington Neighbourhood Plan) 
• The Dell and land between the River Isbourne and the B4632, Winchcombe 

(Winchcombe and Sudeley Neighbourhood Plan) 
 

8.27. Further Local Green Spaces may be identified in Neighbourhood Plans providing they meet the 
relevant criteria within the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

8.28. The assessment of harm to Local Green Spaces requires consideration of the reasons for the 
designation of the site within the relevant Neighbourhood Plan. 
 

Policy NAT1 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Important Natural Features 
 
Development proposals that will conserve, and where possible restore and/or enhance, biodiversity 
will be permitted. 

Proposals affecting internationally designated nature conservation sites will only be permitted where 
the proposal is directly connected with or necessary to the site’s management for nature 
conservation; or where the proposal would not adversely affect the integrity of the site or have a 
significant effect on its important interest features.   

180



 
105 

 

Development likely to result in the loss, deterioration or harm to features, habitats or species of 
importance to biodiversity, environmental quality or geological conservation, either directly or 
indirectly, will not be permitted unless: 

a) the need for, and benefits of the development clearly outweigh its likely impact on the local 
environment, or the nature conservation value or scientific interest of the site; 

b) it can be demonstrated that the development could not reasonably be located on an 
alternative site with less harmful impacts; and 

c) measures can be provided (and secured through planning conditions or legal agreements), 
that would avoid, mitigate against or, as a last resort, compensate for the adverse effects likely 
to result from development. 

The level of protection and mitigation should be proportionate to the status of the feature, habitat or 
species and its importance individually and as part of a wider network.   

 
Reasoned Justification 

8.29. The features, habitats and species of importance to environmental quality, biodiversity and 
geological conservation considered in relation to points a) to c) of Policy NAT1 include: 

• Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs); 
• legally protected species; 
• Local Sites, including Key Wildlife Sites, Regionally Important 

Geological/geomorphological sites and any new Local Nature Reserves; 
• species or habitats of principal importance recognised in the Biodiversity Action Plan or 

listed under Section 41 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 
(priority habitats and species); 

• trees, woodlands, and hedgerows (where they are considered to be of sufficient value), 
ancient woodland (including semi-natural and replanted woodland), aged and veteran 
trees and historic orchards; and 

• ponds, where these make an important contribution to the quality of the environment 
and its biodiversity resource 
 

8.30. Development proposals where the primary objective is to conserve or enhance biodiversity will be 
encouraged. Where there are opportunities for enhancements which benefit nature conservation 
and biodiversity appropriate measures to secure them will be sought through new development.  
Development that would cause significant harm to biodiversity, which cannot be mitigated or (as 
a last resort) adequately compensated for, will be refused. 
 

8.31. The internationally designated nature conservation sites in Tewkesbury Borough are the Cotswold 
Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation (SAC) in Brockworth and Great Witcombe parishes, and 
the Dixton Wood SAC in Alderton parish.  Development that has potential to have a likely significant 
effect these internationally designated sites (either alone or in combination with other plans and 
projects) will be subject to a Habitats Regulations Assessment.  The provisions of NAT1 in relation 
to internationally designated nature conservation sites relate also to possible Special Areas of 

181



 
106 

 

Conservation, potential Special Protection Areas, and sites identified or acquired for compensatory 
measures for adverse effects on these sites or on designated European sites.  
 

8.32. The Borough also contains a substantial number of sites identified by Natural England as being of 
Special Scientific Interest. These sites are given statutory protection under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 as amended; their interest is of national importance. 
  

8.33. The nature of sites vary widely from those of geological interest e.g. Cotswold quarries, to small 
sites containing rare plant species. The advice of Natural England will be sought on the likely effects 
of development on or adjacent to SSSI’s, in the circumstances outlined in S281 of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Policy NAT1 will apply to any further nationally designated sites as 
designated in the future. 
 

8.34. The location and details of the SACs and SSSIs in the Borough can be found 
at http://www.natureonthemap.naturalengland.org.uk/MagicMap.aspx.  
 

8.35. There are also a considerable number of sites within the Borough of regional or local nature 
conservation or geological/geomorphological importance, including those designated as ‘Key 
Wildlife Sites’, ‘Local Nature Reserves’ or ‘Regionally Important Geological / Geomorphological 
Sites’.  The details of these are provided at Appendix 3.  These local sites encompass a very wide 
range of habitats, species and features which warrant protection in order to safeguard biodiversity 
and the environmental quality of the area. Policy NAT1 will also give protection to any further Key 
Wildlife Sites which may be identified by Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust in the future and any new 
Regionally Important Geological Sites identified by the Geology Trusts.  It also gives protection to 
any Local Nature Reserves created by the Borough Council or the Town and Parish Councils within 
the Borough.  
 

8.36. Priority species and habitats cover a wide range of species and semi-natural habitat types, and 
were those that were identified as being the most threatened and requiring conservation action 
under the UK Biodiversity Action Plan.  Where legally protected species, priority species or priority 
habitat are or are likely to be present on a proposed development site, an ecological survey will 
be required in order to determine the extent and value of the feature.  The indicative location of 
Priority Habitats within the Borough can be identified using DEFRA’s Magic Map Service 
at http://www.natureonthemap.naturalengland.org.uk/MagicMap.aspx . The known presence of 
priority habitats and species for a given area can be obtained from the Gloucestershire Centre for 
Environmental Records (GCER).   
 

8.37. A number of the priority habitats within Tewkesbury Borough form part of Strategic Nature Areas 
on the Gloucestershire Nature Map.  These identify landscape-scale areas where there is 
opportunity for both the maintenance and, crucially, the restoration/expansion of Priority Habitat. 
The aim of Strategic Nature Areas is to highlight and thus provide the opportunity to link existing 
areas rich in wildlife and to improve a percentage of intervening land for biodiversity. In accordance 
with Policy SD9 of the JCS the Borough Council will seek to secure improvements to Strategic 
Nature Areas through new development wherever possible and appropriate to do so.   

182

http://www.natureonthemap.naturalengland.org.uk/MagicMap.aspx
http://www.natureonthemap.naturalengland.org.uk/MagicMap.aspx


 
107 

 

8.38. The term ‘environmental quality’ for the purposes of this policy refers to both the built and natural 
environments and encompasses the landscape, townscape and amenity of the relevant area.  It 
should be noted that landscape features may also be subject to other statutory provisions, for 
example Tree Preservation Orders and the Hedgerow Regulations.  Policy NAT1 automatically 
applies to trees protected by a Tree Preservation Order or located within a Conservation Area; 
and hedgerows that meet the “important hedgerow” criteria in the Hedgerow Regulations.  Other 
non-protected landscape features (including trees, hedgerows and woodland) will however be 
subject to the requirements of the policy where they are of sufficient value (by virtue of their 
contribution to the quality of the local environment) to warrant their protection. 
 

8.39. Where trees within or adjacent to a site could be affected by development, a full tree survey and 
arboricultural impact assessment to BS 5837 will be required as part of the planning application. 
This needs to be carried out at a sufficiently early stage to determine the value of trees and inform 
the design of the development. The implementation of any protective measures it identifies will 
be secured by the use of planning conditions. 
 

8.40. This policy does not prevent the appropriate management of trees and woodlands or the removal 
of low value trees, hedgerows and other landscape features that do not make an important 
contribution to the quality of the local environment.  
 

8.41. In some cases, the loss of trees and hedgerows may be unavoidable and outweighed by the benefits 
of the development.  In such cases compensatory planting will be required on or near the site.  
Appropriate tree species should be selected and arrangements made for the long-term 
management of the new trees.  Proposals involving new and replacement landscape features 
should also, where appropriate, have regard to the relevant landscape character types within the 
Gloucestershire Landscape Character Assessment and the Cotswolds AONB Landscape Character 
Assessment.   
 

8.42. Similarly, in some cases harm to features, habitats and species of importance to biodiversity and 
geological conservation cannot be avoided and the public benefits of the proposal may outweigh 
the importance of the biodiversity/geodiversity interest involved.  In all such cases adequate 
mitigation will be required within the development site where possible, however where this is not 
feasible it may be more appropriate to deliver offsite measures through legal agreements and 
landscape scale projects. Appropriate mitigation/compensatory measures should demonstrate no 
net loss of the relevant local biodiversity/geodiversity resource in the short and long-term, and be 
delivered as close to the development site as possible to avoid the degradation of local ecological 
networks or ‘ecosystem services’. 
 

8.43. Proposals that are likely to result in a significant effect on European Protected Species will need to 
satisfy the requirements of the Habitat Regulations in addition to the requirements of NAT1.  

 

 

183



 
108 

 

Policy NAT2 The Water Environment 
 
In pursuance of the objectives of the Water Framework Directive the Council will, where practical, 
seek appropriate opportunities offered by new development proposals to recreate more natural 
conditions and new habitat along watercourses, for example by requiring; the de-culverting, 
restoration or re-profiling of watercourses; the removal of barriers to fish migration; or the integration 
of watercourses with wider green/blue infrastructure networks. 

 
Reasoned justification 

8.44. There are a number of watercourses within the Borough that have been subject to past 
modification through culverting, canalisation and straightening. Such modifications can have a 
detrimental impact on the environment due to the loss of environmental features associated with 
the watercourse. The continuity of the river corridor is broken, adversely affecting the landscape 
and ecological value of the watercourse and inhibiting the migration of some species. Culverting in 
particular can result in the removal of species and river features such as earth banks with 
associated vegetation, invertebrate communities and fish.  
 

8.45. The Water Framework Directive (WFD) establishes a legal framework for the protection, 
improvement and sustainable use of water bodies across Europe and applies to all surface water 
bodies, including rivers, streams, brooks, lakes, estuaries and canals, coastal waters out to one mile 
from low water, and groundwater bodies.  One of the objectives of the WFD is to conserve aquatic 
ecosystems, habitats and species.  The WFD aims to achieve at least ‘good’ status for all 
waterbodies by 2015 however this has not been possible. The Environment Agency is therefore 
aiming to achieve good status in at least 60% of waters by 2021 and in as many waters as possible 
by 2027.  Surface waterbody status is determined by its chemical and ecological status, with the 
former being based on chemical quality and concentrations for specific water pollutants, and the 
latter based on its biological elements such as fish and insect life and hydromorphological and 
physio-chemical elements such as phosphorus, temperature, dissolved oxygen and pH. 
 

8.46. Whilst most, if not all, of the Borough’s waterbodies are already achieving good chemical status as 
of 2016, the ecological status of its waterbodies is in many cases only moderate with some being 
of poor.  The restoration and recreation of more natural conditions along modified watercourses 
will provide a wider range of habitats, not only within the watercourse itself but also on the banks 
and in the floodplain.  This will make an important contribution towards waterbodies achieving 
good ecological status and therefore good overall status.  
 

Policy NAT3 – Green Infrastructure: Building with Nature 

Development must contribute, where appropriate to do so and at a scale commensurate to the 
proposal, towards the provision, protection and enhancement of the wider green infrastructure 
network.  

184



 
109 

 

All proposals for green infrastructure will be expected to be designed in accordance with the ‘Building 
with Nature’ standards.  

 
Reasoned Justification 

8.47. JCS Policy INF3 provides the strategic guidance on what is expected from new development in 
regard to green infrastructure provision. All development should contribute towards the provision, 
improvement and maintenance of the green infrastructure network across the Borough where 
appropriate to do so. All development can potentially make a positive impact on the green 
infrastructure network and proposals will, where appropriate, be expected to make such provision 
at a scale that is commensurate with the development. 
 

8.48. In 2017 a partnership between the Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust and the University of the West of 
England launched the ‘Building with Nature’ scheme. Building with Nature introduces a set of best 
practice standards for the development of green infrastructure, being together existing guidance 
to recognise the importance of high quality green infrastructure at all stages of the development 
process. The standards help to define what good green infrastructure and set out the basic 
approach to providing it through new development.  
 

8.49. To achieve high quality infrastructure provision, and to ensure that best practice is followed, the 
Borough Council will expect developers to utilise these standards to inform development from the 
outset. Compliance and the design process should be demonstrated through Design and Access 
Statements and/or any site-based green infrastructure strategy. 

 

Policy NAT4 – Tewkesbury Nature Reserve 
 
The Borough Council will support proposals to enhance the landscape and nature conservation 
interest of land to the east of Priors Park as defined on the Policies Map, whilst increasing access for 
recreational and educational use.  All such proposals must however be designed and constructed to: 

• remain operational and safe for users in times of flood; 

• result in no net loss of floodplain storage; 

• not impede water flows and not increase flood risk elsewhere. 

 

Reasoned justification 

8.50. Tewkesbury Nature Reserve is a newly established nature reserve managed by a community-run 
organisation relying primarily on the efforts of volunteers. The vision for the reserve is to create a 
community nature reserve, combining a haven for wildlife with a place where people can connect 
with nature. 
 

185



 
110 

 

8.51. The Borough Council will support the Tewkesbury Nature Reserve management team in its 
continued efforts to achieve the vision for the reserve and, in accordance with Policy NAT1, 
development proposals where the primary objective is to conserve, restore or enhance biodiversity 
on the reserve will normally be permitted. 
 

8.52. The area is however assessed within the Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (Halcrow, 2008) 
to be within the Functional floodplain of the River Swilgate (Flood Zone 3b).  This zone comprises 
land where water has to flow or be stored in times of flood.  This acts to prevent most forms of 
development from taking place except for Water Compatible development (includes amenity open 
space, nature conservation and biodiversity, outdoor sports and recreation and essential facilities 
such as changing rooms) and essential infrastructure (subject to it passing the Exception Test).  
Whilst this would still allow development to take place where it relates to nature 
conservation/biodiversity or recreation, the PPG still advises that any proposals for water 
compatible development must be designed and constructed to remain operational and safe for 
users in times of flood; result in no net loss of floodplain storage; and not impede water flows and 
not increase flood risk elsewhere. 
 

8.53. The nature reserve also forms part of a Priority Habitat (Coastal and Floodplain Grazing Marsh) as 
identified in the UK Biodiversity Action Plan.   Thus, in accordance with Policy NAT1, any 
development likely to result in the loss, deterioration or harm to its features and habitats will only 
be permitted where it achieves the criteria set out in the policy.   

 

Policy ENV1 Development near sewage treatment works 
 
An Odour Monitoring Zone is defined on the Policies Map around the sewage treatment at Hayden 
(Boddington and Staverton Parishes), Tewkesbury, Winchcombe and Brockhampton (Bishop’s Cleeve 
Parish). 

Development which is likely to be significantly affected by odours will not be permitted within the 
Odour Monitoring Zone unless it can be demonstrated, through an Odour Impact Assessment, that 
the health and quality of life of its occupants would not be adversely affected. 

 
Reasoned Justification 

8.54. Due to the potential for odour from sewage treatment (either the works or fields used for sludge 
disposal) it is advisable that a zone should be kept free of sensitive development around certain 
sewage works where the effluent treated is equivalent to that of a population greater than 2,000 
persons. 
 

8.55. Development which is not likely to be acceptable may include dwellings, schools, hospitals, 
residential institutions and any other uses where people’s health and quality of life would be 
adversely affected. For smaller treatment works within the borough, as part of the normal 

186



 
111 

 

consultation procedure on planning applications, Severn Trent will advise where development may 
not be appropriate in close proximity to the works. 

 
8.56. It is possible in future that odour monitoring zones may alter as a result of changing technologies 

or operations at current sewage treatment work sites. The Council will consider further evidence 
on the impact of sewage treatment works where appropriate and work closely with Environment 
Agency, Severn Trent and other expert bodies to determine the impact on any existing and future 
development. 

 

Policy ENV2 Flood Risk and Water Management 
 
Proposals for new development must be in accordance with JCS Policy INF3 and the appropriate 
requirements of the Council’s adopted Flood and Water Management Supplementary Planning 
Document.   

 
Reasoned Justification 

8.57. Policy INF3 of the JCS addresses the impacts of flooding to and from development by seeking to 
avoid and manage risk, and to ensure that proposals would not act to increase risk.  Policy INF3 is 
supplemented at a local level by the Council’s Flood and Water Management SPD which provides 
detailed practical guidance on site selection to avoid flood risk, ways to manage and mitigate flood 
risk, and sustainable drainage and water management.  All proposals will be expected to address 
the flood risk to and from the new development in accordance with INF3 and the Flood and Water 
Management SPD.         

 

Policy ENV3 Solar Farms 
 
In considering proposals for large scale, stand alone solar photovoltaic installations priority will be 
given to sites on previously developed land or non-agricultural land. Where the proposed use of 
agricultural land is shown to be necessary priority will be given to poorer quality agricultural land.  
Proposals located on the best and most versatile agricultural land will only be permitted where there 
is compelling evidence to justify its use.  Proposals on agricultural land should allow for the continued 
agricultural use of the site and/or encourage biodiversity improvements around arrays.  In all cases 
proposals must: 

1. Have no unacceptable impact on the landscape and the visual amenity of the locality, paying 
particular regard to Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, Special Landscape Areas and the 
Landscape Protection Zone. 

2. Ensure that all ancillary apparatus including electronic switchgear, inverters, transfer stations, 
substations, fencing and cctv equipment are designed and located to have a minimal impact 
on the landscape and the visual amenity of the area.   

187



 
112 

 

3. Have regard to the cumulative impact of the development on the area when viewed together 
with other permitted and operational solar installations in the locality.   

4. Respect the historic environment with particular regard to the setting of heritage assets in the 
area. 

5. Enable the conservation or enhancement of habitats and biodiversity features within the site 
and its surroundings.     

The Council will impose conditions on all planning permissions for large scale, stand alone solar 
photovoltaic installations to secure the decommissioning and appropriate restoration of the site. 

 
Reasoned justification  

8.58. The Council is committed to meeting the challenges of climate change and recognises the 
important contribution made by solar farms towards achieving the Government’s targets for 
renewable energy generation.  Large scale solar farms can however result in a detrimental impact 
on the Borough’s landscape and natural resources if not carefully located and designed.  
 

8.59. The Council will require applicants for proposals involving agricultural land to demonstrate that 
there are no reasonable alternative sites on previously developed land in the Borough.  The 
Council’s Brownfield Register provides a key source of information for identifying brownfield 
development opportunities.  Where there are shown to be no suitable alternative sites on 
previously developed land the Council will allow in principle the development of agricultural land 
giving priority to poorer quality land.  Proposals located on the best and most versatile agricultural 
land will only be permitted where there is compelling evidence to justify its use. This must include 
evidence to demonstrate that there are no suitable alternative sites with a lower agricultural land 
classification, consideration of the quality of the land in question and the benefits of retaining it in 
productive agricultural use, and consideration of the benefits of the proposal including its 
contribution towards increasing the supply of renewable energy and meeting national targets.  The 
Council will require applications on Grades 1, 2 and 3 agricultural land to be accompanied by an 
Agricultural Land Classification Survey. 
 

8.60. Applicants will be expected to provide details in relation to the siting and external appearance of 
all ancillary apparatus including electronic switchgear, inverters, transfer stations, substations, 
fencing and cctv equipment as part of their application submission. 
 

8.61. Following the cessation of electricity generation by solar photovoltaic facilities the Council will 
require that all solar panels, frames, foundations, ancillary apparatus and all associated structures 
and fencing are dismantled and removed from the site.  The site shall subsequently be restored in 
accordance with an approved restoration scheme.  The Council will impose conditions on all 
planning permissions for large scale, stand alone solar photovoltaic installations to secure the 
decommissioning and appropriate restoration of the site. 
 

8.62. This policy must be read together with Policy INF5 of the JCS (Renewable Energy/Low Carbon 
Energy Development) which provides additional considerations in respect of renewable energy 
proposals.   

188



 
113 

 

 
8.63. Policy ENV3 only applies to large scale, ground mounted solar photovoltaic installations.  The 

Council will regard proposals with a capacity of more than 50kW to be large scale and therefore 
subject to the policy.  Although policy ENV3 does not apply to proposals with a capacity of 50kW 
or less, or to solar panels mounted on buildings and domestic microgeneration proposals, many of 
its requirements will still be of relevance having regard to other policies within the wider 
Development Plan, in particular policies INF5, SD6 and SD14 of the Joint Core Strategy. 

  

189



 
114 

 

9.  Communities, Health & Recreation 
 
Introduction 

9.1. The Tewkesbury Borough Plan has a key role to play in shaping healthy environments as well as 
enabling people to make healthier choices about exercise, local services, travel, food, nature and 
leisure. The issue of health is broad and is influenced by all planning issues across the Borough 
Plan. In particular, the plan’s policies of housing, design, green infrastructure and transport all 
have a major impact on quality of life in regard to health. Joint Core Strategy Policy SD14 – Health 
and Environmental Quality provides important guidance to ensure that the quality of life for 
people in the Borough is protected and improved. The Borough Plan will additionally promote 
healthy environments by implementing the policies in this plan to ensure that new development 
has the most positive contribution to health as possible.  

 
9.2. Access to community and recreational facilities is a key factor in providing a good quality of life 

and adequate services to meet the needs of people in the Borough. The Joint Core Strategy 
provides guidance in regard to social and community facilities through Policy INF4 – Social and 
Community Infrastructure which sets out the general approach to the provision, protection and 
location of such facilities. Further guidance on the role of new development in contributing 
towards this included through policies INF6 – Infrastructure Delivery and INF7 – Developer 
Contributions. The Borough Plan seeks to set out further, more detailed, requirements for the 
provision and protection of these important assets. 
 

Policy HEA1 Healthy & Active Communities 
 
To promote healthy active communities new major development should be designed in accordance 
with ‘Active Design’ principles.  

All major development will be required to demonstrate that the potential impacts on health have 
been considered and addressed through a Design and Access Statement to a level proportionate to 
the scale of the development. For developments of 100 or more units and non-residential 
developments of 10,000m2 or more will be required to submit a Health Impact Assessment.  

Where significant impacts are identified, measures to mitigate the adverse impact of the 
development will be provided and/or secured by planning obligations 

 
Reasoned Justification 

9.3.  new developments will be expected to have a positive contribution to health and wellbeing and 
promote active communities. This contribution covers a range of issues that are integral to the 
design and planning of all proposals. Many of these issues are dealt with through other policies in 
both the Joint Core Strategy and the Borough Plan, such as design, transport and infrastructure 
policies. In general, new development will be expected to demonstrate how they will contribute 

190



 
115 

 

to the creation and maintenance of healthy environments and facilitate healthy and active 
lifestyles. This will include: 
 

•  Creating an inclusive built and natural environment that is suitable for all members of 
society; 

• Well-designed developments that are attractive and safe; 
• Providing access to sufficient open space and recreation facilities; 
• Encouraging active travel, including walking and cycling; 
• Providing houses that meet the needs of Borough and  provide sufficient internal and 

external space; 
• Preventing negative impacts on residential amenity and wider public safety from 

noise, ground instability, ground and water contamination, vibration and air quality; 
• Promoting social cohesion between existing and future residents/occupies; 
• Providing good access for all to key services, including health and social care facilities; 
• Promoting allotments and gardens for exercise, recreation and for healthy locally 

produced food. 
 

9.4. Sport England, with support from Public Health England, published their Active Design guidance 
in October 2015. The guidance identifies 10 key principles of active design that can be 
incorporated into new developments. To promote active lifestyles the Borough Council expect 
that proposals take into account of the principles and use them to help inform the design and 
layout of new development. The principles can be applied at scales of development, however, it 
is recognised that not all will be relevant or appropriate in all scenarios, particularly for smaller-
scale proposals. However, achieving as many of the design principles as possible will make a 
valuable contribution towards healthy lifestyles. 

 
9.5. For larger developments, over 100 dwellings or 10,000m2 of non-residential development, a 

specific Health Impact Assessment will be required. This must demonstrate how health impacts 
have been properly considered when preparing, evaluating and determining development 
proposals. The guidance provided in Health Impact Assessment Tools paper published by the 
Department for Health in 2010 is a good starting point for undertaking an assessment. 

 
9.6. All other major development proposals under this threshold will still to take into account the 

potential impacts of a development on health however this can be demonstrated as part of a 
Design and Access Statement. The information expected should be proportionate to the size of 
development proposed.  
 

Policy RCN1 Public Outdoor Space, Sports Pitch and Sports Facility Provision 
 
Proposals for new residential development shall provide appropriate public outdoor space, sports 
pitches and built sports facilities to meet the needs of local communities in line with the Social, Sport 
and Open Spaces Study and its associated Developer Contributions Toolkit. 
 

191



 
116 

 

The provision of new facilities resulting from new development must be accompanied by an 
appropriate management plan and adequate provision for on-going maintenance.  
 
The provision or improvement of any new facilities that would be in private ownership, including as 
part of an educational institution, that are required to mitigate the development, will need to be 
fully accessible to the public if it is to address the needs of the local community.   
  
Public outdoor spaces, sports pitches and built sports facilities will be protected and their loss, either 
in total or in part, will generally be resisted. Proposals for any loss may only be acceptable where 
either: 
 

1.  It is demonstrated that there is an excess in provision in the local area, there is no current 
or future demand for such provision and there would be no resulting shortfall; or 

2.  The space/facility being lost can be suitably replaced by alternative provision of an 
equivalent or better quality and quantity in an accessible location; or 

3.  The proposal is ancillary development to the use of the space/facility which would 
enhance its facilities and not prejudice its ongoing use; or 

4.  The proposal affects land that is not suitable or incapable of forming an effective part of 
the space/facility and its loss would not prejudice the ongoing use of the remainder of 
the site for that purpose. 

 
Reasoned Justification 
 

9.7. The Borough Council published the Social, Sport and Open Spaces study in 2018 which provides a 
detailed assessment and strategy for the needs of open space and sport facilities in the area. The 
study covers the following areas: 

 
• Open spaces 
• Playing pitches 
• Built sports facilities (including community facilities) 
• Social sustainability 

 
9.8. In regard to open spaces, this covers a wide range of different facilities and infrastructure that 

are important for local communities; including: parks and gardens, natural and semi-natural 
greenspace, amenity greenspace, equipped play areas, allotments and cemeteries.  

 
9.9. The study identifies that there is a continuing need for contributions towards open space and 

sports facilities from new development. This should be done through the identification of any 
deficit of provision within the locality, both in terms of accessibility and quality; whether a 
development site is within appropriate accessibility catchment for each type of facility; and 
whether the enhancement of existing provision is required to provide adequate facilities. Where 
development is located within an area where open space provision is identified as being sufficient 
in terms of quantity and accessibility, it may be more suitable to seek contributions for quality 
improvements to existing sites.   

 

192



 
117 

 

9.10. In order to ensure that development is making appropriate contributions to open space and 
sports facilities, a Developer Contributions Toolkit accompanies the study and provides a tailored 
and evidence based approach to determining the right level of provision reflecting the findings of 
the Social, Sport and Open Spaces Study. The toolkit will help to clearly justify the needs arising 
from a development and how they are to be met and provides separate assessment processes 
relating to open space, playing pitches and built sports facilities. Developers will be expected to 
make provision for these facilities in accordance with the processes set out within the toolkit.  

 
9.11. In event that the study and toolkit are superseded, then the most up to date evidence base 

applied by the Borough Council shall be used.  
 
9.12. The Borough Council will also seek the protection of existing open spaces and facilities as 

important assets within the community. There will be a general presumption against the loss of 
any facilities in part or as a whole to ensure that these important assets remain to serve the local 
area and no increase in deficiency in provisions occurs. The loss of any facilities will only be 
acceptable if it can be demonstrated that there is no requirement or demand for it, either at the 
current time and taking into account any future development or population growth expected in 
the area. Where there is still demand for the facility then any loss can only be justified if can be 
replaced by adequate alternative provision that would continue to meet the needs of the locality 
to the same level or better, both in terms of quantity, quality and accessibility.    

 
 

Policy RCN2 New Sports and Recreational Facilities 
 
Support will be given to the provision of recreational facilities, both formal and informal, throughout 
the plan area. Any new buildings or structures must be strictly ancillary, and must not have any 
adverse impact on the quality of the environment or result in significant local traffic problems. Any 
floodlighting must be demonstrated to be essential and to have minimal environmental impact. 
 
In all cases the provision of recreational facilities should not result in: 
 

1. An adverse landscape or environmental impact, with particular regard to the Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty, Special Landscape Areas and the Landscape Protection Zone; 

2. an adverse effect on living conditions; 
3. the quiet enjoyment of the countryside being prejudiced; 
4. significant local traffic problems; and 
5. the prevention of access to the countryside by prejudicing existing rights of way without 

making alternative provision. 
 
Proposals for recreational facilities should be accessible by a choice of means of transport. 
 
The provision of additional outdoor sports pitches will be encouraged throughout the Borough where 
there is an identifiable need having regard to Policy RCN1, but will be assessed against the above 
criteria. 

193



 
118 

 

 
Reasoned Justification 

 
9.13. Tewkesbury Borough Council is committed to encouraging the introduction of recreational facilities 

to cater for both formal recreational needs such as sports pitches, play facilities and waterborne 
activities which have the added benefit of supporting the tourist industry, as well as more informal 
facilities such as rights of way. Within the rural areas priority will be given to ensuring that there is 
no adverse impact on the character of the environment. 

 
9.14. The provision of sports facilities in inappropriate locations can have a detrimental impact on the 

local environment both in terms of the landscape and due to increased traffic movements. 
Tewkesbury Borough Council aims to ensure that new facilities are provided in the most 
appropriate locations near to the population they aim to serve, which will be an important 
consideration for new facilities required as a result of new development. 

 
9.15. Floodlighting can be a nuisance to adjacent land users and can cause an unnecessary glow in the 

night sky visible for some distance. A proposal for such lighting must demonstrate how essential it 
is for the particular project and must be of a design to minimise environmental impact e.g. the 
orientation of high intensity lighting for golf driving ranges away from homes and roads. 

 
9.16. Outdoor sport and recreation can be appropriate uses within the Green Belt, although any 

associated buildings will be strictly controlled.   New buildings in connection with outdoor sport 
and recreation will only be permitted in very special circumstances and where they are essential 
for the operation of the sport/recreational activity involved and are designed and sited to have a 
minimal effect on the openness of the Green Belt. 

    
 

Policy RCN3 Allotments & Community Gardens 
 
Statutory allotments and community gardens, identified on the Policies Map, will be protected from 
development which would lead to the loss of plots.  
 
Where, exceptionally, due to other overriding factors development of allotment or garden land is 
proposed, this will only be permitted subject to provision of replacement facilities of comparable 
extent within the local area. This provision must include the translocation of the allotment or garden 
top soil, where appropriate, the provision of water standpipes within 20 metres of each allotment, the 
relocation of existing greenhouses and other ancillary equipment to the new site where required, and 
the provision of car parking. 
 
Major development should contribute to the provision for allotments and/or community gardens in 
line with the Social, Sport and Open Spaces Study and its associated Developer Contributions Toolkit. 
 
 
 

194



 
119 

 

Reasoned Justification 
 

9.17. Allotments are an important community resource, in terms of their value for food production, 
environmental quality, and their contribution to local character, health and local social life. 
Allotments have usually been worked for many years and have developed a high degree of soil 
fertility. However, this policy also applies to any new allotments that may be subsequently created. 
It is therefore critical, in those exceptional cases where allotments are to be developed, that the 
topsoil is moved to the new site and that proper provision is made for the other amenities essential 
to the working of the allotments. Allotment sites are frequently sited close to the historic centres 
of settlements and may therefore provide the best located sites for development, particularly 
where options for development are severely constrained. Development of allotment sites should 
therefore be seen as an exceptional occurrence when other possible site options have been fully 
considered and have been found less suitable. 

 
9.18. Major developments, as defined in The Town and Country Planning (Development Management 

Procedure) (England) Order 2010, will be required to contribute to the provision of allotments as 
part of a package of Green Infrastructure requirements.  

 
9.19. The Borough Council published the Social, Sport and Open Spaces study in 2018 which deals with 

the needs and provision of allotments. The Developer Contributions Toolkit that accompanies the 
study provides a tailored and evidence based approach to determining the right level of provision. 
Developers will be expected to make provision for these facilities in accordance with the processes 
set out within the toolkit. Need should also be established with reference to the Tewkesbury 
Borough Council and relevant Town and Parish Council waiting lists for allotments and any petitions 
received under the Small Holdings and Allotments Act 1908. 

 
 

Policy RCN4 Horse Riding Facilities 
 
Proposals for new horse riding facilities must be designed and sited where they would not have an 
adverse effect on the rural character and landscape setting of the area, particularly within the Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty, Special Landscape Area or Landscape Protection Zone.  New stables and 
other ancillary buildings must be well related to an existing group of buildings or, where this is not 
possible, a hedgerow or other landscape feature which affords substantial screening.  Facilities must 
also generally be well related to the existing bridleway network and must not create local traffic 
problems.   
 
Within the Green Belt, the provision of new development in connection with horse riding will be 
strictly controlled.  Proposals will only be acceptable where they are essential for the use of the land 
for horse riding; are small scale; and are designed and sited to have a minimal effect on the openness 
of the Green Belt and cause no conflict with the purposes of including land within the Green Belt. 
 
The development of commercial uses such as riding schools, arenas, stud farms, racing or livery 
stables will be strictly controlled in the interests of landscape protection, highway safety and the 

195



 
120 

 

preservation of the quiet enjoyment of the countryside.  Priority must be given to the re-use of 
existing buildings and any necessary new buildings must be located adjacent to existing buildings.   
     

 
Reasoned Justification 

 
9.20. Horse riding can require considerable areas of land and ranges of buildings for its operation. The 

potential impact can therefore be considerable. This policy sets out some basic criteria with which 
proposed developments of this type should aim to comply in order to be satisfactorily 
accommodated in the countryside. 
 

9.21. When considering proposals for new horse riding facilities the Council will have regard to the 
cumulative effect of the proposal along with other facilities in the locality, in order to avoid an over 
concentration of such facilities within the rural landscape.  
 

9.22. Maintenance of existing, and provision of new, bridleways will be encouraged through 
consultation with Gloucestershire County Council, who are responsible for Public Rights of Way. 

 
 

Policy COM1 Protecting Community Assets 
 
Proposals that would lead to the loss of existing community assets will only be permitted where: 
 

1. There is no demonstrable current or future need or demand for the asset, either in its current 
use or any alternative community use, and the loss would not result in a shortfall of this type 
of provision. 
 

2. All reasonable efforts have been made to maintain the asset but it has been demonstrated 
that it would not be viable, feasible or practicable to retain the asset for its existing use. 

 
Where it is demonstrated that it is no longer viable, feasible or practicable to maintain an existing 
community asset then preference will be given to its re-use as an alternative community facility.  
 
Proposals which result in the unavoidable loss of community assets, where a demand for the facility 
remains, will be required to make alternative provision, where feasible, of a similar asset as part of 
the proposed development or on an alternative site within the locality. 
 

 
Reasoned Justification 

 
9.23. Community assets make a key contribution towards the vitality and viability of local communities 

as well as improving the quality of life of the people within them. The Council therefore seeks to 
protect and maintain these assets as necessary community facilities. As such, any loss of assets 

196



 
121 

 

should be exceptional and any proposals involving the loss will need to be fully justified to the 
satisfaction of the Borough Council. 

 
9.24. Community Assets can be made up of a range of different facilities and services which support 

communities and can include uses such as village shops, community centres, libraries, children’s 
centre, allotments or pubs. However, this list is not definitive and in assessing whether a particular 
use, building or piece of land is of community value reference will be made to the definition of an 
asset of community value as set out in the Localism Act 2011 (section 88). A Community asset may 
also be privately owned as well as public. Specific guidance on Pubs and Local Shops is also provided 
by Policy RET7 Local Shops and Public Houses.  

 
9.25. As a guide, the Borough Council consider that something is deemed to be of community value if 

the current main use of the building or land furthers the social interests or social wellbeing of the 
local community, or a use in the recent past has done so.  And, it is realistic to think that there can 
continue to be a main use of the building or land which will further the social interests or social 
wellbeing of the local community, whether or not in the same way as before; or 

 
9.26. Proposals for the loss of community facilities will be required to demonstrate that there is no 

demand for the asset, both at the current time and in future taking into account future 
development requirements or proposals in the area. It will be essential that the loss of any asset 
does not result in a shortfall in the provision of a particular service/facility. Applicants should seek 
the involvement of the local community in evidencing the importance of any asset and the 
implications of any loss.  

 
9.27. For community assets that are commercial operations, in determining whether or not it is still 

economically viable, the business or organisation will need to be marketed for a consistent period 
of at least 18 months. It should be marketed at a realistic price and be advertised in an appropriate 
way. It should also be demonstrated that efforts have been undertaken to secure the viability of 
the asset through applications for grant funding as well as discussions with community groups, 
parish Councils, the Borough Council and County Council concerning the future operation of the 
facility. 

 
 

Policy COM2 Broadband Provision 
 
New development of residential and commercial properties should be provided with infrastructure 
necessary to enable access to high quality broadband. Developers will be expected to engage with 
infrastructure providers at an early stage in order to facilitate this.  
 
Where it is not feasible or viable to provide this, applicants must demonstrate why this is the case 
and present supporting evidence, including from broadband infrastructure providers.  In this 
instance, alternative infrastructure should be considered which provides the fastest internet 
connection possible and that could enable greater access in the future.  
 

197



 
122 

 

The Borough Council will support the development of communal public access WIFI hotspots, 
particularly as part of community, education and other public facilities.   
 
 
 

Reasoned Justification 
 

9.28. In order to improve the speed and coverage of broadband across the Borough the Council will 
seek for all new properties to be provided with the necessary infrastructure to gain access to high 
quality broadband.  

 
9.29. It is noted, however, there may be circumstances where this is not possible. This may be because 

it is currently not physically feasible to make the connections or because the cost of doing so 
would impact on the viability of the development. In these cases applications should be 
supported by information which sets out why this infrastructure provision is not possible. This 
should include consultations with broadband infrastructure providers which supports this.  

 
9.30. Where connection to superfast broadband is not possible alternative internet provision should be 

sought which enables accessibility to the highest internet speeds possible. This could include 
infrastructure that allows for connection to mobile broadband or WIFI, for example. As a 
minimum, the infrastructure should be put in place to allow connectivity to new development in 
future, i.e. ducting for future cables. 

 
 

Policy COM3 Telecommunications  
 
Proposals for development involving telecommunication equipment will be permitted provided that 
there is are no unacceptable adverse impacts on the surrounding environment or amenity and 
health of neighbouring properties. Particular consideration will be given to the visual impact of any 
proposals within the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, Special Landscape Area, Landscape 
Protection Zone, Conservation Areas and heritage assets. 

Proposals will be expected to use/share existing structures or buildings where possible. 
 

Reasoned Justification 

9.31. The Borough Council supports the introduction of modern telecommunications networks which 
are essential to the growing demand for improved communications in both the home and at 
work. However, the development of new technology and the upgrading of existing systems can 
have land use implications in the form of new structures such as masts, aerials and satellite 
dishes. Such structures can cause particular environmental problems in regards to landscape and 
amenity impacts.  
 

198



 
123 

 

9.32. Applicants will be expected to demonstrate that proposals do not have an unacceptable adverse 
impact on the surrounding environment or neighbouring properties and show how they have 
minimised impacts by both careful design and siting and, where appropriate, sharing existing 
facilities or sites, and the removal of redundant structures. 
 

Policy COM4 Neighbourhood Development Plans 
 
The Borough Council will work positively and proactively with communities who wish to develop a 
Neighbourhood Development Plan.  
 
Neighbourhood Development Plans must be in conformity with the strategic policies and proposals in 
the Joint Core Strategy and Tewkesbury Borough Plan. Where this is the case, the Borough Council will 
seek to progress these plans without delay.  
 
Where a Neighbourhood Development Plan has been ‘made’ by the Borough Council it will become 
part of the Statutory Development Plan and its policies will be a material consideration in the 
determination of planning applications.   
 
 

Reasoned Justification 
 

9.33. The Localism Act 2011 provides the opportunity for local communities to produce their own 
Neighbourhood Development Plans (commonly referred to as Neighbourhood Plans) that can set 
out a vision and objectives for their area and contain planning policies for the development and 
use of land. Tewkesbury Borough Council recognises that Neighbourhood Plans can have a role in 
bringing forward development to meet local needs, particularly in smaller settlements where 
strategic levels of growth are inappropriate. 

 
9.34. The Borough Council positively supports the work of communities who have made the decision to 

create a Neighbourhood Plan. The primary role of the Borough Council is to provide guidance on 
conformity with national planning guidance and with the higher-tier Local Plan documents, but to 
also advise on plan making in general including the development of a supporting evidence base.  
 

9.35. There is a list of basic conditions in the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 that must be met by 
a Neighbourhood Development Plan before it can be successful at independent examination and 
ultimately adopted by a Local Planning Authority. One condition is that Neighbourhood Plans 
must be in general conformity with and reflect the strategic policies of the development plan for 
area. For Tewkesbury Borough this means in the strategic policies of the Joint Core Strategy and 
the Tewkesbury Borough Plan. To provide clarity about the strategic policies for neighbourhood 
planning purposes a list from both the Joint Core Strategy and Tewkesbury Borough Plan have 
been included at Appendix 4. 
 

9.36. Neighbourhood Plans will become part of the planning framework in the local area once they 
have successfully passed through the stages of consultation, independent examination and 

199



 
124 

 

community referendum and have been adopted, described in the regulations governing their 
preparation as ‘made’ by the Local Planning Authority. This means that their policies will be a 
material consideration in the determination of planning applications within the area covered by 
the Neighbourhood Plan, alongside those in the rest of the Local Plan documents. 
 

  

200



 
125 

 

10. Transport & Accessibility 
 

10.1. An efficient and safe transport system it critical to the success of the Borough and the quality of 
life of its residents and visitors. An important part of this is providing genuine travel choice using 
different modes; whether that is by walking, cycling, public transport or private vehicle.    
 

10.2. The Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan (LTP), prepared by Gloucestershire County Council 
provides the overarching strategic context for transport in the area. The LTP contains the strategy, 
policies and investment priorities for transport and needs to be read along the Local Plan to get 
the full picture on transport policy.  

 
10.3. The policies in the Joint Core Strategy support the Local Transport Plan with requirements for 

developers to provide safe and accessible travel choices, avoiding or mitigating  severe predicted 
increases in congestion, providing the necessary highway infrastructure, walking, cycling and public 
transport options and preparing Transport Statements, Assessments and Travel Plans where 
significant amounts of new trips are anticipated. 

 
10.4. The Tewkesbury Borough Plan has a role to further support the transport objectives of the LTP by 

providing more detailed guidance on the delivery of transport infrastructure and consideration of 
transport as a fundamental part of the design of new developments.  In this regard in particular, 
the policies of the plan should also be read in conjunction with the Manual for Gloucestershire 
Streets by Gloucestershire County Council. 

 
 

Policy TRAC1 – Pedestrian Accessibility 
 
Pedestrian networks will be protected across the Borough and opportunities sought to extend and 
enhance them where possible. Proposals that reduce pedestrian connectivity, or fail to optimise it, 
will be resisted.  
 
Pedestrian connectivity should be a fundamental consideration in a design-led process for new 
major development and proposals will be expected to demonstrate this proportionate to the scale of 
development, including through any Design and Access Statements.  New development should, 
through its design and layout, encourage walking by providing good quality permeable and legible 
routes both through the development and to the surrounding area. Development should prioritise 
pedestrian movement over motorised vehicles in a way that promotes pedestrian safety and 
convenience.  
 
Accessibility must include the consideration of all potential users, including those with disabilities, to 
ensure that high standards of inclusivity are achieved to ensure that all members of society can 
travel safely and easily.  
 

201



 
126 

 

New development will be expected, where appropriate, to contribute towards creating and 
enhancing pedestrian routes within and between town/village centres as well as to other public 
transport nodes, key services and employment centres. 
 

 
Reasoned Justification 

 
10.5. The pedestrian network consists of a wide range of routes including streets, quiet lanes, roadside 

footpaths and public rights of way that together provide opportunities for pedestrian movement. 
This network will be protected to ensure that convenient routes for walking are maintained and 
proposals that reduce connectivity or block routes will be resisted. Furthermore, opportunities 
will be sought, including through new development, to enhance the pedestrian network.  

 
10.6. The provision of attractive pedestrian routes within and between existing and proposed 

developed areas can make an important contribution towards discouraging people from making 
shorter journeys by car. Pedestrian routes should be safe and direct, following desire lines, to 
allow for easy and convenient journeys.  This includes adequate provision for all users, including 
those with disabilities. If a street is designed to cater for those within mobility impairments, it is 
likely to be suitable for all other pedestrians.  Where appropriate, routes should be well lit and 
signage provided to improve accessibility.  

 
10.7. For successful pedestrian accessibility to occur then it needs to be a fundamental principle in the 

design of sites from the start which informs masterplanning and layout at the outset of proposals, 
particularly for larger developments. Pedestrian accessibility should be a fundamental 
consideration in a design-led process for new development and proposals will be expected to 
demonstrate this through any Design and Access Statement. 

 
10.8. All development can have a role to play in promoting pedestrian accessibility. However, it is 

recognised the scale of a proposal will influence to what extent it can contribute to this 
accessibility. Small-scale residential developments, for example, may only be able to make a 
limited contribution and only ensure access to any existing routes is provided. While large scale 
developments may be able to create new pedestrian routes within a site as well as improving 
connections to facilities outside of it. As such the design and consideration of the pedestrian 
network should be undertaken at a scale commensurate with the proposal.  

 
10.9. When planning for and designing pedestrian infrastructure refer to the best practice provided in 

documents such as the Manual for Gloucestershire Streets.  
 
 

Policy TRAC2 – Cycle Network & Infrastructure 
 
Cycle infrastructure should be a fundamental consideration in a design-led process for new major 
development and proposals will be expected to demonstrate this proportionate to the scale of 

202



 
127 

 

development, including through any Design and Access Statements. This includes contributing 
towards the objectives of this policy. 
 
The protection and enhancement of the cycle network, infrastructure and facilities across the 
Borough will be sought through the following measures: 
 

• Safeguarding, developing and promoting a borough-wide network of safe and convenient 
cycle routes, segregated from motorised traffic where this does not detract from the 
pedestrian environment and where it confers an advantage to the cyclist in terms of journey 
directness and cycle trip experience. 

• Promoting and providing safe, well-lit cycle parking, storage and changing facilities at public 
transport nodes, schools, community facilities, and employment centres; and requiring new 
development to provide cycle facilities on site where appropriate. 

• Requiring the needs of cyclists to be met in the design of new highway and traffic 
management schemes. 

 
 

Reasoned Justification 
 

10.10. Cycle connectivity should be a fundamental consideration in a design-led process for new 
development and proposals will be expected to demonstrate this through any Design and Access 
Statement.  New development should, through its design and layout, maximise the potential for 
cycle trips by providing high quality links both through the development and on to the 
surrounding area. Cycle links should be designed so that they are safe, legible and convenient and 
be prioritised over motorised vehicles. This can be achieved by giving priority to dominant cycle 
movements at priority junctions and minimising delays to cycle and pedestrian turning 
movements in traffic signal phasing. Cyclists should receive at least the level of priority afforded 
to motor vehicles.  

 
10.11. New development will be expected, where appropriate, to contribute towards creating and 

enhancing cycle routes within and between town/village centres as well as to other public 
transport nodes, key services and employment centres. Tewkesbury town and its environs offer 
particular cycle route opportunities which should be identified, strengthened and not 
inadvertently impeded.  

10.12. It will be important for new development proposals to show understanding of existing cycle 
routes and informal cycle networks or potential networks. This is particularly important in 
Tewkesbury Borough where much of the cycle network has grown up around quietly trafficked 
roads and byways which could be eroded through increased traffic flows. 

 
10.13. To encourage cycling, provision for the secure parking and storage of cycles and related facilities, 

such as showers and changing areas, should be incorporated within new developments where 
appropriate. The type and extent of provision should be proportionate to the scale and type of 
development.  

 

203



 
128 

 

10.14. All development can have a role to play in promoting cycling and the cycle network. However, it 
is recognised the scale of a proposal will influence to what extent it can contribute. Small-scale 
residential developments, for example, may only be able to make a limited contribution and only 
ensure access to any existing routes is provided as well as providing individual storage facilities. 
While large scale developments may be able to create new cycle routes through a site as well as 
improving connections to routes outside of it. As such the design and consideration of the cycle 
network and cycle facilities should be undertaken at a scale commensurate with the proposal.  

 
10.15. Tewkesbury Borough Council is committed to encouraging the use of bicycles, both for leisure 

and fitness, and as a viable alternative to car journeys, including trips to work, school and for 
shopping. To encourage the number of journeys being made by cycle the council will seek to 
deliver the routes and infrastructure necessary to make travelling by bike as easy and convenient 
as possible. The provision of direct, safe and well signposted cycle routes is a key part of this, as is 
the provision of adequate cycle facilities, such as secure parking and storage.  

 
10.16. Tewkesbury Borough Council will, in conjunction with Gloucestershire County Council, seek to 

identify and extend existing cycle routes and to introduce new and improved networks in line 
with the Local Transport Plan. In particular, the design of new road schemes and junctions will be 
expected to have full regard to the needs of cyclists, and to make sure that it does not 
unintentionally damage or create barriers on cycle desire lines. Tewkesbury Borough Council will 
also work to identify and deliver appropriate cycle facilities, particularly in town and village 
centres and at key transport interchanges.  

 
10.17. This policy, along with those concerning public transport and pedestrian accessibility, will 

contribute directly to the sustainable transport objectives of the plan. Identification of 
improvements to the cycle network should proceed in negotiation with Gloucestershire County 
Council, Cheltenham Borough Council, Gloucester City Council and local cycling amenity groups. 
Such networks should also investigate links into our neighbouring county of Worcestershire.  

 
10.18. When planning for and designing cycle infrastructure refer to the best practice provided in 

documents such as Making Space for Cycling by Cyclenation and the Handbook for Cycle-Friendly 
Design by Sustrans, as well as to the MfGS. 

 
 

Policy TRAC3 Bus Infrastructure 
 
Proposals for major development should be located, where possible, to provide easy and convenient 
access to bus facilities and services to maximise sustainable travel by public transport. New 
development should, where appropriate, contribute towards improving bus infrastructure including: 
the provision of routes designed for bus use; improvements to pedestrian accessibility to bus 
services; and improvements to passenger waiting facilities and bus priority measures. This should 
also include the use of Personalised Travel Planning for new developments to encourage public 
transport use.  
 

204



 
129 

 

On strategic-scale developments, including JCS Strategic Allocations, the potential for bus services to 
move through the site should be explored and where possible required to enable a sustainable 
service to be established or routed. The design of such developments should enable the safe, direct 
and convenient movement of buses including appropriate passenger facilities.  
 
 

Reasoned Justification 
 

10.19. The enhancement of bus services in the borough is essential in order to achieve mode-shift away 
from private vehicle trips. This means that bus services and facilities need to be convenient, 
reliable and provide an attractive alternative to users. New development has a key role to play in 
promoting sustainable travel and ensure that proposals are designed in a way that promotes bus 
use and does not adversely impact on the operation of bus services. The policies of the Borough 
Plan support those of the LTP on how new development should integrate bus infrastructure, and 
the LTP should be read alongside Local Plan policies to provide comprehensive guidance. 

 
10.20. Access to public transport should be maximised where possible and new major development 

should provide easy and convenient access to bus services. However, in line with the NPPF, it is 
recognised that the potential to do this will vary from urban to rural areas and that in some rural 
areas of the Borough close proximity to bus services is not always possible. In rural areas in 
particular, there are issues of the viability of running buses services which limits the amount of 
service that can be delivered and sustained.  

 
10.21. For bus services to be convenient and attractive bus stops should be no more than 400m walking 

distance to new residential properties. The Borough Council will use this distance as a guide to 
judging the accessibility of a new development by bus. Bus stops should, where appropriate, 
incorporate the latest technology to further improve convenience and information for users. This 
may include measures such as real-time passenger information. 

 
10.22. For larger scale developments the Borough Council may seek contributions towards the provision 

and operation of new bus services where the potential demand from a development would 
necessitate the running or diversion of services.  

 
10.23. In July 2017, Stagecoach published general highways and urban design guidance around bus 

services and new developments. This document provides useful specifications for highway design 
in ensuring that buses and bus infrastructure are well designed and sufficient to cater for bus 
services and accessibility to them. Proposals for development that include the provision of bus 
infrastructure should refer to this guidance as well as that contained within the Manual for 
Gloucestershire Streets.  

 
 
 
 
 

205



 
130 

 

Policy TRAC4 High Frequency Bus Routes 
 
High Frequency Bus Routes identified through the Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan will be 
maintained as key public transport corridors. Measures that improve journey time and reliability for 
public transport along these routes will be sought. Development proposals which lead to an increase 
in vehicle traffic on these corridors will be required to contribute towards the provision of 
sustainable transport and bus improvement measures to mitigate any impact and maintain the 
operation of the high frequency route. 
 

Reasoned Justification 
 

10.24. Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan identifies a number of high frequency routes through the 
borough. High frequency routes are generally where there is a service running every 10-15 
minutes. On the whole these link to the main service and employment hubs in the area but serve 
many rural settlements in between. These include the A38 between Tewkesbury and Gloucester, 
the A38/A4019 between Tewkesbury and Cheltenham and the A40 between Cheltenham and 
Gloucester. These links should be safeguarded as such and proposals which would have a 
negative impact on bus operation along them should contribute towards adequate mitigation to 
resolve it.  

 
 

 Policy TRAC 5 Ashchurch for Tewkesbury Rail Station 
 
Tewkesbury Borough Council will seek to increase in the frequency of train services and the 
enhancement of facilities at the Ashchurch for Tewkesbury station. This will include measures to 
improve accessibility to the station itself via all modes of transport. New development will be 
expected, where appropriate, to provide adequate connections to the station and contribute 
towards the enhancement of the station.  

 
 
Reasoned Justification 

 
10.25. Ashchurch for Tewkesbury station is the only mainline railway station in the Borough and is an 

important transport link.  With growth in the Ashchurch area proposed through the Joint Core 
Strategy, as well as other potential development opportunities around M5 Junction 9 and 
Tewkesbury Town itself, the station will have increased importance as a transport link. However, 
the station would benefit from more frequent services and better passenger facilities. Currently 
direct services to Bristol are every 2 hours and there are only 2 or 3 direct services to Birmingham 
per day. Tewkesbury Borough Council will work with Gloucestershire County Council, the rail 
industry, the Ashchurch, Tewkesbury and District Rail Promotion Group (ATDRPG) and adjacent 
local authorities to raise the profile of the station as Tewkesbury’s Parkway and seek improved 
services towards Birmingham and Bristol as well as to Cheltenham and Worcester. The station 
would also benefit from improved accessibility and Tewkesbury Borough Council will seek to 
improve links to the station from the surrounding area, particularly Tewkesbury Town. Facilities 

206



 
131 

 

are not restricted to, but will include: improved signposting, publicity, passenger waiting facilities, 
ticket machines as well as extended and improved cycle storage and parking. 

 
 

Policy TRAC6 M5 Junction 9/A46 Corridor 
 
Tewkesbury Borough Council will support the design and implementation of highway infrastructure 
improvements along the A46 corridor to Junction 9 of the M5.  Infrastructure schemes, including 
‘online’ and ‘offline’ measures, along the A46 will be supported where they improve accessibility for 
all modes of transport and promote journey time reliability. The implementation of a package of 
highway capacity improvements will need to incorporate bus priority measures and active travel 
measures to improve travel choice and reduce journey time uncertainty along this corridor. 
 
New development along this corridor must not prejudice the delivery of objectives and 
infrastructure improvements, including major road schemes, identified through the JCS Transport 
Implementation Strategy or the Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan. 
 
 

Reasoned Justification 
 

10.26. As part of the evidence base underpinning the Joint Core Strategy, transport modelling work has 
been undertaken with Gloucestershire County Council and Highways England to understand the 
impact of future development on the highway network. As a result of this work it is recognised that 
the A438/A46/M5 Junction 9 corridor already has significant capacity issues. The existing 
infrastructure will therefore not be sufficient to accommodate the additional traffic generated by 
the strategic growth employment and housing growth that this proposed through the Joint Core 
Strategy as well as the further development potential in the area without significant transport 
interventions. It is recognised that there are a limited amount of infrastructure improvements that 
can be made to the existing A46 to increase capacity. Therefore, an ‘offline’ solution is being 
explored which would re-route the A46.  

 
10.27. The transport modelling work helped to identify a package of infrastructure improvements that 

will be required to mitigate the impact of development on the highway network. Tewkesbury 
Borough Council, in partnership with Gloucestershire County Council and the Highways England, 
will be working to deliver these improvements to facilitate new development. These improvements 
are recognised in both the Joint Core Strategy Transport Implementation Strategy and the County 
Council’s Local Transport Plan. 

 
10.28. Public transport and active travel needs to be a key part of the transport strategy for this corridor 

and will have an important role to play to improving accessibility and reducing the number of 
vehicle movements, particularly for local trips within the Tewkesbury and Ashchurch area. Any 
infrastructure improvement needs to also maximise the potential for sustainable modes of 
transport.  
 

207



 
132 

 

Policy TRAC7 Tewkesbury Northern Bypass Corridor 
 
The Tewkesbury Northern Bypass corridor, as identified on the Policies Map, will be safeguarded for 
the development of a multi-modal transport route.  
 

 
Reasoned Justification 

 
10.29. Following its public consultation exercise Gloucestershire County Council resolved not to proceed 

with the Tewkesbury Northern Bypass, and also to cancel the protection applying to the parts of 
the route between Northway Lane and Greenway Lane along the disused railway line, and also 
phase 4 (The Mythe Causeway) to the west of Bredon Road. While the scheme has now been 
abandoned, it is necessary to retain the protection of phases 1, 2 and 3, that is, the section 
between Bredon Road and Ashchurch Road, the link to Northway Lane, Northway Lane 
upgrading, (the Newtown Bypass), and Shannon Way junction upgrading. This protects the route 
should its provision prove essential in the long term following implementation of development 
permitted and projected for the Tewkesbury Ashchurch area. 

 
 

Policy TRAC8 Old Railway Line Tewkesbury 
 
The old railway line, as identified on the Policies Map, is safeguarded for the provision of a cycleway 
and footpath. Development which prejudices its current and future use as cycleway or footpath 
route will not be supported.  
 

Reasoned Justification 
 

10.30. The old railway line between Shannon Way and Bredon Road originally formed part of the 
safeguarded route of the Tewkesbury Northern Bypass. This route forms an important off road 
route for cyclists and pedestrians between Newtown and Tewkesbury. 

 
 

Policy TRAC9 Parking Provision 
 
Proposals for new development that generate a demand for car parking space should be 
accompanied by appropriate evidence which demonstrates that the level of parking provided will be 
sufficient. The appropriate level of parking required should be considered on the basis of the 
following:  
 

1. the accessibility of the development; 
2. the type, mix and use of development; 
3. the availability of and opportunities for public transport; 
4. local car ownership levels; 

208



 
133 

 

5. an overall need to reduce the use of high emission vehicles; and 
6. a comparison of the forecast trip generation and resultant accumulation with the proposed 

parking provision. 
 
New development should, where possible, incorporate electric vehicle charging points. This includes 
the provision of communal facilities at employment, retail and community development and for 
residential on-street parking or parking courts.  
 
Parking provision must be well designed, safe and accessible, contributing towards a high-quality 
environment and promoting active streets. 
 

Reasoned Justification 
 

10.31. The Borough Council is not proposing to set specific parking standards through the Borough Plan 
to cover all types of development. There are many factors that may influence the level of parking 
that might needed and these should be considered during the planning of any proposal. For 
example, the location and accessibility of a development may be an aspect which may alter the 
need for private vehicle use and increase the use of active travel and public transport. Further, 
the exact size, type and uses proposed for a development may greatly vary the parking demand 
and therefore the provision required. Further guidance on parking provision may be explored 
through a separate supplementary planning document.  

 
10.32. It is important that the right amount of parking is provided for – particularly for new residential 

and commercial development and other development proposals that are likely to generate 
parking demands. Therefore, each proposal will be expected to undertake an analysis of the 
amount of parking that would be adequate to serve the needs of the development and not cause 
an unacceptable impact on the surrounding area – both in terms of maintaining ease of 
movement and protecting the quality of the environment.  Evidence should however be 
proportionate to the type of development proposed.  Developments that would not result in a 
need for additional parking space will not be expected to provide evidence demonstrating that 
the level of parking provided will be sufficient. For commercial schemes, the needs of delivery 
vehicles should also be factored into the parking provision at a site. 

 
10.33. The design and arrangement of parking within a development can have an important impact on 

the quality of the environment and the accessibility of streets. The provision of parking for new 
development must not be to detriment of achieving quality urban design. As part of this, the 
preference will be for frontage and on-street parking to be provided before considering the use 
of rear-court parking. The type and layout of parking provided should take into account of the 
nature and mix of development as well as specific design considerations of the site. Parking 
facilities should also incorporate Secured by Design principles to maximise safety and security. 

 
10.34. Sufficient space should be made for parking bays to ensure that they are of sufficient dimensions 

to accommodate vehicles and allow easy access to them. This includes consideration of the needs 
of disabled and elderly users.  The provision of garages will generally not be considered as a 

209



 
134 

 

parking space for the purpose of determining whether a development is making adequate 
provision.  
 

 

 

210



 

Map Legend
Preferred Options Tewkesbury Borough Plan

RES1 Housing Site Allocations

RES2 Settlement Boundaries

GTTS1 Site Allocations for Gypsies & Travellers

EMP1 Existing Major Employment Site

EMP1 New Major Employment Site

EMP2 Existing Rural Business Centres

EMP2 New Rural Business Centres

GRB1 Green Belt

JCS Safeguarded Land (JCS Policy SD5)

GRB2 Gloucestershire Airport Non-Essential Operational Area

Gloucestershire Airport Essential Operational Area (JCS Policy SD5)

GRB3 - Bamfurlong Operational Policing Site

RET2 Tewkesbury Town Centre Boundary

RET2 Tewkesbury Town Primary Frontages

RET3 Retail Centres

! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

RET9 Tewkesbury Town Regeneration Sites

HER1 Conservation Areas

HER3 Historic Parks & Gardens

HER4 - Scheduled Ancient Monuments

ââ
ââ
ââ
ââ ââ ââ ââ ââ ââ ââ

ââ
ââ
ââ
ââââââââââââââ

HER6 Tewkesbury (1471) Historic Battlefield

Cotswolds AONB (JCS Policy SD7)

LAN1 Special Landscape Areas

LAN2 Landscape Protection Zone

LAN3 Strategic Gaps

LAN4 Locally Important Open Spaces

LAN5 Local Green Space

ââ
ââ
ââ
ââ ââ ââ ââ ââ ââ ââ

ââ
ââ
ââ
ââââââââââââââ

Article 4 Direction Boundary

JCS Strategic Allocations (Policy JCS SA1)211



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RES1 & RES2 ‐ Tewkesbury South

A

B212



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RES1 & RES2 ‐ Tewkesbury North

C213



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RES1 & RES2 ‐ Bishop's Cleeve

A B

214



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RES1 & RES2 ‐ Winchcombe 

A

B

215



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RES1 & RES2 ‐ Alderton

216



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RES1 & RES2 ‐ Coombe Hill

A
B217



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RES1 & RES2 ‐ Gotherington

A

B

C

218



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RES1 & RES2 ‐ Highnam

219



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RES1 & RES2 ‐ Maisemore

A

B

220



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RES1 & RES2 ‐ Minsterworth

221



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RES1 & RES2 ‐ Norton

A

222



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RES1 & RES2 ‐ Shurdington

A

B

C

D

223



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RES1 & RES2 ‐ Stoke Orchard

224



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RES1 & RES2 ‐ Toddington

A
B

225



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RES1 & RES2 ‐ Twyning

226



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RES1 & RES2 ‐ Woodmancote

A

227



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RES2 ‐ Brockworth & Hucclecote

228



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RES2 ‐ Churchdown, Innsworth & Longford

229



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RES2 ‐ Uckington

230



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

GTTS1 ‐ Brookside Stables, Cold Pool Lane (Badgeworth)

231



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

GTTS1 ‐ Fieldview (The Leigh)

232



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

GTTS1 ‐ Hillview (Staverton)

233



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

GTTS1 ‐ Hygrove Place (Minsterworth)

234



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

EMP1 ‐ Cleeve & Malvern View Business Parks (Bishop's Cleeve) 

235



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

EMP1 ‐ Gloucester Business Park (Brockworth/Hucclecote) 

236



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

EMP1 ‐ Innsworth Technology Park (Innsworth) 

237



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

EMP1 ‐ Staverton/Gloucestershire Airport Business Parks (Staverton) 

238



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

EMP1 ‐ Tewkesbury & Ashchurch Business Parks

239



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

EMP2 ‐ Homedowns Achievement Park (Ashchurch)

240



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

EMP2 ‐ Homelands Farm (Bishop's Cleeve)

241



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

EMP2 ‐ Highfield Farm (Deerhurst) 

242



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

EMP2 ‐ Knightsbridge Business Centre (Coombe Hill)

243



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

EMP2 ‐ Park Farm Industrial Estate (Greet)

244



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

EMP2 ‐ Highnam Business Centre (Highnam)

245



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

EMP2 ‐ The Steadings (Maisemore)

246



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

EMP2 ‐ Orchard Industrial Estate (Toddington)

247



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

EMP2 ‐ Twigworth Court (Twigworth)

248



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

EMP2 ‐ Brockeridge Farm & Duddage Manor Business Parks (Twyning) 

249



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

EMP2 ‐ Isbourne Business Centre & Withytrees Farm (Winchcombe)

250



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RET2 & RET9 ‐ Tewkesbury Town Centre

251



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RET3 ‐ Bishops Cleeve Centre

252



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RET3 ‐ Winchcombe Town Centre

253



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RET3 ‐ Brockworth Local Centre

254



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RET3 ‐ Churchdown (Church Road)

255



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RET3 ‐ Churchdown (St Johns Avenue)

256



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RET3 ‐ Coopers Edge Local Centre

257



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RET3 ‐ Innsworth Local Centre

258



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

RET3 ‐ Northway (Northway Lane & Lee Road)

259



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

LAN3 ‐ Bishops Cleeve / Gotherington Strategic Gap

260



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

LAN3 ‐ Twyning / Church End Strategic Gap

261



Sources: Esri, Garmin, USGS, NPS

LAN3 ‐ Winchcombe / Greet Strategic Gap

262



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX  1 
 

NATIONALLY DESCRIBED SPACE STANDARDS 

 

263



March 2015 
Department for Communities and Local Government 

Technical housing standards – nationally 
described space standard 
 

 

264



 

 

© Crown copyright, 2015 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the 
terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence,http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-
government-licence/version/3/ or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London 
TW9 4DU, or email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. 

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/dclg 

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at 
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at: 

Department for Communities and Local Government 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London  
SW1P 4DF 
Telephone: 030 3444 0000  

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/CommunitiesUK  

March 2015 

ISBN: 978-1-4098-4567-6

265

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/dclg
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/
https://twitter.com/CommunitiesUK


 

3 
 

Technical housing standards – nationally 
described space standard 
 
Introduction 
 
1. This standard deals with internal space within new dwellings and is suitable for 

application across all tenures. It sets out requirements for the Gross Internal 
(floor) Area of new dwellings at a defined level of occupancy as well as floor 
areas and dimensions for key parts of the home, notably bedrooms, storage and 
floor to ceiling height.  

2. The requirements of this standard for bedrooms, storage and internal areas are 
relevant only in determining compliance with this standard in new dwellings and 
have no other statutory meaning or use.  

 
Using the space standard 

 
3. The standard Gross Internal Areas set out in Table 1 are organised by storey 

height to take account of the extra circulation space needed for stairs to upper 
floors, and deal separately with one storey dwellings (typically flats) and two and 
three storey dwellings (typically houses). 

4. Individual dwelling types are expressed with reference to the number of 
bedrooms (denoted as ‘b’) and the number of bedspaces (or people) that can be 
accommodated within these bedrooms (denoted as ‘p’). A three bedroom (3b) 
home with one double bedroom (providing two bed spaces) and two single 
bedrooms (each providing one bed space) is therefore described as 3b4p. 

5. This allows for different  combinations of single and double/twin bedrooms to be 
reflected in the minimum Gross Internal Area. The breakdown of the minimum 
Gross Internal Area  therefore allows not only for the different combinations of 
bedroom size, but also for varying amounts of additional living, dining, kitchen 
and storage space; all of which are related to the potential occupancy. 

6. Relating internal space to the number of bedspaces is a means of classification 
for assessment purposes only when designing new homes and seeking planning 
approval (if a local authority has adopted the space standard in its Local Plan). It 
does not imply actual occupancy, or define the minimum for any room in a 
dwelling to be used for a specific purpose other than in complying with this 
standard. 

7. Minimum floor areas and room widths for bedrooms and minimum floor areas for 
storage are also an integral part of the space standard. They cannot be used in 
isolation from other parts of the design standard or removed from it. 

266



 

4 
 

 
8. The Gross Internal Area of a dwelling is defined as the total floor space 

measured between the internal faces of perimeter walls1 that enclose the 
dwelling. This includes partitions, structural elements, cupboards, ducts, flights of 
stairs and voids above stairs. The Gross Internal Area should be measured and 
denoted in square metres (m2). 

9. The Gross Internal Areas in this standard will not be adequate for wheelchair 
housing (Category 3 homes in Part M of the Building Regulations) where 
additional internal area is required to accommodate increased circulation and 
functionality to meet the needs of wheelchair households.   

 
Technical requirements  
 
10. The standard requires that: 

a. the dwelling provides at least the gross internal floor area and built-in 
storage area set out in Table 1 below 

b. a dwelling with two or more bedspaces has at least one double (or twin) 
bedroom 

c. in order to provide one bedspace, a single bedroom has a floor area of at 
least 7.5m2  and is at least 2.15m wide 

d. in order to provide two bedspaces, a double (or twin bedroom) has a floor 
area of at least 11.5m2 

e. one double (or twin bedroom) is at least 2.75m wide and every other 
double (or twin) bedroom is at least 2.55m wide 

f.     any area with a headroom of less than 1.5m is not counted within the 
Gross Internal Area unless used solely for storage (if the area under the 
stairs is to be used for storage, assume a general floor area of 1m2 within 
the Gross Internal Area) 

g. any other area that is used solely for storage and has a headroom of 900-
1500mm (such as under eaves) is counted at 50% of its floor area, and 
any area lower than 900mm is not counted at all 

h. a built-in wardrobe counts towards the Gross Internal Area and bedroom 
floor area requirements, but should not reduce the effective width of the 
room below the minimum widths set out above. The built-in area in excess 
of 0.72m2 in a double bedroom and 0.36m2 in a single bedroom counts 
towards the built-in storage requirement 

i. the minimum floor to ceiling height is 2.3m for at least 75% of the Gross 
Internal Area 

                                            
 
1 The internal face of a perimeter wall is the finished surface of the wall. For a detached house, the perimeter walls are the 
external walls that enclose the dwelling, and for other houses or apartments they are the external walls and party walls. 

267



 

5 
 

Table 1 -  Minimum gross internal floor areas and storage (m2) 
Number of 
bedrooms(b)  

Number of 
bed spaces 
(persons) 

1 storey 
dwellings 

2 storey 
dwellings 

3 storey 
dwellings 

Built-in 
storage 

 
1b 

1p 39 (37) *   1.0 
2p 50 58  1.5 

 
2b 

3p 61 70   
2.0 4p 70 79  

 
3b 

4p 74 84 90  
2.5 5p 86 93 99 

6p 95 102 108 
 
 

4b 

5p 90 97 103  
 

3.0 
6p 99 106 112 
7p 108 115 121 
8p 117 124 130 

 
5b 

6p 103 110 116  
3.5 7p 112 119 125 

8p 121 128 134 
 

6b 
7p 116 123 129  

4.0 8p 125 132 138 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
* Notes (added 19 May 2016): 

1. Built-in storage areas are included within the overall GIAs and include an allowance of 0.5m2 for fixed services or 
equipment such as a hot water cylinder, boiler or heat exchanger. 

2. GIAs for one storey dwellings include enough space for one bathroom and one additional WC (or shower room) in dwellings 
with 5 or more bedspaces. GIAs for two and three storey dwellings include enough space for one bathroom and one additional 
WC (or shower room). Additional sanitary facilities may be included without increasing the GIA provided that all aspects of the 
space standard have been met. 

3. Where a 1b1p has a shower room instead of a bathroom, the floor area may be reduced from 39m2 to 37m2, as shown 
bracketed. 

4. Furnished layouts are not required to demonstrate compliance. 

268



 

  

APPENDIX  2 
LOCALLY IMPORTANT OPEN SPACES 

 
 

ALDERTON 

Land at Beckford Road/ Attractive open space important to 

Willow Bank Road village character 

 

 

ASHCHURCH 

Land adj Ashchurch  Open area separating the church from the village 

Church  

 

 

ASHLEWORTH 

Ashleworth Green Attractive focal point in the village which 

contributes to the character of the area 

 

BADGEWORTH 

Badgeworth Green Attractive village green  

 

 

BISHOPS CLEEVE 

Tobysfield Road  Attractive open spaces which contribute to the character of 

(three areas) residential areas 

Vilverie Mead " 

St Michael's Avenue " 

Linworth Road " 

Crown Drive " 

Hisnams Field Attractive open spaces which contribute to the character of 

residential areas 

Greenmeadow Bank " 

Stonecroft Close " 

Jardine Drive " 

Grange Field Large area of parkland of amenity value  

 

 

 

269



 

  

 

BROCKWORTH 

Green Way Attractive open space within residential area 

Land Adj. Horsbere Brook Linear open space forming a landscaped edge to the built-up area 

 

 

CHURCHDOWN 

Highgrove Way (two areas)            Attractive open spaces which contribute to the character of the 

residential areas 

Boleyn Close " 

Mary Rose Avenue " 

Buckingham Drive " 

Yew Tree Way " 

Springwell Gardens " 

Green Lane " 

Barnes Wallis Way Attractive open spaces which contribute to the character of the 

residential areas 

Cordingley Close " 

Station Road Attractive park adjacent St Andrews Church 

RAF Sports Field Visually important space separating built-up areas, and providing a 

link to surrounding countryside 

 

 

DEERHURST 

Junction of Sawpit Lane/ 

Severn Way Village focal point 

Village Green  Attractive village focal point 

Adj St Ringers Cottage Amenity area. 

 

 

DOWN HATHERLEY 

Land adjacent Church Attractive visual amenity area 

 

 

DUMBLETON 

Greens adjacent Church Attractive amenity areas which enhances the character of the village 

Blacksmiths Lane Attractive open space 

Land opposite Garden Close Attractive open space 

Wormington Green Attractive village focal point 

 

270



 

  

 

GOTHERINGTON 

Shutter Lane Attractive visual element within the street scene 

Daffodil Bank (adj School) Attractive visual amenity area 

Lawrences Meadow Attractive visual amenity area 

 

 

HAWLING 

East of Hawling Manor  Open space which contributes to the character of the settlement 

 

 

HIGHNAM 

Highnam Green Attractive open green 

Limekiln Grove Attractive visual amenity area 

Oakridge (two sites) Attractive visual amenity areas 

 

 

NORTON 

Green (Bishops Norton) Attractive village focal point 

 

 

SANDHURST 

Green Attractive open area 

(Opposite Pennells Farm) 

 

 

SHURDINGTON 

Church Lane Attractive open area 

 

SNOWSHILL 

Green around Church Focal point in the village which 

enhances the character of the area 

Opposite Snowshill Manor Attractive open area 

Rear of Manor Cottages Significant visual amenity value with several 

prominent trees 

 

 

STANTON 

Wedgewood Cottages Attractive open area 

 

271



 

  

STOKE ORCHARD 

Orchard opposite Manor Makes an important visual contribution 

Farm to the character of the street scene 

 

 

TEDDINGTON 

Alstone Lawns Paddock Visually attractive area which contributes to the character of the 

settlement 

 

 

TEWKESBURY 

Abbey Grounds Visually important space in terms of both the setting of the Abbey 

and the character of the conservation area 

Vineyards Major parkland/recreational area on the edge of the town centre 

Friends Burial Ground Attractive visual amenity area 

 

 

TWYNING 

Twyning Green  Visually attractive village focal point 

 

 

WINCHCOMBE 

Vineyards Street  Attractive visual amenity areas 

(two areas) adjacent to the River Isbourne 

Silk Mill Lane Visually attractive area important to the street scene 

 

 

WOODMANCOTE 

Recreation Ground Attractive visual amenity area in the heart of the village 

Honeybourne Meadow Attractive visual amenity area 

272



 

  
 

 

APPENDIX  3 
LOCAL NATURE CONSERVATION SITES 

 
KEY WILDLIFE SITES  

 

ALDERTON 

Dixton Hill:  Identified because of the unusual range of flora found on the upper part of the south-

west facing slope of the hill. 

 

Dixton Grove:   An ancient semi-natural wood with a varied and diverse flora. 

 

ASHLEWORTH 

Meerend Thicket:  An area of scrub in which a number of hides have been established to facilitate the 

viewing of birds on the Ham.   

 

BISHOPS CLEEVE 

Wingmoor Farm Meadow:  Unimproved species-rich meadow. 

 

BODDINGTON 

Priors Grove (part):  An area of ancient semi-natural woodland of interest for its wood bank and old coppice. 

 

BROCKWORTH 

Cooper's Hill:  Dense high forest Beech, open scrub and grassland habitats with a wide range of flora 

including several rare and local species.  (Most of the site is part of the Cotswold 

Commons and Beechwoods SSSI).   

 

Brockworth Park:  Remnant trees from a mediaeval deer park site.  A number of scattered ancient oak 

pollards with some younger trees.  Saproxylic beetle fauna of exceptional interest. 

BUCKLAND 

Buckland Wood:  An ancient semi-natural wood on a north-east facing hillside of particular interest 

because of its coppice structure in the east and its flora. 

 

Wormington Brake:        A small low-lying damp ancient semi-natural wood of interest because of its flora. 

 

Wynniatt's Brake:  A small semi-natural woodland on a low-lying damp site of interest because of its varied 

flora. 

 

273



 

  
 

 

CHACELEY 

Chaceley Meadows:  A neutral unimproved herb-rich meadow, a habitat formerly widespread in the Severn 

Vale but now scarce. 

 

 

CHURCHDOWN 

Churchdown Hill Meadows:   Two unimproved meadows with uncommon species of flora. 

 

DEERHURST 

Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust Reserve:  A small osier bed adjacent to the River Severn important as an 

intermittent breeding site for a locally rare bird, there is an unimproved meadow 

adjacent to the reserve which is also of interest. 

 

Coombe Hill Canal:  An area of partially improved flood meadows and drainage channels adjoining the 

disused Coombe Hill canal. 

 

Walton Hill Meadow:  An unimproved neutral meadow exhibiting a very rich flora.  

 

Haw Bridge Ditch:  A ditch supporting a population of the nationally rare true fox-sedge. 

 

DUMBLETON 

Dumbleton Wood:  An ancient woodland of particular interest for its large ash and hazel coppice and its 

varied ground flora. 

 

GOTHERINGTON 

Gotherington Wood:  Unimproved limestone and neutral grassland, with some scrub, on the steep slopes of 

Nottingham Hill. 

 

GREAT WITCOMBE 

Witcombe Reservoirs:  Three reservoirs of particular importance for their breeding and wintering waterfowl. 

 

Witcombe Wood:  A large ancient semi-natural wood of particular importance because it forms an integral 

part of the internationally important Cotswold Beechwoods complex. 

 

HASFIELD 

Corse Grove:  An ancient semi-natural woodland of interest for its coppice stools and flora, its variety 

of habitats and old coppice trees.  

 

Mixhill Wood:  A mostly semi-natural ancient woodland with a varied flora including wood anemone. 

274



 

  
 

 

 

HAWLING 

Gazeley Wood:  An ancient semi-natural wood with a species-rich ground flora. 

 

Nettleton Hill Wood:  A mainly semi-natural woodland with some recent plantations. 

 

Hawling Grove:  An ancient and mostly semi-natural wood. 

 

Granham Plantation:  An ancient and mostly semi-natural woodland with a species-rich ground flora. 

 

Bespidge Wood (part):  An ancient wood, part of which retains an ancient semi-natural canopy, and of particular 

interest for its diverse flora.   

 

Limehill Wood:               An ancient semi-natural wood with a varied flora. 

 

HIGHNAM 

Highnam Woods:  A large area of semi-natural woodland and plantation comprising the largest block in the 

Severn Vale and noted for its nightingales. 

 

Corseleas Brake:            An ancient wood of particular interest for its varied flora, structure and birds. 

 

Piper's Grove:                 An ancient wood with a varied flora. 

 

Lassington Wood:  A gently sloping woodland originally planted as a landscape feature, with a good flora 

and wide range of woodland birds. 

 

LEIGH 

Flood Meadow adjacent to the Coombe Hill Canal SSSI:  Area of partially improved flood meadows. 

 

LONGFORD 

Brick-earth Pits:              A number of disused and now flooded brick-earth pits along the river bank. 

 

MAISEMORE 

Walham Ponds:             Two disused brick pits colonised by a rich variety of wetland plants and animals.   

 

Walham Ponds Brickpits: Two disused brickpits with open water, reed swamp and osier bed habitats. 

Maisemore Roughett:  Banks of calcareous grassland supporting a rich flora and of a semi improved nature. 

 

 

275



 

  
 

 

NORTON 

Priors Grove:   An ancient semi-natural wood of interest for its wood bank and old coppice. 

 

OXENTON 

The Knolls, Oxenton Hill: An area of unimproved limestone grassland on the summit of Oxenton Hill. 

PRESCOTT 

Stanley Wood:  An ancient semi-natural and secondary woodland, of particular interest for its old 

coppice, diversity of habitat and woodland flora. 

 

SANDHURST 

Sandhurst Brickpits:  Two flooded disused brickpits which now support a  variety of habitat types with fine 

plant, insect and bird populations. 

Ashleworth Quay Brickpits: Flooded brickpits of interest for their aquatic flora and invertebrate populations. 

 

Sandhurst Hay Meadow:  A small hay meadow noted for the presence of meadow saffron. 

 

SHURDINGTON 

 

Shurdington Grove:  An ancient semi-natural woodland of particular interest for its old hazel coppice and 

open glades which are a good habitat for butterflies. 

 

SNOWSHILL 

Littleworth Wood:    An ancient semi-natural wood of particular interest for its varied flora. 

Shippy Grove:  A high quality semi-natural woodland with a small area of conifer plantation of 

particular interest because of the old ash pollards along the northern boundary, and 

field maple coppice stools in the centre of the wood. 

Hornsleasow Roughs SSSI:  A nationally important limestone grassland site which supports a number of nationally 

and locally rare plant species. 

 

SOUTHAM 

Queen's Wood:    An area of ancient woodland. 

Prestbury Grasslands :      An area of unimproved limestone grassland to the south of Cleeve Common. 

Nutterswood Wood}  

Thrift Wood              }    Three areas of ancient semi-natural woodland on the scarp slope. 

Stutfield Wood        }   

 

Queenswood Farm:  Parkland with a grassland and scrub mosaic containing mature parkland trees which 

are mainly oak, ash and beech. 

 

276



 

  
 

 

STANTON 

Shenberrow Hill: Of importance for its herb-rich grasslands. 

 

STANWAY 

Lidcombe Wood:  An ancient wood, half of which retains a semi-natural canopy with the remainder 

replanted with conifers, and supporting a varied flora. 

Congrove Wood:  An ancient semi-natural wood of particular interest for its old coppice and pollard 

field maple and varied ground flora. 

Hailes Wood:  An ancient wood of particular interest because of its varied flora and a stand of small 

leaved lime. 

Thrift Wood:    An ancient semi-natural wood with a varied flora. 

 

SUDELEY 

Humblebee How:  Mainly ancient semi-natural woodland on steep east facing slope. 

West Wood        } 

Willis's Coppice        }   

Bespidge Wood        }    Ancient or semi-natural woodland. 

Limehill Wood (part)   } 

Spoonley Wood        } 

 

TEDDINGTON 

Teddington Grove: Replanted ancient woodland, with various flora including the Trailing St John's wort, and 

an excellent example of an area of heavy clay susceptible to ongoing landslip. 

 

TEWKESBURY 

Mythe Railway Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust Reserve (part):  A disused railway supporting a collection of plants 

unusual in the Severn Vale. 

 

Mythe Lake, Osier Beds and Cliff:   A lake, disused osier bed and cliff exceptionally rich in bird, insect and plant 

species. 

 

Tewkesbury Disused Railway Line:  An area of scrub, open grassy areas and secondary woodland.  Identified for its 

glow worm population. 

 

TODDINGTON 

 

Shetcombe Wood } 

Dumbleton Hill      }  Two areas of ancient woodland. 

 

277



 

  
 

 

TWYNING 

Brockeridge Common: An intensively grazed area of unimproved acid grassland and gorse scrub which grades 

gradually into birch, oak and ash wood.  

 

Shuthonger Common:  An area of common divided into three areas by roads, including a semi-improved 

meadow and a pond. 

 

Mythe Railway:  A small part of the designated area comprising the disused railway of interest because 

of its range of plants which are unusual in the Severn Vale, birds and insects. 

 

WALTON CARDIFF 

Walton Cardiff Newt Ponds:  Unimproved pasture with boundary hedgerows with a number of ponds within the 

field system which support a significant breeding population of great crested newts. 

 

WINCHCOMBE 

Stancombe Wood:    An ancient woodland of particular interest because of its varied flora. 

 

Breakheart Plantation:  An ancient semi-natural and ancient replanted woodland of special interest because of 

indications of ancient wood pasture, its wide variety of habitats and diverse ground 

flora. 

 

 

WOODMANCOTE 

 

Nottingham Hill:              An area of unimproved limestone and neutral grassland. 

 

Bushcombe Wood:  An area of ancient semi-natural woodland. 

 

278



 

  
 

 

 

 

C. REGIONALLY IMPORTANT GEOLOGICAL/GEOMORPHOLOGICAL SITES (RIGS) 

 

TEWKESBURY 

 

Mythe Railway Cutting:  Identified because there are few exposures of Mercia Mudstones and 

Pleistocene Sands and gravels in the area. 

 

The Red Cliff, Mythe Hill:  The exposed rocks are the deepest open section of Mercia Mudstones in 

the County. 

 
Norton Hill Gravel Pits: Small former gravel pit. 
 
Sand Mine Quarry Cleeve Hill: A rare exposure of the Harford Sands, especially valuable in relation to the 

variety of geology surrounding it on Cleeve Common. 
 
Sandhurst Brick Pits: The easily accessible pits expose alluvium clays from the Holocene age.  

Low angled current bedding is occasionally visible. 
 
Shurdington Sand and Gravel Pit: Recently worked shallow sand pit, c.5m deep.  Bottom of pit indicates the 

base of the Cheltenham Sands in a superficial deposit.  A rare example of 
the generally poorly exposed Cheltenham Sands. 

 
Old Quarries Gretton: A historical site worked from the C19th for the famous fish, insect and 

reptile bed of the Whitby Mudstone Formation. (Upper Lias).  This is a very 
important academic site. 

 
Hardstone Quarry, Cleeve Hill: Contact between Cleeve Cloud and Scottsquar members is clearly exposed 

and easily and safely accessible. 
 
Cleeve Cloud Fault Section:  The major fault at this location automatically qualifies it as a RIGS.  This is 

important for regional structural analysis and a good educational site. 
 
Grass Grown Quarry, Cleeve Hill: High value as a regionally important site for scientific and educational 

reasons. 
 
Pot Quarry and Rolling Bank Quarry: An excellent site exposing rocks not seen at any other location.  Exposes a 

bored and encrusted hardground, sedimentary structures and a major 
fault as well as a substantial sequence of rocks. 

 
Roadstone Quarry: This site exposes regionally important strata with a high educational value, 

and has local historical significance. 
 
Charlton Kings Quarry: Although little geology is exposed the site is valuable in demonstrating 

geomorphological features such as rotational cambering and land slippage. 
      

Maisemore Cliff Low cliff actively eroding in the west channel of the River Severn where 
valuable exposures of ice age gravels have become exposed. 

279



APPENDIX 4 

STRATEGIC POLICIES AND PROPOSALS IN THE JOINT CORE STRATEGY AND 
TEWKESBURY BOROUGH PLAN 

The Council has used the guidance provided within Paragraph 20 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) and Paragraph 074 -077 (Ref ID: 41-074-20140306) in the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
to define the strategic policies in the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) and this Tewkesbury Borough Plan (TBP).  

Policy in JCS 
Paragraph 2.2 - Vision 
Paragraph 2.35 – Strategic Objectives 1 to 9 
Policy SP1 – The Need for New Development 
Policy SP2 - Distribution of New Development 
Policy SD1 - Employment 
Policy SD2 - Retail and City / Town Centres 
Policy SD3 - Sustainable Design and Construction 
Policy SD4 – Design 
Policy SD5 - Green Belt 
Policy SD6 - Landscape 
Policy SD7 - AONB 
Policy SD8 Historic Environment 
Policy SD9 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
Policy SD10 – Residential Development 
Policy SD11 - Housing Mix and Standards 
Policy SD12 - Affordable Housing 
Policy SD13: GTTS 
Policy SD14 – Health and Environmental Quality 
Policy SA1 - Strategic Allocations 
Policy INF1 – Transport Network 
Policy INF2 - Flood Risk Management 
Policy INF3 – Green Infrastructure 
Policy INF4 - Social and Community Infrastructure 
Policy INF5 – Renewable Energy and Low Carbon Energy Development 
Policy INF6 – Infrastructure Delivery 
Policy INF7 – Developer contributions 
Policy SA1 - Strategic Allocations 

 

Policy in TBP 
Vision 
Objectives 
Policy RES1 Housing Site Allocations 

Policy RES2 Settlement Boundaries 

Policy RES3 New Housing Outside Settlement Boundaries 

Policy RES4 New housing at other rural settlements  

Policy RES6 Rural Exception Sites 
Policy RES12 Affordable housing 

Policy RES13 Housing mix  

280



Policy RES14 Specialist accommodation for older people  

Policy RES15 Accessible and Adaptable Homes 

Policy RES16 Self and Custom build 

Policy GTTS1: Site allocations for Gypsies and Travellers 
 
Policy GRB1 – Green Belt Review 

Policy GRB2 – Gloucestershire Airport 

Policy TRAC1 – Pedestrian Accessibility 
 
Policy TRAC2 – Cycle Network & Infrastructure 
 
Policy TRAC3 Bus Infrastructure 
 
Policy TRAC4 High Frequency Bus Routes 
 
Policy TRAC 6 Ashchurch for Tewkesbury Rail Station 
 
Policy TRAC7 M5 Junction 9/A46 Corridor 
 
Policy TRAC10 Parking Provision 
 

Policy HEA1 Healthy & Active Communities 
 
Policy RCN1 Public Outdoor Space, Sports Pitch and Sports Facility Provision 
 

Policy RCN2 New Sports and Recreational Facilities 
 
Policy EMP1 Major Employment Sites 

Policy EMP2 Rural Business Centres 

Policy EMP4 Rural Employment Development 

Policy RET1 Maintaining the vitality and viability of the town, borough and local centres 
 
Policy RET4 Out of Centre Development 
 
Policy DES1 Housing Space Standards 
 
Policy HER1 Conservation Areas 

Policy HER2 Listed Buildings 

Policy HER3 Historic Parks and Gardens 

Policy HER4 Archaeological Sites and Scheduled Ancient Monuments 

Policy HER5 Locally Important Heritage Assets 

Policy HER6 Tewkesbury (1471) Historic Battlefield 

281



Policy LAN1 Special Landscape Areas 

Policy LAN2 Landscape Protection Zone 

Policy LAN3 Strategic Gaps 

Policy NAT1 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Important Natural Features 

Policy NAT3 – Green Infrastructure: Building with Nature 

Policy ENV1 Development near sewage treatment works 

 

282



 

 

 

APPENDIX 5 
ARTICLE 4 DIRECTIONS  

 
 

BUCKLAND 

Covers the Buckland conservation area. 

 

LAVERTON 
 

Covers the Laverton conservation area. 
 
 
GREENWAY HOTEL, SHURDINGTON 

 
 Covers land forming the curtilage of the Grade II Listed building Greenway Hotel and Lodge at Shurdington. 
 
 
 STANTON 
 
 Covers Stanton village and surrounding area. 
 
 
 TEWKESBURY 
  
 Covers most of the historic town centre in Tewkesbury. 
 
  
 WINCHCOMBE 
 
 Covers most of the historic town centre in Winchcombe. 
 
 
 DEERHURST 
 
 Covers land adjacent to the disused Coombe Hill Canal. 
 
 
 OXENTON 
 
 Covers land at Hill Farm, Oxenton. 
 
 
 AGGS HILL, SOUTHAM 
 
 Covers land at Piccadilly Farm and Noverton Farm at Aggs Hill in Southam Parish. 
 
 

 

 
 

283



Document is Restricted

284

Agenda Item 12


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	8 Audit Committee Annual Report 2017/18
	9 Overview and Scrutiny Review of Water Outage
	Water Supply Outage revised
	Appendix 2 - Special O&S Minutes 24 April 2018 FINAL
	Appendix 3 - Scrutiny Review of Water Supply Outage Action Plan
	Scrutiny Review of Water Supply Outage Action Plan REVISED

	10 Preferred Options Tewkesbury Borough Plan Consultation
	Appendix 1 - Tewks Borough Plan Preferred Options
	TBLP Draft Cover 2018
	Preferred Options TBP FINAL DRAFT
	1. Executive Summary
	2.  Introduction
	3. Housing
	Policy RES1 Housing Site Allocations
	Policy RES2 Settlement Boundaries
	Policy RES3 New Housing Outside Settlement Boundaries
	Policy RES4 New housing at other rural settlements
	Policy RES5 New Housing Development
	Policy RES6 Rural Exception Sites
	Policy RES7 - Re-use of rural buildings for residential use
	Policy RES8 Sub division of existing dwellings
	Policy RES9 Replacement dwellings
	Policy RES10 Alteration and extension of existing dwellings
	Policy RES11 Change of use of agricultural land to domestic garden
	Policy RES12 Affordable housing
	Policy RES13 Housing Mix
	Policy RES14 Specialist accommodation for older people
	Policy RES15 Accessible and Adaptable Homes
	Policy RES16 Self and Custom Build
	Policy GTTS1: Site allocations for Gypsies and Travellers

	4.  Economy and Tourism
	Policy EMP1 Major Employment Sites
	Policy EMP2 Rural Business Centres
	Policy EMP3 Employment sites within settlement boundaries
	Policy EMP4 Rural Employment Development
	Policy EMP5 New Employment Development (General)
	Policy EMP6 Safeguarding of Employment Sites
	Policy AGR1 Agricultural Development
	Policy AGR2 – Agricultural Diversification
	Policy AGR3 – Agricultural and other rural workers dwellings
	Policy AGR4 – Removal of occupancy conditions
	Policy TOR1 - Tourism Related Development
	Policy TOR2 Serviced/self catering accommodation
	Policy TOR3 Caravan and camping sites
	Policy TOR4 Herefordshire and Gloucestershire Canal Restoration
	Policy TOR5 Gloucestershire Warwickshire Railway

	5. Green Belt
	Policy GRB1 – Green Belt Review
	Policy GRB2 – Gloucestershire Airport
	Policy GRB3 - Bamfurlong Operational Policing site

	6. Town centres and retail
	Policy RET1 Maintaining the vitality and viability of the town, borough and local centres
	Policy RET2 Tewkesbury Town Centre and Primary Frontages
	Policy RET3 Retail Centres
	Policy RET4 Out of Centre Development
	Policy RET5 Single or Small groups of shops in residential areas
	Policy RET6 Hot Food Takeaways
	Policy RET7 Local Shops and Public Houses
	Policy RET8 Agricultural/Horticultural Retail in the countryside
	Policy RET9 - Tewkesbury Town Regeneration

	7. Quality Places
	Policy DES1 Housing Space Standards
	Policy DES2 Street Signage & Furniture
	Policy DES3 Advertisements, Signs & Notice Boards
	Policy DES4 Shopfronts
	Policy HER1 Conservation Areas
	Policy HER2 Listed Buildings
	Policy HER3 Historic Parks and Gardens
	Policy HER4 Archaeological Sites and Scheduled Ancient Monuments
	Policy HER5 Locally Important Heritage Assets
	Policy HER6 Tewkesbury (1471) Historic Battlefield

	8.  The Natural Environment
	Policy LAN1 Special Landscape Areas
	Policy LAN2 Landscape Protection Zone
	Policy LAN3 Strategic Gaps
	Policy LAN4 Locally Important Open Spaces
	Policy LAN5 Local Green Spaces
	Policy NAT1 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Important Natural Features
	Policy NAT2 The Water Environment
	Policy NAT3 – Green Infrastructure: Building with Nature
	Policy NAT4 – Tewkesbury Nature Reserve
	Policy ENV1 Development near sewage treatment works
	Policy ENV2 Flood Risk and Water Management
	Policy ENV3 Solar Farms

	9.  Communities, Health & Recreation
	Policy HEA1 Healthy & Active Communities
	Policy RCN1 Public Outdoor Space, Sports Pitch and Sports Facility Provision
	Policy RCN2 New Sports and Recreational Facilities
	Policy RCN3 Allotments & Community Gardens
	Policy RCN4 Horse Riding Facilities
	Policy COM1 Protecting Community Assets
	Policy COM2 Broadband Provision
	Policy COM3 Telecommunications
	Policy COM4 Neighbourhood Development Plans

	10. Transport & Accessibility
	Policy TRAC1 – Pedestrian Accessibility
	Policy TRAC2 – Cycle Network & Infrastructure
	Policy TRAC3 Bus Infrastructure
	Policy TRAC4 High Frequency Bus Routes
	Policy TRAC 5 Ashchurch for Tewkesbury Rail Station
	Policy TRAC6 M5 Junction 9/A46 Corridor
	Policy TRAC7 Tewkesbury Northern Bypass Corridor
	Policy TRAC8 Old Railway Line Tewkesbury
	Policy TRAC9 Parking Provision


	TBP Preferred Options POLICIES MAPS (reduced)
	TBP Map Legend
	RES1&2 Housing Maps
	RES1 Tewkes South
	RES1 Tewkes North
	RES1 Bishops Cleeve
	RES1 Winchcombe
	RES1 Alderton
	RES1 Coombe Hill
	RES1 Gotherington
	RES1 Highnam
	RES1 Maisemore
	RES1 Minsterworth
	RES1 Norton
	RES1 Shurdington
	RES1 Stoke Orchard
	RES1 Toddington
	RES1 Twyning
	RES1 Woodmancote
	RES2 Brockworth Hucclecote
	RES2 Churchdown Innsworth Longford
	RES2 Uckington

	GTTS1 Gypsy & Travelller Sites
	GTTS1 Brookside Stables
	GTTS1 Fieldview
	GTTS1 Hillview
	GTTS1 Hygrove Place

	EMP1 Major Emp Sites
	EMP1 Cleeve Malvern View
	EMP1 Gloucester Business Park
	EMP1 Innsworth Tech Park
	EMP1 Staverton Airport
	EMP1 Tewkesbury Ashchurch

	EMP2 Rural Biz Centres
	EMP2 Homedowns
	EMP2 Homelands Fm
	EMP2 Highfield Fm
	EMP2 Knightsbridge
	EMP2 Park Farm
	EMP2 Highnam Business Centre
	EMP2 The Steadings
	EMP2 Orchard Industrial Estate
	EMP2 Twigworth Court
	EMP2 Brockeridge Duddage
	EMP2 Isbourne Withytrees

	RET1 Retail Centres
	RET2 Tewkesbury Town
	RET3 Bishops Cleeve
	RET3 Winchcombe
	RET3 Brockworth
	RET3 Churchdown Church Rd
	RET3 Churchdown St Johns Ave
	RET3 Coopers Edge
	RET3 Innsworth
	RET3 Northway

	LAN3 Strategic Gaps
	Bishops Cleeve Gotherington Strategic Gap
	Twyning Church End Strategic Gap
	Winchcombe Greet Strategic Gap


	APPENDIX  1 - COVER
	APPENDIX  1

	Appendix 1 - Nationally_Described_Space_Standards
	Appendix 2 - Locally Important Open Spaces
	APPENDIX  2
	LOCALLY IMPORTANT OPEN SPACES
	ALDERTON


	Appendix 3 - Local Nature Conservation Sites
	APPENDIX  3
	LOCAL NATURE CONSERVATION SITES
	BODDINGTON
	BUCKLAND
	CHACELEY
	DUMBLETON
	HASFIELD
	HIGHNAM
	LONGFORD
	MAISEMORE
	Nutterswood Wood}




	BASIC VERSION Appendix 4 - Strategic policy list
	Policy GRB1 – Green Belt Review
	Policy HEA1 Healthy & Active Communities
	Policy RCN2 New Sports and Recreational Facilities
	Policy ENV1 Development near sewage treatment works

	Appendix 5 - Article 4 directions
	BUCKLAND
	LAVERTON
	GREENWAY HOTEL, SHURDINGTON





	12 Separate Minutes



